# PROTOTYPE DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

**Sponsored By** 

**EPIC** Advisors, Inc.

**BASIC PLAN DOCUMENT #03** 

THIS DOCUMENT IS COPYRIGHTED UNDER THE LAWS OF THE UNITED STATES. ITS USE, DUPLICATION OR REPRODUCTION, INCLUDING THE USE OF ELECTRONIC MEANS, IS PROHIBITED BY LAW WITHOUT THE EXPRESS CONSENT OF THE AUTHOR.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ARTICLE I1		
DEFINITIO	NS	1
1.1	ACTUAL CONTRIBUTION PERCENTAGE (ACP)	1
1.2	ACTUAL DEFERRAL PERCENTAGE (ADP)	
1.3	ADOPTION AGREEMENT.	
1.4	ALLOCATION DATE(S)	
1.5	ALTERNATE PAYEE	
1.6	Anual Additions	
1.7	Annuity Starting Date	
1.8	APPLICABLE CALENDAR YEAR	
1.9	APPLICABLE LIFE EXPECTANCY	3
1.10	AVERAGE CONTRIBUTION PERCENTAGE (ACP)	3
1.11	AVERAGE DEFERRAL PERCENTAGE (ADP)	3
1.12	BENEFICIARY	3
1.13	Break In Service	3
1.14	CATCH-UP CONTRIBUTIONS	4
1.15	CODE	
1.16	Compensation	
1.17	CUSTODIAN	
1.18	Davis-Bacon Act	_
1.19	Days of Service	
1.20	DEEMED IRA	
1.21	DEEMED IRA CONTRIBUTIONS	
1.22	DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN	
1.23	DEFINED CONTRIBUTION DOLLAR LIMITATION	
1.24	DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN	
1.25	DESIGNATED BENEFICIARY	
1.26	DIRECT ROLLOVER	
1.27	DIRECTED ACCOUNT	
1.28	DIRECTED TRUSTEE	
1.29 1.30	DISABILITY	
1.31	DISTRIBUTION CALENDAR YEAR (VALUATION CALENDAR YEAR)	
1.32	DEPARTMENT OF LABOR (DOL)	o
1.33	EARLY RETIREMENT AGE	
1.34	EARLY RETIREMENT DATE.	
1.35	EARNED INCOME	
1.36	EFFECTIVE DATE	
1.37	ELAPSED TIME	
1.38	ELECTION PERIOD	
1.39	ELECTIVE DEFERRALS	
1.40	ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEE	11
1.41	ELIGIBLE EMPLOYER	11
1.42	ELIGIBLE PARTICIPANT	12
1.43	ELIGIBLE RETIREMENT PLAN	
1.44	ELIGIBLE ROLLOVER DISTRIBUTION	12
1.45	EMPLOYEE	
1.46	EMPLOYER	
1.47	Entry Date	
1.48	ERISA	
1.49	Excess Aggregate Contributions	
1.50	Excess Annual Additions	
1.51	Excess Contributions	
1.52	Excess Elective Deferrals	
1.53	EXPECTED YEAR OF SERVICE	
1.54	FIDUCIARY	
1.55	FIRST DISTRIBUTION CALENDAR YEAR	
1.56	FORFEITUREFORFEITURE	
1.57	FORMER PARTICIPANT	
1.58 1.59		
1.60	HIGHLY COMPENSATED EMPLOYEE	
1.61	INTEGRATION LEVEL	
1.62	KEY EMPLOYEE	
1.63	LEASED EMPLOYEE	
1.64	LIFE EXPECTANCY	
-		

1.65		
1.67 MATCHING CONTRIBUTION 1.68 MAXIMIN PERMISSIBLE ANDOINT 1.70 NAMED FIGURARY 1.71 NET PROFIT 1.72 NORMAR RETIREMENT AGE 1.72 NORMAR RETIREMENT AGE 1.73 NORMAR RETIREMENT AGE 1.74 NORMAR RETIREMENT AGE 1.75 NORMAR RETIREMENT AGE 1.76 PARTICIPANT'S BOUNTY 1.76 PARTICIPANT'S BOUNTY 1.77 PARTICIPANT'S BOUNTY 1.78 PARTICIPANT'S BOUNTY 1.78 PARTICIPANT'S BOUNTY 1.79 PERIOD OS SYCHARCE 1.80 PERMISSIVE AGGREGATION GROUP 1.81 PLAN 1.82 PLAN ADMINISTRATOR 1.83 PLAN SPONSOR 1.84 PLAN SPONSOR 1.85 PLAN SPONSOR 1.86 PROGREGATION AND STANDARY 1.87 PROTOTYPE PLAN SPONSOR 1.88 QUALIFIED DESIGNER RELATIONS ORDER (ODRO) 1.89 QUALIFIED BOUNT AND SURVIVOR ANNUTY (OJSA) 1.91 QUALIFIED MATCHING CONTRIBUTIONS (OMCCS) 1.93 QUALIFIED MATCHING CONTRIBUTIONS (OMCCS) 1.94 QUALIFIED PRE-RETIREMENT AGE 1.95 QUALIFIED PRE-RETIREMENT SURVIVOR ANNUTY 1.96 QUALIFIED PRE-RETIREMENT SURVIVOR ANNUTY 1.97 ROUNTED PRE-RETIREMENT SURVIVOR ANNUTY 1.98 ROUNTED PRE-RETIREMENT SURVIVOR ANNUTY 1.99 ROUNTED PRE-RETIREMENT SURVIVOR ANNUTY 1.90 SYSTEMAN CONTRIB	ATION YEAR	17
1.68 MAXIMUM PERMISSIBLE ANGUNT 1.09 NAMED FIGURARY 1.71 NAMED FIGURARY 1.72 NORMAR RETIREMENT AGE 1.73 NORMAR RETIREMENT AGE 1.74 OWNER-EMPLOYEE 1.75 PARTICIPANT 1.76 PARTICIPANT 1.77 PARTICIPANT 1.78 PARTICIPANT 1.79 PARTICIPANT AGE 1.79 PARTICIPANT AGE 1.79 PARTICIPANT AGE 1.79 PERIOD OF SEVERANCE 1.80 PERIOSECA GORGANIZATION 1.81 PLAN 1.82 PLAN ADMINISTRATOR 1.83 PLAN SPONSOR 1.84 PLAN SEVERANCE 1.85 PERIODESSOR ORGANIZATION 1.86 PERIODESSOR ORGANIZATION 1.87 PERIOD OF SEVERANCE 1.88 QUALIFIED PARTICIPANT OR ORDER (QDRO) 1.89 QUALIFIED NORTHER RELATIONS (QMECS) 1.90 QUALIFIED NORTH ORGANIZATIONS (QMECS) 1.91 QUALIFIED NORTHING CONTRIBUTIONS (QMECS) 1.92 QUALIFIED NORTHING CONTRIBUTIONS (QMECS) 1.93 QUALIFIED NORTHING CONTRIBUTIONS (QMECS) 1.94 QUALIFIED NORTHING CONTRIBUTIONS (QMECS) 1.95 QUALIFIED PARTICIPANCE (QMECS) 1.96 QUALIFIED PARTICIPANCE (QMECS) 1.97 REQUIRED AFTER TAX CONTRIBUTIONS 1.98 REQUIRED PLAN 1.99 REQUIRED FREE TAX CONTRIBUTIONS 1.99 REQUIRED FREE TAX CONTRIBUTIONS 1.99 REQUIRED AGERGATION (GROUP 1.100 ROLLOWER CONTRIBUTIONS 1.101 ROLLOWER CONTRIBUTIONS 1.102 SEVERANCE PROMISE 1.103 SALARY DEFERRAL AGERGEMENT 1.104 SALARY DEFERRAL AGERGEMENT 1.105 SEVERANCE PROMISE 1.106 SEVERANCE PROMISE 1.107 TEXTURE MEMORIANG DATE THAN THE MEMORIANG DATE 1.107 TEXTURE MEMORIANG DATE 1.108 SEVERANCE DATE 1.110 SEVERANCE DATE 1.111 SHADIFORM SERVICE SEMPLOYMENT ALTERNATIVE 1.112 TEXTURE MEMORIANG DATE 1.113 TOP HEAVY PLAN AGENCY PROMISE 1.114 SHADIFORM SERVICE SEMPLOYMENT ALTERNATIVE 1.115 TEMPLOYER SERVICE SEMPLOYMENT ALTERNATIVE 1.116 TEMPLOY PLAN DATE 1.117 TEMPLOY PLAN DATE 1.118 TOP HEAVY PLAN DATE 1.119 TOP HEAVY PLAN DATE 1.110 SEVERANCE DATE 1.111 SHADIFORM SERVICE SEMPLOYMENT ALTERNATIVE 1.112 TEMPLOY PLAN DATE 1.113 VALUATION DATE 1.114 TEMPLOY PLAN DATE 1.115 TEMPLOY PLAN DATE 1.116 TEMPLOY PLAN DATE 1.117 TEMPLOY PLAN DA	TER OR PROTOTYPE PLAN	17
1.99 MULTIPLE EMPLOYER PLAN 1.70 NAMED FIGURIARY 1.71 NET PAORT 1.72 NORMAR ETRIBEMENT AGE 1.73 NORMAR ETRIBEMENT AGE 1.74 OWNER-EMPLOYEE 1.75 PARTICIPATI 1.76 PARTICIPATI 1.77 PARTICIPATI 1.78 PARTICIPATI BLANCE 1.77 PARTICIPATI BLANCE 1.78 PARTICIPATI BLANCE 1.79 PERIOD OS SYCHRANCE 1.80 PERIOSSY AGGREGATION GROUP 1.81 PLAN 1.82 PLAN ADMINISTRATOR 1.84 PLAN YEAR 1.85 PEDIOD STANDAMINISTRATOR 1.86 PROUP PLAN YEAR 1.87 PLAN SYCHRANCE 1.88 PROUP PLAN YEAR 1.89 PROUP PLAN YEAR 1.89 PROUP PLAN YEAR 1.89 QUALIFIED DEAR YEAR PROUP PLAN YEAR 1.89 QUALIFIED EARLY RETHERMENT AGE 1.90 QUALIFIED DEAR PLAN SECRETARY OF THE MEMBERS OF THE	CHING CONTRIBUTION	17
1.70 NAMED FOUCARY 1.71 NORT PROFIT 1.72 NORMAL RETIREMENT AGE 1.73 NORMAL RETIREMENT AGE 1.74 OWNER-EMPLOYEE 1.75 PARTICIPANT 1.76 PARTICIPANT ACOOUNT BALANCE 1.76 PARTICIPANT ACOOUNT BALANCE 1.77 PARTICIPANT SACOOUNT BALANCE 1.78 PARTICIPANT SACOOUNT BALANCE 1.79 PARTICIPANT SACOOUNT BALANCE 1.70 PARTICIPANT	IMUM PERMISSIBLE AMOUNT	17
1.71 NET PROFIT 1.72 NORMAL RETIREMENT AGE 1.73 NORMAL RETIREMENT DATE 1.74 OWNER-BENDEUEE 1.75 PARTICIPANT'S ACCOUNT BALANCE 1.76 PARTICIPANT'S ACCOUNT BALANCE 1.77 PARTICIPANT'S BENEFIT 1.78 PARTICIPANT'S BENEFIT 1.79 PERIOD OF SEVERANCE 1.70 PERIOD OF SEVERANCE 1.71 P	TIPLE EMPLOYER PLAN	17
1.72 NORMA RETIREMENT DATE  1.74 OWNER-EMPLOYEE  1.75 PARTICIPANT    1.76 PARTICIPANT    1.77 PARTICIPANT    1.78 PARTICIPANT    1.78 PARTICIPANT    1.79 PARTICIPANT    1.80 PERMISSIVE AGGREGATION GROUP  1.81 PLAN    1.82 PLAN ADMINISTRATOR    1.82 PLAN ADMINISTRATOR    1.83 PLAN SPONSOR    1.84 PRICE STATE    1.85 PRICE STATE    1.86 PRICE STATE    1.87 PROTOTYPE PLAN SPONSOR    1.88 PRICE STATE    1.89 QUALIFIED DATE AND	ED FIDUCIARY	18
1.73 NORMA RETIREMENT DATE  1.74 OWNER-EMPLOYEE  1.75 PARTICIPANT SACCOUNT BALANCE  1.77 PARTICIPANT SACCOUNT BALANCE  1.78 PARTICIPANT SENEFT  1.79 PERIOD OF SEVERANCE  1.70 PERIOD OF SEVERANCE  1.70 PERIOD OF SEVERANCE  1.70 PERIOD OF SEVERANCE  1.70 PERIOD OF SEVERANCE  1.71 PARTICIPANT SON		
1.74 OWNER-EMPLOYEE 1.75 PARTICIPANT SOCOUNT BALANCE 1.76 PARTICIPANT SENERIT 1.77 PARTICIPANT SENERIT 1.78 PARTICIPANT SENERIT 1.79 PARTICIPANT SENERIT 1.79 PERIOD OF SEVERANCE 1.80 PERMISSIVE AGGREGATION GROUP 1.81 PLAN 1.82 PLAN ADMINISTRATOR 1.83 PLAN SUNNISTRATOR 1.84 PLAN PERDECESSOR ORGANIZATION 1.85 PROBE PLAN FERRIT 1.86 PROBE PLAN FERRIT 1.87 PROBE PLAN FERRIT 1.88 QUALIFIED DAMPETOR PLANTON GROBE (QDRO) 1.89 QUALIFIED DAMPETOR PLANTON GROBE (QDRO) 1.91 QUALIFIED DAMPETOR PLANTON GROBE (QDRO) 1.92 QUALIFIED ON ELECTIVE CONTRIBUTIONS (QMACS) 1.93 QUALIFIED DAMPETOR PLANTON GROBE (QDRO) 1.94 QUALIFIED ON ELECTIVE CONTRIBUTIONS (QMACS) 1.95 QUALIFIED ON ELECTIVE CONTRIBUTIONS (QUALIFIED ON ELECTIVE CONTRIBUTIONS 1.96 QUALIFIED ON CHILDRAY CONTRIBUTIONS 1.97 REQUIRED AFTER TAX CONTRIBUTIONS 1.99 REQUIRED GENERALS 1.99 REQUIRED GENERALS 1.99 REQUIRED BEGINNING DATE 1.100 ROLLOPER CONTRIBUTION 1.101 ROTH ELECTIVE DEFERRALS 1.102 ROTH IRA 1.103 SALARY IDEFERRAL AGREEMENT 1.104 SELF-EAM CONTRIBUTION 1.105 SELF-EAM CONTRIBUTION 1.106 SEVERANCE FOOM EMPLOYMENT 1.107 SERVICE 1.108 SERVICE PROVODER 1.110 SEVERANCE FORM EMPLOYMENT 1.111 SEPTICAL PROVINCE PROVODER 1.111 SEPTICAL PROVINCE SOURCE 1.112 TANDET CONTRIBUTION DATE 1.113 TOPHERAY PLANTON DATE 1.114 QUALIFIED DEFERRAL TON THE EMPLOYMENT AND REMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA) 1.116 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT AND REMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA) 1.117 VERY SET ON CONTRIBUTION 1.112 TRUSTEE 1.112 DEFERMINATION DATE 1.113 TOPHERAY PLANTON DATE 1.114 TRUSTEE 1.115 TRUSTEE 1.116 TERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY. 2.1 DETERMINATION DATE 1.117 SECRET DATE ON THE PROVINCE TO THE PROVINCE TO THE PROVINCE TO	MAL RETIREMENT AGE	18
1.75 PARTICIPANT SACCOUNT BALANCE 1.77 PARTICIPANT'S ACCOUNT BALANCE 1.78 PARTICIPANT'S BENEFIT 1.79 PERIOD OF SEVERANCE 1.79 PERIOD OF SEVERANCE 1.80 PERIOD OF SEVERANCE 1.81 PLAN 1.82 PLAN DAMINISTRATOR 1.82 PLAN ADMINISTRATOR 1.83 PLAN SPONSOR 1.84 PLAN PARTICIPATION OF SEVERANCE 1.85 PROCESSOR ORGANIZATION 1.86 PROCESSOR ORGANIZATION 1.87 PROTOTYPE PLAN SPONSOR 1.88 QUALIFIED DAMISTIC RELATIONS ORDER (QDRO) 1.89 QUALIFIED DAMISTIC RELATIONS ORDER (QDRO) 1.89 QUALIFIED DAMISTIC RELATIONS ORDER (QDRO) 1.90 QUALIFIED DAMISTIC RELATIONS ORDER (QDRO) 1.91 QUALIFIED DAMISTIC RELATIONS ORDER (QDRO) 1.92 QUALIFIED DAMISTIC RELATIONS ORDER (QDRO) 1.93 QUALIFIED ORDER ORDER (QUALIFIED STATE AND SERVICE AND STATE AND STATE AND SERVICE AND STATE AND SERVICE AND STATE AND SERVICE AND STATE AND STATE AND SERVICE AND STATE AND STA	MAL RETIREMENT DATE	18
1.76 PARTICIPATY S ENSETT 1.77 PARTICIPATY S ENSETT 1.78 PARTICIPATIVE SENSETT 1.79 PARTICIPATIVE SENSETT 1.79 PERIOD OF SEVERANCE 1.80 PERMISSIVE AGGREGATION GROUP 1.81 PLAN 1.82 PLAN ADMINISTRATOR 1.83 PLAN SPONSOR 1.84 PLAN YEAR 1.85 PRESECSSOR ORGANIZATION 1.86 PRIOR PLAN YEAR 1.87 PRESECSSOR ORGANIZATION 1.88 QUALIFIED DAMESTIC RELATIONS ORGER (ODRO). 1.89 QUALIFIED EARLY RETIREMENT AGE. 1.90 QUALIFIED EARLY RETIREMENT AGE. 1.91 QUALIFIED MORESTIC RELATIONS ORGER (ODRO). 1.92 QUALIFIED DATO SURVIVOR ANNUTY (OJSSA). 1.93 QUALIFIED POTONAL SURVIVOR ANNUTY (OJSSA). 1.94 QUALIFIED POTONAL SURVIVOR ANNUTY. 1.95 QUALIFIED POTONAL SURVIVOR ANNUTY. 1.96 QUALIFIED POTONAL SURVIVOR ANNUTY. 1.97 REQUIRED PARE PRITEMENTS SURVIVOR ANNUTY. 1.98 QUALIFIED POTONAL SURVIVOR ANNUTY. 1.99 REQUIRED BEGINNED DATE. 1.100 ROLLOVER CONTRIBUTION . 1.99 REQUIRED BEGINNED DATE. 1.101 ROLLOVER CONTRIBUTION . 1.102 ROTH PARTICIPAL PRITEMENTS. 1.103 SELFERANCE TERMENT SURVIVOR ANNUTY. 1.104 SERVICE. 1.105 SELFERANCE DEFERRALS. 1.106 SELFERANCE DEFERRALS. 1.107 SERVICE. 1.108 SELFERANCE PERIOD DATE. 1.109 SEVERANCE DATE. 1.100 ROLLOVER CONTRIBUTION . 1.101 SERVICE. 1.102 ROTH PARTICIPAL PRITEMENTS. 1.103 SERVICE PROME DEPRENALS. 1.104 SELFERANCE PERIOD DATE. 1.105 SERVICE PROME DEPRENALS. 1.106 SELFERANCE PERIOD DATE. 1.107 SERVICE. 1.107 SERVICE. 1.108 SERVICE PROME DEPRENALS. 1.109 SEVERANCE PERIOD DATE. 1.110 SERVICE PERIOD DATE. 1.111 SHAREHOLDER EMPLOYEE. 1.111 SHAREHOLDER EMPLOYEE. 1.112 TRADITIONAL PRITEMENT ALTERNATIVE. 1.113 SPOUSE (SURVIVING SPOUSE). 1.114 TRADITIONAL PRITEMENT ALTERNATIVE. 1.115 TRADITIONAL PRITEMENT ALTERNATIVE. 1.116 TRADITIONAL PRITEMENT ALTERNATIVE. 1.117 TOP-HEAVY DATE. 1.118 TOP-HEAVY PAIN. 1.119 TOP-HEAVY RATIO. 1.110 TOP-BUG GROUP. 1.121 TRADITIONAL PRITEMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA). 1.122 TRADITE ON THE PRITEMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA). 1.124 T	ier-Employee	18
1.77 PARTICIPANT'S BENETT 1.78 PARTICIPATIS EMPLOYERS 1.79 PERIOD OF SEVERANCE 1.80 PERIOS OF SEVERANCE 1.81 PLAN 1.82 PLAN SONSOR 1.83 PLAN SPONSOR 1.85 PRESCESSOR ORGANIZATION 1.85 PRESCESSOR ORGANIZATION 1.86 PRIOR PLAN YEAR 1.87 PROTOTYPE PLAN PSONSOR 1.88 QUALIFED DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDER (QDRO) 1.89 QUALIFED DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDER (QDRO) 1.89 QUALIFED DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDER (QDRO) 1.80 QUALIFED DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDER (QDRO) 1.80 QUALIFED DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDER (QDRO) 1.81 QUALIFED DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDER (QDRO) 1.82 QUALIFED ORDER AND TABLE SURVIVOR ANNUTY (QJSA) 1.81 QUALIFED MITCHING CONTRIBUTIONS (QMACS) 1.82 QUALIFED ORDER SURVIVOR ANNUTY 1.84 QUALIFED PLAN 1.85 QUALIFED PLAN 1.86 QUALIFED PLAN 1.86 QUALIFED PLAN 1.87 REQUIRED ARE RETIREMENT SURVIVOR ANNUTY 1.89 QUALIFED VOLUNTARY CONTRIBUTIONS 1.89 REQUIRED SEGENINNO DATE 1.80 QUALIFED PLAN 1.81 REQUIRED ARE RETIREMENT SURVIVOR ANNUTY 1.96 QUALIFED PLAN 1.97 REQUIRED ARE RETIREMENT SURVIVOR ANNUTY 1.98 REQUIRED SEGENINNO DATE 1.100 ROLLOVER CONTRIBUTION 1.101 ROLLOVER CONTRIBUTION 1.102 ROTH IRA 1.103 SALARY DEFERRAL SACREMENT 1.104 SAVINGS INCENTIVE MATCH PLAN FOR EMPLOYEES (SIMPLE) 1.105 SELF-SAMPLOYEE INDIVIDUAL 1.106 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT 1.107 SERVICE 1.108 SERVICE PROVIDER 1.110 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT 1.111 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT 1.111 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT 1.112 TRADITION OF THE ANNUTY 1.113 TRADITION OF THE ANNUTY 1.114 TRADITION OF THE ANNUTY 1.115 TRADITION OF THE ANNUTY 1.116 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT 1.117 TOP-HEAVY DETERMINATION DATE 1.118 TOP-HEAVY DETERMINATION DATE 1.119 TOP-HEAVY PAIN 1.111 TRADITION OF THE ANNUTY 1.112 TRADITION OF THE ANNUTY 1.113 TRADITION OF THE ANNUTY 1.114 TRADITION OF THE ANNUTY 1.115 TRADITION OF THE ANNUTY 1.116 TRADITION OF THE ANNUTY 1.117 OF PERSON OF THE ANNUTY 1.118 TOP-HEAVY PAIN 1.119 TOP-HEAVY PAIN 1.119 TOP-HEAVY PAIN 1.111 TRADITION OF THE ANNUTY 1.112 TRADITION OF THE ANNUTY 1.113 TRADITION OF THE ANNUTY 1.114 TRADITION OF THE ANNUTY 1.115 TRADITION OF THE ANNUTY 1.116 TRADI	FICIPANT	18
1.78 PARTICIPATINE EMPLOYERS 1.79 PÉRIDO DE SEVERANCE 1.80 PERNISSIVE AGGREGATION GROUP 1.81 PLAN 1.82 PLAN ADMINISTRATOR 1.83 PLAN SPONSOR 1.84 PLAN YEAR 1.85 PREDECESSOR ORGANIZATION 1.86 PRIOR PLAN YEAR 1.87 PARTOTYPE PLAN SPONSOR 1.88 QUALIFIED DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDER (QDRO) 1.89 QUALIFIED BARLY RETRIBEMENT AGE. 1.90 QUALIFIED BARLY RETRIBEMENT AGE. 1.91 QUALIFIED MONETIC TIVE CONTRIBUTIONS (QNECS) 1.92 QUALIFIED DOTTONAL SURVIVOR ANNUTY (QUSSA) 1.93 QUALIFIED PLAN 1.94 QUALIFIED PLAN 1.95 QUALIFIED PLAN 1.96 QUALIFIED PLAN 1.97 REQUIRED BARLY CONTRIBUTIONS (QNECS) 1.98 QUALIFIED PLAN 1.99 QUALIFIED PLAN 1.99 QUALIFIED PLAN 1.99 QUALIFIED PLAN 1.99 REQUIRED BEGINNING DATE 1.90 QUALIFIED THE PLAN 1.99 REQUIRED BEGINNING DATE 1.90 QUALIFIED PLAN 1.91 QUALIFIED PLAN 1.92 REQUIRED BEGINNING DATE 1.93 QUALIFIED OF THE PLAN 1.94 QUALIFIED PLAN 1.95 QUALIFIED PLAN 1.96 QUALIFIED PLAN 1.97 REQUIRED BEGINNING DATE 1.99 REQUIRED BEGINNING DATE 1.100 ROLLOVER CONTRIBUTION 1.98 REQUIRED BEGINNING DATE 1.101 ROLLOVER CONTRIBUTION 1.102 ROTH BELIET TO EPERRALS 1.103 SALAY DEFERRALS 1.104 SALAY DEFERRALS 1.105 SELF-BARLY OFFE DEFERRALS 1.106 SELF-BARLY OFFE DEFERRALS 1.107 SERVICE 1.108 SELF-BARLY OFFE DEFERRALS 1.109 SEVERANCE PERIOD 1.110 SERVICE PROMOTED PLAN 1.111 SHAREHOLDER EMPLOYEE 1.110 SERVICE PROMOTED 1.111 SHAREHOLDER EMPLOYEE 1.111 SHAREHOLDER EMPLOYEE 1.111 SHAREHOLDER EMPLOYEE 1.111 SHAREHOLDER EMPLOYEE 1.112 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.113 SPOUSE (SURVIVING SPOUSE) 1.114 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.115 TAASHE WAGE BASE 1.116 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT 1.117 TOP-HEAVY DETERMINATION DATE 1.112 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.113 TRUST 1.114 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.115 TAASHE WAGE BASE 1.116 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT 1.117 TOP-HEAVY DETERMINATION DATE 1.112 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.113 TRUST 1.114 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.115 TAASHE WAGE BASE 1.116 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT 1.117 TOP-HEAVY BANCE 1.118 WELLOW AND THE PLAN 1.119 TOP-HEAVY BANCE 1.119 WELLOW AND THE PLAN 1.110 TOP-HEAVY BANCE 1.111 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.112 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.113 TRUST 1.114 TRADITIONAL	ricipant's Account Balance	19
1.79	ricipant's Benefit	19
1.80 PERMISSIVE AGGREGATION GROUP  1.81 PLAN  1.82 PLAN ADMINISTRATOR  1.83 PLAN SPONSOR  1.84 PLAN YEAR  1.85 PREDECESSOR ORGANIZATION  1.86 PRIOR PLAN YEAR  1.87 PREDECESSOR ORGANIZATION  1.88 QUALIFIED DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDER (ODRO)  1.88 QUALIFIED EALY RETIREMENT AGE  1.99 QUALIFIED EALY RETIREMENT AGE  1.99 QUALIFIED ATTAIN SURVIVOR ANNUTY (OJSA)  1.91 QUALIFIED MATCHING CONTRIBUTIONS (ONECS)  1.92 QUALIFIED POTONAL SURVIVOR ANNUTY  1.94 QUALIFIED PAN  1.95 QUALIFIED PER-RETIREMENT SURVIVOR ANNUTY  1.96 QUALIFIED PER-RETIREMENT SURVIVOR ANNUTY  1.97 REQUIRED AFTER-TRAY CONTRIBUTIONS  1.98 REQUIRED SEGENINNO DATE E  1.100 ROLLOVER CONTRIBUTION  1.101 ROTH ELECTIVE DEFERRALS  1.102 ROTH IRA  1.103 SALARY DEFERRAL AGREEMENT  1.104 SAVINGS INCENTVE MATCH PLAN FOR EMPLOYEES (SIMPLE)  1.105 SELE-SHAPIOVED INDIVIDUAL  1.106 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT  1.107 SERVICE  1.108 SERVICE SELES SELES ALLOYMENT  1.110 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT  1.111 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT  1.112 SIMPLIFIED EFERRAL AGREEMENT  1.110 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT  1.111 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT  1.111 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT  1.111 SEVERANCE PROVIDER  1.111 SEVERANCE PROVIDER  1.111 SEVERANCE PROVIDER  1.111 SEVERANCE PROVIDER  1.112 SIMPLIFIED EFERRAL AGREEMENT  1.114 QUALIFIED DEFERRAL AGREEMENT  1.115 SEVERANCE PROVIDER  1.116 SEVERANCE PROVIDER  1.117 SEVERANCE PROVIDER  1.118 SERVICE  1.119 SEVERANCE PROVIDER  1.110 SEVERANCE PROVIDER  1.111 SEVERANCE PROVIDER  1.111 SEVERANCE PROVIDER  1.112 SIMPLIFIED EMPLOYMENT  1.113 TAVABLE WAGE BASE  1.116 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT  1.117 TAVABLE WAGE BASE  1.118 TOP-HEAVY PAIN  1.119 TOP-HEAVY PAIN  1.111 TOP-HEAVY PAIN  1.112 TRANSFER CONTRIBUTION  1.113 TOP-HEAVY PAIN  1.114 TRUSTEE  1.115 LEUGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS  2.1 ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS  2.2 DEFERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT  2.3 CHARGE IN CASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT  2.4 PARTICIPATION.	FICIPATING EMPLOYERS	19
1.81	OD OF SEVERANCE	19
1.82 PLAN ADMINISTRATOR 1.83 PLAN SPONSOR 1.84 PLAN YEAR 1.85 PREDECESSOR ORGANIZATION 1.86 PRIOR PLAN YEAR 1.87 PREDECESSOR ORGANIZATION 1.88 PRIOR PLAN YEAR 1.88 QUALIFIED EARLY RETIREMENT AGE 1.90 QUALIFIED EARLY RETIREMENT AGE 1.90 QUALIFIED EARLY RETIREMENT AGE 1.91 QUALIFIED AGE TO THIS BUTTON OR QUALIFIED EARLY RETIREMENT AGE 1.92 QUALIFIED TO PRIOR ALL STATEMENT AGE 1.93 QUALIFIED ORD THO AND SURVIVOR ANNUITY (QUASA). 1.94 QUALIFIED POPTIONAL SURVIVOR ANNUITY 1.95 QUALIFIED POPTIONAL SURVIVOR ANNUITY 1.96 QUALIFIED PER-RETIREMENT SURVIVOR ANNUITY 1.97 REQUIRED ATTER-TAX CONTRIBUTION 1.98 REQUIRED AGGREGATION GROUP 1.99 REQUIRED AGGREGATION GROUP 1.190 ROLLOVER CONTRIBUTION 1.191 ROTH LESTOTE DEFERRALS 1.190 ROTH RA 1.191 SAVANDS INCENTIVE MATCH PLAN FOR EMPLOYEES (SIMPLE) 1.190 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT 1.191 SALARY DEFERRAL AGREEMENT 1.192 ROTH IRA 1.193 SALARY DEFERRAL AGREEMENT 1.194 SAVANDS INCENTIVE MATCH PLAN FOR EMPLOYEES (SIMPLE) 1.195 SEPLÉ-EMPLOYED INDIVIOUAL 1.196 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT 1.197 SEPLICE 1.198 SEPLEMENT SURVIVED 1.199 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT 1.190 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT 1.191 SEPLICE 1.191 SARRENDIONE EMPLOYMENT 1.191 SAVANDED EMPLOYEE 1.191 SAVANDED EMPLOYMENT 1.191 TOPHEAVY PLAN 1.191 TOPHEAVY RATION 1.191 TOPHEAVY RATION 1.191 TOPHEAVY RATION 1.191 TOPHEAVY RATION 1.192 VOLUNTARY ARTON 1.193 VOLUNTARY AFTER TAX CONTRIBUTION 1.192 TOPHEAVY PLAN 1.193 VOLUNTARY AFTER TAX CONTRIBUTION 1.194 VOLUNTARY AFTER TAX CONTRIBUTION 1.195 VERTANCE EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA) 1.192 TOPHEAVY PLAN 1.193 VOLUNTARY AFTER TAX CONTRIBUTION 1.194 VOLUNTARY AFTER TAX CONTRIBUTION 1.195 VERTANCE EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA) 1.195 VERTANCE EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA) 1.196 VOLUNTARY AFTER TAX CONTRIBUTION 1.197 VERY AFTER TAX CONTRIBUTION 1.198 VERY ARCE EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT A	MISSIVE AGGREGATION GROUP	19
1.83 PLAN SPONSOR. 1.84 PLAN YEAR. 1.85 PREDECESSOR ORGANIZATION. 1.86 PREDECESSOR ORGANIZATION. 1.87 PROTOTYPE PLAN SPONSOR. 1.88 QUALIFIED DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDER (ODRO). 1.89 QUALIFIED DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDER (ODRO). 1.91 QUALIFIED JOINT AND SIRVIVOR ANNUTY (OLSA). 1.92 QUALIFIED JOINT AND SIRVIVOR ANNUTY (OLSA). 1.93 QUALIFIED ON FLIECTIVE CONTRIBUTIONS (OMACS). 1.94 QUALIFIED OPTIONAL SURVIVOR ANNUTY. 1.95 QUALIFIED PLAN . 1.96 QUALIFIED PLAN . 1.97 REQUIRED ATTERIATION ORDER (ORDER). 1.98 REQUIRED SERVIVOR ANNUTY. 1.99 QUALIFIED PLAN . 1.99 REQUIRED SERVIVOR ANNUTY. 1.99 REQUIRED SERVIVOR ANNUTY. 1.99 REQUIRED SERVIND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND A	l	19
1.84 PLAN YEAR 1.85 PREDECESSOR ORGANIZATION 1.86 PRIOR PLAN YEAR 1.87 PROTOTYPE PLAN SPONSOR 1.88 QUALIFIED DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDER (QDRO) 1.89 QUALIFIED DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDER (QDRO) 1.90 QUALIFIED JOINT AND SURVIVOR ANNUITY (QJSA) 1.91 QUALIFIED JOINT AND SURVIVOR ANNUITY (QJSA) 1.92 QUALIFIED MATCHING CONTRIBUTIONS (QMACS) 1.93 QUALIFIED ONN-ELECTIVE CONTRIBUTIONS (QMECS) 1.93 QUALIFIED ONN-ELECTIVE CONTRIBUTION (QMECS) 1.94 QUALIFIED PLAN	I ADMINISTRATOR	19
1.86 PREDECESSOR ORGANIZATION 1.87 PROTOTYPE PLAN SPONSOR 1.88 QUALIFED DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDER (QDRO). 1.89 QUALIFED DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDER (QDRO). 1.90 QUALIFED SIDINT AND SURVIVOR ANNUTY (QUSA). 1.91 QUALIFED MATCHING CONTRIBUTIONS (QMACS). 1.92 QUALIFED MONETIC RELATIONS (OMECS). 1.93 QUALIFED ONDER LECTIVE CONTRIBUTIONS (QMECS). 1.93 QUALIFED DETAIN. 1.95 QUALIFED PLAN. 1.95 QUALIFED PLAN. 1.96 QUALIFED PLAN. 1.97 REQUIRED AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTION. 1.98 REQUIRED BERNINNED DATE. 1.99 REQUIRED BERNINNED DATE. 1.100 ROLLOVER CONTRIBUTION. 1.99 REQUIRED BERNINNED DATE. 1.101 ROLLOVER CONTRIBUTION. 1.101 ROLLOVER CONTRIBUTION. 1.102 ROTH IRA. 1.103 SALARY DEFERRAL AGREEMENT. 1.104 SAVINGS INCENTIVE MATCH PLAN FOR EMPLOYEES (SIMPLE). 1.105 SELE-EMPLOYED INDIVIDUAL. 1.106 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT. 1.107 SERVICE. 1.110 SEVERANCE PROVIDER 1.1110 SEVERANCE PROVIDER 1.1111 SARRHALDER EMPLOYMENT. 1.1111 SARRHALDER EMPLOYMENT. 1.1112 SIMPLIFIED EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN. 1.1114 QUALIFIED EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN. 1.115 SARRHALDER EMPLOYEE 1.1110 SEVERANCE PROVIDER 1.1111 SARRHALDER EMPLOYEE 1.1111 SARRHALDER EMPLOYEE 1.1111 SARRHALDER EMPLOYEE 1.1111 TOP-HEAVY PLAN. 1.111 TOP-HEAVY PLAN. 1.112 TANABER WAS BASE. 1.116 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT. 1.117 TOP-HEAVY PLAN. 1.118 TOP-HEAVY PLAN. 1.119 TOP-HEAVY PLAN. 1.110 TOP-HEAVY PLAN. 1.1111 TOP-HEAVY PLAN. 1.112 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.112 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.113 TRUSTE. 1.114 TRUSTEE. 1.115 UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA). 1.116 TERMINATION DATE 1.117 VISTEE COUNTED THAN AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA). 1.112 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.113 TRUSTE. 1.114 CUBERLE TRUDON DATE 1.115 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.116 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA). 1.116 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.117 PARTICIPATION DATE 1.118 TOP-HEAVY PLAN. 1.119 TOP-HEAVY PLAN. 1.120 TOP-PAID GROUP 1.121 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.122 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.123 TRUSTE. 1.124 TRUSTEE. 1.125 CUBERLINATION OF EMPLOYMENT DATE REMINATION.	J SPONSOR	20
1.86 PRIOR PLAN YEAR  1.87 PROTOTYPE PLAN SPONSOR  1.88 QUALIFIED DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDER (QDRO).  1.89 QUALIFIED DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDER (QDRO).  1.90 QUALIFIED MATCHINE CONTRIBUTIONS (QMACS).  1.91 QUALIFIED MATCHINE CONTRIBUTIONS (QMACS).  1.92 QUALIFIED MON-ELECTIVE CONTRIBUTIONS (QNECS).  1.93 QUALIFIED PLAN.  1.94 QUALIFIED PLAN.  1.95 QUALIFIED PLAN.  1.96 QUALIFIED VOLUNITARY CONTRIBUTIONS (QNECS).  1.97 REQUIRED AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTIONS.  1.98 REQUIRED AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTIONS.  1.99 REQUIRED AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTIONS.  1.99 REQUIRED BEGINNING DATE.  1.100 ROLLOYER CONTRIBUTION.  1.101 ROTH ELECTIVE DEFERRALS.  1.102 ROTH IRA.  1.103 SALARY DEFERRAL AGREEMENT.  1.104 SAVINASI INCENTIVE MATCH PLAN FOR EMPLOYEES (SIMPLE).  1.105 SELF-EMPLOYED INDIVIDUAL.  1.106 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT.  1.107 SERVICE.  1.108 SERVICE FROM EMPLOYMENT.  1.110 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT.  1.111 SHARRHOLDER EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN.  1.112 SIMPLIFIED EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN.  1.113 SPOUSE (SURVIVING SPOUSE).  1.114 CAULIFIED EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN.  1.115 TAXABLE WAGE BASE.  1.116 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT.  1.117 TOP-HEAVY DETERMINATION DATE.  1.118 TOP-HEAVY PLAN.  1.119 TOP-HEAVY PLAN.  1.111 TRADITIONAL IRA.  1.121 TRADITIONAL IRA.  1.122 TRANSFER CONTRIBUTION  1.123 TRUST  1.124 TRUSTEE.  1.125 UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA).  1.126 VALUATION DATE.  1.127 VESTED ACCOUNT BALLANCE.  1.128 VOLUNTARY AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTION  1.129 YEAR OF SERVICE  ARTICLE II.  ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS.  2.1 ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS.  2.2 DETERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT.  2.3 CHANGE IN CLASSFIGATION OF EMPLOYMENT.  2.4 PARTICLE PLAN TO THE PLAN T	I YEAR	20
1.86 PRIOR PLAN YEAR  1.87 PROTOTYPE PLAN SPONSOR  1.88 QUALIFIED DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDER (QDRO).  1.89 QUALIFIED DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDER (QDRO).  1.90 QUALIFIED MATCHINE CONTRIBUTIONS (QMACS).  1.91 QUALIFIED MATCHINE CONTRIBUTIONS (QMACS).  1.92 QUALIFIED MON-ELECTIVE CONTRIBUTIONS (QNECS).  1.93 QUALIFIED PLAN.  1.94 QUALIFIED PLAN.  1.95 QUALIFIED PLAN.  1.96 QUALIFIED VOLUNITARY CONTRIBUTIONS (QNECS).  1.97 REQUIRED AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTIONS.  1.98 REQUIRED AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTIONS.  1.99 REQUIRED AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTIONS.  1.99 REQUIRED BEGINNING DATE.  1.100 ROLLOYER CONTRIBUTION.  1.101 ROTH ELECTIVE DEFERRALS.  1.102 ROTH IRA.  1.103 SALARY DEFERRAL AGREEMENT.  1.104 SAVINASI INCENTIVE MATCH PLAN FOR EMPLOYEES (SIMPLE).  1.105 SELF-EMPLOYED INDIVIDUAL.  1.106 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT.  1.107 SERVICE.  1.108 SERVICE FROM EMPLOYMENT.  1.110 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT.  1.111 SHARRHOLDER EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN.  1.112 SIMPLIFIED EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN.  1.113 SPOUSE (SURVIVING SPOUSE).  1.114 CAULIFIED EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN.  1.115 TAXABLE WAGE BASE.  1.116 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT.  1.117 TOP-HEAVY DETERMINATION DATE.  1.118 TOP-HEAVY PLAN.  1.119 TOP-HEAVY PLAN.  1.111 TRADITIONAL IRA.  1.121 TRADITIONAL IRA.  1.122 TRANSFER CONTRIBUTION  1.123 TRUST  1.124 TRUSTEE.  1.125 UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA).  1.126 VALUATION DATE.  1.127 VESTED ACCOUNT BALLANCE.  1.128 VOLUNTARY AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTION  1.129 YEAR OF SERVICE  ARTICLE II.  ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS.  2.1 ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS.  2.2 DETERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT.  2.3 CHANGE IN CLASSFIGATION OF EMPLOYMENT.  2.4 PARTICLE PLAN TO THE PLAN T	DECESSOR ORGANIZATION	20
1.88 QUALIFIED DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDER (QDRO). 1.89 QUALIFIED JOINT AND SURVIVOR ANNUITY (QJSA). 1.91 QUALIFIED MATCHING CONTRIBUTIONS (QMACS). 1.92 QUALIFIED MATCHING CONTRIBUTIONS (QMECS). 1.93 QUALIFIED OPTIONAL SURVIVOR ANNUITY. 1.94 QUALIFIED PLAN. 1.95 QUALIFIED PER-RETIREMENT SURVIVOR ANNUITY. 1.96 QUALIFIED VOLINTARY CONTRIBUTION. 1.97 REQUIRED AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTION. 1.98 REQUIRED AGRECATION GROUP. 1.99 REQUIRED AGRECATION GROUP. 1.99 REQUIRED BEGINNING DATE. 1.100 ROIL-OVER CONTRIBUTION. 1.101 ROTH ELECTIVE DEFERRALS. 1.102 ROTH IRA. 1.103 SALARY DEFERRAL AGREEMENT. 1.104 SAVINGS INCENTIVE MATCH PLAN FOR EMPLOYEES (SIMPLE). 1.105 SELF-EMPLOYED INDIVIDUAL. 1.106 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT. 1.107 SERVICE. 1.108 SERVICE PROVIDER. 1.110 SEVERANCE DATE. 1.111 SHARPHOLDER EMPLOYEE. 1.112 SIMPLIFIED EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN. 1.113 SAPOUSE (SURVIVING SPOUSE). 1.114 QUALIFIED DEFAULT INVESTMENT ALTERNATIVE. 1.115 TAXABLE WAGE BASE. 1.116 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT. 1.117 TOP-HEAVY PLAN. 1.118 TOP-HEAVY PLAN. 1.119 TOP-HEAVY PLAN. 1.110 TOP-PAGE ORGOUP. 1.121 TRADITIONAL IRA. 1.122 TRUST. 1.123 TRUST. 1.124 TRUST. 1.125 UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA). 1.126 VALUATION DATE. 1.127 VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE. 1.128 VOLUNTARY SAFER FOR THE MINISTRO DATE. 1.129 TRUST. 1.120 TRUST. 1.121 TRADITIONAL IRA. 1.122 TRUST. 1.123 TRUST. 1.124 TRUST. 1.125 UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA). 1.126 VOLUNTARY AFTIO. 1.127 VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE. 1.128 VOLUNTARY AFTIO. 1.129 DETERMINATION DATE. 1.129 TRUST. 1.120 TRUST. 1.121 TRADITIONAL IRA. 1.122 DETERMINATION DATE. 1.123 TRUST. 1.124 LIGIBILITY VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE. 1.125 DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY. 2.2 DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY. 2.3 CHANGE IN CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT.		
1.88 QUALIFIED DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDER (QDRO). 1.89 QUALIFIED JOINT AND SURVIVOR ANNUITY (QJSA). 1.91 QUALIFIED MATCHING CONTRIBUTIONS (QMACS). 1.92 QUALIFIED MATCHING CONTRIBUTIONS (QMECS). 1.93 QUALIFIED OPTIONAL SURVIVOR ANNUITY. 1.94 QUALIFIED PLAN. 1.95 QUALIFIED PER-RETIREMENT SURVIVOR ANNUITY. 1.96 QUALIFIED VOLINTARY CONTRIBUTION. 1.97 REQUIRED AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTION. 1.98 REQUIRED AGRECATION GROUP. 1.99 REQUIRED AGRECATION GROUP. 1.99 REQUIRED BEGINNING DATE. 1.100 ROIL-OVER CONTRIBUTION. 1.101 ROTH ELECTIVE DEFERRALS. 1.102 ROTH IRA. 1.103 SALARY DEFERRAL AGREEMENT. 1.104 SAVINGS INCENTIVE MATCH PLAN FOR EMPLOYEES (SIMPLE). 1.105 SELF-EMPLOYED INDIVIDUAL. 1.106 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT. 1.107 SERVICE. 1.108 SERVICE PROVIDER. 1.110 SEVERANCE DATE. 1.111 SHARPHOLDER EMPLOYEE. 1.112 SIMPLIFIED EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN. 1.113 SAPOUSE (SURVIVING SPOUSE). 1.114 QUALIFIED DEFAULT INVESTMENT ALTERNATIVE. 1.115 TAXABLE WAGE BASE. 1.116 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT. 1.117 TOP-HEAVY PLAN. 1.118 TOP-HEAVY PLAN. 1.119 TOP-HEAVY PLAN. 1.110 TOP-PAGE ORGOUP. 1.121 TRADITIONAL IRA. 1.122 TRUST. 1.123 TRUST. 1.124 TRUST. 1.125 UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA). 1.126 VALUATION DATE. 1.127 VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE. 1.128 VOLUNTARY SAFER FOR THE MINISTRO DATE. 1.129 TRUST. 1.120 TRUST. 1.121 TRADITIONAL IRA. 1.122 TRUST. 1.123 TRUST. 1.124 TRUST. 1.125 UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA). 1.126 VOLUNTARY AFTIO. 1.127 VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE. 1.128 VOLUNTARY AFTIO. 1.129 DETERMINATION DATE. 1.129 TRUST. 1.120 TRUST. 1.121 TRADITIONAL IRA. 1.122 DETERMINATION DATE. 1.123 TRUST. 1.124 LIGIBILITY VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE. 1.125 DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY. 2.2 DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY. 2.3 CHANGE IN CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT.	TOTYPE PLAN SPONSOR	20
1.89 QUALIFIED EARLY RETIREMENT AGE 1.90 QUALIFIED JOINT AND SURVIVOR ANNUTY (QJSA) 1.91 QUALIFIED JOINT AND SURVIVOR ANNUTY (QJSA) 1.92 QUALIFIED MATCHING CONTRIBUTIONS (QMACS) 1.93 QUALIFIED OPTIONAL SURVIVOR ANNUTY 1.94 QUALIFIED PRE-RETIREMENT SURVIVOR ANNUTY 1.95 QUALIFIED PRE-RETIREMENT SURVIVOR ANNUTY 1.96 QUALIFIED PRE-RETIREMENT SURVIVOR ANNUTY 1.97 REQUIRED AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTION 1.98 REQUIRED AGREGATION GROUP 1.99 REQUIRED BEGINNING DATE 1.100 ROLLOVER CONTRIBUTION 1.101 ROTH LECTUTE DEFERRALS 1.102 ROTH IRA 1.102 ROTH IRA 1.104 SAVINGS INCENTIVE MATCH PLAN FOR EMPLOYEES (SIMPLE) 1.105 SELF-EMPLOYED INDIVIDUAL 1.106 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT 1.107 SERVICE 1.108 SERVICE PROVIDER 1.109 SEVERANCE DATE 1.110 SEVERANCE PROVIDER 1.110 SEVERANCE DATE 1.111 SHAREHOLDER EMPLOYEE 1.111 SHAREHOLDER EMPLOYEE 1.111 SHAREHOLDER EMPLOYEE 1.111 TAXABLE WAGE BASE 1.111 TOP-HEAVY DETERMINATION DATE 1.111 TOP-HEAVY PLAN 1.112 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.113 TOP-HEAVY PLAN 1.114 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.115 TOP-HEAVY PLAN 1.116 TOP-PAD GROUP 1.121 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.122 TRANSFER CONTRIBUTION 1.123 TRUST 1.124 TRUST 1.125 UNIFORMOUS PRIVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA) 1.126 VALUATION DATE 1.127 VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE 1.128 VOLUNTARY AFTER—TAX CONTRIBUTION 1.129 WELFARE BERFIET FUND 1.120 TERMINATION DATE 1.121 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.122 TRUST 1.123 TRUST 1.124 TRUSTEE 1.125 UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA) 1.126 VALUATION DATE 1.127 VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE 1.128 VOLUNTARY AFTER—TAX CONTRIBUTION 1.129 TRANSFER CONTRIBUTION 1.120 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.121 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.122 TRUSTEE 1.123 CHANGE IS CACCOUNT BALANCE 1.124 ELIGIBILITY 2.2 DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY 2.2 DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY 2.2 DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY 2.2 DETERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT 2.3 CHANGE IN CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT		
1.90 QUALIFIED JOINT AND SURVIVOR ANNUITY (QJSA) 1.91 QUALIFIED MATCHING CONTRIBUTIONS (QMACS) 1.92 QUALIFIED MON-ELECTIVE CONTRIBUTIONS (QMACS) 1.93 QUALIFIED PROPER ERITEMENT SURVIVOR ANNUITY 1.95 QUALIFIED PLAN		
1.91 QUALIFIED MATCHING CONTRIBUTIONS (QMACS) 1.92 QUALIFIED OND-ELECTIVE CONTRIBUTIONS (QMECS) 1.93 QUALIFIED OPTIONAL SURVIVOR ANNUITY 1.94 QUALIFIED PRE-RETIREMENT SURVIVOR ANNUITY 1.96 QUALIFIED PRE-RETIREMENT SURVIVOR ANNUITY 1.97 REQUIRED ACTER-TAX CONTRIBUTIONS 1.98 REQUIRED AGGREGATION GROUP 1.99 REQUIRED BEGINNING DATE 1.100 ROLLOVER CONTRIBUTION 1.101 ROTH ELECTIVE DEFERRALS 1.102 ROTH IRA 1.103 SALARY DEFERRAL AGREEMENT 1.104 SAVINGS INCENTIVE MATCH PLAN FOR EMPLOYEES (SIMPLE) 1.105 SELF-EMPLOYED INDIVIDUAL 1.106 SELF-EMPLOYED INDIVIDUAL 1.107 SERVICE 1.108 SERVICE PROVIDER 1.109 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT 1.110 SEVERANCE PROME PROVIDER 1.111 SHAREHOLDER EMPLOYEE 1.112 SIMPLIFIED EMPLOYEE PRISION PLAN 1.113 SPOUSE (SURVIVING SPOUSE) 1.114 QUALIFIED DEFALLT INVESTMENT ALTERNATIVE 1.115 TASABLE WAGE BASE 1.116 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT 1.117 TO PHEAVY PLAN 1.118 TOP-HEAVY DETERMINATION DATE 1.119 TOP-HEAVY PLAN 1.110 TOP-HEAVY PLAN 1.122 TRANSFER CONTRIBUTION 1.123 TRUST 1.124 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.125 UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA) 1.126 VALUATION DATE 1.127 VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE 1.128 WELFARE BENEFIT FUND 1.129 WELFARE BENEFIT FUND 1.129 WELFARE BENEFIT FUND 1.120 CONTRIBUTION 1.121 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.122 TRANSFER CONTRIBUTION 1.123 TRUST 1.124 TRUST 1.125 UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA) 1.129 WELFARE BENEFIT FUND 1.129 WELFARE BENEFIT FUND 1.120 CONTRIBUTION 1.121 TRADITIONAL TRANSFER CONTRIBUTION 1.122 TRANSFER CONTRIBUTION 1.123 TRUST 1.124 TRUST 1.125 UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA) 1.126 TRUST 1.127 VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE 1.128 VALUATION OF ELIGIBILITY. 2.2 DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY. 2.3 CHANGE IN CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT 2.4 PARTICIPATION		
1.92 QUALIFIED NON-ELECTIVE CONTRIBUTIONS (QNECS) 1.94 QUALIFIED PLAN. 1.95 QUALIFIED PLAN. 1.96 QUALIFIED PLAN. 1.97 QUALIFIED PLAN. 1.97 REQUIRED AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTION. 1.97 REQUIRED AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTION. 1.98 REQUIRED AGREGATION (ROUP) 1.99 REQUIRED BEGINNING DATE 1.100 ROLLOVER CONTRIBUTION. 1.101 ROTH ELECTIVE DEFERRALS. 1.102 ROTH IRA. 1.103 SALARY DEFERRAL AGREEMENT. 1.104 SAVINGS INCENTIVE MATCH PLAN FOR EMPLOYEES (SIMPLE). 1.105 SELF-EMPLOYED INDIVIDUAL. 1.106 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT. 1.107 SERVICE. 1.108 SERVICE PROVIDER. 1.109 SEVERANCE PROVIDER. 1.110 SEVERANCE PROVIDER. 1.111 SHAREHOLDER EMPLOYEE (SURVIVING SPOUSE). 1.111 SHAREHOLDER EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN. 1.114 QUALIFIED DEFEMLINVESTMENT ALTERNATIVE. 1.115 TAXABLE WAGE BASE. 1.116 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT. 1.117 TOP-HEAVY PLAN. 1.118 TOP-HEAVY PLAN. 1.119 TOP-HEAVY PLAN. 1.120 TOP-PAID GROUP. 1.121 TRANSTER CONTRIBUTION. 1.122 TRANSTER CONTRIBUTION. 1.124 TRUSTEE. 1.125 UNIFORMER SEMILOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA). 1.126 VALUATION DATE. 1.127 VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE. 1.128 VELFARE BENEFIT FUND. 1.129 VELFARE BENEFIT FUND. 1.120 TOP-PAID SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA). 1.129 VELFARE BENEFIT FUND. 1.120 TOP-PAID SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA). 1.121 TRADITIONAL IFA. 1.122 TRANSTER CONTRIBUTION. 1.123 CHANGE BENEFIT FUND. 1.124 TRUSTEE. 1.125 UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA). 1.126 VELFARE BENEFIT FUND. 1.127 VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE. 1.128 COLUMNARY AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTION. 1.129 VELFARE BENEFIT FUND. 1.120 TOP-PAID SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA). 1.129 VELFARE BENEFIT FUND. 1.120 TOP-PAID AND OF ELIGIBILITY. 2.2 DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY. 2.3 CHANGE IN CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT. 2.4 PARTICIPATION.		
1.93 QUALIFIED OPTIONAL SURVIVOR ANNUITY 1.95 QUALIFIED PLAN 1.95 QUALIFIED PLAN 1.96 QUALIFIED PRE-RETIREMENT SURVIVOR ANNUITY 1.96 QUALIFIED VOLUNTARY CONTRIBUTIONS 1.98 REQUIRED AGGREGATION GROUP 1.99 REQUIRED BEGINNING DATE 1.100 ROLLOVER CONTRIBUTION 1.101 ROTH ELECTIVE DEFERRALS 1.102 ROTH IRA 1.102 ROTH IRA 1.103 SALARY DEFERRAL AGREEMENT 1.104 SAVINGS INCENTIVE MATCH PLAN FOR EMPLOYEES (SIMPLE) 1.105 SELF-EMPLOYED INDIVIDUAL 1.106 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT 1.107 SERVICE 1.109 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT 1.109 SEVERANCE DATE 1.110 SEVERANCE PERIOD 1.111 SHAREHOLDER EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN 1.112 SIMPLIFIED EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN 1.114 QUALIFIED DEFAULT INVESTMENT ALTERNATIVE 1.115 TAYABLE WAGE BASE 1.116 TERNINATION OF EMPLOYMENT 1.117 TOP-HEAVY DETRIMINATION DATE 1.118 TOP-HEAVY DETRIMINATION DATE 1.119 TOP-HEAVY PLAN 1.120 TOP-PAID GROUP 1.121 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.122 TRANSFER CONTRIBUTION 1.123 TRUST 1.124 TRUST 1.125 UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA) 1.129 WELFARE BENEFIT FUND 1.129 WELFARE BENEFIT FUND 1.120 TOP-PAID GROUP 1.121 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.122 TRANSFER CONTRIBUTION 1.123 TRUST 1.124 TRUSTEE 1.125 UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA) 1.126 VALUATION DATE 1.127 VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE 1.128 WELFARE BENEFIT FUND 1.129 WELFARE BENEFIT FUND 1.130 YEAR OF SERVICE 1.129 CONTRIBUTION 1.130 YEAR OF SERVICE 1.129 PETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY. 2.2 DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY. 2.3 CHANGE IN CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT 2.4 PARTICIPATION	,	
1.94		
1.95 QUALIFIED PRE-RETIREMENT SURVIVOR ANNUITY 1.96 QUALIFIED VOLUNTARY CONTRIBUTION. 1.97 REQUIRED AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTIONS. 1.98 REQUIRED AGREGATION GROUP. 1.99 REQUIRED BEGINNING DATE 1.100 ROLLOVER CONTRIBUTION. 1.101 ROTH ELECTIVE DEFERRALS. 1.102 ROTH IRA. 1.103 SALARY DEFERRAL AGREEMENT. 1.104 SAVINGS INCENTIVE MATCH PLAN FOR EMPLOYEES (SIMPLE). 1.105 SELF-EMPLOYED INDIVIDUAL. 1.106 SELVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT. 1.107 SERVICE. 1.108 SERVICE PROVIDER. 1.109 SEVERANCE DATE. 1.109 SEVERANCE DATE. 1.110 SEVERANCE DATE. 1.111 SHAREHOLDER EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN. 1.112 SIMPLIFIED EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN. 1.114 QUALIFIED DEFAULT INVESTMENT ALTERNATIVE. 1.115 TAXABLE WAGE BASE. 1.116 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT. 1.117 TOP-HEAVY PLAN. 1.118 TOP-HEAVY PLAN. 1.119 TOP-HEAVY PLAN. 1.119 TOP-HEAVY PLAN. 1.110 TOP-HEAVY PLAN. 1.111 TRANSFER CONTRIBUTION. 1.121 TRADITIONAL IRA. 1.122 TRANSFER CONTRIBUTION. 1.124 TRUSTEE. 1.125 VALUATION DATE. 1.126 VALUATION DATE. 1.127 VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE. 1.128 VOLUNTARY AFTER TAX CONTRIBUTION. 1.129 WELFARE BENEFIT FUND. 1.120 SELFERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA).  ARTICLE II  ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS. 2.1 ELIGIBILITY. 2.2 DETERMINATION OF ENGISILITY 2.3 CHANGE IN CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT. 2.4 PARTICLETION.		
1.96 QUALIFIED VOLUNTARY CONTRIBUTION 1.97 REQUIRED AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTIONS 1.98 REQUIRED AGGREGATION GROUP 1.99 REQUIRED BEGINNING DATE 1.100 ROLLOVER CONTRIBUTION 1.101 ROTH ELECTIVE DEFERRALS 1.102 ROTH IRA 1.103 SALARY DEFERRAL AGREEMENT 1.104 SAVINGS INCENTIVE MATCH PLAN FOR EMPLOYEES (SIMPLE) 1.105 SELF-EMPLOYED INDIVIDUAL 1.106 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT 1.107 SERVICE 1.108 SERVICE PROVIDER 1.109 SEVERANCE DATE 1.110 SEVERANCE DATE 1.111 SHAREHOLDER EMPLOYEE 1.111 SHAREHOLDER EMPLOYEE 1.112 SIMPLIFIED DEFAULT INVESTMENT ALTERNATIVE 1.114 QUALIFIED DEFAULT INVESTMENT ALTERNATIVE 1.115 TAXABLE WAGE BASE 1.116 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT 1.117 TOP-HEAVY DATE MILITARY RATIO 1.119 TOP-HEAVY RATIO 1.120 TOP-PAID GROUP 1.121 TRADITIONAL IRA 1.122 TRANSFER CONTRIBUTION 1.123 TRUST 1.124 TRUSTEE 1.125 UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA) 1.129 WELFARE BENEIT FUND 1.120 VELFARE BENEIT FUND 1.121 VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE  ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS 2.1 ELIGIBILITY 2.2 DETERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT 2.3 CHANCE IN CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT 1.129 WELFARE BENEIT FUND 1.120 TOP-PAID SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA) 1.120 TOP-PAID SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA) 1.121 VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE 1.122 TRANSFER CONTRIBUTION 1.123 TRUST 1.124 TRUSTEE 1.125 UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA) 1.129 WELFARE BENEIT FUND 1.120 TOP-PAID SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA) 1.121 VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE 1.122 DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY. 2.2 DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY. 2.3 CHANCE IN CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT 2.4 PARTICIPATION.		
1.97   REQUIRED AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTIONS.     1.98   REQUIRED AGGREGATION GROUP.     1.99   REQUIRED BEGINNING DATE     1.100   ROLLOVER CONTRIBUTION.     1.101   ROTH ELECTIVE DEFERRALS     1.102   ROTH IRA       1.103   SALARY DEFERRAL AGREEMENT     1.104   SAVINGS INCENTIVE MATCH PLAN FOR EMPLOYEES (SIMPLE).     1.105   SELF-EMPLOYED INDIVIDUAL     1.106   SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT     1.107   SERVICE   SERVICE   ROTHER SERVICE     1.108   SERVICE PROVIDER   ROTHER SERVICE     1.109   SEVERANCE PROVIDER     1.110   SEVERANCE DATE   ROTHER SERVICE     1.111   SHAREHOLDER EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN.     1.112   SIMPLIFIED EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN.     1.114   QUALIFIED DEFAULT INVESTMENT ALTERNATIVE     1.115   TAXABLE WAGE BASE   ROTHER SERVICE     1.116   TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT     1.117   TOP-HEAVY PLAN   ROTHER SERVICE     1.119   TOP-HEAVY PLAN   ROTHER SERVICE     1.121   TRADITIONAL IRA     1.122   TRANSFER CONTRIBUTION     1.121   TRADITIONAL IRA     1.122   TRANSFER CONTRIBUTION     1.124   TRUSTEE   ROTHER SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA)     1.126   VALUATION DATE     1.127   VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE     1.128   VOLUNTARY AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTION     1.129   WELFARE BENEFIT FUND     1.120   SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA)     1.129   WELFARE BENEFIT FUND     1.120   SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA)     1.129   WELFARE BENEFIT FUND     1.120   WELFARE BENEFIT FUND     1.121   ELIGIBILITY     2.2   DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY     2.3   CHANCE IN CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT     2.4   PARTICIPATION		
1.98		
1.99		
1.100		
1.101   ROTH ELECTIVE DEFERRALS   1.102   ROTH IRA		
1.102		
1.103		
1.104   SAVINGS INCENTIVE MATCH PLAN FOR EMPLOYEES (SIMPLE).   1.105   SELF-EMPLOYED INDIVIDUAL.   1.106   SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT.   1.107   SERVICE   1.108   SERVICE PROVIDER   1.109   SEVERANCE DATE   1.110   SEVERANCE DATE   1.110   SEVERANCE DEPRIOD   1.111   SHAREHOLDER EMPLOYEE   1.112   SIMPLIFIED EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN   1.113   SPOUSE (SURVIVING SPOUSE).   1.114   QUALIFIED DEFAULT INVESTMENT ALTERNATIVE   1.115   TAXABLE WAGE BASE   1.116   TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT   1.117   TOP-HEAVY DETARMINATION DATE   1.118   TOP-HEAVY PLAN   1.119   TOP-HEAVY PLAN   1.119   TOP-HEAVY PLAN   1.110   TOP-HEAVY PLAN   1.121   TRADITIONAL IRA   1.122   TRANSFER CONTRIBUTION   1.123   TRUST   1.124   TRUSTE   1.125   UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA)   1.127   VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE   1.128   VOLUNTARY AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTION   1.129   WELFARE BENEFIT FUND   1.130   YEAR OF SERVICE   1.125   ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS   1.22   DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY   2.2   DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY   2.3   CHANGE IN CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT   2.4   PARTICIPATION   2.5   PARTICIPATION   2.4   PARTICIPATION   2.4   PARTICIPATION   2.4   PARTICIPATION   2.5   PART		
1.105   SELF-EMPLOYED INDIVIDUAL   1.106   SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT   1.107   SERVICE   1.108   SERVICE PROVIDER   1.109   SEVERANCE PERIOD   1.110   SEVERANCE PERIOD   1.111   SHAREHOLDER EMPLOYEE   1.111   SHAREHOLDER EMPLOYEE   1.112   SIMPLIFIED EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN   1.113   SPOUSE (SURVIVING SPOUSE)   1.114   QUALIFIED DEFAULT INVESTMENT ALTERNATIVE   1.115   TAXABLE WAGE BASE   1.116   TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT   1.117   TOP-HEAVY DETERMINATION DATE   1.118   TOP-HEAVY PLAN   1.119   TOP-HEAVY PLAN   1.110   TOP-HEAVY PLAN   1.120   TOP-PAID GROUP   1.121   TRADITIONAL IRA   1.122   TRANSFER CONTRIBUTION   1.123   TRUST   1.124   TRUSTEE   1.125   UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA)   1.127   VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE   1.129   WELFARE BENEFIT FUND   1.130   YEAR OF SERVICE   SEMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA)   1.129   WELFARE BENEFIT FUND   1.130   YEAR OF SERVICE   SEMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA)   1.129   WELFARE BENEFIT FUND   1.130   YEAR OF SERVICE   SEMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA)   1.129   WELFARE BENEFIT FUND   1.130   YEAR OF SERVICE   1.125   UNIFORMED SERVICE   1.126   WELFARE BENEFIT FUND   1.130   YEAR OF SERVICE   1.127   WELFARE BENEFIT FUND   1.130   YEAR OF SERVICE   1.127   WELFARE BENEFIT FUND   1.130   YEAR OF SERVICE   1.128   WELFARE BENEFIT FUND   1.130   YEAR OF SERVICE   1.129   WELFARE BENEFIT FUND   1.130   YEAR OF SERVICE   1.120   2.1   ELIGIBILITY   1.120   2.1   ELIGIBILITY   1.120   2.2   DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY   2.2   DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY   2.3   CHANGE IN CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT   2.4   PARTICIPATION   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120   1.120		
1.106		
1.107   SERVICE   SERVICE PROVIDER		
1.108   Service Provider   1.109   Severance Date   1.110   Severance Date   1.111   Severance Period   1.111   Shareholder Employee   Severance   S		
1.109   SEVERANCE DATE		
1.110         SEVERANCE PERIOD           1.111         SHAREHOLDER EMPLOYEE           1.112         SIMPLIFIED EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN           1.113         SPOUSE (SURVIVING SPOUSE)           1.114         QUALIFIED DEFAULT INVESTMENT ALTERNATIVE           1.115         TAXABLE WAGE BASE           1.116         TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT           1.117         TOP-HEAVY DETERMINATION DATE           1.118         TOP-HEAVY PLAN           1.119         TOP-PEAVY RATIO           1.120         TOP-PAID GROUP           1.121         TRADITIONAL IRA           1.122         TRANSFER CONTRIBUTION           1.123         TRUST           1.124         TRUSTEE           1.125         UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA)           1.126         VALUATION DATE           1.127         VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE           1.128         VOLUNTARY AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTION           1.129         WELFARE BENEFIT FUND           1.130         YEAR OF SERVICE    ARTICLE II  ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS  2.1  ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS  2.2  DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY  2.3  CHANGE IN CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT  2.4  PARTICIPATION		
1.111         SHAREHOLDER EMPLOYEE           1.112         SIMPLIFIED EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN           1.113         SPOUSE (SURVIVING SPOUSE)           1.114         QUALIFIED DEFAULT INVESTMENT ALTERNATIVE           1.115         TAXABLE WAGE BASE           1.116         TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT           1.117         TOP-HEAVY DETERMINATION DATE           1.118         TOP-HEAVY PLAN           1.119         TOP-HEAVY RATIO           1.120         TOP-PAID GROUP           1.121         TRADITIONAL IRA           1.122         TRANSFER CONTRIBUTION           1.123         TRUST           1.124         TRUSTE           1.125         UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA)           1.126         VALUATION DATE           1.127         VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE           1.128         VOLUNTARY AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTION           1.129         WELFARE BENEFIT FUND           1.130         YEAR OF SERVICE    ARTICLE II  ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS  2.1  ELIGIBILITY  2.2  DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY  2.3  CHANGE IN CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT  2.4  PARTICIPATION		
1.112         SIMPLIFIED EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN		
1.113         SPOUSE (SURVIVING SPOUSE)           1.114         QUALIFIED DEFAULT INVESTMENT ALTERNATIVE           1.115         TAXABLE WAGE BASE		
1.114 QUALIFIED DEFAULT INVESTMENT ALTERNATIVE 1.115 TAXABLE WAGE BASE 1.116 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT 1.117 TOP-HEAVY DETERMINATION DATE 1.118 TOP-HEAVY PLAN		
1.115         TAXABLE WAGE BASE.           1.116         TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT           1.117         TOP-HEAVY DETERMINATION DATE.           1.118         TOP-HEAVY PLAN.           1.119         TOP-HEAVY RATIO.           1.120         TOP-PAID GROUP.           1.121         TRADITIONAL IRA           1.122         TRANSFER CONTRIBUTION           1.123         TRUST.           1.124         TRUSTEE.           1.125         UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA).           1.126         VALUATION DATE.           1.127         VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE           1.128         VOLUNTARY AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTION           1.129         WELFARE BENEFIT FUND           1.130         YEAR OF SERVICE.    ARTICLE II  ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS  2.1  ELIGIBILITY  2.2  DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY  2.3  CHANGE IN CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT  2.4  PARTICIPATION		
1.116         TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT		
1.117		
1.118		
1.119 TOP-HEAVY RATIO		
1.120 TOP-PAID GROUP		
1.121       TRADITIONAL IRA         1.122       TRANSFER CONTRIBUTION         1.123       TRUST         1.124       TRUSTEE         1.125       UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA).         1.126       VALUATION DATE.         1.127       VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE         1.128       VOLUNTARY AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTION         1.129       WELFARE BENEFIT FUND.         1.130       YEAR OF SERVICE.     ARTICLE II  ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS  2.1  ELIGIBILITY  2.2  DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY  2.3  CHANGE IN CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT  2.4  PARTICIPATION.		
1.122       TRANSFER CONTRIBUTION         1.123       TRUST         1.124       TRUSTEE         1.125       UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA)         1.126       VALUATION DATE         1.127       VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE         1.128       VOLUNTARY AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTION         1.129       WELFARE BENEFIT FUND         1.130       YEAR OF SERVICE     ARTICLE II  ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS  2.1  ELIGIBILITY  2.2  DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY  2.3  CHANGE IN CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT  2.4  PARTICIPATION  TO THE METAL ACT OF 1994 (USERRA)  LUSERRA)  LUSERRA		
1.123		
1.124 TRUSTEE		
1.125 UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994 (USERRA).  1.126 VALUATION DATE		
1.126         VALUATION DATE	STEE	25
1.127 VESTED ACCOUNT BALANCE  1.128 VOLUNTARY AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTION  1.129 WELFARE BENEFIT FUND  1.130 YEAR OF SERVICE.  ARTICLE II  ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS  2.1 ELIGIBILITY.  2.2 DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY.  2.3 CHANGE IN CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT  2.4 PARTICIPATION.		
1.128 VOLUNTARY AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTION  1.129 WELFARE BENEFIT FUND  1.130 YEAR OF SERVICE		
1.129 WELFARE BENEFIT FUND		
1.130 YEAR OF SERVICE		
ARTICLE II  ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS  2.1 ELIGIBILITY 2.2 DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY 2.3 CHANGE IN CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT 2.4 PARTICIPATION		
ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS	R OF SERVICE	26
ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS		•
2.1 ELIGIBILITY		28
2.1 ELIGIBILITY	NUDEMENTS	40
2.2 DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY	(UIKENIEN I 5	28
2.2 DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY	IRII ITY	20
2.3 CHANGE IN CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT		
2.4 Participation		-
2.5 EMPLOYMENT RIGHTS		
2.6 SERVICE WITH CONTROLLED GROUPS		28 29

2.7	LEASED EMPLOYEES	29
2.8	THRIFT PLAN	29
2.9	MULTIPLE EMPLOYER PLANS	30
2.10	PREVAILING WAGE (DAVIS-BACON) PLAN	30
2.11	WAIVER OF PARTICIPATION	
2.12	OMISSION OF ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEE	
2.13	INCLUSION OF INELIGIBLE EMPLOYEE	
2.14	PARTICIPATING EMPLOYER	
2.15	SIMPLE 401(k) PLAN	
2.10	OIM 22 401(t) 1 2.10	
ARTICLE	E III	33
<b>EMPLOY</b>	ER CONTRIBUTIONS	33
3.1	CONTRIBUTION AMOUNT	33
3.2	OVERALL PERMITTED DISPARITY LIMITS	
3.3	CONTRIBUTION AMOUNT FOR A SIMPLE 401(k) PLAN	
3.4	RESPONSIBILITY FOR CONTRIBUTIONS	
3.5	RETURN OF CONTRIBUTIONS	
3.6	MERGER OF ASSETS FROM ANOTHER PLAN	
3.7	COVERAGE REQUIREMENTS	
3.8	ELIGIBILITY FOR CONTRIBUTION	
	CROSS-TESTED ALLOCATION FORMULA	
3.9	CROSS-TESTED ALLOCATION FORMULA	
3.10	PREVAILING WAGE (DAVIS-BACON) CONTRIBUTION	
3.11	Uniform Dollar Contribution	
3.12	UNIFORM POINTS CONTRIBUTION	
3.13	403(B) OR 457(B) MATCHING CONTRIBUTION	
3.14	FROZEN PLAN	39
<b>ARTICLE</b>	E IV	40
EMDLOV	EE CONTRIBUTIONS	40
EWIPLOT		
4.1	VOLUNTARY AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTIONS	
4.2	REQUIRED AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTIONS	40
4.3	QUALIFIED VOLUNTARY CONTRIBUTIONS	40
4.4	ROLLOVER CONTRIBUTIONS	
4.5	VOLUNTARY DIRECT TRANSFERS BETWEEN PLANS	41
4.6	ELECTIVE DEFERRALS IN A 401(K) PLAN	
4.7	CATCH-UP CONTRIBUTIONS	
4.8	ELECTIVE DEFERRALS IN A SIMPLE 401(K) PLAN	
4.9	ROTH ELECTIVE DEFERRALS IN A 401(K) PLAN	
4.10	AUTOMATIC ENROLLMENT	
4.11	QUALIFIED AND ELIGIBLE AUTOMATIC CONTRIBUTION ARRANGEMENTS	
4.12	MAKE-UP CONTRIBUTIONS UNDER USERRA	50
ADTICL E	= V	
ARTICLE	: V	51
<b>PARTICII</b>	PANT ACCOUNTS	51
E 1	CEDADATE ACCOUNTS	E4
5.1 5.2	SEPARATE ACCOUNTS	
-	VALUATION DATE	
5.3		······································
5.4	ALLOCATING EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS	
5.5	ALLOCATING INVESTMENT EARNINGS AND LOSSES	······································
5.6	ALLOCATION ADJUSTMENTS	
5.7	PARTICIPANT STATEMENTS	
5.8	CHANGES IN METHOD AND TIMING OF VALUING PARTICIPANTS' ACCOUNTS	
5.9	ROTH ELECTIVE DEFERRAL ACCOUNT	53
ARTICLE	E VI	54
_		
RETIREN	MENT BENEFITS AND DISTRIBUTIONS	54
6.1	NORMAL RETIREMENT BENEFITS	54
6.2	EARLY RETIREMENT BENEFITS	54
6.3	BENEFIT UPON DEATH	54
6.4	BENEFIT UPON DISABILITY	-
6.5	BENEFITS ON TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT	
6.6	RESTRICTIONS ON IMMEDIATE DISTRIBUTIONS	-
6.7	NORMAL AND OPTIONAL FORMS OF PAYMENT	
6.8	DISTRIBUTION IN EVENT OF INCAPACITY	
6.9	COMMENCEMENT OF BENEFITS	
6.10	IN-SERVICE WITHDRAWALS	
6.11	Qualified Reservist Distribution	
6.12	IN-PLAN ROTH ROLLOVER	
6.13	HARDSHIP WITHDRAWALS	
6.14	DIRECT ROLLOVERS	-
6.15	PARTICIPANT'S NOTICE	-
	1 / NATION / NATIONAL DISTRICT	

6.16		
00	ASSETS TRANSFERRED FROM MONEY PURCHASE PENSION PLANS	
6.17	ASSETS TRANSFERRED FROM A CODE SECTION 401(K) PLAN	
6.18	PERIODS OF QUALIFIED ACTIVE MILITARY SERVICE TREATED AS SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT	
6.19	DEATH BENEFITS UNDER USERRA-QUALIFIED ACTIVE MILITARY SERVICE	
6.20	BENEFIT ACCRUALS DUE TO DEATH AND DISABILITY UNDER USERRA	65
ARTICLE VII		66
DISTRIBUTION	ON REQUIREMENTS	66
2.0		
7.1	JOINT AND SURVIVOR ANNUITY REQUIREMENTS	66
7.2	DESIGNATION OF BENEFICIARY	
· · -		
7.3	MINIMUM DISTRIBUTION REQUIREMENTS	
7.4	LIMITS ON DISTRIBUTION PERIODS	67
7.5	REQUIRED BEGINNING DATE	67
-	DEATH OF PARTICIPANT BEFORE DISTRIBUTIONS BEGIN	67
7.6		
7.7	FORMS OF DISTRIBUTIONS	
7.8	AMOUNT OF REQUIRED MINIMUM DISTRIBUTION FOR EACH DISTRIBUTION CALENDAR YEAR	67
7.9	LIFETIME REQUIRED MINIMUM DISTRIBUTIONS CONTINUE THROUGH YEAR OF PARTICIPANT'S DEATH	68
7.10	DEATH ON OR AFTER REQUIRED DISTRIBUTIONS BEGIN	
-		
7.11	DEATH BEFORE DATE REQUIRED DISTRIBUTIONS BEGIN	
7.12	PRIOR PRE-RETIREMENT DISTRIBUTION OPTIONS	68
7.13	TRANSITIONAL RULES	69
7.13	DISTRIBUTIONS TO MINORS AND INDIVIDUALS WHO ARE LEGALLY INCOMPETENT.	
7.15	UNCLAIMED BENEFITS	/0
7.16	2009 REQUIRED MINIMUM DISTRIBUTIONS	70
	_	
ARTICLE VII	I	71
JOINT AND	SURVIVOR ANNUITY REQUIREMENTS	71
8.1	APPLICABILITY OF PROVISIONS	71
8.2	PAYMENT OF QUALIFIED JOINT AND SURVIVOR ANNUITY	71
8.3	PAYMENT OF QUALIFIED PRE-RETIREMENT SURVIVOR ANNUITY	
8.4	Qualified Election	
8.5	NOTICE REQUIREMENTS FOR QUALIFIED JOINT AND SURVIVOR ANNUITY	
8.6	NOTICE REQUIREMENTS FOR QUALIFIED PRE-RETIREMENT SURVIVOR ANNUITY	72
8.7	SPECIAL SAFE HARBOR EXCEPTION FOR CERTAIN PROFIT-SHARING OR 401(K) PLANS	
-		
8.8	TRANSITIONAL RULE	
8.9	AUTOMATIC JOINT AND SURVIVOR ANNUITY AND EARLY SURVIVOR ANNUITY	74
8.10	ANNUITY CONTRACTS	75
0.10		
ARTICLE IX.		76
ARTICLE IX.		76
ARTICLE IX.		76
ARTICLE IX. VESTING 9.1	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	7676
ARTICLE IX.	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	76767676
ARTICLE IX. VESTING 9.1 9.2	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	76767676
ARTICLE IX.  VESTING  9.1  9.2  9.3	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	7676767676
ARTICLE IX.  VESTING  9.1  9.2  9.3  9.4	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	767676767676
ARTICLE IX.  VESTING  9.1  9.2  9.3  9.4  9.5	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	76767676767676
ARTICLE IX.  VESTING  9.1  9.2  9.3  9.4	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	76767676767676
ARTICLE IX.  VESTING  9.1  9.2  9.3  9.4  9.5	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	767676767676767676
9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	76767676767676767676
9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	76767676767676767676
9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	7676767676767676767677
9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	76767676767676767676777777
9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	76767676767676767676777777
9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	76767676767676767676777777
9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10 9.11	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	76767676767676767676777777
9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10 9.11 ARTICLE X.	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS  EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS  VESTING OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS IN A SIMPLE 401(K) PLAN  COMPUTATION PERIOD  REQUALIFICATION PRIOR TO FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  REQUALIFICATION AFTER FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  CALCULATING VESTED INTEREST  FORFEITURES  AMENDMENT OF VESTING SCHEDULE  SERVICE WITH CONTROLLED GROUPS.  COMPLIANCE WITH UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994	76767676767676767677777879
9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10 9.11 ARTICLE X.	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS  EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS  VESTING OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS IN A SIMPLE 401(k) PLAN  COMPUTATION PERIOD  REQUALIFICATION PRIOR TO FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  REQUALIFICATION AFTER FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  CALCULATING VESTED INTEREST  FORFEITURES  AMENDMENT OF VESTING SCHEDULE  SERVICE WITH CONTROLLED GROUPS  COMPLIANCE WITH UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994	76767676767676767677777879
9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10 9.11 ARTICLE X.	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS  EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS  VESTING OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS IN A SIMPLE 401(K) PLAN  COMPUTATION PERIOD  REQUALIFICATION PRIOR TO FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  REQUALIFICATION AFTER FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  CALCULATING VESTED INTEREST  FORFEITURES  AMENDMENT OF VESTING SCHEDULE  SERVICE WITH CONTROLLED GROUPS  COMPLIANCE WITH UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994	767676767676767676767777777879
9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10 9.11 ARTICLE X.	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS  EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS  VESTING OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS IN A SIMPLE 401(K) PLAN  COMPUTATION PERIOD  REQUALIFICATION PRIOR TO FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  REQUALIFICATION AFTER FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  CALCULATING VESTED INTEREST  FORFEITURES  AMENDMENT OF VESTING SCHEDULE  SERVICE WITH CONTROLLED GROUPS.  COMPLIANCE WITH UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994	767676767676767676767777777879
9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10 9.11  ARTICLE X  LIMITATION 10.1	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS  EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS  VESTING OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS IN A SIMPLE 401(K) PLAN  COMPUTATION PERIOD  REQUALIFICATION PRIOR TO FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  REQUALIFICATION AFTER FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  CALCULATING VESTED INTEREST  FORFEITURES  AMENDMENT OF VESTING SCHEDULE  SERVICE WITH CONTROLLED GROUPS  COMPLIANCE WITH UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994  S ON ALLOCATIONS  MAXIMUM ANNUAL ADDITIONS	7676767676767676767677787979
9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10 9.11  ARTICLE X  LIMITATION 10.1 10.2	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS  EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS  VESTING OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS IN A SIMPLE 401(K) PLAN  COMPUTATION PERIOD  REQUALIFICATION PRIOR TO FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  REQUALIFICATION AFTER FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  CALCULATING VESTED INTEREST  FORFEITURES  AMENDMENT OF VESTING SCHEDULE  SERVICE WITH CONTROLLED GROUPS  COMPLIANCE WITH UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994  S ON ALLOCATIONS  MAXIMUM ANNUAL ADDITIONS  PARTICIPATION IN THIS PLAN ONLY	76767676767676767676777877787979
9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10 9.11  ARTICLE X  LIMITATION: 10.1 10.2 10.3	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS  EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS  VESTING OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS IN A SIMPLE 401(K) PLAN  COMPUTATION PERIOD  REQUALIFICATION PRIOR TO FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  REQUALIFICATION AFTER FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  CALCULATING VESTED INTEREST  FORFEITURES  AMENDMENT OF VESTING SCHEDULE  SERVICE WITH CONTROLLED GROUPS  COMPLIANCE WITH UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994  SON ALLOCATIONS  MAXIMUM ANNUAL ADDITIONS  PARTICIPATION IN THIS PLAN ONLY  DISPOSITION OF EXCESS ANNUAL ADDITIONS	76767676767676767677777777
9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10 9.11  ARTICLE X  LIMITATION: 10.1 10.2 10.3 10.4	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	7676767676767676767777777879797979
9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10 9.11  ARTICLE X  LIMITATION: 10.1 10.2 10.3	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS  EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS  VESTING OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS IN A SIMPLE 401(K) PLAN  COMPUTATION PERIOD  REQUALIFICATION PRIOR TO FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  REQUALIFICATION AFTER FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  CALCULATING VESTED INTEREST  FORFEITURES  AMENDMENT OF VESTING SCHEDULE  SERVICE WITH CONTROLLED GROUPS  COMPLIANCE WITH UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994  SON ALLOCATIONS  MAXIMUM ANNUAL ADDITIONS  PARTICIPATION IN THIS PLAN ONLY  DISPOSITION OF EXCESS ANNUAL ADDITIONS	7676767676767676767777777879797979
9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10 9.11  ARTICLE X.: LIMITATION: 10.1 10.2 10.3 10.4 10.5	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS  EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS  VESTING OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS IN A SIMPLE 401(K) PLAN.  COMPUTATION PERIOD  REQUALIFICATION PRIOR TO FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  REQUALIFICATION AFTER FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  CALCULATING VESTED INTEREST  FORFEITURES.  AMENDMENT OF VESTING SCHEDULE  SERVICE WITH CONTROLLED GROUPS.  COMPLIANCE WITH UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994  SON ALLOCATIONS  MAXIMUM ANNUAL ADDITIONS  PARTICIPATION IN THIS PLAN ONLY  DISPOSITION OF EXCESS ANNUAL ADDITIONS  PARTICIPATION IN MULTIPLE DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS.  DISPOSITION OF EXCESS ANNUAL ADDITIONS UNDER TWO PLANS.	76767676767676767677787979797979797979
9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10 9.11  ARTICLE X.: LIMITATION: 10.1 10.2 10.3 10.4 10.5	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	76767676767676767677787979797979797979
9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10 9.11  ARTICLE X  LIMITATION 10.2 10.3 10.4 10.5  ARTICLE XI.	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	767676767676767676767777787979797979797979
9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10 9.11  ARTICLE X  LIMITATION 10.2 10.3 10.4 10.5  ARTICLE XI.	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS  EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS  VESTING OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS IN A SIMPLE 401(K) PLAN.  COMPUTATION PERIOD  REQUALIFICATION PRIOR TO FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  REQUALIFICATION AFTER FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  CALCULATING VESTED INTEREST  FORFEITURES.  AMENDMENT OF VESTING SCHEDULE  SERVICE WITH CONTROLLED GROUPS.  COMPLIANCE WITH UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994  SON ALLOCATIONS  MAXIMUM ANNUAL ADDITIONS  PARTICIPATION IN THIS PLAN ONLY  DISPOSITION OF EXCESS ANNUAL ADDITIONS  PARTICIPATION IN MULTIPLE DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS.  DISPOSITION OF EXCESS ANNUAL ADDITIONS UNDER TWO PLANS.	767676767676767676767777787979797979797979
ARTICLE IX.  VESTING  9.1  9.2  9.3  9.4  9.5  9.6  9.7  9.8  9.9  9.10  9.11  ARTICLE X  LIMITATION:  10.1  10.2  10.3  10.4  10.5  ARTICLE XI.  NONDISCRII	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS  EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS  VESTING OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS IN A SIMPLE 401(k) PLAN  COMPUTATION PERIOD  REQUALIFICATION PRIOR TO FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  REQUALIFICATION AFTER FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  CALCULATING VESTED INTEREST  FORFEITURES  AMENDMENT OF VESTING SCHEDULE  SERVICE WITH CONTROLLED GROUPS  COMPLIANCE WITH UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994  SON ALLOCATIONS  MAXIMUM ANNUAL ADDITIONS  PARTICIPATION IN THIS PLAN ONLY  DISPOSITION OF EXCESS ANNUAL ADDITIONS  PARTICIPATION IN MULTIPLE DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS.  DISPOSITION OF EXCESS ANNUAL ADDITIONS UNDER TWO PLANS.  MINATION TESTING	767676767676767677787979797979797979797979
9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10 9.11  ARTICLE X  LIMITATION: 10.1 10.2 10.3 10.4 10.5  ARTICLE XI.  NONDISCRII 11.1	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	76767676767676767778797979797979798181
ARTICLE IX.  VESTING  9.1  9.2  9.3  9.4  9.5  9.6  9.7  9.8  9.9  9.10  9.11  ARTICLE X  LIMITATION:  10.1  10.2  10.3  10.4  10.5  ARTICLE XI.  NONDISCRII	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	7676767676767676767778797979797979797979798181
9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10 9.11  ARTICLE X  LIMITATION: 10.1 10.2 10.3 10.4 10.5  ARTICLE XI.  NONDISCRII 11.1	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	7676767676767676767778797979797979797979798181
ARTICLE IX.  VESTING  9.1  9.2  9.3  9.4  9.5  9.6  9.7  9.8  9.9  9.10  9.11  ARTICLE X  LIMITATION:  10.1  10.2  10.3  10.4  10.5  ARTICLE XI.  NONDISCRII  11.1  11.2  11.3	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS  EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS  VESTING OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS IN A SIMPLE 401(k) PLAN	767676767676767676777879797979797979797979808181
9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10 9.11  ARTICLE X.: LIMITATION: 10.1 10.2 10.3 10.4 10.5  ARTICLE XI: NONDISCRII 11.1 11.2 11.3 11.4	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS  EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS  WESTING OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS IN A SIMPLE 401(k) PLAN.  COMPUTATION PERIOD  REQUALIFICATION PRIOR TO FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  REQUALIFICATION AFTER FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  CALCULATING VESTED INTEREST  FORFEITURES.  AMENDMENT OF VESTING SCHEDULE  SERVICE WITH CONTROLLED GROUPS.  COMPLIANCE WITH UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994.  SON ALLOCATIONS.  MAXIMUM ANNUAL ADDITIONS  PARTICIPATION IN THIS PLAN ONLY  DISPOSITION OF EXCESS ANNUAL ADDITIONS.  PARTICIPATION IN MULTIPLE DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS.  DISPOSITION OF EXCESS ANNUAL ADDITIONS UNDER TWO PLANS.  SPECIAL RULES REQUIREMENTS  ADP TESTING LIMITATIONS  SPECIAL RULES RELATING TO APPLICATION OF THE ADP TEST.  ACP TESTING LIMITATIONS	7676767676767676767677787979797979798181818181
ARTICLE IX.  VESTING  9.1  9.2  9.3  9.4  9.5  9.6  9.7  9.8  9.9  9.10  9.11  ARTICLE X  LIMITATION  10.1  10.2  10.3  10.4  10.5  ARTICLE XI.  NONDISCRII  11.1  11.2  11.3  11.4  11.5	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS  EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS  VESTING OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS IN A SIMPLE 401(K) PLAN.  COMPUTATION PERIOD  REQUALIFICATION PRIOR TO FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  REQUALIFICATION AFTER FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  CALCULATING VESTED INTEREST  FORFEITURES  AMENDMENT OF VESTING SCHEDULE  SERVICE WITH CONTROLLED GROUPS  COMPLIANCE WITH UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994  SON ALLOCATIONS  MAXIMUM ANNUAL ADDITIONS  PARTICIPATION IN THIS PLAN ONLY DISPOSITION OF EXCESS ANNUAL ADDITIONS  PARTICIPATION IN MULTIPLE DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS DISPOSITION OF EXCESS ANNUAL ADDITIONS UNDER TWO PLANS  WINATION TESTING  GENERAL TESTING REQUIREMENTS  ADP TESTING LIMITATIONS  SPECIAL RULES RELATING TO THE APPLICATION OF THE ACP TEST.  SPECIAL RULES RELATING TO THE APPLICATION OF THE ACP TEST.	76767676767676767677787979797979798181818181818282
ARTICLE IX.  VESTING  9.1  9.2  9.3  9.4  9.5  9.6  9.7  9.8  9.9  9.10  9.11  ARTICLE X  LIMITATION:  10.1  10.2  10.3  10.4  10.5  ARTICLE XI.  NONDISCRII  11.1  11.2  11.3  11.4	EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS  EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS  WESTING OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS IN A SIMPLE 401(k) PLAN.  COMPUTATION PERIOD  REQUALIFICATION PRIOR TO FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  REQUALIFICATION AFTER FIVE CONSECUTIVE ONE-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE  CALCULATING VESTED INTEREST  FORFEITURES.  AMENDMENT OF VESTING SCHEDULE  SERVICE WITH CONTROLLED GROUPS.  COMPLIANCE WITH UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT OF 1994.  SON ALLOCATIONS.  MAXIMUM ANNUAL ADDITIONS  PARTICIPATION IN THIS PLAN ONLY  DISPOSITION OF EXCESS ANNUAL ADDITIONS.  PARTICIPATION IN MULTIPLE DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS.  DISPOSITION OF EXCESS ANNUAL ADDITIONS UNDER TWO PLANS.  SPECIAL RULES REQUIREMENTS  ADP TESTING LIMITATIONS  SPECIAL RULES RELATING TO APPLICATION OF THE ADP TEST.  ACP TESTING LIMITATIONS	76767676767676767677787979797979798181818181818282

11.8	DISTRIBUTION OF EXCESS ELECTIVE DEFERRALS	85
11.9	DISTRIBUTION OF EXCESS CONTRIBUTIONS	86
11.10	DISTRIBUTION OF EXCESS AGGREGATE CONTRIBUTIONS	
11.11	QUALIFIED NON-ELECTIVE AND/OR MATCHING CONTRIBUTIONS	
11.12	NONDISCRIMINATION TESTS IN A SIMPLE 401(k) PLAN	
11.12	SAFE HARBOR 401(K) PLAN RULES OF APPLICATION	
	` '	
11.14	SAFE HARBOR 401(K) PLAN DEFINITIONS	90
11.15	REQUIRED RESTRICTIONS ON SAFE HARBOR 401(K) CONTRIBUTIONS	
11.16	ADP TEST SAFE HARBOR	-
11.17	ACP TEST SAFE HARBOR	
11.18	SAFE HARBOR 401(K) STATUS	
11.19	SAFE HARBOR 401(K) NOTICE REQUIREMENT	93
11.20	SATISFYING SAFE HARBOR 401(K) CONTRIBUTION REQUIREMENTS UNDER ANOTHER DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN.	94
11.21	NONDISCRIMINATION TESTS IN AN ELIGIBLE AUTOMATIC CONTRIBUTION ARRANGEMENT	
<b>ARTICLE XI</b>	I	96
_		
<b>ADMINISTR</b>	ATION	96
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		
12.1	PLAN ADMINISTRATOR	96
12.2	PERSONS SERVING AS PLAN ADMINISTRATOR	
12.3	ACTION BY EMPLOYER	
12.4	RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE PARTIES	-
12.5	PROMULGATING NOTICES AND PROCEDURES	
12.6	APPOINTMENT OF INVESTMENT MANAGER	
12.7	Participant Investment Direction	
12.8	APPLICATION OF ERISA SECTION 404(C)	
12.9	Participant Loans	101
12.10	Insurance Policies	103
12.11	PROCEDURES AND OTHER MATTERS REGARDING DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDERS	
12.12	DETERMINATION OF QUALIFIED DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDER (QDRO OR ORDER)	
12.12	RECEIPT AND RELEASE FOR PAYMENTS	
12.14	RESIGNATION AND REMOVAL	
12.15	CLAIMS AND CLAIMS REVIEW PROCEDURE	
12.16	BENEFIT CLAIMS PROCEDURE FOR DISABILITY CLAIMS	
12.17	Bonding	
12.18	EXPENSES AND COMPENSATION	109
_		
13.1 13.2	CUSTODIAL ACCOUNT PROVISIONS	110 110 110
13.1 13.2 13.3	CUSTODIAL ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST  CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS  DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE	110 110 110 110
13.1 13.2	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST	110 110 110 110 110
13.1 13.2 13.3	CUSTODIAL ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST  CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS  DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE	110 110 110 110 110
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST	110 110 110 110 110 114
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5	CUSTODIAL ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST  CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS  DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE  NON-DISCRETIONARY DIRECTED TRUSTEE  PROVISIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL TRUSTEES	110 110 110 110 110 114 114
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS. DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE NON-DISCRETIONARY DIRECTED TRUSTEE PROVISIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL TRUSTEES POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE PERMISSIBLE INVESTMENTS.	110 110 110 110 110 114 114 116
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE NON-DISCRETIONARY DIRECTED TRUSTEE PROVISIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL TRUSTEES POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE PERMISSIBLE INVESTMENTS APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL TRUSTEE AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES	110 110 110 110 110 114 114 116 117
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE NON-DISCRETIONARY DIRECTED TRUSTEE PROVISIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL TRUSTEES POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE PERMISSIBLE INVESTMENTS APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL TRUSTEE AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES COMPENSATION, ADMINISTRATIVE FEES AND EXPENSES.	110 110 110 110 110 114 114 116 117 117
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS. DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE. NON-DISCRETIONARY DIRECTED TRUSTEE PROVISIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL TRUSTEES. POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE PERMISSIBLE INVESTMENTS. APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL TRUSTEE AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES COMPENSATION, ADMINISTRATIVE FEES AND EXPENSES. RECORDS.	110 110 110 110 110 114 114 116 117 117
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS. DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE. NON-DISCRETIONARY DIRECTED TRUSTEE PROVISIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL TRUSTEES. POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE PERMISSIBLE INVESTMENTS. APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL TRUSTEE AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES COMPENSATION, ADMINISTRATIVE FEES AND EXPENSES. RECORDS. LIMITATION ON TRUSTEE'S LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION.	110 110 110 110 110 114 114 116 117 117 118 118
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11 13.12	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST	110 110 110 110 110 114 114 116 117 117 118 118 120
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11 13.12 13.13	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST	110 110 110 110 110 114 114 116 117 117 118 118 120 123
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11 13.12 13.13 13.14	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST	110 110 110 110 110 114 114 116 117 117 118 118 120 123 124
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11 13.12 13.13	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS. DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE NON-DISCRETIONARY DIRECTED TRUSTEE PROVISIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL TRUSTEES. POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE. PERMISSIBLE INVESTMENTS. APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL TRUSTEE AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES. COMPENSATION, ADMINISTRATIVE FEES AND EXPENSES. RECORDS. LIMITATION ON TRUSTEE'S LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION CUSTODIAN. INDEMNIFICATION OF THE CUSTODIAN. PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS. EXCLUSIVE BENEFIT RULES.	110 110 110 110 110 114 114 116 117 117 117 118 118 120 123 124 124
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11 13.12 13.13 13.14	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST	110 110 110 110 110 114 114 116 117 117 117 118 118 120 123 124 124
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11 13.12 13.13 13.14 13.15	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS. DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE NON-DISCRETIONARY DIRECTED TRUSTEE PROVISIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL TRUSTEES. POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE. PERMISSIBLE INVESTMENTS. APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL TRUSTEE AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES. COMPENSATION, ADMINISTRATIVE FEES AND EXPENSES. RECORDS. LIMITATION ON TRUSTEE'S LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION CUSTODIAN. INDEMNIFICATION OF THE CUSTODIAN. PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS. EXCLUSIVE BENEFIT RULES.	110 110 110 110 110 114 114 116 117 117 118 118 120 123 124 124 124
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11 13.12 13.13 13.14 13.15 13.16 13.17	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE NON-DISCRETIONARY DIRECTED TRUSTEE PROVISIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL TRUSTEES POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE PERMISSIBLE INVESTMENTS APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL TRUSTEE AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES COMPENSATION, ADMINISTRATIVE FEES AND EXPENSES. RECORDS LIMITATION ON TRUSTEE'S LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION CUSTODIAN INDEMNIFICATION OF THE CUSTODIAN. PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS EXCLUSIVE BENEFIT RULES ASSIGNMENT AND ALIENATION OF BENEFITS LIQUIDATION OF ASSETS	110 110 110 110 110 114 114 116 117 117 118 118 120 123 124 124 124 124
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11 13.12 13.13 13.14 13.15 13.16 13.17 13.18	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE NON-DISCRETIONARY DIRECTED TRUSTEE PROVISIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL TRUSTEES POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE PERMISSIBLE INVESTMENTS APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL TRUSTEE AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES COMPENSATION, ADMINISTRATIVE FEES AND EXPENSES. RECORDS LIMITATION ON TRUSTEE'S LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION CUSTODIAN INDEMNIFICATION OF THE CUSTODIAN PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS EXCLUSIVE BENEFIT RULES ASSIGNMENT AND ALIENATION OF BENEFITS LIQUIDATION OF ASSETS RESIGNATION AND REMOVAL OF THE TRUSTEE AND/OR CUSTODIAN.	110 110 110 110 1110 1114 114 116 117 117 118 118 120 123 124 124 124 124
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11 13.12 13.13 13.14 13.15 13.16 13.17	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE NON-DISCRETIONARY DIRECTED TRUSTEE PROVISIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL TRUSTEES POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE PERMISSIBLE INVESTMENTS APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL TRUSTEE AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES COMPENSATION, ADMINISTRATIVE FEES AND EXPENSES. RECORDS LIMITATION ON TRUSTEE'S LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION CUSTODIAN INDEMNIFICATION OF THE CUSTODIAN. PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS EXCLUSIVE BENEFIT RULES ASSIGNMENT AND ALIENATION OF BENEFITS LIQUIDATION OF ASSETS	110 110 110 110 1110 1114 114 116 117 117 118 118 120 123 124 124 124 124
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11 13.12 13.13 13.14 13.15 13.16 13.17 13.18 13.19	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS	110 110 110 110 110 114 114 116 117 117 118 120 123 124 124 124 124 125
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11 13.12 13.13 13.14 13.15 13.16 13.17 13.18 13.19	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE NON-DISCRETIONARY DIRECTED TRUSTEE PROVISIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL TRUSTEES POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE PERMISSIBLE INVESTMENTS APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL TRUSTEE AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES COMPENSATION, ADMINISTRATIVE FEES AND EXPENSES. RECORDS LIMITATION ON TRUSTEE'S LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION CUSTODIAN INDEMNIFICATION OF THE CUSTODIAN PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS EXCLUSIVE BENEFIT RULES ASSIGNMENT AND ALIENATION OF BENEFITS LIQUIDATION OF ASSETS RESIGNATION AND REMOVAL OF THE TRUSTEE AND/OR CUSTODIAN.	110 110 110 110 110 114 114 116 117 117 118 120 123 124 124 124 124 125
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11 13.12 13.13 13.14 13.15 13.16 13.17 13.18 13.19  ARTICLE XI	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE NON-DISCRETIONARY DIRECTED TRUSTEE PROVISIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL TRUSTEES POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE PERMISSIBLE INVESTMENTS APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL TRUSTEE AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES COMPENSATION, ADMINISTRATIVE FEES AND EXPENSES. RECORDS. LIMITATION ON TRUSTEE'S LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION CUSTODIAN INDEMNIFICATION OF THE CUSTODIAN. PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS EXCLUSIVE BENEFIT RULES. ASSIGNMENT AND ALIENATION OF BENEFITS LIQUIDATION OF ASSETS RESIGNATION AND REMOVAL OF THE TRUSTEE AND/OR CUSTODIAN REIMBURSEMENT FOR TAXES	110 110 110 110 110 114 114 116 117 117 118 118 120 123 124 124 124 124 125
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11 13.12 13.13 13.14 13.15 13.16 13.17 13.18 13.19  ARTICLE XI	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS	110 110 110 110 110 114 114 116 117 117 118 118 120 123 124 124 124 124 125
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11 13.12 13.13 13.14 13.15 13.16 13.17 13.18 13.19  ARTICLE XI TOP-HEAVY	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS. DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE NON-DISCRETIONARY DIRECTED TRUSTEE PROVISIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL TRUSTEES. POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE. PERMISSIBLE INVESTMENTS. APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL TRUSTEE AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES. COMPENSATION, ADMINISTRATIVE FEES AND EXPENSES. RECORDS. LIMITATION ON TRUSTEE'S LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION. CUSTODIAN. INDEMNIFICATION OF THE CUSTODIAN. PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS. EXCLUSIVE BENEFIT RULES. ASSIGNMENT AND ALIENATION OF BENEFITS LIQUIDATION OND REMOVAL OF THE TRUSTEE AND/OR CUSTODIAN. REIMBURSEMENT FOR TAXES.  V PROVISIONS.	110 110 110 110 110 1110 114 114
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11 13.12 13.13 13.14 13.15 13.16 13.17 13.18 13.19  ARTICLE XI TOP-HEAVY 14.1	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE NON-DISCRETIONARY DIRECTED TRUSTEE PROVISIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL TRUSTEES POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE PERMISSIBLE INVESTMENTS APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL TRUSTEE AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES COMPENSATION, ADMINISTRATIVE FEES AND EXPENSES. RECORDS. LIMITATION ON TRUSTEE'S LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION CUSTODIAN INDEMNIFICATION OF THE CUSTODIAN. PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS EXCLUSIVE BENEFIT RULES ASSIGNMENT AND ALIENATION OF BENEFITS LIQUIDATION OF ASSETS RESIGNATION AND REMOVAL OF THE TRUSTEE AND/OR CUSTODIAN. REIMBURSEMENT FOR TAXES  V PROVISIONS  APPLICABILITY OF RULES.	110 110 110 110 110 1110 1114 1114 1116 117 117 117 118 120 123 124 124 124 124 124 125 126 126
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11 13.12 13.13 13.14 13.15 13.16 13.17 13.18 13.19  ARTICLE XI TOP-HEAVY 14.1 14.2	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS.  DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE. NON-DISCRETIONARY DIRECTED TRUSTEE. PROVISIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL TRUSTEES. POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE. PERMISSIBLE INVESTMENTS. APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL TRUSTEE AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES. COMPENSATION, ADMINISTRATIVE FEES AND EXPENSES. RECORDS. LIMITATION ON TRUSTEE'S LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION. CUSTODIAN. INDEMNIFICATION OF THE CUSTODIAN. PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS. EXCLUSIVE BENEFIT RULES. ASSIGNMENT AND ALIENATION OF BENEFITS. LIQUIDATION OF ASSETS. RESIGNATION AND REMOVAL OF THE TRUSTEE AND/OR CUSTODIAN. REIMBURSEMENT FOR TAXES.  V PROVISIONS.  APPLICABILITY OF RULES. DETERMINATION OF TOP-HEAVY STATUS.	110 110 110 110 110 110 1114 114 116 117 117 118 1120 123 124 124 124 125 126 126
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11 13.12 13.13 13.14 13.15 13.16 13.17 13.18 13.19  ARTICLE XI  TOP-HEAVY  14.1 14.2 14.3	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE NON-DISCRETIONARY DIRECTED TRUSTEE PROVISIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL TRUSTEES POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE PERMISSIBLE INVESTMENTS APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL TRUSTEE AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES COMPENSATION, ADMINISTRATIVE FEES AND EXPENSES. RECORDS. LIMITATION ON TRUSTEE'S LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION CUSTODIAN INDEMNIFICATION OF THE CUSTODIAN. PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS EXCLUSIVE BENEFIT RULES ASSIGNMENT AND ALIENATION OF BENEFITS LIQUIDATION OF ASSETS RESIGNATION AND REMOVAL OF THE TRUSTEE AND/OR CUSTODIAN REIMBURSEMENT FOR TAXES  V PROVISIONS  APPLICABILITY OF RULES DETERMINATION OF TOP-HEAVY STATUS MINIMUM CONTRIBUTION.	110 110 110 110 110 110 1114 114 116 117 117 118 118 120 123 124 124 124 125 126 126 126 127
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11 13.12 13.13 13.14 13.15 13.16 13.17 13.18 13.19  ARTICLE XI  TOP-HEAVY  14.1 14.2 14.3 14.4	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST. CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS. DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE. NON-DISCRETIONARY DIRECTED TRUSTEE. PROVISIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL TRUSTEES. POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE. PERMISSIBLE INVESTMENTS. APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL TRUSTEE AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES. COMPENSATION, ADMINISTRATIVE FEES AND EXPENSES. RECORDS. LIMITATION ON TRUSTEE'S LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION. CUSTODIAN. INDEMNIFICATION OF THE CUSTODIAN. PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS. EXCLUSIVE BENEFIT RULES. ASSIGNMENT AND ALIENATION OF BENEFITS LIQUIDATION OF ASSETS. RESIGNATION AND REMOVAL OF THE TRUSTEE AND/OR CUSTODIAN. REIMBURSEMENT FOR TAXES.  V  PROVISIONS.  APPLICABILITY OF RULES. DETERMINATION OF TOP-HEAVY STATUS. MINIMUM CONTRIBUTION. MINIMUM CONTRIBUTION. MINIMUM CONTRIBUTION. MINIMUM CONTRIBUTION.	110 110 110 110 110 1110 114 114 116 117 117 118 118 120 123 124 124 124 125 126 126 126 127 128
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11 13.12 13.13 13.14 13.15 13.16 13.17 13.18 13.19  ARTICLE XI TOP-HEAVY 14.1 14.2 14.3 14.4 14.5	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST.  CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS.  DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE  NON-DISCRETIONARY DIRECTED TRUSTEE.  PROVISIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL TRUSTEES.  POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE.  PERMISSIBLE INVESTMENTS.  APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL TRUSTEE AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES.  COMPENSATION, ADMINISTRATIVE FEES AND EXPENSES.  RECORDS.  LIMITATION ON TRUSTEE'S LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION.  CUSTODIAN.  INDEMNIFICATION OF THE CUSTODIAN.  PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS  EXCLUSIVE BENEFIT RULES.  ASSIGNMENT AND ALIENATION OF BENEFITS  LIQUIDATION OF ASSETS.  RESIGNATION AND REMOVAL OF THE TRUSTEE AND/OR CUSTODIAN.  REIMBURSEMENT FOR TAXES.  V  PROVISIONS  APPLICABILITY OF RULES.  DETERMINATION OF TOP-HEAVY STATUS.  MINIMUM CONTRIBUTION.  MINIMUM CONTRIBUTION.  MINIMUM CONTRIBUTION.  MINIMUM CONTRIBUTION.  MINIMUM VESTING.	110 110 110 110 110 1110 1114 1114 1116 117 117 118 118 1120 124 124 124 124 125 126 126 126 126 126 127 128 128
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11 13.12 13.13 13.14 13.15 13.16 13.17 13.18 13.19  ARTICLE XI TOP-HEAVY 14.1 14.2 14.3 14.4 14.5 14.6	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE NON-DISCRETIONARY DIRECTED TRUSTEE PROVISIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL TRUSTEES POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE PERMISSIBLE INVESTMENTS APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL TRUSTEE AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES COMPENSATION, ADMINISTRATIVE FEES AND EXPENSES. RECORDS LIMITATION ON TRUSTEE'S LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION CUSTODIAN INDEMNIFICATION OF THE CUSTODIAN PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS EXCLUSIVE BENEFIT RULES ASSIGNMENT AND ALLENATION OF BENEFITS LIQUIDATION OF ASSETS RESIGNATION AND REMOVAL OF THE TRUSTEE AND/OR CUSTODIAN REIMBURSEMENT FOR TAXES  V  PROVISIONS  APPLICABILITY OF RULES DETERMINATION OF TOP-HEAVY STATUS MINIMUM CONTRIBUTION MINIMUM VESTING LIMITATIONS ON ALLOCATIONS USE OF SAFE HARBOR CONTRIBUTIONS TO SATISFY TOP-HEAVY CONTRIBUTION RULES	110 110 110 110 110 1110 1114 1114 1116 117 117 118 118 1120 123 124 124 124 124 125 126 126 126 126 126 128 128
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11 13.12 13.13 13.14 13.15 13.16 13.17 13.18 13.19  ARTICLE XI TOP-HEAVY 14.1 14.2 14.3 14.4 14.5	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST.  CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS.  DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE  NON-DISCRETIONARY DIRECTED TRUSTEE.  PROVISIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL TRUSTEES.  POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE.  PERMISSIBLE INVESTMENTS.  APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL TRUSTEE AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES.  COMPENSATION, ADMINISTRATIVE FEES AND EXPENSES.  RECORDS.  LIMITATION ON TRUSTEE'S LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION.  CUSTODIAN.  INDEMNIFICATION OF THE CUSTODIAN.  PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS  EXCLUSIVE BENEFIT RULES.  ASSIGNMENT AND ALIENATION OF BENEFITS  LIQUIDATION OF ASSETS.  RESIGNATION AND REMOVAL OF THE TRUSTEE AND/OR CUSTODIAN.  REIMBURSEMENT FOR TAXES.  V  PROVISIONS  APPLICABILITY OF RULES.  DETERMINATION OF TOP-HEAVY STATUS.  MINIMUM CONTRIBUTION.  MINIMUM CONTRIBUTION.  MINIMUM CONTRIBUTION.  MINIMUM CONTRIBUTION.  MINIMUM VESTING.	110 110 110 110 110 1110 1114 1114 1116 117 117 118 118 1120 123 124 124 124 124 125 126 126 126 126 126 128 128
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11 13.12 13.13 13.14 13.15 13.16 13.17 13.18 13.19  ARTICLE XI  TOP-HEAVY  14.1 14.2 14.3 14.4 14.5 14.6 14.7	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST. CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS. DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE NON-DISCRETIONARY DIRECTED TRUSTEE PROVISIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL TRUSTEES. POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE PERMISSIBLE INVESTMENTS. APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL TRUSTEE AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES. COMPENSATION, ADMINISTRATIVE FEES AND EXPENSES. RECORDS. LIMITATION ON TRUSTEE'S LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION. CUSTODIAN INDEMNIFICATION OF THE CUSTODIAN. PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS. EXCLUSIVE BENEFIT RULES. ASSIGNMENT AND ALIENATION OF BENEFITS LIQUIDATION OF ASSETS. RESIGNATION AND REMOVAL OF THE TRUSTEE AND/OR CUSTODIAN REIMBURSEMENT FOR TAXES.  V  PROVISIONS  APPLICABILITY OF RULES. DETERMINATION OF TOP-HEAVY STATUS. MINIMUM CONTRIBUTION. MINIMUM VESTING. LIMITATIONS ON ALLOCATIONS. USE OF SAFE HARBOR CONTRIBUTIONS TO SATISFY TOP-HEAVY CONTRIBUTION RULES TOP-HEAVY RULES FOR SIMPLE 401(K) PLANS.	110 110 110 110 110 110 1114 114 116 117 117 118 118 120 123 124 124 124 125 126 126 126 126 127 128 128 128
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11 13.12 13.13 13.14 13.15 13.16 13.17 13.18 13.19  ARTICLE XI  TOP-HEAVY  14.1 14.2 14.3 14.4 14.5 14.6 14.7	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE NON-DISCRETIONARY DIRECTED TRUSTEE PROVISIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL TRUSTEES POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE PERMISSIBLE INVESTMENTS APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL TRUSTEE AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES COMPENSATION, ADMINISTRATIVE FEES AND EXPENSES. RECORDS LIMITATION ON TRUSTEE'S LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION CUSTODIAN INDEMNIFICATION OF THE CUSTODIAN PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS EXCLUSIVE BENEFIT RULES ASSIGNMENT AND ALLENATION OF BENEFITS LIQUIDATION OF ASSETS RESIGNATION AND REMOVAL OF THE TRUSTEE AND/OR CUSTODIAN REIMBURSEMENT FOR TAXES  V  PROVISIONS  APPLICABILITY OF RULES DETERMINATION OF TOP-HEAVY STATUS MINIMUM CONTRIBUTION MINIMUM VESTING LIMITATIONS ON ALLOCATIONS USE OF SAFE HARBOR CONTRIBUTIONS TO SATISFY TOP-HEAVY CONTRIBUTION RULES	110 110 110 110 110 110 1114 114 116 117 117 118 118 120 123 124 124 124 125 126 126 126 126 127 128 128 128
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11 13.12 13.13 13.14 13.15 13.16 13.17 13.18 13.19  ARTICLE XI TOP-HEAVY 14.1 14.2 14.3 14.4 14.5 14.6 14.7  ARTICLE XV	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE NON-DISCRETIONARY DIRECTED TRUSTEE PROVISIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL TRUSTEES. POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE PERMISSIBLE INVESTMENTS. APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL TRUSTEE AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES. COMPENSATION, ADMINISTRATIVE FEES AND EXPENSES. RECORDS. LIMITATION ON TRUSTEE'S LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION. CUSTODIAN. INDEMNIFICATION OF THE CUSTODIAN. PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS EXCLUSIVE BENEFIT RULES. ASSIGNMENT AND ALIENATION OF BENEFITS LIQUIDATION ON AND REMOVAL OF THE TRUSTEE AND/OR CUSTODIAN. REIMBURSEMENT FOR TAXES.  V  PROVISIONS  APPLICABILITY OF RULES. DETERMINATION OF TOP-HEAVY STATUS. MINIMUM CONTRIBUTION. MINIMUM VESTING. LIMITATIONS ON ALLOCATIONS. USE OF SAFE HARBOR CONTRIBUTIONS TO SATISFY TOP-HEAVY CONTRIBUTION RULES. TOP-HEAVY RULES FOR SIMPLE 401(K) PLANS.	110 110 110 110 110 1110 1114 1114 1116 117 117 118 118 118 123 124 124 124 124 125 126 126 126 126 126 128 128 128 128
13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 13.8 13.9 13.10 13.11 13.12 13.13 13.14 13.15 13.16 13.17 13.18 13.19  ARTICLE XI TOP-HEAVY 14.1 14.2 14.3 14.4 14.5 14.6 14.7  ARTICLE XV	ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST. CONTROL OF PLAN ASSETS. DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE NON-DISCRETIONARY DIRECTED TRUSTEE PROVISIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL TRUSTEES. POWERS OF THE TRUSTEE PERMISSIBLE INVESTMENTS. APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL TRUSTEE AND ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES. COMPENSATION, ADMINISTRATIVE FEES AND EXPENSES. RECORDS. LIMITATION ON TRUSTEE'S LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION. CUSTODIAN INDEMNIFICATION OF THE CUSTODIAN. PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS. EXCLUSIVE BENEFIT RULES. ASSIGNMENT AND ALIENATION OF BENEFITS LIQUIDATION OF ASSETS. RESIGNATION AND REMOVAL OF THE TRUSTEE AND/OR CUSTODIAN REIMBURSEMENT FOR TAXES.  V  PROVISIONS  APPLICABILITY OF RULES. DETERMINATION OF TOP-HEAVY STATUS. MINIMUM CONTRIBUTION. MINIMUM VESTING. LIMITATIONS ON ALLOCATIONS. USE OF SAFE HARBOR CONTRIBUTIONS TO SATISFY TOP-HEAVY CONTRIBUTION RULES TOP-HEAVY RULES FOR SIMPLE 401(K) PLANS.	110 110 110 110 110 1110 1114 1114 1116 117 117 118 118 118 123 124 124 124 124 125 126 126 126 126 126 128 128 128 128

15.2	AMENDMENT BY EMPLOYER	129
15.3	Protected Benefits	129
15.4	PERMITTED PLAN AMENDMENTS AFFECTING ALTERNATIVE FORMS OF PAYMENT	
15.5	PLAN TERMINATION	
15.6	Involuntary Termination	
15.7	TERMINATION OF PARTICIPATION BY PARTICIPATING EMPLOYER	
15.8	DISTRIBUTION RESTRICTIONS UNDER A CODE SECTION 401(K) PLAN	
15.9	QUALIFICATION OF EMPLOYER'S PLAN	
15.10	MERGERS AND CONSOLIDATIONS	
15.11	QUALIFICATION OF PROTOTYPE	
15.12	DISCONTINUANCE OF PROTOTYPE	134
ARTICLE	XVI	135
GOVERN	ING LAW	135
16.1	GOVERNING LAW	135
16.2	STATE COMMUNITY PROPERTY LAWS	135
ARTICLE	XVII	136
DEEMED	IRAS	136
17.1	DEEMED IRAS	
17.2	INDIVIDUAL	
17.3	INVESTMENT IN COLLECTIBLES	
17.4	RESTRICTIONS ON DIRECTING INVESTMENTS	
17.5	PROHIBITION AGAINST INVESTING IN LIFE INSURANCE	
17.6	COMMINGLING OF ASSETS	
17.7	Nonforfeitability	
17.8	SEPARATE ACCOUNTING	
17.9	SEPARATE TRUSTS	
17.10	SEPARATE ANNUITIES	
17.11	REPORTING DUTIES	
17.12	DISTRIBUTIONS	
17.13	VOLUNTARY EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS	
17.14	SUBSTITUTION OF NON-BANK TRUSTEE	
17.15	DISQUALIFICATION	137
	XVIII	138
	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS	138
18.1	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS	138
18.1 18.2	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	138 138 138
18.1 18.2 18.3	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	138138138138138
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	138138138138138
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 18.7	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 18.7	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 18.7 18.8 18.9	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 18.7 18.8 18.9 18.10	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 18.7 18.8 18.9	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 18.7 18.8 18.9 18.10 18.11	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 18.7 18.8 18.9 18.10	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 18.7 18.8 18.9 18.10 18.11 18.12 18.13	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 18.7 18.8 18.9 18.10 18.11 18.12 18.13 18.14	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 18.7 18.8 18.9 18.10 18.11 18.12 18.13 18.14	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 18.7 18.8 18.9 18.10 18.11 18.12 18.13 18.14 18.15 18.16 18.17	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 18.7 18.8 18.9 18.10 18.11 18.12 18.13 18.14 18.15 18.16	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 18.7 18.8 18.9 18.10 18.11 18.12 18.13 18.14 18.15 18.16 18.17	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 18.7 18.8 18.9 18.10 18.11 18.12 18.13 18.14 18.15 18.16 18.17 18.18	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 18.7 18.8 18.9 18.10 18.11 18.12 18.13 18.14 18.15 18.16 18.17 18.18 18.19 18.20 18.21	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 18.7 18.8 18.9 18.10 18.11 18.12 18.13 18.14 18.15 18.16 18.17 18.18 18.19 18.20 18.21	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 18.7 18.8 18.9 18.10 18.11 18.12 18.13 18.14 18.15 18.16 18.17 18.18 18.19 18.20 18.21	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 18.7 18.8 18.9 18.10 18.11 18.12 18.13 18.14 18.15 18.16 18.17 18.18 18.19 18.20 18.21 <b>ARTICLE</b>	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 18.7 18.8 18.9 18.10 18.11 18.12 18.13 18.14 18.15 18.16 18.17 18.18 18.19 18.20 18.21 ARTICLE  DEEMED  19.1	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA  MAXIMUM ANNUAL CONTRIBUTION  CATCH-UP CONTRIBUTION  REQUIRED BEGINNING DATE  IRA TAX YEAR  IRA TRUSTEE  TRADITIONAL IRA CONTRIBUTIONS  EXCESS IRA CONTRIBUTIONS  MAINTENANCE OF AN INDIVIDUAL'S IRA  METHODS OF PAYMENT  REQUIREMENTS OF INCOME TAX REGULATIONS  IRA REQUIRED BEGINNING DATE  FORMS OF DISTRIBUTIONS  DISTRIBUTIONS UPON DEATH  DESIGNATED BENEFICIARY  REMAINDER BENEFICIARY  REMAINDER BENEFICIARY  DISTRIBUTION CALENDAR YEAR  LIFE EXPECTANCY  INDIVIDUAL'S ACCOUNT BALANCE  DUTIES OF THE TRUSTEE  DUTIES OF THE INDIVIDUAL  XIX  ROTH INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 18.7 18.8 18.9 18.10 18.11 18.12 18.13 18.14 18.15 18.16 18.17 18.18 18.19 18.20 18.21 ARTICLE  DEEMED  19.1 19.2	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 18.7 18.8 18.9 18.10 18.11 18.12 18.13 18.14 18.15 18.16 18.17 18.18 18.20 18.21 ARTICLE  DEEMED  19.1 19.2 19.3	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 18.7 18.8 18.9 18.10 18.11 18.12 18.13 18.14 18.15 18.16 18.17 18.18 18.20 18.21 ARTICLE  DEEMED  19.1 19.2 19.3 19.4	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 18.7 18.8 18.9 18.10 18.11 18.12 18.13 18.14 18.15 18.16 18.17 18.18 18.20 18.21 ARTICLE DEEMED 19.1 19.2 19.3 19.4 19.5	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 18.7 18.8 18.9 18.10 18.11 18.12 18.13 18.14 18.15 18.16 18.17 18.18 18.20 18.21 ARTICLE  DEEMED  19.1 19.2 19.3 19.4 19.5 19.6	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA	
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 18.7 18.8 18.9 18.10 18.11 18.12 18.13 18.14 18.15 18.16 18.17 18.18 18.20 18.21 <b>ARTICLE DEEMED</b> 19.1 19.2 19.3 19.4 19.5 19.6 19.7	TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED IRA.  MAXIMUM ANNUAL CONTRIBUTION CATCH-UP CONTRIBUTION REQUIRED BEGINNING DATE IRA TAX YEAR. IRA TRUSTEE TRADITIONAL IRA CONTRIBUTIONS. EXCESS IRA CONTRIBUTIONS MAINTENANCE OF AN INDIVIDUAL'S IRA. METHODS OF PAYMENT REQUIREMENTS OF INCOME TAX REGULATIONS IRA REQUIRED BEGINNING DATE FORMS OF DISTRIBUTIONS DISTRIBUTIONS UPON DEATH DESIGNATED BENEFICIARY REMAINDER BENEFICIARY REMAINDER BENEFICIARY DISTRIBUTION CALENDAR YEAR LIFE EXPECTANCY INDIVIDUAL'S ACCOUNT BALANCE DUTIES OF THE TRUSTEE DUTIES OF THE INDIVIDUAL  XIX  ROTH INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS  DEEMED ROTH IRA. COMPENSATION AGE REQUIREMENTS PLAN YEAR TIMING OF ROTH CONTRIBUTIONS ADJUSTED GROSS INCOME (AGI). MODIFIED AGI	

19.11	EXCESS ROTH IRA CONTRIBUTION	143
19.12	QUALIFIED DISTRIBUTIONS	143
19.13	QUALIFIED SPECIAL PURPOSE DISTRIBUTION	144
19.14	Nonqualified Distributions	144
19.15	FORM OF PAYMENT	144
19.16	ROLLOVER FROM A QUALIFIED RETIREMENT PLAN	144
19.17	LIFE EXPECTANCY	144
19.18	DISTRIBUTIONS COMMENCING PRIOR TO DEATH	
19.19	DISTRIBUTIONS AFTER DEATH	
19.20	ORDERING RULES UPON DEATH OF INDIVIDUAL	145
19.21	MINIMUM PAYMENT	
19.22	Duties Of IRA Trustee	
19.23	DUTIES OF INDIVIDUAL	

# PROTOTYPE DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

# **Sponsored By**

# **EPIC Advisors, Inc.**

The Prototype Plan Sponsor hereby establishes this Plan for use by its clients who wish to adopt a qualified retirement plan. This Plan shall be interpreted in a manner consistent with the intention of the adopting Employer that this Plan satisfies Internal Revenue Code Sections 401 and 501. Any Plan and Trust established hereunder shall be so established for the exclusive benefit of Plan Participants and their Beneficiaries and shall be administered under the following terms and conditions:

# ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS

# 1.1 Actual Contribution Percentage (ACP)

The average of the Contribution Percentage Amounts of the eligible Participants in a specific group of Participants (either Highly Compensated Employees or Non-Highly Compensated Employees) for a Plan Year. The Actual Contribution Percentage shall mean the ratio (expressed as a percentage and calculated separately for each Participant) of:

- (a) the Participant's Contribution Percentage Amounts [as defined at (c)-(f)] for a Plan Year, to
- (b) the Participant's Compensation for such Plan Year. [Unless otherwise specified in the Adoption Agreement, Compensation will only include amounts for the period during which the Employee was eligible to participate.]

Contribution Percentage Amounts on behalf of any Participant shall include:

- (c) the amount of Voluntary After-tax Contributions, Required After-tax Contributions, Matching Contributions [except to the extent such Matching Contributions may be disregarded in accordance with Internal Revenue Service (IRS) Notice 98-1], and Qualified Matching Contributions (to the extent not taken into account for purposes of the ADP test) made under the Plan on behalf of the Participant for the Plan Year,
- (d) forfeitures of Excess Aggregate Contributions or Matching Contributions allocated to the Participant's account which shall be taken into account in the year in which such forfeiture is allocated,
  - (e) at the election of the Employer, Qualified Non-Elective Contributions, and
- (f) the Employer may elect to use Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals in the Contribution Percentage Amounts as long as the ADP test is met before the Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals are used in the ACP test and continues to be met following the exclusion of those Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals that are used to meet the ACP test.

Contribution amounts shall not include Matching Contributions, whether or not Qualified, that are forfeited either to correct Excess Aggregate Contributions, or because the contributions to which they relate are Excess Deferrals, Excess Contributions, or Excess Aggregate Contributions.

# 1.2 Actual Deferral Percentage (ADP)

For a specified group of Participants (either Highly Compensated Employees or Non-Highly Compensated Employees) for a Plan Year, the average of the ratios (calculated separately for each Participant in such group) of:

- (a) the amount of Employer contributions [as defined at (c) (d)] actually contributed to the Trust on behalf of such Participant for the Plan Year, to
- (b) the Participant's Compensation for such Plan Year. [Unless otherwise specified in the Adoption Agreement, Compensation will only include amounts received for the period during which the Employee was eligible to participate.]

Employer contributions on behalf of any Participant shall include:

(c) any Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals (other than Catch-Up Contributions) made pursuant to the Participant's Salary Deferral Agreement, including Excess Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective

Deferrals of Highly Compensated Employees, but excluding Excess Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals distributed to Non-Highly Compensated Employees and Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals that are either taken into account in the Actual Contribution Percentage test (provided the ADP test is satisfied both with and without exclusion of these Elective Deferrals) or are returned as excess Annual Additions, and

(d) at the election of the Employer, Qualified Non-Elective Contributions and Qualified Matching Contributions.

For purposes of computing Actual Deferral Percentages, an eligible Employee who fails to make Elective Deferrals shall be treated as a Participant on whose behalf no Elective Deferrals are made.

#### 1.3 Adoption Agreement

The document attached to this Plan by which an Employer elects the terms and conditions of a Qualified Plan established under this Basic Plan Document #03. A Standardized Adoption Agreement used in conjunction with this Basic Plan Document #03 establishes a Plan that meets the requirements of Section 4.09 of Revenue Procedure 2011-49. A Nonstandardized Adoption Agreement used in conjunction with this Basic Plan Document #03 establishes a Plan that does not meet the definition of a Standardized Plan.

#### 1.4 Allocation Date(s)

The date or dates on which Participant recordkeeping accounts are adjusted to reflect account activity including but not limited to contributions, loan distributions, Hardship withdrawals, as well as earnings activity including but not limited to income, capital gains or market fluctuations in accordance with Article V hereof. Unless the Plan Administrator in a uniform and nondiscriminatory manner designates otherwise, all allocations for a particular Plan Year will be made as of the Valuation Date of that Plan Year.

# 1.5 Alternate Payee

An alternate payee is a Spouse, former Spouse, child, or other dependent who is treated as a Beneficiary under the Plan as a result of a Qualified Domestic Relations Order where such person is given the right to receive all or a portion of the benefits payable by the Plan with respect to a Plan Participant.

#### 1.6 Annual Additions

The sum of the following amounts credited to a Participant's account for the Limitation Year:

- (a) Employer contributions (under Article III),
- (b) Employee contributions (under Article IV),
- (c) forfeitures,
- (d) Employer allocations under a Simplified Employee Pension Plan,
- (e) amounts allocated after March 31, 1984, to an individual medical account as defined in Code Section 415(I)(2), which is part of a pension or annuity plan maintained by the Employer (these amounts are treated as Annual Additions to a Defined Contribution Plan though they arise under a Defined Benefit Plan), and
- (f) amounts derived from contributions paid or accrued after 1985, in taxable years ending after 1985, which are either attributable to post-retirement medical benefits allocated to the separate account of a Key Employee or to a Welfare Benefit Fund [as defined in Code Section 419(e)] maintained by the Employer. For purposes of this paragraph, an Employee is a Key Employee if he or she meets the requirements of paragraph 1.62 at any time during the Plan Year or any preceding Plan Year.

For purposes of applying the limitations of Code Section 415, the transfer of funds from one Qualified Plan to another is not considered an Annual Addition. The following are not Employee contributions for the purposes of Annual Additions:

- (g) Rollover Contributions [as defined in Code Sections 402(e)(6), 403(a)(4), 403(b)(8) and 408(d)(3)];
- (h) repayments of loans made to a Participant from the Plan;
- (i) repayments of distributions received by an Employee pursuant to Code Section 411(a)(7)(B) (cashouts);
- (j) repayments of distributions received by an Employee pursuant to Code Section 411(a)(3)(D) (mandatory contributions); and
- (k) Employee contributions to a Simplified Employee Pension Plan excludible from gross income under Code Section 408(k)(6).

Employee and Employer make-up contributions under USERRA received during the current Limitation Year shall be treated as Annual Additions with respect to the Limitation Year to which the make-up contributions are attributable. Excess Amounts applied in a Limitation Year to reduce Employer contributions will be considered Annual Additions for such Limitation Year, pursuant to the provisions of Article X.

# 1.7 Annuity Starting Date

The first day of the first period for which an amount is paid as an annuity or in the case of a benefit not payable as an annuity, the first day all events have occurred which entitle the Participant to such benefit.

# 1.8 Applicable Calendar Year

The First Distribution Calendar Year and each such succeeding calendar year. If payments commence in accordance with paragraph 7.6 before the Required Beginning Date, the Applicable Calendar Year is the year such payments commence. If distribution is in the form of an immediate annuity purchased after the Participant's death with the Participant's remaining interest, the Applicable Calendar Year is the year of purchase.

#### 1.9 Applicable Life Expectancy

The life expectancy or joint and last survivor expectancy calculated using the attained age of the Participant or Beneficiary as of the Participant's or Beneficiary's birthday in the Applicable Calendar Year, reduced by one for each calendar year which has elapsed since the date life expectancy was first calculated.

# 1.10 Average Contribution Percentage (ACP)

The average of the Actual Contribution Percentages for the eligible Participants in a specified group of Participants for a Plan Year.

### 1.11 Average Deferral Percentage (ADP)

The average of the Actual Deferral Percentages for Participants in a specified group of Participants for a Plan Year.

#### 1.12 **Beneficiary**

A "Beneficiary" is the recipient designated by the Participant to receive the Plan benefits payable upon the death of the Participant, or the recipient designated by a Beneficiary to receive any benefits which may be payable in the event of the Beneficiary's death prior to receiving the entire death benefit to which the Beneficiary is entitled. Paragraph 1.25 defines "Designated Beneficiary".

### 1.13 Break In Service

- (a) If the Hours of Service method is used in determining either an Employee's initial or continuing eligibility to participate in the Plan, or the nonforfeitable interest in the Employee's account balance derived from Employer contributions, a Break in Service is a twelve (12) consecutive month period (during which the Employee has not completed more than five hundred (500) Hours of Service.
- (b) For purposes of determining whether a Break in Service has occurred in a particular computation period, an Employee who is absent from work for maternity or paternity reasons shall receive credit for Hours of Service which would otherwise have been credited to such Employee but for such absence, or in any case in which such hours cannot be determined, with eight (8) Hours of Service per day of such absence. The Hours of Service to be so credited shall be credited in the computation period in which the absence begins if the crediting is necessary to prevent a Break in Service in that period or, in all other cases, in the following computation periods.
- (c) With respect to determinations based on the Elapsed Time method, a Break in Service is a severance period of twelve (12) or more consecutive months. In the case of an Employee who is absent from work for maternity or paternity reasons, the twelve (12) consecutive month period beginning on the first anniversary of the first day of such absence shall not constitute a Break in Service.
- (d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of an Employee who is absent from work beyond the first anniversary of the first day of absence from work for maternity or paternity reasons, such period begins on the second anniversary of the first day of such absence. The period between the first and second anniversaries of said first day of absence from work is neither a Period of Service for which the Employee will receive credit nor is such period a Break in Service. For purposes of this paragraph, an absence from work for maternity or paternity reasons means an absence (1) by reason of the pregnancy of the Employee, (2) by reason of the birth of a child of the Employee, (3) by reason of the placement of a child with the Employee in connection with the adoption of such child by such Employee, or (4) for purposes of caring for such child for a period beginning immediately following such birth or placement.
- (e) An Employer adopting the Elapsed Time method is required to credit periods of Service and, under the Service spanning rules, certain periods of severance of twelve (12) months or less. Under the first Service spanning rule, if an Employee severs from Service as a result of resignation, discharge or retirement and then returns to Service within twelve (12) months, the Period of Severance is required to be taken into account. A situation may

arise in which an Employee is absent from Service for any reason other than resignation, discharge, retirement and during the absence a resignation, discharge or retirement occurs. The second Service spanning rule provides that, under such circumstances, the Plan is required to take into account the period of time between the severance from Service date (i.e., the date of resignation, discharge or retirement) and the first anniversary of the date on which the Employee was first absent, if the Employee returns to Service on or before such first anniversary date.

# 1.14 Catch-Up Contributions

Catch-Up Contributions are Elective Deferrals made to the Plan that are in excess of any otherwise applicable Plan limit that are made by Participants who are age fifty (50) or older (by the end of their tax year). An otherwise applicable Plan limit is a limit in the Plan that applies to Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals without regard to Catch-Up Contributions, such as the limit on Annual Additions, the dollar limitation on Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals under Code Section 402(g) (not counting Catch-Up Contributions) and the limit imposed by the Actual Deferral Percentage (ADP) Test under Code Section 401(k)(3). Catch-Up Contributions for a Participant for a taxable year may not exceed the dollar limit on Catch-Up Contributions under Code Section 414(v)(2)(B)(i) for the taxable year or when added to other Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals, 75% (or the amount elected on the Adoption Agreement) of the Participant's Compensation for the taxable year. The dollar limit on Catch-Up Contributions under Code Section 414(v)(2)(B)(i) was \$5,000 for taxable years beginning in 2006. Different limits apply to Catch-Up Contributions under SIMPLE 401(k) Plans. For taxable years beginning in 2006, the limit was \$2,500. After 2006, the \$5,000 limit and \$2,500 limit respectively may be adjusted by the Secretary of the Treasury for cost-of-living increases under Code Section 414(v)(2)(C).

Catch-Up Contributions are not subject to the limit on Annual Additions, are not counted in the ADP Test and are not counted in determining the minimum allocation under Code Section 416 (but Catch-Up Contributions made in prior years are counted in determining whether the Plan is Top-Heavy). Provisions in the Plan relating to Catch-Up Contributions apply to Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals made after 2001.

#### 1.15 **Code**

The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, including any amendments thereto. Reference to any section or subsection of the Code, includes reference to any comparable or succeeding provisions of any legislation which amends, supplements or replaces such section or subsection, and also includes reference to any Regulation issued pursuant to or with respect to such section or subsection.

#### 1.16 **Compensation**

The Employer may select one of the following three safe harbor definitions of Compensation in the Adoption Agreement. The definition of Compensation for Employers who adopt a plan established under a Standardized Adoption Agreement, plans that provide permitted disparity (other than the CODA portion of these plans), and for Employers determining top-heavy minimum contributions, must be one of the three safe harbor definitions of Compensation. In a Nonstandardized Adoption Agreement, the Employer may modify the definition of Compensation provided that such definition, as modified, satisfies the provisions of Code Sections 414(s) and 401(a)(4). Compensation will also include Compensation provided by the Employer through another employer or entity under the provisions of Code Sections 3121 and 3306.

- (a) **Code Section 3401(a) Wages** All remuneration received by an Employee for services performed for the Employer which are subject to Federal income tax withholding at the source. Unless elected otherwise in the Adoption Agreement, Compensation shall include any amount deferred under a Salary Deferral Agreement which is not includible in the gross income of a Participant under Code Section 125 in connection with a cafeteria plan, Code Section 402(e)(3) in connection with a cash or deferred plan, Code Section 402(h)(1)(B) in connection with a Simplified Employee Pension Plan, Code Section 401(k) in connection with a SIMPLE Retirement Account, Code Section 457 in connection with a Plan maintained under said Section, and Code Section 403(b) in connection with a tax-sheltered annuity plan. Wages are determined without regard to any rules that limit the remuneration included in wages based on the nature or location of the employment or the services performed [such as the exception for agricultural labor in Code Section 3401(a)(2)]. For Limitation Years beginning after December 31, 1997, for purposes of applying the limitations of this paragraph, Compensation paid or made available during such Limitation Year shall include any Elective Deferral [as defined in Code Section 402(g)(3)] or Roth Elective Deferrals, and any amount which is contributed or deferred by the Employer at the election of the Employee and which is not includible in the gross income of the Employee by reason of Code Sections 125, 132(f)(4), 402(e)(3), 402(h)(1), 403(b), or 457.
- (b) **Code Sections 6041, 6051 And 6052 Reportable Wages** All remuneration received by an Employee for services performed for the Employer that is required to be reported on Form W-2. Unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, Compensation shall include any amount deferred under a Salary Deferral Agreement which is not includible in the gross income of a Participant under Code Section 125 in connection with a cafeteria plan, Code Section 402(e)(3) in connection with a cash or deferred plan, Code Section 402(h)(1)(B) in connection with a Simplified Employee Pension Plan, and Code Section 403(b) in connection with a tax-sheltered annuity plan. A Participant's wages include remuneration defined at subparagraph (a) above and all other remuneration paid to an Employee by the Employer (in the course of the Employer's trade or business) for which the Employer is required to furnish the Employee a written statement under Code Sections 6041(d), 6051(a)(3) and 6052.

Such amount must be determined without regard to any rules that limit the remuneration included in wages based on the nature or location of the employment or the services performed [such as the exception for agricultural labor in Code Section 3401(a)(2)]. For Limitation Years beginning after December 31, 1997, for purposes of applying the limitations of this paragraph, Compensation paid or made available during such Limitation Year shall include any Elective Deferral [as defined in Code Section 402(g)(3)] or Roth Elective Deferrals, and any amount which is contributed or deferred by the Employer at the election of the Employee and which is not includible in the gross income of the Employee by reason of Code Sections 125, 132(f)(4), 402(e)(3), 402(h)(1), 403(b), or 457.

- (c) **Code Section 415 Safe-Harbor Compensation** Compensation is defined as including wages, salaries, differential wage payments under Code Section 3401(h), fees for professional services, and other amounts received (without regard to whether or not an amount is paid in cash) for personal services actually rendered in the course of employment with the Employer maintaining the Plan, to the extent that the amounts are includible in gross income [or to the extent amounts would have been received and includible in gross income but for an election under Code Sections 125(a), 132(f)(4), 402(e)(3), 402(h)(1)(B), 402(k), or 457(b)]. These amounts include but are not limited to commissions paid to salespersons, compensation for services on the basis of a percentage of profits, commissions on insurance premiums, tips, bonuses, fringe benefits, and reimbursements or other expense allowances under a non-accountable plan as described in Regulations Section 1.62-2(c), but excludes the following:
- (1) Employer contributions [other than Elective Deferrals described in Code Sections 402(e)(3), 408(k)(6), 408(p)(2)(A)(i) or 457(b)] to a plan of deferred compensation [including a Simplified Employee Pension Plan described in Code Section 408(d) or a SIMPLE retirement account described in Code Section 408(p), and whether or not qualified] to the extent such contributions are not includible in the Employee's gross income for the taxable year in which contributed, and any distributions (whether or not includible in gross income when distributed) from a plan of deferred compensation (whether or not qualified), other than, if the Employer so elects in Article III of the Adoption Agreement, amounts received during the year by an Employee pursuant to a nonqualified unfunded deferred compensation to the extent includible in gross income;
- (2) Amounts realized from the exercise of a non-statutory stock option [that is, an option other than a statutory stock option as defined in Regulations Section 1.421-1(b)], or when restricted stock (or property) held by the Employee either becomes freely transferable or is no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture;
- (3) Amounts realized from the sale, exchange or other disposition of stock acquired under a statutory sock option;
- (4) Other amounts that receive special tax benefits, such as premiums for group-term life insurance (but only to the extent that the premiums are not includible in the gross income of the Employee and are not salary reduction amounts that are described in Code Section 125);
  - (5) Other items of remuneration that are similar to any of the items listed in (1) through (4).

For any self-employed individual, Compensation shall mean Earned Income.

Except as provided herein, Compensation for a Limitation Year is the Compensation actually paid or made available during such Limitation Year. If elected by the Employer in Article III of the Adoption Agreement, Compensation for a Limitation Year shall include amounts earned but not paid during the Limitation Year solely because of the timing of pay periods and pay dates, provided the amounts are paid during the first few weeks of the next Limitation Year, the amounts are included on a uniform and consistent basis with respect to all similarly situated Employees, and no Compensation is included in more than one Limitation Year.

For Limitation Years beginning on or after July 1, 2007, or such earlier date as the Employer specifies in Article III of the Adoption Agreement, Compensation for a Limitation Year shall also include Compensation paid by the later of two and one-half (2½) months after an Employee's Severance from Employment with the Employer maintaining the Plan or the end of the Limitation Year that includes the date of the Employee's Severance from Employment with the Employer maintaining the Plan, if:

- (6) The payment is regular Compensation for services during the Employee's regular working hours, or Compensation for services outside the Employee's regular working hours (such as overtime or shift differential), commissions, bonuses, or other similar payments, and, absent a Severance from Employment, the payments would have been paid to the Employee while the Employee continued in employment with the Employer; or
- (7) If the Employer so elects in Article III of the Adoption Agreement, the payment is for unused accrued bona fide sick, vacation or other leave that the Employee would have been able to use if employment had continued; or

(8) The payment is received by the Employee pursuant to a nonqualified unfunded deferred compensation plan and would have been paid at the same time if employment had continued, but only to the extent includible in gross income.

Any payments not described above shall not be considered Compensation if paid after Severance from Employment, even if they are paid by the later of two and one-half (2½) months after the date of Severance from Employment or the end of the Limitation Year that includes the date of Severance from Employment, except, if elected by the Employer in Article III of the Adoption Agreement, Compensation paid to a Participant who is permanently and totally disabled, as defined in Code Section 22(e)(3), provided, as elected by the Employer in Article III of the Adoption Agreement, salary continuation applies to all Participants who are permanently and totally disabled for a fixed or determinable period, or the Participant was not a Highly Compensated Employee as defined in Code Section 414(q) immediately before becoming disabled.

Back pay, within the meaning of Regulations Section 1.415(c)-2(g)(8), shall be treated as Compensation for the Limitation Year to which the back pay relates to the extent the back pay represents wages and Compensation that would otherwise be included under this definition.

Compensation paid or made available during a Limitation Year shall include amounts that would otherwise be included in Compensation but for an election under Code Sections 125(a), 132(f)(4), 402(e)(3), 402(h)(1)(B), 402(k) or 457(b).

Unless the Employer elects otherwise in Article III of the Adoption Agreement, Compensation shall also include Deemed Code Section 125 Compensation. "Deemed Code Section 125 Compensation" is an amount that is excludable under Code Section 106 that is not available to a Participant in cash in lieu of group health coverage under a Code Section 125 arrangement solely because the Participant is unable to certify that he or she has other health coverage. Amounts are Deemed Code Section 125 Compensation only if the Employer does not request or otherwise collect information regarding the Participant's other health coverage as part of the enrollment process for the health plan.

If elected by the Employer in Article III of the Adoption Agreement, Compensation shall not include amounts paid as Compensation to a nonresident alien, as defined in Code Section 7701(b)(1)(B), who is not a Participant in the Plan to the extent the Compensation is excludable from gross income and is not effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business within the United States.

Compensation Defaults Unless otherwise specified by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, Compensation shall be determined as provided in Code Section 3401(a) [paragraph (a) above]. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Compensation of a Participant who is a sole proprietor, partner or a member of a limited liability corporation (LLC) shall be determined under Code Section 415. The definition of Compensation used in nondiscrimination testing (ADP/ACP Testing) will be elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement. Unless indicated otherwise in the Adoption Agreement, Code Section 3401(a) Compensation paid during a Plan Year while a Participant will be used in the ADP/ACP Tests. A Plan Administrator shall have the option on an annual basis to use a different definition of Compensation for testing purposes provided the definition of Compensation satisfies Code Section 414(s) and the regulations issued thereunder. Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary, if the Plan is an amendment and restatement of a Qualified Plan, for Plan Years ending prior to the Plan Year in which the amendment or restatement is adopted, Compensation shall have the meaning set forth in the Qualified Plan prior to its amendment.

**Exclusions From Compensation** A Participant's Compensation shall be determined in accordance with paragraph (a), (b) or (c) above and shall not exclude any item of income unless provided in the definition or elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement.

Annual Additions And Top-Heavy Rules For purposes of Article X and XIV, Compensation shall be Code Section 415 Compensation as described in paragraph 1.16(c). Compensation includes amounts deferred under a plan of deferred compensation as described at paragraph 1.16(c)(1). For purposes of applying the limitations of Article X, Compensation for a Limitation Year is the Compensation actually paid or made available during such Limitation Year. For Limitation Years beginning after December 31, 1997, for purposes of applying the limitations of this paragraph, Compensation paid or made available during such Limitation Year shall include any Elective Deferral [as defined in Code Section 402(g)(3)] or Roth Elective Deferrals, and any amount which is contributed or deferred by the Employer at the election of the Employee and which is not includible in the gross income of the Employee by reason of Code Sections 125, 132(f)(4), 402(e)(3), 402(h)(1)(B), 403(b) or 457.

If the Plan is or becomes Top-Heavy in any Plan Year, the provisions of Article XIV will supersede any conflicting provisions in the Basic Plan Document #03 or Adoption Agreement. Earned Income means net earnings from self-employment in the trade or business with respect to which the Plan is established for which personal services of the individual are a material income-producing factor. Net earnings will be determined without regard to items not included in gross income and the deductions allocable to such items. Net earnings are reduced by contributions by the Employer to a Qualified Plan to the extent deductible under Code Section 404.

Net earnings shall be determined with regard to the deduction allowed to the taxpayer by Code Section 164(f) for taxable years beginning after December 31, 1989.

Contributions Made On Behalf Of Disabled Participants Compensation with respect to a Participant in a Defined Contribution Plan who is permanently and totally disabled [as defined in Code Section 22(e)(3)] is the Compensation such Participant would have received for the Limitation Year if the Participant had been paid at the rate of Compensation paid immediately before becoming permanently and totally disabled; for Limitation Years beginning before January 1, 1997, but not for Limitation Years beginning after December 31, 1996, such imputed Compensation for the disabled Participant may be taken into account only if the Participant is not a Highly Compensated Employee (defined at paragraph 1.56) and contributions made on behalf of such Participant are nonforfeitable when made. Compensation will mean Compensation as that term is defined in this paragraph.

Highly Compensated And Key Employees For purposes of paragraphs 1.59 and 1.62, Compensation shall be Code Section 415 Compensation as described in paragraph 1.16(c). Such definition shall include any amount deferred under Code Section 125 in connection with a cafeteria plan, Code Section 132(f)(4) or Code Section 402(e)(3) in connection with a cash or deferred plan, Code Section 402(h)(1)(B) in connection with a Simplified Employee Pension Plan, Code Section 402(k) in connection with a SIMPLE Retirement Account (SIMPLE), Code Section 457 in connection with a Plan maintained under said Section, and Code Section 403(b) in connection with a tax-sheltered annuity plan. The Employer, if elected in the Adoption Agreement, may limit Compensation considered for purposes of the Plan for these Participants.

**Computation Period** The Plan Year, while eligible to participate, shall be the computation period for purposes of determining a Participant's Compensation, unless the Employer selects a different computation period in the Adoption Agreement.

Limitation On Compensation The annual Compensation of each Participant which may be taken into account for determining all benefits provided under the Plan for any year, shall not exceed the limitation as imposed by Code Section 401(a)(17), as adjusted under Code Section 401(a)(17)(B). If a Plan has a Plan Year that contains fewer than twelve (12) calendar months, the annual Compensation limit for that period is an amount equal to the limitation as imposed by Code Section 401(a)(17) as adjusted for the calendar year in which the Compensation period begins, multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of full months in the short Plan Year and the denominator of which is twelve (12).

The annual Compensation of each Participant taken into account in determining allocations for any Plan Year beginning after December 31, 2006, shall not exceed \$225,000, as adjusted for cost-of-living increases in accordance with Code Section 401(a)(17)(B). Annual Compensation means Compensation during the Plan Year or such other consecutive twelve (12) month period over which Compensation is otherwise determined under the Plan (the determination period). The cost-of-living adjustment in effect for a calendar year applies to annual Compensation for the determination period that begins with or within such calendar year. If Compensation for any prior determination period is taken into account in determining a Participant's allocations for the current Plan Year, the Compensation for such prior determination period is subject to the applicable annual Compensation limit in effect for the prior period. However, solely for purposes of determining a Participant's allocations for Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2001, the annual Compensation limit in effect for determination periods beginning before January 1, 2002 is \$200,000.

Each employer's portion of the Multiple Employer Plan must be taken into account, along with any other plans of that employer in applying the limitations of Code Section 415. Additionally, with respect to a Participant of an employer maintaining a Multiple Employer Plan described in Code Section 413(c) benefits or contributions and Compensation received from all of the employers maintaining the Plan must be taken into account when applying the Code Section 415 limits.

**USERRA** For purposes of Employee and Employer make-up contributions, Compensation during the period of military service shall be deemed to be the Compensation the Employee would have received during such period if the Employee were not in qualified military service, based on the rate of pay the Employee would have received from the Employer but for the absence due to military leave. If the Compensation the Employee would have received during the leave is not reasonably certain, Compensation will be equal to the Employee's average Compensation from the Employer during the twelve (12) month period immediately preceding the military leave or, if shorter, the Employee's actual period of employment with the Employer.

Effective for Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2008, Compensation includes differential pay actually received by Employees who are called to active duty in the uniformed services, notwithstanding any election to the contrary that may have been made pursuant to an amendment to comply with the final Code Section 415 Regulations. Differential pay is compensation paid by the Employer equal to the difference between the Employee's Compensation paid by the Employer and the Employee's military compensation. Employees shall be permitted to make Elective Deferrals, including Roth Elective Deferrals, if permitted in the Plan, against such differential pay. This paragraph shall only apply if all Employees are receiving differential pay on a reasonably equivalent basis, are eligible to

participate in the Employer's Plan, and may make contributions based on the payments on reasonably equivalent terms.

**Definition of Compensation For Purposes Of Safe Harbor CODA Provisions** Compensation for the purposes of a Safe Harbor CODA is defined in this paragraph 1.16. No dollar limit other than the limit imposed by Code Section 401(a)(17) applies to the Compensation of a Non-Highly Compensated Employee. For purposes of determining the Compensation subject to a Participant's salary deferral election, the Employer may use an alternative definition to the one described above provided such alternative definition is a reasonable definition of Compensation within the meaning of Section 1.414(s)-1(d)(2) of the Regulations and permits each Participant to contribute sufficient Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals to receive the maximum amount of Matching Contributions (determined using the definition of Compensation described above) available to the Participant under the Plan.

**Definition Of Compensation For Purposes Of 401(k) SIMPLE Provisions** For purposes of paragraphs 1.41, 3.3, and 4.8, Compensation is the sum of the wages, tips and other compensation from the Employer subject to Federal income tax withholding [as described in Code Section 6051(a)(3)] and the Employee's salary reduction contributions made under Code Section 125 in connection with a cafeteria plan, Code Section 402(e)(3) in connection with a cash or deferred plan, Code Section 402(h)(1)(B) in connection with a Simplified Employee Pension Plan, Code Section 402(k) in connection with a SIMPLE Retirement Account, Code Section 457 in connection with a plan maintained under said Section and Code Section 403(b) in connection with a tax-sheltered annuity plan, required to be reported by the Employer on Form W-2 [as described in Code Section 6051(a)(8)]. For self-employed individuals, Compensation means net earnings from self-employment determined under Code Section 1402(a) prior to subtracting any contributions made to this Plan on behalf of any Employee. The provisions of the Plan implementing the limit on Compensation under Code Section 401(a)(17) apply to the Compensation under paragraph 4.8.

**Code Section 125 Arrangements** If elected in the Adoption Agreement, amounts under Code Section 125 include any amounts not available to a Participant in cash in lieu of group health coverage because the Participant is unable to certify that he or she has other health coverage (deemed Code Section 125 Compensation). An amount will be treated as an amount under Code Section 125 only if the Employer does not request or collect information regarding the Participant's other health coverage as part of the enrollment process for the health plan. The use of this definition of Compensation will generally also apply to the definition of Compensation for purposes of Code Section 414(s) unless the Plan otherwise specifically excludes all amounts described in Code Section 414(s)(2). If no election is made on the Adoption Agreement the Plan will exclude deemed Code Section 125 Compensation for purposes of the definition of Compensation.

# 1.17 Custodian

The institution or institutions (who may be the Prototype Plan Sponsor or an affiliate) and any successors or assigns thereto, appointed by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement (or if applicable in a separate custodial agreement) to hold the assets of the Trust as provided at paragraph 13.12 herein.

# 1.18 Davis-Bacon Act

The Davis-Bacon Act found at 40 U.S.C. Section 276(a) et. seq., as may be amended from time to time.

# 1.19 Days of Service

A method of crediting Service with the Employer whereby an Employee receives credit for a Day of Service for any calendar day in which he or she provides Service to the Employer.

# 1.20 Deemed IRA

A traditional IRA or Roth IRA established under the Plan.

# 1.21 **Deemed IRA Contributions**

Any Contribution (other than a mandatory Contribution within the meaning of Code Section 411(c)(2)(c) that is made to the Plan by a Participant which has been designated as a contribution to which Code Section 408(g) applies.

### 1.22 **Defined Benefit Pension Plan**

A plan under which a Participant's benefit is determined by a formula contained in the plan and no Employee accounts are maintained for Participants.

# 1.23 **Defined Contribution Dollar Limitation**

For Limitation Years beginning after December 31, 2006, the Defined Contribution Dollar Limit is \$40,000. This limit may be adjusted by the Secretary of the Treasury for increases in the cost-of-living at the same time and in the same manner as under Code Section 415(d).

### 1.24 **Defined Contribution Plan**

A plan under which Employee accounts are maintained for each Participant to which all contributions, forfeitures, investment income and gains or losses, and expenses are credited or deducted. A Participant's benefit under such plan is based solely on the fair market value of his or her account balance.

# 1.25 **Designated Beneficiary**

The individual who is designated as the Beneficiary under paragraph 1.12 and who is the Designated Beneficiary under Code Section 401(a)(9) and Section 1.401(a)(9)-4 of the Treasury Regulations, except that it shall not include any person who becomes a Beneficiary by virtue of the state laws of inheritance or intestate succession, or Department of Labor guidance.

### 1.26 Direct Rollover

A payment made by the Plan to an Eligible Retirement Plan that is specified by the distributee or a payment received by the Plan from an Eligible Retirement Plan on behalf of a Participant or an Employee, if selected in the Adoption Agreement by the Employer. A Direct Rollover from a Roth Elective Deferral account under a qualified cash or deferred arrangement may only be made to another designated Roth account under an applicable retirement plan described in Code Section 402A(e)(1) or to a Roth IRA described in Code Section 408A, and only to the extent the rollover is permitted under the rules of Code Section 402(c). Moreover, a Plan is permitted to treat the balance of the Participant's designated Roth account and the Participant's other accounts under the Plan as accounts held under two separate Plans [within the meaning of Section 414(l)] for purposes of applying the special rule in A-11 of Regulations Section 1.401(a)(31)-1 [under which a Plan will satisfy Code Section 401(a)(31) even though the Plan Administrator does not permit any distributee to elect a Direct Rollover with respect to Eligible Rollover Distributions during a year that are reasonably expected to total less than \$200].

### 1.27 Directed Account

The portion of a Participant's interest in the Plan with respect to which the Participant has directed the investment in accordance with the Plan's Participant investment direction procedures.

### 1.28 Directed Trustee

The Trustee that is designated as the Directed Trustee in the Adoption Agreement. The Directed Trustee shall be responsible for investing the assets of the Plan and perform the responsibilities of the Trustee set forth in the Plan in accordance with specific instructions provided by the Employer or the Plan Administrator (or Participant or Beneficiary) in accordance with instructions (either in writing or in any other form permitted by rules promulgated by the IRS or DOL) from one of the foregoing.

### 1.29 **Disability**

Unless the Employer has elected a different definition in the Adoption Agreement, Disability is defined as an illness or injury of a potentially permanent nature, expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months or can be expected to result in death, as certified by a physician satisfactory to the Employer, which prevents the Participant from engaging in any occupation for wage or profit for which the Employee is reasonably fitted by training, education or experience only. If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, nonforfeitable contributions will be made to the Plan on behalf of each disabled Participant who is not a Highly Compensated Employee (as defined at paragraph 1.59). Compensation for purposes of calculating the contribution will mean Compensation as defined at paragraph 1.16 herein.

### 1.30 **Discretionary Trustee**

A Trustee that is designated as a Discretionary Trustee in the Adoption Agreement, accepts such designation by executing the Adoption Agreement, and thereby enters into an agreement with the Employer whereby the Trustee and not the Employer will select the appropriate investments for all or a portion of the Plan in accordance with the Plan's policies and procedures and will perform such other tasks as agreed between the Trustee and Employer.

# 1.31 Distribution Calendar Year (Valuation Calendar Year)

A calendar year for which a minimum distribution is required. For distributions beginning before the Participant's death, the First Distribution Calendar Year is the calendar year immediately preceding the calendar year which contains the Participant's Required Beginning Date. For distributions beginning after the Participant's death, the First Distribution Calendar Year is the calendar year in which distributions are required to begin under paragraph 7.6. The required minimum distribution for the Participant's First Distribution Calendar Year will be made on or before the Participant's Required Beginning Date. The required minimum distribution for other Distribution Calendar Years, including the required minimum distribution for the Distribution Calendar Year in which the Participant's Required Beginning Date occurs, will be made on or before December 31 of that Distribution Calendar Year.

# 1.32 **Department Of Labor (DOL)**

The U.S. Department of Labor who administers the provisions of ERISA.

# 1.33 Early Retirement Age

The age set by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, not less than age fifty-five (55), at which a Participant becomes fully vested and is eligible to retire and receive his or her benefits under the Plan.

### 1.34 Early Retirement Date

The date as selected in the Adoption Agreement on which a Participant or former Participant has satisfied the Early Retirement Age requirements. If no election is made on the Adoption Agreement, it shall mean the date on which a Participant attains his or her Early Retirement Age.

A former Participant who has separated from Service after satisfying any service requirement but before satisfying the Early Retirement Age and who thereafter reaches the age requirement elected on the Adoption Agreement shall be entitled to receive benefits under the Plan (other than full vesting and any allocation of Employer contributions) as though the requirements for Early Retirement Age had been satisfied.

#### 1.35 Earned Income

Net earnings from self-employment in the trade or business with respect to which the Plan is established, determined without regard to items not included in gross income and the deductions allocable to such items, provided that personal services of the individual are a material income-producing factor. Earned Income shall be reduced by contributions made by an Employer to a Qualified Plan to the extent deductible under Code Section 404. Net earnings shall be determined taking into account the deduction for one-half of self-employment taxes allowed to the taxpayer under Code Section 164(f), to the extent deductible for taxable years beginning after December 31, 1989.

For purposes of applying the limitations of Code Section 415, in the case of an Employee who is an Employee within the meaning of Code Section 401(c)(1) and the Regulations thereunder, the Employee's Earned Income [as described in Code Section 401(c)(2) and the Regulations thereunder] shall include amounts deferred at the election of the Employee that would be includible in gross income but for the rules of Code Sections 402(e)(3), 402(h)(1)(B), 402(k), or 457(b). Earned Income does not include amounts received after severance from employment, as defined in Regulation Section 1.415(c)-2(e)(3) except for payments to an individual who does not currently perform services for the Employer by reason of qualified military service [within the meaning of Code Section 414(u)(1)], to the extent these payments do not exceed the amounts the individual would have received if the individual had continued to perform services for the Employer rather than entering qualified military service.

#### 1.36 *Effective Date*

The date on which the Employer's Plan or amendment to such Plan becomes effective. For amendments reflecting statutory and regulatory changes contained in the Pension Protection Act of 2006 (PPA), the Effective Date(s) of the applicable provisions of this legislation will be the earlier of the date upon which such amendment is first administratively applied or the first day of the Plan Year following the date of adoption of such amendment or adoption of the Prototype Plan.

The Effective Date for Elective Deferrals and Roth Elective Deferrals provisions is the date the provisions are actually adopted. In no event may the Effective Date for Roth Elective Deferrals be earlier than January 1, 2006.

Certain provisions of the Plan may have Effective Dates different from the Plan Effective Date, if, for example the Plan is amended subsequent to the Effective Date of the Plan.

# 1.37 *Elapsed Time*

For purposes of determining an Employee's initial or continued eligibility to participate in the Plan or the nonforfeitable interest in the Participant's account balance derived from Employer contributions, an Employee will receive credit for the aggregate of all time period(s) commencing with the Employee's first day of employment or reemployment and ending on the date a Break in Service begins. The first day of employment or reemployment is the first day the Employee performs an Hour of Service. An Employee will also receive credit for any Period of Severance of less than twelve (12) consecutive months. Fractional periods of a year will be expressed in terms of days.

For purposes of this section, Hour of Service shall mean each hour for which an Employee is paid or entitled to payment for the performance of duties for the Employer.

A Break in Service is a Period of Severance of at least twelve (12) consecutive months. A Period of Severance is a continuous period of time during which the Employee is not employed by the Employer. Such period begins on the date the Employee retires, quits or is discharged, or if earlier, the twelve (12) month anniversary of the date on which the Employee was otherwise first absent from service.

In the case of an individual who is absent from work for maternity or paternity reasons, the twelve (12) consecutive month period beginning on the first anniversary of the first date of such absence shall not constitute a Break in Service. For purposes of this paragraph, an absence from work for maternity or paternity reasons means an absence:

- (a) by reason of the pregnancy of the individual,
- (b) by reason of the birth of a child of the individual,

- (c) by reason of the placement of a child with the individual in connection with the adoption of such child by such individual, or
- (d) for purposes of caring for such child for a period beginning immediately following such birth or placement.

Each Employee will share in Employer contributions for the period beginning on the date the Employee commences participation under the Plan and ending on the date on which such Employee severs employment with the Employer or is no longer a member of an eligible class of Employees.

If the Employer is a member of an affiliated service group [under Code Section 414(m)], a controlled group of corporations [under Code Section 414(b)], a group of trades or business under common control [under Code Section 414(c)] or any other entity required to be aggregated with the Employer pursuant to Code Section 414(o), Service will be credited for any period of employment with any other member of such group. Service will also be credited for any individual required under Code Section 414(n) or Code Section 414(o) to be considered an Employee of any Employer aggregated under Code Sections 414(b), (c) or (m).

### 1.38 Election Period

The period which begins on the first day of the Plan Year in which the Participant attains age thirty-five (35) and ends on the date of the Participant's death. If a Participant separates from Service prior to the first day of the Plan Year in which age thirty-five (35) is attained, the Election Period shall begin on the date of separation, with respect to the account balance as of the date of separation.

#### 1.39 Elective Deferrals

For taxable years beginning after 2005, the term "Elective Deferrals" includes pre-tax Elective Deferrals and Roth Elective Deferrals. Pre-tax Elective Deferrals are a Participant's Elective Deferrals that are not includible in the Participant's gross income at the time deferred. Elective Deferrals are Employer contributions in lieu of cash Compensation made to the Plan on behalf of the Participant pursuant to a Salary Deferral Agreement or other deferral mechanism. With respect to any taxable year, a Participant's Elective Deferral is the sum of all Employer contributions made on behalf of such Participant pursuant to an election to defer under any qualified cash or deferred arrangement as described in Code Section 401(k), any Simplified Employee Pension Plan with a cash or deferred arrangement as described in Code Section 408(k)(6), any SIMPLE IRA Plan described in Code Section 408(p), any plan as described under Code Section 501(c)(18), and any Employer contributions made on behalf of a Participant for the purchase of an annuity contract under Code Section 403(b) pursuant to a Salary Deferral Agreement. Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals shall not include any deferrals properly distributed as Excess Annual Additions.

# 1.40 Eligible Employee

For purposes of the SIMPLE 401(k) Plan provisions, any Employee who is entitled to make Elective Deferrals under the terms of the SIMPLE 401(k) Plan.

# 1.41 Eliaible Employer

For purposes of the SIMPLE 401(k) Plan provisions, an Eligible Employer means with respect to any Plan Year, an Employer who had no more than one hundred (100) Employees who received at least \$5,000 of Compensation from the Employer for the preceding year. In applying the preceding sentence, all Employees of controlled groups of corporations under Code Section 414(b), all Employees of trades or businesses (whether incorporated or not) under common control under Code Section 414(c), all Employees of affiliated service groups under Code Section 414(n), and Leased Employees required to be treated as the Employer's Employees under Code Section 414(n), are taken into account.

An Eligible Employer who elects to have the SIMPLE 401(k) Plan provisions apply to the Plan and fails to continue to qualify as an Eligible Employer for any subsequent year, is treated as an Eligible Employer for the two (2) years following the last year during which the employer was an Eligible Employer. If the failure is due to any acquisition, disposition, or similar transaction involving an Eligible Employer, the preceding sentence shall apply only if the provisions of Code Section 410(b)(6)(C)(i) are satisfied.

An Employer that establishes and maintains a SIMPLE 401(k) plan for one or more years, and fails to be an "Eligible Employer" for any later year, is treated as an Eligible Employer for the two years following the last year the Employer was an Eligible Employer. An Employer that previously maintained a SIMPLE plan is treated as satisfying the "100-employee limitation" for the two calendar years immediately following the calendar year for which it last satisfied the 100-employee limitation. However, this grace period rule does not apply if the reason for the failure to be an Eligible Employer was due to any acquisition, disposition, or similar transaction involving an Eligible Employer, unless certain conditions are met. These conditions are: (1) the Employer becomes or ceases to be a member of a group of employers aggregated under Code Sections 414(b), (c), (m), or (o); (2) the plan satisfies Code Section 410(b) coverage requirements immediately before the change; and (3) coverage under the plan is not significantly changed during the transition period that begins on the date of the transaction and ends on the last day of the first Plan Year beginning after the date of the transaction.

# 1.42 Eligible Participant

Any Employee who is eligible to make a Voluntary or Required After-tax Contribution or an Elective Deferral or Roth Elective Deferral (if the Employer takes such contributions into account in the calculation of the Actual Contribution Percentage), or to receive a Matching Contribution (including forfeitures) or a Qualified Matching Contribution. If a Required After-tax Contribution is required as a condition of participation in the Plan, any Employee who would be a Participant in the Plan if such Employee made such a contribution shall be treated as an Eligible Participant even though no Employee contributions are made.

# 1.43 Eligible Retirement Plan

An Eligible Retirement Plan is an eligible Plan under Code Section 457(b) that is maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state and which agrees to separately account for amounts transferred into such Plan from this Plan, an individual retirement account described in Code Section 408(a), a Roth IRA, an individual retirement annuity described in Code Section 408(b), an annuity plan described in Code Section 403(a), an annuity contract described in Code Section 403(b), or a Qualified Plan described in Code Section 401(a), which accepts the distributee's Eligible Rollover Distribution. The definition of Eligible Retirement Plan shall also apply in the case of a distribution to a Surviving Spouse, or to a Spouse or former Spouse who is the alternate payee under a Qualified Domestic Relations Order, as defined in Code Section 414(p). If any portion of an Eligible Rollover Distribution is attributable to payments or distributions from a designated Roth account, an Eligible Retirement Plan with respect to such portion shall include only another designated Roth account of the individual from whose account the payments or distributions were made, or a Roth IRA of such individual.

For distributions made after December 31, 2007, an Eligible Retirement Plan shall include a Roth IRA as described in Code Section 408A; however, for taxable years beginning prior to January 1, 2010, the income restrictions that apply to a rollover from a traditional IRA into a Roth IRA will continue to apply to Participant Accounts as defined in paragraph 5.1 other than a Roth Elective Deferral Account.

# 1.44 Eligible Rollover Distribution

An Eligible Rollover Distribution is any distribution of all or any portion of the balance to the credit of the Participant except that an Eligible Rollover Distribution does not include:

- (a) any distribution that is one of a series of substantially equal periodic payments made not less frequently than annually for the life (or life expectancy) of the Participant or the joint lives (or joint life expectancies) of the Participant and the Participant's Beneficiary, or for a specified period of ten (10) years or more,
  - (b) any distribution to the extent such distribution is required under Code Section 401(a)(9),
- (c) any Hardship withdrawal distribution under Code Section 401(k)(2)(B)(i)(IV) received after December 31, 1998, (or if elected by the Employer in accordance with IRS Notice 99-5, received after December 31, 1999).
- (d) the portion of any distribution that would not be includible in gross income if paid to the Participant (determined without regard to the exclusion for net unrealized appreciation with respect to Employer securities),
- (e) any excess amounts that is returned to a Participant in accordance with paragraphs 10.3, 11.8, 11.9 and 11.10.
  - (f) any other distribution(s) that is reasonably expected to total less than \$200 during a year,
- (g) any corrective distributions of Excess Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals under Code Section 402(g), and the income allocable thereto,
- (h) any corrective distributions of Excess Contributions and Excess Aggregate Contributions under Code Section 401(k) and Code Section 401(m), and the income allocable thereto,
  - (i) any PS 58 costs, and
  - (j) any dividends paid on securities under Code Section 404(k).

A portion of a distribution shall not fail to be an Eligible Rollover Distribution merely because the portion consists of after-tax Employee contributions which are not includible in gross income. However, such portion may be transferred only to an individual retirement account or annuity described in Code Section 408(a) or (b), or a Roth Individual Retirement Account or Annuity described in Code Section 408(a) (a Roth IRA), or to a qualified defined contribution Plan described in Code Section 401(a) or 403(a) that agrees to separately account for amounts so transferred, including separately accounting for the portion of such distribution which is includible in gross income and the portion

of such distribution which is not so includible. For purposes of the \$200 rule, a distribution from a designated Roth account and a distribution from other accounts under the Plan are treated as made under separate Plans.

# 1.45 **Employee**

The term Employee means (a) any person reported on the payroll records of the Employer as an Employee who is deemed by the Employer to be a common law Employee; (b) except for determining eligibility to participate in this Plan, any person reported on the payroll records of an affiliated Employer of the Employer or a participating Employer as an Employee who is deemed by the affiliated Employer to be a common law Employee, even if the affiliated Employer is not a participating Employer; (c) any Self-Employed Individual who derives Earned Income from the Employer; (d) any Owner-Employee; and (e) any person who is considered a Leased Employee but who (1) is not covered by a Plan described in Code Section 414(n)(5), or (2) is covered by a Plan described in Code Section 414(n)(5), but Leased Employees constitute more than twenty percent (20%) of the Employer's non-highly compensated work force. However, the term Employee will not include any individual who is not reported on the payroll records of the Employer or an affiliated Employer as a common law Employee. If such person is later determined by the Employer or by a court or governmental agency to be or to have been an Employee, he or she will only be eligible for participation prospectively and may participate in the Plan as of the next entry date following such determination and after the satisfaction of all other eligibility requirements.

The term Employee for these purposes, shall include all Employees of a member of an affiliated service group [as defined in Code Section 414(m)], all Employees of a controlled group of corporations [as defined in Code Section 414(b)], all Employees of any incorporated or unincorporated trade or business which is under common control [as defined in Code Section 414(c)], Leased Employees [as defined in Code Section 414(n)], and any Employee required to be aggregated by Code Section 414(o). All such Employees shall be treated as employed by a single Employer.

Leased Employees [as defined in Code Section 414(n) or 414(o)] shall be considered Employees in a Plan established under a Standardized Adoption Agreement except as otherwise provided in this paragraph. Exclusion under a Standardized Adoption Agreement is available only if Leased Employees do not constitute more than 20% of the recipient Employer's non-highly compensated work force, and the Employer complies with the requirements as outlined in paragraph 2.7.

The term does not include any other common law employee or any Leased Employee. It is expressly intended that individuals not treated as common law employees by the Employer or a member of the same controlled group or affiliated service group on their payroll records, as identified by a specific job code or work status code, are to be excluded from Plan participation even if a court or administrative agency subsequently determines that such individuals are common law Employees and not independent contractors.

Notwithstanding the above for purposes of coverage and discrimination testing, an Employee of a Participating Employer shall be disaggregated for purposes of Code Sections 401(a)(4), 401(k), 401(m), 410(b) and 416 with any Employee of a Participating Employer or a controlled group member of the Employer that is an unrelated employer or does not provide services to such Employer.

#### 1.46 Employer

The Self-Employed Individual, partnership, corporation or other organization including any Participating Employer, which adopts this Plan including any entity that succeeds the Employer and adopts this Plan. For purposes of Article X, Limitations on Allocations, Employer shall mean the Employer that adopts or sponsors this Plan, and all members of a controlled group of corporations [as defined in Code Section 414(b) as modified by Code Section 415(h)], all commonly controlled trades or businesses [as defined in Code Section 414(c) as modified by Code Section 415(h)] or affiliated service groups [as defined in Code Section 414(m)] of which the adopting Employer is a part, and any other entity required to be aggregated with the Employer pursuant to Regulations under Code Section 414(o).

The Employer shall be a Named Fiduciary. The "Sponsoring Employer" shall be the Employer who has established the Plan by executing the Adoption Agreement and who is responsible for the administration of the Plan.

The term Employer shall also mean any other entities that have adopted this Plan and any successor thereto that are not members of a controlled group of corporations [as defined in Code Section 414(b) as modified by Code Section 415(h)], all commonly controlled trades or businesses [as defined in Code Section 414(c) as modified by Code Section 415(h)] or affiliated service groups [as defined in Code Section 414(m)]. If elected in the Adoption Agreement, a Plan may elect to qualify as a Multiple Employer Plan as defined in Code Section 413(c) and be administered solely by the Sponsoring Employer on behalf of eligible Employees, the eligible Employees of controlled group members of the Sponsoring Employer who have adopted this Plan, if any, and the eligible Employees of the Participating Employers who are not members of a controlled group with the Sponsoring Employer. Each Participating Employer who is not part of a controlled group is treated as a separate Employer for purposes of the administration of the Plan.

For purposes of establishing or participating in a Multiple Employer Plan, an "Unrelated Employer" is any Employer who is not related to the Sponsoring Employer under Code Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o). A Sponsoring Employer of a Multiple Employer Plan may be a Professional Employer Organization (PEO) which makes available to a client

organization (CO) worksite employees (individuals who perform work for the CO). A PEO and CO may co-sponsor a Defined Contribution Plan under Code Section 401(a) and 413(c) with worksite employees participating. If the Plan established hereunder is a Multiple Employer Plan, except for eligibility, vesting and allocation of contributions, uniformity will be provided with respect to each Employer.

#### 1.47 Entry Date

The date as of which an Employee who has satisfied the Plan's eligibility requirements enters or reenters the Plan, as defined in the Adoption Agreement.

#### 1 48 **FRISA**

The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 as amended and any successor statute thereto.

### 1.49 Excess Aggregate Contributions

The excess, with respect to any Plan Year, of:

- (a) the aggregate Contribution Percentage Amounts taken into account in computing the numerator of the Contribution Percentage actually made on behalf of Highly Compensated Employees for such Plan Year, over
- (b) the maximum Contribution Percentage Amounts permitted by the ACP test (determined hypothetically by reducing contributions made on behalf of Highly Compensated Employees in order of their Contribution Percentages beginning with the highest of such percentages).
- (c) Such determination shall be made after first determining Excess Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals pursuant to paragraph 1.52 and then determining Excess Contributions pursuant to paragraph 1.51.

### 1.50 Excess Annual Additions

The excess of the Participant's Annual Additions for the Limitation Year over the Maximum Permissible Amount.

### 1.51 Excess Contributions

With respect to any Plan Year, the excess of:

- (a) the aggregate amount of Employer contributions actually taken into account in computing the ADP of Highly Compensated Employees for such Plan Year, over
- (b) the maximum amount of such contributions permitted by the ADP Test (determined by hypothetically reducing contributions made on behalf of Highly Compensated Employees in order of the ADPs, beginning with the highest of such percentages).

#### 1.52 Excess Elective Deferrals

Those Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals that are includible in a Participant's gross income under Code Section 402(g) to the extent such Participant's Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals for a taxable year exceed the dollar limitation under Code Section 402(g) [including if applicable, the dollar limitation on such Catch-Up Contributions as defined in Code Section 414(v)] for such year or are made during a calendar year and exceed the dollar limitation under Code Section 402(g) including, if applicable, the dollar limitation on Catch-Up Contributions defined in Code Section 402(g) including, if applicable, the dollar limitation on Catch-Up Contributions defined in Code Section 402(g) including, if applicable, the dollar limitation on Catch-Up Contributions defined in Code Section 402(g) including, if applicable, the dollar limitation on Catch-Up Contributions defined in Code Section 402(g) including, if applicable, the dollar limitation on catch-Up Contributions defined in Code Section 402(g) including, if applicable, the dollar limitation on such Catch-Up Contributions defined in Code Section 402(g) including, if applicable, the dollar limitation on such Catch-Up Contributions under remarked the dollar limitation on such Catch-Up Contributions under fuel limitation on Such Catch-Up Contributions on Catch-Up Contributions under Plan, unless such amounts are distributed paginning in such calendar year, counting only Elective Deferrals shall be treated as Annual Additions under the Plan, unless such amounts are distributed no later than the first April 15 following the close of the Participant's taxable year. For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2005, unless the Participant specifies otherwise, distribution of Excess Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals for a year shall be made first from the Participant's pre-tax Elective Deferrals are elective contributions under qualified cash or deferred arrangement that are not Roth Elective Deferrals.

# 1.53 Expected Year Of Service

An eligibility computation period during which an Employee is expected to complete a Year of Service (as defined in the Adoption Agreement) based upon their employment schedule or position. If an Employee who was not expected to complete a Year of Service actually completes the required number of Hours of Service during an applicable computation period, such Employee shall be deemed to have entered the plan as of the same date they would have had the Employee been originally classified as expected to complete a Year of Service. In the event an Employee becomes a Participant under such circumstances, the Employee shall be eligible for an allocation of all contributions that would have been made on the Employee's behalf had the Employee had been properly classified. If an Employee who was originally classified not being expected to complete a Year of Service has a subsequent change in employment schedule or position such that the Employee would be considered as likely to complete a Year of Service, such Employee shall eligible to participate in the Plan as of the earlier of the completion of the Service requirement specified in the Adoption Agreement on the reclassified basis or the actual completion of a Year of Service as it is defined in the Adoption Agreement. The Employee shall then enter the Plan as a Participant as of the

next Entry Date following satisfaction of the eligibility requirements specified above.

# 1.54 *Fiduciary*

Any individual or entity which exercises any discretionary authority or control over the management of the Plan or over the disposition of the assets of the Plan; renders investment advice for a fee or other compensation (direct, or indirect); as defined in ERISA Section 3(21) has any discretionary authority or responsibility over Plan administration; or acts to carry out a Fiduciary responsibility, subject, however, to any exception granted directly or indirectly by the provisions of ERISA or any applicable Regulations. The Employer and such other individuals either appointed by the Employer or deemed to be Fiduciaries as a result of their actions shall serve as Fiduciaries under the Plan and fulfill the fiduciary responsibilities described in part 4, title 1 of ERISA.

#### 1.55 First Distribution Calendar Year

For distributions beginning before the Participant's death, the First Distribution Calendar Year is the calendar year immediately preceding the calendar year which contains the Participant's Required Beginning Date. For distributions beginning after the Participant's death, the First Distribution Calendar Year is the calendar year in which distributions are required to begin pursuant to paragraph 7.6.

#### 1.56 Forfeiture

The portion of a Participant's Account representing Employer Contributions that the Participant is not entitled to receive because it is non-vested.

# 1.57 Former Participant

A Participant who is no longer actively accruing benefits under the Plan.

### 1.58 *Hardship*

An immediate and heavy financial need of the Employee where such Employee lacks other available financial resources to satisfy such financial need.

# 1.59 Highly Compensated Employee

The term Highly Compensated Employee means any Employee who (1) is a 5% or more owner at any time during the year or preceding year, or (2) for the preceding year had Compensation from the Employer in excess of \$100,000 and if the Employer so elects in the Adoption Agreement, is in the Top-Paid Group for the preceding year. The \$100,000 amount is adjusted at the same time and in the same manner as under Code Section 415(d). In order to be effective, a Top-Paid Group election or calendar year data election must apply consistently to all plans of the Employer that begin with or within the same calendar year.

For the determination of who is a Highly Compensated Employee, the applicable year of the Plan for which a determination is being made is called a determination year and the preceding twelve (12) month period is called a look-back year. Employees who do not meet the Highly Compensated Employee definition are considered Non-Highly Compensated Employees. A Highly Compensated former Employee is based on the rules applicable to determining Highly Compensated Employee status in effect for that determination year, in accordance with Section 1.414(q)-1T, A-4 of the temporary Income Tax Regulations and IRS Notice 97-45.

# 1.60 Hour Of Service

- (a) Unless otherwise specified in the Adoption Agreement, each hour for which an Employee is paid, or entitled to payment, for the performance of duties for the Employer. These hours shall be credited to the Employee for the computation period in which the duties are performed, and
- (b) each hour for which an Employee is paid, or entitled to payment, by the Employer on account of a period of time during which no duties are performed (irrespective of whether the employment relationship has terminated) due to vacation, holiday, illness, incapacity (including Disability), layoff, jury duty, military duty or leave of absence. No more than five hundred and one (501) Hours of Service shall be credited under this paragraph for any single continuous period (whether or not such period need occur in a single computation period). Hours under this paragraph shall be calculated and credited pursuant to Section 2530.200b-2 of the Department of Labor Regulations which are incorporated herein by this reference, and
- (c) each hour for which back pay, irrespective of mitigation of damages, is either awarded or agreed to by the Employer. The same Hours of Service shall not be credited both under paragraph (a) or paragraph (b), as the case may be, and under this paragraph (c). These hours shall be credited to the Employee for the computation period or periods to which the award or agreement pertains rather than the computation period in which the award, agreement or payment is made.
- (d) Hours of Service shall be credited for employment with the Employer and with other members of an affiliated service group [as defined in Code Section 414(m)], a controlled group of corporations [as defined in Code Section 414(b)], or a group of trades or businesses under common control [as defined in Code Section 414(c)] of which the adopting Employer is a member, and any other entity required to be aggregated with the Employer

pursuant to Code Section 414(o) and the Regulations thereunder. Hours of Service shall also be credited for any individual considered an Employee for purposes of this Plan under Code Section 414(n) or Code Section 414(o) and the Regulations thereunder.

- (e) Solely for purposes of determining whether a Break in Service, as defined in paragraph 1.13, for participation and vesting purposes has occurred in a computation period, an individual who is absent from work for maternity or paternity reasons shall receive credit for the Hours of Service which would otherwise have been credited to such individual but for such absence, or in any case in which such hours cannot be determined, eight (8) Hours of Service per day of such absence. For purposes of this paragraph, an absence from work for maternity or paternity reasons means an absence by reason of the pregnancy of the individual, by reason of a birth of a child of the individual, by reason of the placement of a child with the individual in connection with the adoption of such child by such individual, or for purposes of caring for such child for a period beginning immediately following such birth or placement. The Hours of Service credited under this paragraph shall be credited in the computation period in which the absence begins if the crediting is necessary to prevent a Break in Service in that period, or in all other cases, in the following computation period. No more than five hundred and one (501) hours will be credited under this paragraph.
- (f) Notwithstanding paragraph (b), the Plan Administrator may elect for all Employees or for one or more different classifications of Employees (provided such classifications are reasonable and are consistently applied) to apply one or more of the following equivalency methods in determining the Hours of Service of an Employee paid on an hourly or salaried basis. Under such equivalency methods, an Employee will be credited with either (1) one hundred ninety (190) Hours of Service for each month in which he or she is paid or entitled to payment for at least one (1) Hour of Service; or (2) ninety five (95) Hours of Service; or (3) forty-five (45) Hours of Service for each week in which he or she is paid or entitled to payment for at least one (1) Hour of Service; or (4) ten (10) Hours of Service for each day in which he or she is paid or entitled to payment for at least one (1) Hour of Service.
- (g) Hours of Service shall be determined under the hours counting method as elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement. If no election is made, actual hours under the hours counting method will be used.

### 1.61 Integration Level

The amount of Compensation specified in the Adoption Agreement at or below which the rate of contributions or benefits (expressed in each case as a percentage of such Compensation) provided under the Plan is less than the rate of contributions or benefits (expressed in each case as a percentage of such Compensation) provided under the Plan with respect to Compensation above such level. The Adoption Agreement must specify an Integration Level in effect for the Plan Year. No Integration Level in effect for a particular Plan Year may exceed the contribution and benefit base ("Taxable Wage Base") under Section 230 [Code Section 3121(a)(1)] of the Social Security Act in effect on the first day of the Plan Year.

# 1.62 Key Employee

For Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2006, Key Employee means any Employee or former Employee (including any deceased Employee) who at any time during the Plan Year that includes the determination date was an officer of the Employer having annual Compensation greater than \$145,000 [as adjusted under Code Section 416(i)(1)], a more than five percent (5%) owner of the Employer, or a more than one percent (1%) owner of the Employer having annual Compensation of more than \$150,000. For this purpose, annual Compensation means Compensation within the meaning of Code Section 415(c)(3). The determination of who is a Key Employee will be made in accordance with Code Section 416(i)(1) and the applicable Regulations and other guidance of general applicability issued thereunder.

# 1.63 Leased Employee

Any person (other than an Employee of the recipient) within the meaning of Code Section 414(n)(2) and Section 414(o) who is not reported on the payroll records of the Employer as a common law Employee and who provides services to the Employer if (a) the services are provided under an agreement between the Employer and a leasing organization; (b) the person has performed services for the Employer or for the Employer and related persons as determined under Code Section 414(n)(6) on a substantially full time basis for a period of at least one year; and (c) the services are performed under the primary direction and control of the Employer. Contributions or benefits provided to a Leased Employee by the leasing organization attributable to services performed for the Employer will be treated as provided by the Employer.

A Leased Employee will not be considered an Employee of the recipient if he is covered by a money purchase plan providing (a) a non-integrated Employer contribution rate of at least ten percent (10%) of Code Section 415 Compensation, including amounts contributed by the Employer pursuant to a salary reduction agreement which are excludible from the Leased Employee's gross income under a cafeteria plan covered by Code Section 125, a cash or deferred Plan under Code Section 401(k), a SEP under Code Section 408(k) or a tax-deferred annuity under Code Section 403(b) and also including for Plan Years beginning on or after January 1, 2001, any elective amounts that are not includible in the gross income of the Leased Employee because of Code Section 132(f)(4); (b) immediate

participation; and (c) full and immediate vesting. This exclusion is only available if Leased Employees do not constitute more than twenty percent (20%) of the recipient's non-highly compensated work force.

# 1.64 Life Expectancy

Life expectancy as computed by use of one of the following tables, as appropriate: (1) Single Life Table, (2) Uniform Life Table, or (3) Joint and Last Survivor Table found in Section 1.401(a)(9)-9 of the Regulations.

### 1.65 Limitation Year

The calendar year or such other twelve (12) consecutive month period designated by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement for purposes of determining the maximum Annual Additions to a Participant's account. All Qualified Plans maintained by the Employer must use the same Limitation Year. If the Limitation Year is amended to a different twelve (12) consecutive month period, the new Limitation Year must begin on a date within the Limitation Year in which the amendment is made. If no designation is made on the Adoption Agreement, the Limitation Year will automatically default to the Plan Year. The Limitation Year under the SIMPLE 401(k) Adoption Agreement shall be the calendar year.

If a Plan is terminated effective as of a date other than the last day of the Plan's Limitation Year, the Plan is treated for purposes of this section as if the Plan was amended to change its Limitation Year. As a result of this deemed amendment, the Code Section 415(c)(1)(A) dollar limit must be prorated under the short Limitation Year rules.

# 1.66 Master Or Prototype Plan

A plan whose form is the subject of a favorable opinion letter from the Internal Revenue Service.

# 1.67 *Matching Contribution*

An Employer contribution made to this or any other Defined Contribution Plan on behalf of a Participant on account of a Voluntary or Required After-tax Contribution made by such Participant, or on account of a Participant's Elective Deferral, Roth Elective Deferral or Catch-Up Contribution made by such Participant under a Plan maintained by the Employer.

A Plan established under Cash or Deferred Adoption Agreement may allocate Matching Contributions throughout the Plan Year, even though the amount of Matching Contributions is determined on the basis of the Plan Year. If the Plan is calculating Matching Contributions on a Plan Year basis, but Matching Contributions that are deposited during the Plan Year have been calculated on a payroll period, an additional recalculation of the contribution ("true-up") may be required to accurately calculate the Matching Contributions as elected on the Adoption Agreement.

# 1.68 Maximum Permissible Amount

The maximum Annual Additions that may be contributed or allocated to a Participant's account under the Plan for any Limitation Year shall not exceed the lesser of:

- (a) the Defined Contribution Dollar Limitation, or
- (b) 100% of the Participant's Compensation for the Limitation Year.

The Compensation limitation referred to in (b) shall not apply to any contribution for medical benefits [within the meaning of Code Section 401(h) or Code Section 419A(f)(2)] which is otherwise treated as an Annual Addition under Code Sections 415(l)(1) or 419(d)(2). If a short Limitation Year is created because of an amendment changing the Limitation Year to a different twelve (12) consecutive month period, the Maximum Permissible Amount will not exceed the Defined Contribution Dollar Limitation multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of months in the short Limitation Year and the denominator of which is twelve (12).

# 1.69 Multiple Employer Plan

A Qualified Plan maintained by two or more employers who are not related under Code Sections 414(b) (controlled group), 414(c) (trades or businesses under common control), or 414(m) (affiliated service groups). Employers related under Code Section 414(b), (c), or (m) are treated as a single employer for determining the number of employers maintaining a Multiple Employer Plan. Multiple Employer Plans are governed by the rules found in Code Section 413(c). The rules of Code Section 413(c) do not apply to collectively bargained multiemployer plan as described in Regulations Section 1.413-1(a).

A Multiple Employer Plan is a single plan as defined in Regulation Section 1.414(I)-1(b)(1). A single plan is a plan under which all of the assets, on an ongoing basis, are available to pay the benefits to employees and their beneficiaries who are covered by the plan. Under a Multiple Employer Plan, the qualification requirements under Code Sections 401(a) 410(a), 411, are applied as if all Employees of each Employer are employed by a single Employer. The qualification requirements under Code Sections 410(b), 401(a)(4) and 416 are applied to each Participating Employer as if that Employer maintained a separate Plan. Each Unrelated Employer performs separate coverage testing with respect to its portion of the Plan.

# 1.70 Named Fiduciary

One or more Fiduciaries who have the authority to control and manage the operation, management and administration of the Plan as more fully described in Article XII.

#### 1.71 Net Profit

The current and accumulated operating earnings of the Employer after Federal and state income taxes, excluding nonrecurring or unusual items of income, and before contributions to this and any other Qualified Plan of the Employer, unless the Employer has elected a different definition in the Adoption Agreement. Unless elected otherwise in the Adoption Agreement, Employer contributions to the Plan are not conditioned on profits.

#### 1.72 Normal Retirement Age

The age set by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement not to exceed age sixty-five (65), or if later the number of years of participation elected in the Adoption Agreement, if any, at which a Participant becomes fully vested and is eligible to retire and receive his or her benefits under the Plan. If the Employer enforces a mandatory retirement age, the Normal Retirement Age is the lesser of that mandatory age or the age specified in the Adoption Agreement. If no selection is made, Normal Retirement Age will be defined as attainment of age sixty-five (65).

If, for Plan Years beginning before January 1, 1988, Normal Retirement Age was determined with reference to the anniversary of the participation commencement date [more than five (5) but not to exceed ten (10) years], the anniversary date for Participants who first commenced participation under the Plan before the first Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 1988, shall be the earlier of (a) the tenth anniversary of the date the Participant commenced participation in the Plan [or such anniversary as had been elected by the Employer, if less than ten (10)], or (b) the fifth anniversary of the first day of the first Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 1988. The participation commencement date is the first day of the first Plan Year in which the Participant commenced participation in the Plan.

Effective for the first Plan Year that begins after June 30, 2008, the Normal Retirement Age under a money purchase pension plan must be an age that is not earlier than the earliest age that is reasonably representative of the typical retirement age for the industry in which the covered workforce is employed. Any amendment to the Plan to comply with IRS Notice 2007-69 in connection with the amendment to Regulations Section 1.401(a) and (b) is provided relief from the anti-cutback rules of Regulations Section 1.411(d) provided such amendment is adopted within the transitional period that ends on the last day of the Plan's applicable remedial amendment period under Regulations Section 1.401(b)-1.

A money purchase pension plan satisfies the safe harbor of Regulations Section 1.401(a)-1(b)(2)(ii) if Normal Retirement Age is at least age sixty-two (62), or if its Normal Retirement Age is the later of age sixty-two (62) or another specified date, such as the later of age sixty-two (62) or the fifth anniversary of Plan participation [but not later than the later of age sixty-five (65) or the fifth anniversary of Plan participation, in the case of a Plan subject to Code Section 411]. There is no safe harbor provided with respect to a Normal Retirement Age that is conditioned (directly or indirectly) upon the completion of a stated number of Years of Service.

A Normal Retirement Age that is under age fifty-five (55) is presumed to be earlier than the earliest age that is reasonably representative of the typical retirement age for the industry in which the covered workforce is employed, unless commissioner determines that the facts and circumstances show otherwise. A request for a letter ruling may be made to the Internal Revenue Service as to whether the Plan's Normal Retirement Age reasonably represents the typical retirement age for the industry in which the covered workforce is employed.

Any amendment made for which the Normal Retirement Age has been raised to comply with the 2007 Regulations must ensure that a Participant who became or would have become eligible for payment of benefits at the Normal Retirement Age under the prior terms of the Plan, and who has incurred a severance from employment with the Employer or Employers maintaining the Plan, continues to be eligible for payment at the same age and in at least the same amount as under the prior terms of the Plan with respect to benefits accrued prior to the applicable amendment date as determined in Regulations Section 1.411(d)-3(g)(4).

# 1.73 Normal Retirement Date

The date on which the Participant attains the Normal Retirement Age as elected in the Adoption Agreement. If no election is made on the Adoption Agreement, it shall mean the date on which a Participant attains his or her Normal Retirement Age.

#### 1.74 Owner-Employee

A sole proprietor or a partner owning more than 10% of either the capital or profits interest of the partnership.

# 1.75 **Participant**

Any current Employee who met the applicable eligibility requirements and reached his or her Entry Date and, where the context so requires, pursuant to the terms of the Plan, any living former Employee on whose behalf an Account is maintained or former Employee who has met the eligibility requirements.

An "Inactive Participant" means a Participant whose participation in the Plan is suspended because of a change of employment status, incurring a Break in Service, or becoming a member of a class of Employees which has been excluded from participation but whose total benefits have not been distributed.

# 1.76 Participant's Account Balance

The account balance as of the last Valuation Date in the calendar year immediately preceding the Distribution Calendar Year (Valuation Calendar Year) increased by the amount of any contributions made and allocated or forfeitures allocated to the account as of dates in the Valuation Calendar Year after the Valuation Date and decreased by distributions made in the Valuation Calendar Year after the Valuation Date. The account balance for the Valuation Calendar Year includes any amounts rolled over or transferred to the Plan either in the Valuation Calendar Year or in the Distribution Calendar Year if distributed or transferred in the Valuation Calendar Year.

### 1.77 Participant's Benefit

With respect to required distributions pursuant to paragraph 7.8, the account balance as of the last Valuation Date in the calendar year immediately preceding the Distribution Calendar Year increased by the amount of any contributions or forfeitures allocated to the account balance as of the dates in the calendar year after the Valuation Date and decreased by distributions made in the calendar year after the Valuation Date. A special exception exists for the second Distribution Calendar Year. For purposes of this paragraph, if any portion of the minimum distribution for the First Distribution Calendar Year is made in the second Distribution Calendar Year on or before the Required Beginning Date, the amount of the minimum distribution made in the second Distribution Calendar Year shall be treated as if it had been made in the immediately preceding Distribution Calendar Year.

# 1.78 Participating Employers

Any Employer that adopts the Plan. A Participating Employer may adopt the Plan by executing the Participation Agreement in the case of a member of a controlled group or affiliated service group or by executing the Joinder Agreement by an Employer who is not a member of a controlled or affiliated service group of the Sponsoring Employer.

### 1.79 Period Of Severance

For Plans using Elapsed Time for purposes of crediting a Year of Service for eligibility, accrual of benefits and/or vesting, Employees will receive credit for all periods of Service from their date of hire (or rehire) until the next Period of Severance. When using Elapsed Time:

- (a) a Break in Service shall mean a Period of Severance of at least twelve (12) months;
- (b) a Period of Severance is a continuous period of time during which the Employee is not employed by the Employer;
- (c) a Period of Severance begins on the date the Employee retires, quits, or is discharged, or if earlier, the twelve (12) month anniversary of the date on which the Employee was otherwise first absent from Service.

# 1.80 Permissive Aggregation Group

The Required Aggregation Group of plans plus any other plan or plans of the Employer which, when considered as a group with the Required Aggregation Group, would continue to satisfy the requirements of Code Sections 401(a)(4) and 410.

# 1.81 *Plan*

The Prototype Defined Contribution Plan of the Employer and the applicable Adoption Agreement executed by the Employer as may be amended from time to time (which includes any addendum thereto). The Plan shall have the name specified in the Adoption Agreement.

### 1.82 Plan Administrator

The Plan Sponsor shall be the Plan Administrator unless the managing body of the Plan Sponsor designates a person or persons other than the Plan Sponsor as the Plan Administrator as provided at paragraph 12.1 and so notifies the Trustee (or Custodian, if applicable). The Plan Sponsor shall also be the Plan Administrator if the person or persons so designated ceases to be the Plan Administrator. The Plan Sponsor may establish an administrative committee that will carry out the Plan Administrator's duties. Members of the administrative committee may allocate the Plan Administrator's duties among themselves. If the managing body of the Plan Sponsor designates a person or persons other than the Plan Sponsor as Plan Administrator, such person or persons shall serve at the pleasure of the Plan Sponsor and shall serve pursuant to such procedures as such managing body may provide. Each such person shall be bonded as may be required by law. The term Plan Administrator shall include any person authorized to perform the duties of the Plan Administrator and properly identified to the Trustee or Custodian as such. The Prototype Sponsor shall in no case be designated as the Plan Administrator. The Plan Administrator shall be a Named Fiduciary of the Plan for purposes of ERISA Section 402(a).

### 1.83 Plan Sponsor

Any corporation, sole proprietor, partnership or other entity as named in the Adoption Agreement and any successor who assumes sponsorship of the Plan. The Employer who is the Plan Sponsor shall be a Named Fiduciary for purposes of ERISA Section 401(a).

#### 1.84 Plan Year

The twelve (12) consecutive month period designated by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement.

The Plan Year under the SIMPLE 401(k) Adoption Agreement shall be the calendar year. It must generally be the whole calendar year. A SIMPLE 401(k) plan can be established on January 1 and terminated on December 31, except that if the Employer did not previously maintain a SIMPLE 401(k) Plan, the establishment date can be as late as October 1 (or as soon as administratively feasible if the Employer comes into existence after October 1).

# 1.85 **Predecessor Organization**

An employer that previously employed the employees acquired by the current Employer. The determination of whether a prior employer is a "predecessor organization" shall be determined in accordance with Code Section 414. The Employer may grant optional crediting of predecessor service pursuant to Code Section 414(a)(2) and the Regulations issued thereunder.

#### 1.86 Prior Plan Year

or

The Plan Year immediately preceding the current Plan Year.

# 1.87 **Prototype Plan Sponsor**

The institution or entity and any of its affiliates or any successor or assigns thereto who makes this Prototype Plan available to Employers.

# 1.88 Qualified Domestic Relations Order (QDRO)

A Qualified Domestic Relations Order (QDRO) is a signed domestic relations order issued by a state court or agency which creates, recognizes or assigns to an Alternate Payee(s) the right to receive all or part of a Participant's Plan benefit and which meets the requirements of Code Section 414(p). Unless elected otherwise by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, the earliest date for payment of a QDRO to an Alternate Payee is the date upon which the order is deemed qualified.

# 1.89 Qualified Early Retirement Age

For purposes of paragraph 8.9, Qualified Early Retirement Age is the latest of:

- (a) the earliest date under the Plan on which the Participant may elect to receive retirement benefits, or
- (b) the first day of the 120th month beginning before the Participant reaches Normal Retirement Age,
- (c) the date the Participant begins participation.

# 1.90 Qualified Joint And Survivor Annuity (QJSA)

An immediate annuity for the life of the Participant with a survivor annuity for the life of the Participant's Spouse which is at least 50%, but not more than 100%, of the annuity payable during the joint lives of the Participant and the Participant's Spouse. The exact amount of the survivor annuity is to be specified by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement. If no election is made on the Adoption Agreement, and the Plan is subject to the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity provisions, the survivor annuity will be 50% of the amount paid to the Participant during his or her lifetime. The Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity will be the amount of benefit which can be provided by the Participant's Vested Account Balance.

# 1.91 Qualified Matching Contributions (QMACs)

Matching Contributions that are nonforfeitable when made to the Plan and that are distributable only in accordance with the distribution provisions (other than for Hardships) applicable to Elective Deferrals and Roth Elective Deferrals. Qualified Matching Contributions (QMACs) must satisfy Regulations Section 1.401(k)-2(a)(6) if used for the ADP Test.

# 1.92 Qualified Non-Elective Contributions (QNECs)

Contributions (other than Matching Contributions or Qualified Matching Contributions) made by the Employer and allocated to Participants' accounts that the Participants may not elect to receive in cash until distributed from the Plan, that are nonforfeitable when made, and that are distributable only in accordance with the distribution provisions (other than for Hardships) that are applicable to Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals and Qualified Matching Contributions. If Qualified Non-Elective Contributions (QNECs) or Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals are used for the ACP Test, they must satisfy Regulations Section 1.401(m)-2(a)(6).

### 1.93 Qualified Optional Survivor Annuity

A Qualified Optional Survivor Annuity is with respect to a married Participant, an immediate annuity for the life of a Participant with a survivor annuity for the life of the Participant's Spouse which is 75% of the amount paid for the joint lives of the Participant and his or her Spouse if the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity percentage is less than 75% or 50% if the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity percent is greater than or equal to 75%. A Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity shall be the actuarial equivalent of a single life annuity for the life of a Participant.

### 1.94 **Qualified Plan**

Any pension, profit-sharing, stock bonus, or other plan which meets the requirements of Code Section 401(a) and includes a trust exempt from tax under Code Section 501(a) or any annuity plan described in Code Section 403(a).

Solely for the purposes of Rollover Contributions, the term "Qualified Plan" includes a governmental Code Section 457 Plan, and a Code Section 403(b) annuity or plan.

# 1.95 **Qualified Pre-Retirement Survivor Annuity**

An annuity for the life of the Surviving Spouse of a Participant the actuarial equivalent of which is not less than 50% of the Participant's Vested Account Balance as of the date of the Participants' death, as elected by Employer in the Adoption Agreement. If no selection is made on the Adoption Agreement, and the Plan is subject to the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity provisions, the Qualified Pre-Retirement Survivor Annuity shall be 50% of the Participant's Vested Account Balance as of the date of the death of the Participant, unless the Employer in a prior version of the Adoption Agreement or Plan, had elected that the Qualified Pre-Retirement Survivor Annuity be 100% of the Account Balance.

# 1.96 Qualified Voluntary Contribution

A tax-deductible Voluntary Employee Contribution which was permitted to be made for the tax years 1982 through 1986. This type of contribution is no longer permitted to be made by a Participant. This Plan shall accept such type of contribution if made in a prior plan and an appropriate recordkeeping account will be established on behalf of the Participant.

# 1.97 Required After-tax Contributions

Employee after-tax contributions required as a condition of participation in the Plan.

### 1.98 Required Aggregation Group

A group of plans including:

- (a) each Qualified Plan of the Employer in which at least one (1) Key Employee participates or participated at any time during the determination period (regardless of whether the plan has terminated), and
- (b) any other Qualified Plan of the Employer which enables a plan described in (a) to meet the requirements of Code Sections 401(a)(4) or 410.

# 1.99 Required Beginning Date

As elected in the Adoption Agreement, the Required Beginning Date will be defined in either subparagraph (a) or (b) below:

- (a) The Required Beginning Date of a Participant is the April 1 of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the Participant attains age 70½.
- (b) The Required Beginning Date of a Participant is the April 1 of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the Participant attains age 70½, except that benefit distributions to a Participant [other than a more than five percent (5%) owner] must commence by April 1 of the calendar year following the later of the calendar year in which the Participant attains age 70½ or the calendar year in which the Participant retires.
- (c) Any participant attaining age 70½ in years after 1995 may elect by April 1 of the calendar year following the year in which the Participant attained age 70½, to defer distributions until the April 1 of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the Participant retires. If no such election is made, the Participant will begin receiving distributions by the April 1 of the calendar year following the year in which the Participant attained age 70½.
- (d) A Participant is treated as a five percent (5%) or more owner for purposes of this section if such Participant is a more than five percent (5%) owner as defined in Code Section 416 at any time during the Plan Year ending with or within the calendar year in which such owner attains age 70½. Once distributions have begun to a more than five percent (5%) owner under this section, they must continue to be distributed, even if the Participant ceases to be a more than five percent (5%) owner in a subsequent year.

# 1.100 Rollover Contribution

A Rollover Contribution is an amount transferred to this Plan in a Trustee to Trustee transfer from another Qualified Plan or from an individual retirement account described in Code Section 408(a) or an individual retirement annuity

described in Code Section 408(b), or transferred to this Plan within sixty (60) days of receipt thereof. Any amount that is transferred to this Plan from another Qualified Plan which at the time of transfer was not subject to the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity and Qualified Pre-retirement Survivor Annuity requirements of Code Section 401(a)(11), or which is transferred to this Plan from an individual retirement account described in Code Section 408(a) or an individual retirement annuity described in Code Section 408(b), will not at any time be subject to the spousal consent requirements as set forth in Article VIII.

If a Rollover Contribution is being made from an individual retirement account described in Code Section 408(a) or an individual retirement annuity described in Code Section 408(b), it is eligible for rollover into the Plan, but only to the extent it would be includible in gross income if it were not rolled over.

#### 1.101 Roth Elective Deferrals

Effective January 1, 2006, or if later the date the provision was adopted by the Plan Sponsor, an Elective Deferral designated by a Participant as a Roth Elective Deferral that at the time the deferral is made that is includible in the Participant's gross income and has been irrevocably designated as Roth Elective Deferrals by the Participant in his or her deferral election. A Participant's Roth Elective Deferrals will be maintained in a separate account containing only the Participant's Roth Elective Deferrals and gains and losses attributable to those Roth Elective Deferrals.

Roth Elective Deferrals shall be treated in the same manner as a pre-tax Elective Deferrals under the terms of the Plan. For purposes of interpreting the Plan, the term Elective Deferral shall mean both pre-tax Elective Deferrals and Roth Elective Deferrals except in cases where the context is clearly in violation of the requirements of this paragraph.

#### 1.102 **Roth IRA**

An individual retirement account as defined in Code Section 408A.

#### 1.103 **Salary Deferral Agreement**

An agreement between the Employer and an Employee where the Employee authorizes the Employer to withhold a specified percentage or dollar amount of his or her Compensation (otherwise payable in cash) for deposit to the Plan on behalf of such Employee.

### 1.104 Savings Incentive Match Plan For Employees (SIMPLE)

A plan adopted by an Eligible Employer under Code Section 401(k)(11) under which Eligible Employees are permitted to make Elective Deferrals to a Qualified Plan established by the completion of the SIMPLE 401(k) Plan Adoption Agreement. An Eligible Employer that elects to have the SIMPLE 401(k) provisions apply to the Plan and that fails to continue to qualify an Eligible Employer for any subsequent year, is treated as an Eligible Employer for the two (2) years following the last year during which the Employer was an Eligible Employer. If the failure is due to any acquisition, disposition, or similar transaction involving an Eligible Employer, the preceding sentence shall apply only if the provisions of Code Section 410(h)(6)(c)(i) are satisfied.

# 1.105 Self-Employed Individual

An individual who has Earned Income for the taxable year from the trade or business for which the Plan is established including an individual who would have had Earned Income but for the fact that the trade or business had no Net Profit for the taxable year.

# 1.106 Severance From Employment

An Employee will incur a Severance from Employment when such person ceases to be an Employee of the Employer maintaining the Plan. An Employee does not have a Severance from Employment if, in connection with a change of employment, the Employee's new Employer maintains such Plan with respect to the Employee.

#### 1.107 **Service**

The period of current or prior employment with the Employer including any imputed period of employment which must be counted under USERRA. If the Employer maintains a plan of a predecessor employer, service for such predecessor shall be treated as Service for the Employer for the purpose(s) specified in the Adoption Agreement. Service is determined under an hours counting method or Elapsed Time method as selected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement.

If the Employer has elected to use the Elapsed Time method to determine eligibility and/or vesting Service, the aggregate of the following (applied without duplication and except for periods of Service that may be disregarded under paragraph 9.6):

- (a) Each period from an Employee's date of hire (or reemployment date) to his next Severance Date; and
- (b) If an Employee performs an Hour of Service within twelve (12) months of a Severance Date, the period from such Severance Date to such Hour of Service. Service shall be credited for all periods when the Employer or an Affiliated Employer employs the Employee.

Service shall be measured in whole years and fractions of a year in months. For this purpose, (a) periods of less than a full year shall be aggregated on the basis that twelve (12) months or three hundred and sixty five (365) days equals a year, and (b) in aggregating days into months, thirty (30) days shall be rounded up to the nearest whole month. For purposes of determining Service, "Date of Hire" means the date on which an Employee first completes an Hour of Service and "Reemployment Date" means the date on which an Employee first completes an Hour of Service after a Severance Date.

If the Employer is a member of an affiliated service group [under Code Section 414(m)], a controlled group of corporations [under Code Section 414(b)], a group of trades or businesses under common control [under Code Section 414(c)] or any other entity required to be aggregated with the Employer pursuant to Code Section 414(o), Service will be credited for any employment for any period of time for any other member of such group. Service will also be credited for any individual required under Code Section 414(n) or Code Section 414(o) to be considered an Employee of any Employer aggregated under Code Section 414(b), (c), or (m).

The timing of any Plan amendment that credits (or increases benefits attributable to) Years of Service for a period in the past is deemed not to have the effect of discriminating significantly in favor of Highly Compensated Employees or former Highly Compensated Employees if the period for which the service credit (or benefit increase) is granted under a standardized plan does not exceed the five (5) years immediately preceding the Plan Year in which the amendment first becomes effective. The service credit (or benefit increase) is granted on a reasonably uniform basis to all Employees, if benefits attributable to the period are determined by applying the current Plan formula, and the service credited is Service (including pre-participation or imputed Service) with the Employer or a previous employer that may be taken into account under Regulations Section 1.401(a)(4)-11(d)(3) [without regard to Regulations Section 1.401(a)(4)-11(d)(3)(i)(B)]. This safe harbor is not available if the Plan amendment granting the service credit (or increasing benefits) is part of a pattern of amendments that has the effect of discriminating significantly in favor of Highly Compensated Employees or former Highly Compensated Employees.

Service credit (or benefit increase) granted under a nonstandardized plan may exceed the five (5) years immediately preceding the Plan Year in which the amendment first becomes effective. Any credited Service shall be as elected on the Adoption Agreement.

### 1.108 Service Provider

An individual or business entity who is retained by the Plan Administrator on behalf of the Plan to provide specified administrative services to the Plan.

# 1.109 Severance Date

The date which is the earlier of:

- (a) the date on which an Employee guits, retires, is discharged or dies; or
- (b) the first anniversary of the first date of a period in which an Employee remains continuously absent from Service with an Employer or affiliate (with or without pay) for any reason other than quit, retirement, discharge or death.

# 1.110 Severance Period

Each period from an Employee's Severance Date to his next re-employment date for purposes of USERRA.

# 1.111 Shareholder Employee

An Employee or officer who owns [or is considered as owning within the meaning of Code Section 318(a)(1)], on any day during the taxable year of an electing small business corporation (S Corporation), more than 5% of such corporation's outstanding stock.

### 1.112 Simplified Employee Pension Plan

A plan under which the Employer makes contributions for eligible Employees pursuant to a written formula. Contributions are made to an individual retirement account which meets the requirements of Code Section 408(k).

# 1.113 Spouse (Surviving Spouse)

The individual to whom a Participant is married, or was married in the case of a deceased Participant who was married at the time of his or her death. A former Spouse will be treated in the same manner as a Spouse to the extent provided under a Qualified Domestic Relations Order as described in Code Section 414(p).

# 1.114 Qualified Default Investment Alternative

An Investment option(s) provided by Employers to receive contributions from Participants who are given the opportunity to direct the investment of their Plan accounts, but fail to make an affirmative investment election.

# 1.115 Taxable Wage Base

For plans with an allocation formula which takes into account the Employer's contribution under the Federal Insurance Contributions Act (FICA), the contribution and benefit base in effect under the Social Security Act (Section 203) at the beginning of the Plan Year.

### 1.116 **Termination Of Employment**

The employment status of an Employee ceases for any reason other than death. An Employee who does not return to work for the Employer on or before the expiration of an authorized leave of absence from such Employer shall be deemed to have incurred a Termination of Employment when such leave ends.

### 1.117 Top-Heavy Determination Date

For the first Plan Year of the Plan, the last day of the first Plan Year. For any Plan Year subsequent to the first Plan Year, the last day of the preceding Plan Year.

### 1.118 Top-Heavy Plan

For any Plan Year, the Employer's Plan is Top-Heavy if any of the following conditions exist:

- (a) The Top-Heavy Ratio for the Employer's Plan exceeds 60% and this Plan is not part of any Required Aggregation Group or Permissive Aggregation Group of plans.
- (b) The Employer's Plan is a part of a Required Aggregation Group of plans but not part of a Permissive Aggregation Group and the Top-Heavy Ratio for the group of plans exceeds 60%.
- (c) The Employer's Plan is a part of a Required Aggregation Group and part of a Permissive Aggregation Group of plans and the Top-Heavy Ratio for the Permissive Aggregation Group exceeds 60%.

# 1.119 Top-Heavy Ratio

- (a) If the Employer maintains one or more Defined Contribution Plans (including any Simplified Employee Pension Plan) and the Employer has not maintained any Defined Benefit Plan which during the five (5) year period ending on the Determination Date(s) has or has had accrued benefits, the Top-Heavy Ratio for this Plan alone, or for the Required or Permissive Aggregation Group as appropriate, is a fraction,
- (1) the numerator of which is the sum of the account balances of all Key Employees as of the Determination Date(s) [including any part of any account balance distributed in the one (1) year period ending on the Determination Date(s)], and
- (2) the denominator of which is the sum of all account balances [including any part of any account balance distributed in the one (1) year period ending on the Determination Date(s)], both computed in accordance with Code Section 416 and the Regulations thereunder.

Both the numerator and denominator of the Top-Heavy Ratio are increased to reflect any contribution not actually made as of the Determination Date but which is required to be taken into account on that date under Code Section 416 and the Regulations thereunder. In the case of a distribution made for a reason other than Severance from Employment, death or Disability, this provision shall be applied by substituting "five (5) year period" for "one (1) year period".

- (b) If the Employer maintains one or more Defined Contribution Plans (including any Simplified Employee Pension Plan) and the Employer maintains or has maintained one or more Defined Benefit Plans which during the five (5) year period ending on the Determination Date(s) has or has had any accrued benefits, the Top-Heavy Ratio for any Required or Permissive Aggregation Group, as appropriate, is a fraction, the numerator of which is the sum of account balances under the aggregated Defined Contribution Plan or Plans for all Key Employees, determined in accordance with (a) above, and the Present Value of accrued benefits under the aggregated Defined Benefit Plan or Plans for all Key Employees as of the Determination Date(s), and the denominator of which is the sum of the account balances under the aggregated Defined Contribution Plan or Plans for all Participants, determined in accordance with (a) above, and the Present Value of accrued benefits under the Defined Benefit Plan or Plans for all Participants as of the Determination Date(s), all determined in accordance with Code Section 416 and the Regulations thereunder. The accrued benefits under a Defined Benefit Plan in both the numerator and denominator of the Top-Heavy Ratio are increased for any distribution of an accrued benefit made in the five (5) year period ending on the Determination Date.
- (c) For purposes of (a) and (b) above, the value of account balances and the Present Value of accrued benefits will be determined as of the most recent Valuation Date that falls within or ends with the twelve (12) month period ending on the Determination Date, except as provided in Code Section 416 and the Regulations thereunder for the first and second Plan Years of a Defined Benefit Plan. The account balances and accrued benefits of a Participant who is not a Key Employee but who was a Key Employee in a prior year, or who has not been credited with at least one (1) Hour of Service with any Employer maintaining the Plan at any time during the five (5) year

period ending on the Determination Date, will be disregarded. The calculation of the Top-Heavy Ratio, and the extent to which distributions, rollovers, and transfers are taken into account will be made in accordance with Code Section 416 and the Regulations thereunder. Qualified Voluntary Employee Contributions will not be taken into account for purposes of computing the Top-Heavy Ratio. When aggregating plans, the value of account balances and accrued benefits will be calculated with reference to the Determination Dates that fall within the same calendar year. The accrued benefit of a Participant other than a Key Employee shall be determined under the method, if any, that uniformly applies for accrual purposes under all Defined Benefit Plans maintained by the Employer, or if there is no such method, as if such benefit accrued not more rapidly than the slowest accrual rate permitted under the fractional rule of Code Section 411(b)(1)(C).

# 1.120 Top-Paid Group

The group consisting of the top 20% of Employees when ranked on the basis of Compensation paid during such year. For purposes of determining the number of Employees in the group (but not who is in it), Employees identified in (a) through (d) may be excluded and Employees identified in (e) through (f) shall be excluded:

- (a) Employees who have not completed six (6) months of Service by the end of the year;
- (b) Employees who normally work less than seventeen and one-half (17½) hours per week by the end of the year;
  - (c) Employees who normally work not more than six (6) months during any year;
  - (d) Employees who have not attained age twenty-one (21) by the end of the year;
- (e) Employees included in a collective bargaining unit, covered by an agreement between Employee representatives and the Employer, where retirement benefits were the subject of good faith bargaining, if they constitute at least 90% of the Employer's work force and the Plan covers only non-union Employees; and
- (f) Employees who are nonresident aliens and who receive no Earned Income which constitutes income from sources within the United States.

#### 1.121 Traditional IRA

An individual retirement account as defined in Code section 408(a).

# 1.122 **Transfer Contribution**

A non-taxable transfer of a Participant's benefit directly from a Qualified Plan to this Plan. This type of transfer does not constitute constructive receipt of plan assets.

#### 1.123 *Trust*

The trust established in conjunction with the Plan, together with any and all amendments thereto which holds assets of the Plan by or in the name of the Trustee or Custodian.

#### 1.124 *Trustee*

An individual, individuals or corporation (which may be the Prototype Plan Sponsor) named in the Adoption Agreement, and which accepts such designation by executing the Adoption Agreement, and any of its affiliates or any successor or assigns or any duly appointed successor or assigns as provided for in paragraph 13.18. A corporate Trustee must be a bank, trust company, broker, dealer or clearing agency as defined in Labor Regulation 2550.403(a)-I(b).

### 1.125 Uniformed Services Employment And Reemployment Rights Act Of 1994 (USERRA)

The Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994, as amended. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, contributions, benefits, Plan loan repayment, suspensions and service credit with respect to qualified military service will be provided in accordance with Code Section 414(u).

# 1.126 Valuation Date

The last day of the Plan Year and such other date(s) as specified in the Adoption Agreement on which the fair market value of Plan assets is determined. The Trustee and/or Custodian may also value all or any portion of the assets of the Trust on such other Valuation Dates as directed by the Plan Administrator, including but not limited to semi-annually, quarterly, monthly, or daily Valuation Dates. If no date is specified in the Adoption Agreement, the Valuation Date shall be the last day of the Plan Year and each additional date designated by the Plan Administrator which is selected in a uniform and nondiscriminatory manner when the assets of the Trust are valued at their then fair market value. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for purposes of calculating the top heavy ratio, the Valuation Date shall be the last day of the initial Plan Year and the last day of the preceding Plan Year for each subsequent Plan Year.

# 1.127 Vested Account Balance

The aggregate value of the Participant's Vested Account Balances derived from Employer and Employee contributions (including Rollovers), whether vested before or upon death, including the proceeds of insurance

contracts, if any, on the Participant's life. The provisions of Article IX shall apply to a Participant who is vested in amounts attributable to Employer contributions, Employee contributions (or both) at the time of death or distribution.

# 1.128 Voluntary After-tax Contribution

Any contribution (other than Roth Elective Deferrals) made to the Plan or any other Defined Contribution Plan by or on behalf of a Participant that is included in the Participant's gross income in the year in which made and that is maintained under a separate account to which earnings and losses are allocated.

### 1.129 Welfare Benefit Fund

Any fund that is part of a plan of the Employer, or has the effect of a plan, through which the Employer provides welfare benefits to Employees or their Beneficiaries. For these purposes, Welfare Benefit means any benefit other than those with respect to which Code Section 83(h) (relating to transfers of property in connection with the performance of services), Code Section 404 (relating to deductions for contributions to an Employees' trust or annuity and Compensation under a deferred payment plan), Code Section 404A (relating to certain foreign deferred compensation plans) apply. A "fund" for purposes of this paragraph, is any social club, voluntary employee benefit association, supplemental unemployment benefit trust or qualified group legal service organization described in Code Section 501(c)(7), (9), (17) or (20); any trust, corporation, or other organization not exempt from income tax, or to the extent provided in regulations, any account held for an Employer by any person.

### 1.130 Year Of Service

- (a) If elected in the Adoption Agreement, the hours counting method will be used in determining either an Employee's initial or continuing eligibility to participate in the Plan, or the nonforfeitable interest in the Participant's account balance derived from Employer contributions. A Year of Service is a twelve (12) consecutive month period in which an Employee has completed 1,000 Hours of Service (or such lower number as is specified in the Adoption Agreement). Years of Service and Breaks in Service will be measured on the same eligibility computation period.
- (1) The eligibility computation period begins on the date the Employee first performs an Hour of Service (employment commencement date) and is a twelve (12) consecutive month period during which the Employee has completed the number of Hours of Service (not to exceed 1,000) as elected in the Adoption Agreement.
- (2) The vesting computation period is a twelve (12) consecutive month period as elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement during which the Employee completed the number of Hours of Service [not to exceed 1,000] as elected in the Adoption Agreement. If no election is made, the Plan Year shall be used provided that in the event the Plan Year is changed, the "vesting computation period" shall be the twelve (12) consecutive month period determined in accordance with Department of Labor Regulation Section 2530.203-2(c), the provisions of which are incorporated herein by reference.
- (b) Alternatively, if elected in the Adoption Agreement, the Elapsed Time method will be used in determining an Employee's initial or continuing eligibility to participate in the Plan, accrual of benefits or the nonforfeitable interest in the Participant's account balance derived from Employer contributions. An Employee will receive credit for the aggregate of all time period(s) commencing with the Employee's first day of employment or reemployment and ending on the date a Period of Severance begins. The first day of employment or reemployment is the first day the Employee performs an Hour of Service for the Employer. An Employee will also receive credit for any Period of Severance of less than twelve (12) consecutive months. Fractional periods of a year will be expressed in terms of days. Years of Service will be determined in accordance with paragraph 1.107.
- (1) A Break in Service under the Elapsed Time method as defined in paragraph 1.37 is a Period of Severance of at least twelve (12) consecutive months. A Period of Severance is a continuous period of time during which the Employee is not employed by the Employer. The continuous period begins on the date the Employee retires, quits, is discharged or if earlier, the first twelve (12) month anniversary of the date on which the Employee is first absent from Service.
- (2) In the case of an individual who is absent from work for maternity or paternity reasons, the twelve (12) consecutive month period beginning on the first anniversary of the first date of such absence from work for maternity or paternity reasons (i) by reason of the pregnancy of the individual, (ii) by reason of the birth of the child of the individual, (iii) by reason of the placement of a child with the individual in connection with the adoption of such child by such individual, or (iv) for purposes of caring for such child for a period beginning immediately following such birth or placement.
- (c) Each Employee will share in Employer contributions for the period beginning on the date the Employee commences participation under the Plan and ending on the date on which such Employee terminates employment with the Employer or is no longer a member of an eligible class of Employees.

- (d) If two (2) Years of Service are required as a condition of eligibility, a Participant will only have completed two (2) Years of Service for eligibility purposes upon the actual completion of two (2) consecutive Years of Service.
- (e) The Employer may elect in the Adoption Agreement for purposes of determining a Participant's vested interest to disregard Years of Service prior to the time the Employer or any affiliate maintained the Plan or any predecessor plan, and/or an Employee's attainment of a certain age, not to exceed age eighteen (18).
- (f) An Employee's Years of Service under this Plan may be determined using the hours counting method or the Elapsed Time method or both. Unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, Years of Service shall be determined using the hours counting method on the basis of actual hours worked.
- (g) If the Plan determines Service for a given purpose on one basis and an Employee transfers to Employment covered by this Plan from employment covered by another Qualified Plan which determines Service for such purpose on the other basis, and if the Employee's Service for the period during which he was covered by such other plan is required to be taken into consideration under this Plan for that purpose, then the following rules shall apply:
- (1) If such Service was determined under the other plan using the hours counting method, then the period so taken into consideration through the close of the computation period in which such transfer occurs shall be the number of Years of Service credited to the Employee for such purpose under such other plan as of the start of such computation period, and for the computation period in which such transfer occurs, the greater of (A) his Service for such period as of the date of transfer determined under the rules of such other plan, or (B) his Service for such period determined under the Elapsed Time rules of this Plan. Service after the close of that computation period shall be determined for such purpose solely under the Elapsed Time rules of this Plan.
- (2) If such Service was determined under the other plan using the Elapsed Time method, then the period taken into consideration shall be (i) the number of one-year periods of Service credited to the Employee under such other plan as of the date of the transfer, and (ii) for the computation period which includes the date of transfer, the Hours of Service equivalent to any fractional part of a Year of Service credited to him under such other plan. In determining such equivalency, the Employee shall be credited with one-hundred-ninety (190) Hours of Service for each month or fraction thereof.

If this Plan is an amendment and continuation of another Qualified Plan or if this Plan is amended and an effect of the amendment is to change the basis on which Years of Service are determined, the foregoing rules shall be applied as if each Employee had transferred employment on the effective date of such amendment.

If no election is made on the Adoption Agreement, the Plan will define a Year of Service as a twelve (12) consecutive month period in which an Employee has completed 1,000 Hours of Service under the hours counting method.

# ARTICLE II ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS

# 2.1 Eligibility

Employees who meet the eligibility requirements in the Adoption Agreement on the Effective Date of the Plan shall become Participants as of the Effective Date of the Plan. If elected in the Adoption Agreement, all Employees employed on the Effective Date of the Plan may participate, even if they have not satisfied the Plan's specified eligibility requirements. Employees hired after the Effective Date of the Plan, upon meeting the eligibility requirements, shall become Participants on the applicable Entry Date. For amended and restated Plans, Employees who were Participants in the Plan prior to the Effective Date will continue to participate in the Plan, regardless of whether the Employee satisfies the eligibility requirements in the restated or amended Plan, unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement. If no age and Service requirements are elected in the Adoption Agreement, an Employee will become a Participant on the date the individual first performs an Hour of Service for the Employer. The Employee must satisfy the eligibility requirements specified in the Adoption Agreement and be employed on the Entry Date to become a Participant in the Plan.

- (a) In the event that an Employee has satisfied the eligibility requirements, but is not employed on the applicable Entry Date, such Employee will become a Participant for the purpose(s) for which an Employee had previously qualified upon his or her rehire.
- (b) Except as otherwise provided in the Adoption Agreement, all Years of Service will be counted for purposes of determining whether an Employee has satisfied the Plan's Service eligibility requirement, if any. If a Participant has a Break in Service or Period of Severance, Service before that Break in Service or Period of Severance shall be reinstated as of the date the Employee is credited with an Hour of Service after incurring such Break in Service or Period of Severance.
- (c) In the event an Employee who is not a member of an eligible class of Employees becomes a member of an eligible class, such Employee shall participate immediately if such Employee has satisfied the minimum age and Service requirements and would have previously become a Participant had he or she been in an eligible class.
- (d) A former Participant shall be eligible to authorize Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals and may make other Employee Contributions as permitted under the Plan as of the date on which the individual is rehired. Such contributions shall resume immediately (or as soon as administratively feasible) on or after his or her date of rehire. A former Employee who had become a Participant for the purpose of Employer contributions shall again become a Participant with respect to Employer Contributions on the date on which the individual is rehired.
- (e) An Employee who has become a Participant under the Plan will remain a Participant for as long as an account is maintained under the Plan for his or her benefit, or until his or her death, if earlier.
- (f) Each Employee will share in Employer contributions for the period beginning on the date the Employee commences participation under the Plan and ending on the date on which such Employee terminates employment with the Employer or is no longer a member of an eligible class of Employees.
- (g) An Employee's eligibility to make Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals under a cash or deferred arrangement may not be conditioned upon the completion of more than one (1) Year of Service or the attainment of an age greater than twenty-one (21). An Employee's eligibility to receive Matching Contributions, Qualified Matching Contributions or Non-Elective Contributions may be conditioned upon the completion of up to two (2) Years of Service. No contributions or benefits (other than Matching Contributions or Qualified Matching Contributions) may be conditioned upon an Employee's Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals.

# 2.2 **Determination Of Eligibility**

The Plan Administrator shall determine the eligibility of each Employee for participation in the Plan based upon information provided by the Employer. Such determination shall be conclusive and binding on all Employees except as otherwise provided herein or by operation of law.

# 2.3 Change In Classification Of Employment

In the event a Participant becomes ineligible to participate because he or she is no longer a member of an eligible class of Employees (as elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement), Elective Deferrals, Roth Elective Deferrals and/or other Employee contributions will cease as soon as administratively practicable after the Participant becomes ineligible. Such Participant shall participate for the purpose(s) for which the Participant had previously qualified immediately (or as soon as administratively feasible) upon his or her return to an eligible class of Employees.

### 2.4 Participation

A Year of Service for participation in the Plan is an eligibility computation period during which an Employee completes the Hours of Service requirement (1,000 hours or less) elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement. If the Plan utilizes the Elapsed Time method of crediting Service, an eligibility computation period for which the Employee receives credit for a Year of Service will be determined under the Service crediting rules of paragraph 1.108. Plans that require Employees to complete more than one (1) Year of Service in order to become a Participant must fully vest such Employee upon becoming a Participant in the Plan.

The initial eligibility computation period shall be the twelve (12) consecutive month period beginning on the Employee's employment commencement date (the first day an Employee completes an Hour of Service for the Employer). The Plan will measure succeeding eligibility computation periods based on the Plan Year, unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement. Where the subsequent computation periods are calculated on the basis of the Plan Year, an Employee who receives credit for the required number of Hours of Service during the initial computation period and then earns an additional Year of Service credit during the Plan Year commencing during the subsequent twelve (12) month period will be credited with two (2) Years of Service for purposes of eligibility to participate. Years of Service and Breaks in Service shall be measured on the same eligibility computation period.

An Employer may specify in the Adoption Agreement a Service requirement for eligibility for participation in the Plan after completion of a specified number of months or Hours of Service. Any Service requirement based on months of Service may not require an Employee to complete more than one (1) Year of Service (1,000 Hours of Service) in a twelve (12) consecutive month period, or if applicable, two (2) Years of Service.

## 2.5 Employment Rights

Participation in the Plan shall not confer upon a Participant any employment rights, nor shall it interfere with the Employer's right to terminate the employment of any Employee at any time.

## 2.6 Service With Controlled Groups

All Years of Service with other members of a controlled group of corporations [as defined in Code Section 414(b)], trades or businesses under common control [as defined in Code Section 414(c)], or members of an affiliated service group [as defined in Code Section 414(m)] and any other entity required to be aggregated with the Employer pursuant to Code Section 414(o) shall be credited for purposes of determining an Employee's eligibility to participate.

### 2.7 Leased Employees

A Leased Employee shall be treated as an Employee of the recipient Employer in any Plan established under a Standardized Adoption Agreement, unless specifically excluded under the provisions of the next subparagraph. A Leased Employee will be considered an Employee of the recipient Employer for purposes of participation in any Plan established under a Nonstandardized Adoption Agreement, unless otherwise elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement. Contributions or benefits provided by the leasing organization that are attributable to services performed for the recipient Employer shall be treated as provided by the recipient Employer.

A Leased Employee shall not be considered an Employee of the recipient if such Employee is covered by a money purchase pension plan sponsored by the leasing organization providing:

- (a) a non-integrated Employer contribution rate of at least 10% of Compensation [as defined in Code Section 415(c)(3)], but including amounts contributed pursuant to a salary reduction agreement which are excludable from the Employee's gross income under Code Sections 125, 132(f)(4), 402(e)(3), 402(h)(1)(B), or 403(b),
  - (b) immediate participation, and
  - (c) full and immediate vesting.

This exclusion is only available if Leased Employees do not constitute more than 20% of the recipient's Non-Highly Compensated work force. The Plan Administrator must apply this paragraph consistent with Code Sections 414(n) and 414(o) and the Regulations issued thereunder. The Employer must specify in an addendum to the Adoption Agreement the manner in which the Plan will determine the allocation of Employer contributions and Participant forfeitures on behalf of a Participant if the Participant is a Leased Employee covered by a plan maintained by the leasing organization.

# 2.8 Thrift Plan

The Employer may make an election in the Adoption Agreement to require Employee after-tax contributions (Required After-tax Contributions) as a condition of participation in the Plan. The Employer shall notify each eligible Employee of his or her eligibility for participation prior to the appropriate Entry Date. The Employee shall indicate his or her intention to join the Plan by authorizing the Employer to withhold a percentage of his or her Compensation as provided in the Plan. Such authorization shall be returned to the Employer within the time prescribed. The Employee may decline participation by so indicating in accordance with the procedures prescribed by the Employer. If the

Employee declines to participate, such Employee shall be given the opportunity to join the Plan on any subsequent Entry Date.

#### 2.9 Multiple Employer Plans

If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement the Plan may be adopted as a Multiple Employer Plan, that is, to be adopted as a non-collectively bargained single plan benefiting the Employees of two (2) or more employers who are not treated as a single Employer under Code Section 414(b), (c), (m), or (o). The Plan includes, as an addendum to the Adoption Agreement, a Joinder Agreement to be executed by any Employer that adopts the Plan and which is acknowledged by the Sponsoring Employer (the entity executing the Adoption Agreement). The Joinder Agreement must provide that the Participating Employer agrees to be bound by the terms of the Plan and Trust as adopted by the Sponsoring Employer, including any amendments thereto and any elections made by the Sponsoring Employer, except to the extent the Participation Agreement allows for, and the Participating Employer makes, separate elections with respect to its Employees. Each Participating Employer shall adopt the Plan by executing a separate Participation Agreement. The Employer and each Participating Employer acknowledge that the Plan is a Multiple Employer Plan subject to the rules of Code Section 413(c) and the Regulations thereunder which are incorporated by reference, specific annual reporting requirements, and different procedures for obtaining determination letters from the Internal Revenue Service regarding the qualified status of the Plan.

The exclusive benefit requirement is applied to a Multiple Employer Plan by treating all Employees of all Participating Employers as if they were the Employees of the same Employer. In addition, the minimum participation requirements of Code Section 410(a) and the minimum vesting requirements of Code Section 411 are applied as if all Participating Employers were a single Employer, and service for any Employer counts as service for all.

The limitations of Code Section 415 (Annual Additions), Code Section 402(g) (Elective Deferrals), and Code Section 414(v) (Catch-up Contributions) are applied to the Plan as a whole, rather than on an employer-by-employer basis. Likewise, if a Participant is both a 5% owner and an Employee of any Participating Employer in the year the Employee reaches age 70½, then the Employee's Required Beginning Date is April 1 of the following year.

The minimum coverage requirements of Code Section 410(b), the nondiscrimination requirements of Code Section 401(a)(4), the determination of top-heavy status and minimum contributions under Code Section 416, and the ADP and ACP Tests of Code Sections 401(k) and 401(m), as well as the determination of Highly Compensated Employees under Code Section 414(q), are applied separately, on an employer-by employer basis.

For purposes of Plan participation and vesting, the Employer and all Participating Employers shall be considered a single Employer. An Employee's Service includes all Service with the Employer or any Participating Employer [or with any Employer aggregated with the Participating Employer under Code Section 414(b), (c), (m), or (o)]. An Employee who discontinues Service with a Participating Employer but then resumes Service with another Participating Employer shall not be considered to have severed employment.

Except to the extent that the Participation Agreement allows, and the Participating Employer makes, separate elections with respect to its Employees, the Participating Employer shall be bound by the terms of the Plan and Trust, including amendments thereto and any elections made by the Sponsoring Employer.

The limitation under the Plan relating to the requirements of Code Sections 415, 402(g), and 414(v) shall be applied to the Plan as a whole. The requirements of Code Sections 410(b), 401(a)(4), 401(k)(3)(A)(ii), 401(m)(2)(A), 414(q), and 416 shall be applied separately to each Participating Employer. For purposes of determining a Participant's Required Beginning Date for minimum required distributions, a Participant shall be considered a 5% owner in a year in which the Participant is both a 5% owner and an Employee of a Participating Employer.

# 2.10 Prevailing Wage (Davis-Bacon) Plan

A prevailing wage plan may be established by selecting the prevailing wage provisions in the Adoption Agreement. The Employer shall notify each Employee covered by a Davis-Bacon or prevailing wage contract of his or her eligibility for participation prior to the appropriate Entry Date. The Employer will make contributions for each Participant in accordance with the formula or any public contract subject to the Davis-Bacon Act or to any other Federal, state or municipal prevailing wage law(s) as specified in the Adoption Agreement or any schedule attached thereto. The contribution schedule shall take into account each Participant's hourly rate, employment category, employment classification, and such other factors the prevailing wage contract may specify.

For the purposes of this paragraph, Employees covered by a Davis-Bacon or prevailing wage contract will be those who are not included in a unit of Employees covered by a collective bargaining agreement between the Employer and Employee representatives.

## 2.11 Waiver Of Participation

Effective with the initial adoption or upon the amendment or restatement of this Plan, otherwise eligible Employees may not execute a waiver of participation. Any properly executed waivers of participation executed prior to the adoption of the Plan shall be grandfathered and such waiver shall be valid in full force and effect.

An Employee or Participant will continue to earn credit for each Year of Service for eligibility or vesting purposes he or she completes and his or her account (if any) will share in the gains or losses of the Plan during the periods he or she elects not to participate.

### 2.12 Omission Of Eligible Employee

If, in any Plan Year, an Employee who should be included as a Participant in the Plan is erroneously omitted and discovery of such omission is not made until after a contribution by his or her Employer for the Plan Year has been made, the Employer shall make any such correction regarding the Employee's eligibility in accordance with the requirements of the appropriate Employee Plans Compliance Resolution System (EPCRS) program.

#### 2.13 Inclusion Of Ineligible Employee

If, in any Plan Year, any person who should not have been included as a Participant in the Plan is erroneously included, the Employer shall make any such correction regarding the Employee's eligibility in accordance with the requirements of the appropriate Employee Plans Compliance Resolution System (EPCRS) program.

## 2.14 Participating Employer

The term Participating Employer means any entity which is part of a controlled group or affiliated service group, as those terms are defined in Code Sections 414(b), (c) and (m), or is otherwise required to be aggregated under Code Section 414(o) that adopts this Plan with the consent of the Employer. An Employee's transfer to or from any Employer or Participating Employer will not affect his or her Participant's Account Balance, total Years of Service (Periods of Service) and total Years of Service as a Participant (Periods of Service as a Participant).

The Plan may be adopted as a Multiple Employer Plan, that is, to be adopted as a non-collectively bargained single plan benefiting the Employees of two (2) or more Employers who are not treated as a single Employer under Code Section 414(b), (c), (m), or (o). Such unaffiliated corporation or other business entity may participate herein, and be known as a Participating Employer, by properly executing the Joinder Agreement evidencing said intent and will of such corporation or business entity to participate. In this case, the Sponsoring Employer and each Participating Employer acknowledge that the Plan is a Multiple Employer Plan subject to the rules of Code Section 413(c) and the Regulations thereunder which are herein incorporated by reference, specific annual reporting requirements, and different procedures for obtaining determination letters from the IRS regarding the qualified status of the Plan.

For purposes of Plan participation and vesting, the Sponsoring Employer and all Participating Employers shall be considered a single Employer. An Employee's Service includes all Service with the Sponsoring Employer or any Participating Employer [or with any Employer aggregated with the Sponsor or Participating Employer under Code Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o)]. An Employee who terminates Service with a Participating Employer but then resumes Service with another Participating Employer shall not be considered to have severed employment.

Except to the extent that the Joinder Agreement allows, and the Participating Employer makes, separate elections with respect to its Employees, the Participating Employer shall be bound by the terms of the Plan and Trust, including amendments thereto and any elections made by the Sponsoring Employer.

The limitation under the Plan relating to the requirements of Code Sections 415, 402(g) and 414(v) shall be applied to the Plan as a whole. The requirements of Code Sections 410(b), 401(a)(4), 401(k)(3)(A)(ii), 401(m)(2)(A), 414(q) and 416 shall be applied separately to each Participating Employer. For purposes of determining a Participant's Required Beginning Date for minimum required distributions, a Participant shall be considered a 5% owner in a year in which the Participant is both a 5% owner and an Employee of a Participating Employer.

Unless the context of the Plan clearly indicates the contrary, the word "Employer" shall be deemed to include each Employer participating in this Plan and Trust, as related to its adoption of the Plan and Trust.

A Participating Employer shall be subject to the following provisions:

- (a) Each Participating Employer, who is not a member of a controlled group of corporations or an affiliated service group of which the Employer is a member, shall execute a Joinder Agreement as evidence of their participation in the Plan.
- (b) Whenever a right or obligation is imposed upon the Employer by the terms of the Plan, the same shall extend to the Participating Employer as the "Employer" under the Plan and shall be separate and distinct from that imposed upon the Employer. It is the intention of the parties that the Participating Employer shall be a party to the Plan and treated in all respects as the Employer thereunder, with its employees to be considered as the Employees or Participants as the case may be, thereunder. However, the participation of the Participating Employer in the Plan shall in no way diminish, augment, modify or in any way affect the rights and duties of the Employer, its Employees and Participants under the Plan.
- (c) Each Participating Employer shall use the same Trustee and/or Custodian as selected by the Sponsoring Employer. The Trustee(s) and/or Custodian(s) agree to receive and allocate contributions made to the

Plan by the Employer and by the Participating Employer. The Trustee may, but shall not be required to, commingle, hold and invest as one Trust Fund all contributions made by the Participating Employers, as well as all increments thereof.

- (d) The Participating Employer shall be construed as having adopted the Plan in every respect as if said Plan had this date been executed between the Participating Employer and the Trustee and/or Custodian, except as otherwise expressly provided herein or in any amendment that may subsequently be adopted hereto.
- (e) All actions required by the Plan to be taken by the Employer shall be effective with respect to the Participating Employer. The Participating Employer hereby irrevocably designates the Employer as its agent for such purposes. Each Participating Employer shall be deemed to be a part of this Plan; provided, however, that with respect to all of its relations with the Trustee and the Plan Administrator for the purpose of this Plan, each Participating Employer shall be deemed to have irrevocably designated the Plan Sponsor as its agent.
- (f) Contributions made by any such Participating Employer will be held in a common Trust with contributions made by the Employer, and contributions shall be available to pay the benefits of a Participant or Beneficiary who is an Employee of the Sponsoring Employer or any such Participating Employer.
- (g) Any expenses of the Plan which are to be paid by the Employer or borne by the Trust Fund shall be paid by each Participating Employer in the same proportion that the initial amount standing to the credit of all Participants employed by such Employer bears to the total standing to the credit of all Participants

Any Participating Employer or future Participating Employer or member of a controlled group that is not already a Participating Employer under this Plan may, with the consent of the Sponsoring Employer, adopt this Plan by executing a Participation Agreement as a Participating Employer for all or any classification of Employees in its employ. It is not necessary for any Participating Employer to formally execute the Adoption Agreement as then in effect. As to the Participating Employer, the effective date of its participation shall be stated in its Participation Agreement and it shall assume all the rights, obligations and liabilities of a Participating Employer under the Plan.

#### 2.15 **SIMPLE 401(k) Plan**

Cash or deferred arrangements that satisfy the provisions of Code Section 401(k)(11) for any Plan Year ("SIMPLE Plans") are deemed to satisfy the special nondiscrimination tests of Code Section 401(k)(3)(A)(ii). SIMPLE Plans are also exempt from the Top-Heavy requirements of Code Section 416 for the Plan Year.

An Employer that maintains a SIMPLE 401(k) Plan must notify each Employee eligible to participate, at or within a reasonable period of time before the beginning of the sixty (60) day election period, of the rules for electing to participate. The notice must state whether the Employer will make Matching Contributions or Non-Elective Contributions.

# ARTICLE III EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

#### 3.1 **Contribution Amount**

The Employer shall make periodic contributions to the Plan in accordance with the contribution formula or formulas elected in the Adoption Agreement.

The Employer's contribution (if any) may consist of (1) cash; (2) qualifying Employer securities or qualifying Employer real property as defined in Section 407(d) of ERISA, provided the acquisition of such qualifying Employer securities or qualifying real property securities satisfies the requirements of Section 408(e) of ERISA; or (3) any other unencumbered property that is permitted under Code Section 4975 and other applicable law subject to the consent of the Trustee and/or the Custodian and contributed to the Plan on a discretionary basis. No contribution of property may be made to any Plan established hereunder which would result in a prohibited transaction.

The Employer shall also make Matching Contributions, Top-Heavy minimum contributions and any other Employer contribution for the benefit of Participants who are covered by USERRA. Employer Matching Contributions under USERRA shall be made in the Plan Year for which the Participant exercises his or her right to make-up Elective Deferrals, Roth Elective Deferrals and/or other Employee contributions for prior years. Top-Heavy minimum contributions and other Employer contributions for USERRA protected Service shall be made during the Plan Year in which the individual returns to employment with the Employer. Employer contributions required under USERRA are not increased or decreased with respect to Plan investment earnings for the period to which such contributions relate. The Employer's contribution for any Plan Year shall be subject to the limitations on allocations contained in Article X.

Any contribution or forfeiture subject to allocation during each Plan Year shall be determined separately for each Participating Employer, and shall be allocated only to Employees of the affected Employer in accordance with the provisions of the Plan.

If the Employer's Non-Elective Contribution utilizes permitted disparity the following rules shall apply, as determined by the election made by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement. Only one plan maintained by the Employer may provide for permitted disparity.

- (a) **Excess Integrated Allocation Formula** If the Plan is not Top-Heavy or if the Top-Heavy minimum contribution or benefit is provided under another plan covering the same Employees, paragraphs (1) and (2) below may be disregarded and 5.7%, 5.4% or 4.3% may be substituted for 2.7%, 2.4% or 1.3% where it appears in paragraph (3) below.
- (1) Step One: Contributions and Forfeitures will be allocated to each Participant's account in the ratio that each Participant's total Compensation bears to all Participants' total Compensation but not in excess of 3% of each Participants Compensation Participants will receive an allocation not to exceed 3% of their Compensation.
- (2) Step Two: Any remaining Employer contributions will be allocated up to a maximum of 3% of excess Compensation of all Participants to Participants who have Compensation in excess of the Integration Level (excess Compensation) as defined in the Adoption Agreement. Each such Participant will receive an allocation in the ratio that his or her excess Compensation bears to the excess Compensation of all Participants. If Employer contributions are insufficient to fund to this level, the Employer must determine the uniform allocation percentage to allocate to those Participants who have Compensation in excess of the Integration Level. To determine this uniform allocation percentage, the Employer must take the remaining contribution and divide that amount by the total excess Compensation of Participants.
- (3) Step Three: Any remaining Employer contributions will be allocated to all Participants in the ratio that their Compensation plus excess Compensation bears to the total Compensation plus excess Compensation of all Participants. Participants may only receive an allocation of up to 2.7% of their Compensation plus Excess Compensation, under this allocation step. If the Integration Level defined in the Adoption Agreement is less than or equal to the greater of \$10,000 or 20% of the maximum, the 2.7% need not be reduced. If the amount specified is greater than the greater of \$10,000 or 20% of the Taxable Wage Base, but not more than 80%, 2.7% must be reduced to 1.3%. If the amount specified is greater than 80% but less than 100% of the maximum Taxable Wage Base, the 2.7% must be reduced to 2.4%. If Employer contributions are insufficient to fund to this level, the Employer must determine the uniform allocation percentage to allocate to those Participants who have Compensation up to the Integration Level and Excess Compensation. To determine this uniform allocation percentage, the Employer must take the remaining contributions and divide that amount by the total Compensation including Excess Compensation of Participants.
- (4) Step Four: Any remaining Employer contributions will be allocated to all Participants in the ratio that each Participant's Compensation bears to all Participants' Compensation.

(b) **Base Integrated Allocation Formula** – To the extent that such contributions are sufficient they shall be allocated first, as a designated percentage of each eligible Participant's Compensation, plus a designated percentage of Compensation in excess of the Integration Level (as defined in the Adoption Agreement). The percentage of excess Compensation may not exceed the lesser of (i) the amount first specified in this paragraph or (ii) the greater of 5.7% or the percentage rate of tax under Code Section 3111(a) as in effect on the first day of the Plan Year attributable to the Old Age (OA) portion of the OASDI provisions of the Social Security Act. If the Employer specifies an Integration Level in the Adoption Agreement which is lower than the Taxable Wage Base (for Social Security purposes (SSTWB) in effect as of the first day of the Plan Year, the percentage contributed with respect to excess Compensation must be adjusted. If the Plan's Integration Level is greater than the largest of \$10,000 or 20% of the SSTWB but not more than 80% of the TWB, the excess percentage is 4.3%. If the Plan's Integration Level is greater than 80% of the TWB but less than 100% of the TWB, the excess percentage is 5.4%.

## 3.2 **Overall Permitted Disparity Limits**

- (a) Annual Overall Permitted Disparity Limits Notwithstanding the preceding paragraphs, for any Plan Year this Plan benefits any Participant who benefits under another Qualified Plan or Simplified Employee Pension Plan, as defined in Code Section 408(k), maintained by the Employer that provides for permitted disparity (or imputes disparity), Employer contributions and forfeitures under a Plan established under a Standardized Adoption Agreement will be allocated to the account of each Participant who either completes more than 500 Hours or Service during the Plan Year or who is employed on the last day of the Plan Year in the ratio that each Participant's total Compensation bears to the total Compensation of all Participants.
- (b) **Cumulative Permitted Disparity Limits** Effective for Plan Years beginning on or after January 1, 1995, the cumulative permitted disparity limit for a Participant is thirty five (35) total cumulative permitted disparity years. Total cumulative permitted years means the number of years credited to the Participant for allocation or accrual purposes under this Plan, and any other Qualified Plan or Simplified Employee Pension Plan (whether or not terminated) ever maintained by the Employer. For purposes of determining the Participant's cumulative permitted disparity limit, all years ending in the same calendar year are treated as the same year. If the Participant has not benefited under a Defined Benefit for any year beginning on or after January 1, 1994, the Participant has no cumulative disparity limit.

Compensation for purposes of this paragraph shall mean Compensation as elected in the Adoption Agreement.

# 3.3 Contribution Amount For A SIMPLE 401(k) Plan

If the Employer has elected the SIMPLE 401(k) provisions in the Adoption Agreement, the provisions of the following paragraphs shall apply for a Plan Year if the Employer is an Eligible Employer and no contributions are made or benefits accrued for services during the Plan Year on behalf of any Eligible Employee under any other plan, contract, pension or trust described in Code Section 219(g)(5)(A) or (B) maintained by the Employer. To the extent that other provisions of the Plan are inconsistent with the SIMPLE 401(k) provisions, the SIMPLE 401(k) provisions shall govern.

- (a) **SIMPLE 401(k) Matching Contribution Formula** For each Plan Year, the Employer shall contribute and allocate to each Eligible Employee's account an amount equal to the Employee's Elective Deferral contribution up to a limit of 3% of the Employee's Compensation for the full Plan Year. If the Employer elects in the Adoption Agreement to make the Non-Elective Contribution as specified in paragraph 3.3(b) below, this Matching Contribution will not be made.
- (b) **SIMPLE 401(k) Non-Elective Contribution Formula** For any Plan Year, the Employer may elect to contribute a Non-Elective Contribution of 2% of Compensation for the full Plan Year for each Eligible Employee who received at least \$5,000 of Compensation (or such lesser amount as elected by the Employer in the SIMPLE 401(k) Plan Adoption Agreement) for the Plan Year. The allocation thereof shall be unrelated to any Participant Elective Deferral contributions made hereunder. If the Employer elects in the Adoption Agreement to make the Non-Elective Contribution for a Plan Year, the Employer shall not make the Matching Contribution described in paragraph 3.3(a) above with respect to the same Plan Year. The Employer shall notify Eligible Employees within a reasonable period of time (before the sixtieth day) prior to the beginning of each Plan Year of its election to make the 2% Non-Elective Contribution in lieu of the Matching Contribution.
- (c) The provisions of the Plan implementing the limitations of Code Section 415 apply to contributions made pursuant to paragraphs 3.3(a) (other than Catch-Up Contributions) and 3.3(b).
- (d) In the event that the contribution and allocation formula above results in an Excess Annual Addition, such excess shall be corrected as provided for at paragraph 10.3. The Employer's contribution for any Plan Year shall be subject to the overall limitations on allocations contained in Article X.

- (e) No other Employer or Employee contributions may be made to the SIMPLE 401(k) Plan for the Plan Year other than Elective Deferrals described in paragraph 4.8, Matching or Non-Elective Contributions described in paragraphs 3.3(a) and (b), and Rollover Contributions described in Regulations Section 1.402(c)-2, Q&A-1 (a). An Employer generally cannot make contributions under a SIMPLE Plan for a calendar year if the Employer, or a predecessor Employer, maintains a qualified plan (other than the SIMPLE plan) under which any of the SIMPLE Plan Participants receives an allocation of contributions (in the case of a Defined Contribution Plan) or has an increase in a benefit accrued or treated as an accrued benefit under Code Section 411(d)(6) (in the case of a Defined Benefit Plan) at any time during the SIMPLE 401(k) Plan Year. However, an Employer can make contributions under a SIMPLE Plan for a calendar year even though it maintains another Qualified Plan if participants in the SIMPLE 401(k) Plan benefit only from allocation of forfeitures under the other plan. For this purpose, a Qualified Plan includes a plan qualified under Code Section 401(a) or Code Section 403(a), an annuity contract described in Code Section 403(b), a governmental plan (other than an eligible Code Section 457 plan), a simplified employee pension (SEP) under Code Section 408(k), a trust described in Code Section 501(c)(18) and a SIMPLE plan described in Code Section 408(p).
- (f) In the event the deduction of a contribution made by the Employer is disallowed under Code Section 404, such contribution (to the extent disallowed) must be returned to the Employer within one year of the disallowance of the deduction.
- (g) All benefits attributable to contributions described in paragraphs 3.3(a) and (b) are nonforfeitable at all times, and all previous contributions made under the Plan provisions are nonforfeitable as of the beginning of the Plan Year the SIMPLE 401(k) provisions apply.

## 3.4 Responsibility For Contributions

Neither the Prototype Plan Sponsor nor the Custodian shall be required to determine if the Employer has made a contribution or if the amount contributed is in accordance with the Adoption Agreement or the Code. The Employer shall have sole responsibility in this regard. To the extent that a Trustee is appointed by the Employer, that Trustee shall only be responsible to assure that the Employer makes required contributions to this Plan if either the Employer expressly assigns such duty to the Trustee in question, or fails to assign such responsibility to a Trustee or investment manager under the Plan. Any responsibility arising under the preceding sentence is applicable to the Trustee and not the Custodian. The Trustee and/or Custodian shall be accountable solely for contributions actually received by it within the limits of Article X.

If no Trustee or investment manager has been delegated the responsibility of monitoring and collecting contributions under Article XIII or other written agreement, then a Plan Fiduciary who has the authority under the Plan to engage a Trustee will assume liability for Plan losses due to the failure to collect contributions resulting from the Fiduciary's failure to specifically allocate this responsibility. To the extent a Trustee is not responsible for monitoring and collecting contributions under the terms of Article XIII or other written agreement (including but not limited to a trust agreement), the Trustee, even if such Trustee serves as a directed Trustee, has the obligation pursuant to ERISA Sections 404 and 405(a) to take appropriate steps to remedy the failure to collect contributions to the extent the Trustee has knowledge that no party has assumed responsibility for the collection and monitoring of contribution and that delinquent contributions remain uncollected.

# 3.5 **Return Of Contributions**

Contributions made to the Plan by the Employer shall be irrevocable except as provided below:

- (a) Any contribution forwarded to the Trustee and/or Custodian due to a mistake of fact, provided that the contribution is returned to the Employer within one (1) year of the date of the contribution. The Trustee and/or Custodian will not increase the amount of the Employer contribution returnable under this paragraph 3.5 for any earnings attributable to the contribution but the Trustee and/or Custodian will reduce the amount returned to the Employer for any losses incurred attributable to the excess contribution.
- (b) In the event that the Commissioner of Internal Revenue determines that the Plan is not initially qualified under the Internal Revenue Code, any contribution dependent on the initial qualification by the Employer must be returned to the Employer within one (1) year after the date the initial qualification is denied, but only if the application for the qualification is made by the time prescribed by law for filing the Employer's return for the taxable year in which the Plan is adopted, or such later date as the Secretary of the Treasury may prescribe.
- (c) Contributions forwarded to the Trustee and/or Custodian are presumed to be deductible and are conditioned on their deductibility. Contributions that are determined by the Internal Revenue Service to not be deductible will be returned to the Employer within one (1) year after the disallowance and reduced by any losses.

# 3.6 Merger Of Assets From Another Plan

(a) The Employer may in its sole discretion direct the Trustee or Custodian to accept assets from another Defined Contribution Plan, or to transfer assets to another Defined Contribution Plan, provided that such transfer satisfies the requirements of Code Section 414(I) and the Regulations thereunder. The Employer, Plan

Administrator, Trustee or Custodian shall have the right to refuse to accept or transfer assets for any reason, provided that nothing in this paragraph 3.6 shall give the Trustee or Custodian the right to refuse to make a direct transfer of an Eligible Rollover Distribution if requested to do so by a Participant in accordance with paragraph 6.14.

(b) When the transferor plan is a money purchase pension plan and the transferee plan (the Plan established under this document), is not a money purchase pension plan as set forth in Code Section 401(a)(11)(B)(iii)(III), the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity option may not be eliminated at least with respect to the benefits which are transferred.

When the transferor plan is a profit-sharing, stock bonus or cash or deferred arrangement [401(k) plan] which included the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity provisions but was not required to do so, upon the transfer of those assets, the transferee plan may be amended to entirely eliminate the annuity option.

#### 3.7 Coverage Requirements

For purposes of coverage testing, a Participant is treated as benefiting under the Plan for any Plan Year during which the Participant received or is deemed to receive an allocation in accordance with Regulations Section 1.410(b)-3(a). If during the Plan Year, the number of Participants who are eligible to share in any contribution for a Plan Year is such that the Plan established under a Nonstandardized Adoption Agreement would fail to meet the requirements of Regulations Section 410(b)(1)(A) or (B), then the group of Participants eligible to share in the contribution for the Plan Year will be increased to include such minimum number of Participants who did not meet the hours requirement, as may be necessary to satisfy the applicable tests under the Code Sections referenced above who are employed with the Employer on the last day of the Plan Year. The Participants who will become eligible to share in the contribution will be those active Non-Highly Compensated Participants when compared to Participants who are similarly situated, are those who have completed the greatest number of Hours of Service in the Plan Year. If after such allocation, the coverage requirements of the Code are still not satisfied, the allocation conditions will be continued to be suspended for Non-Highly Compensated Participants with decreasing Hours of Service until the coverage requirements of the ratio percentage test of Code Section 410(b)(1)(A) are satisfied.

If after the application of the correction procedure in the preceding paragraph the coverage requirements are still not satisfied, the Employer may apply the same correction procedure first to those Participants who are not employed by the Employer on the last day of the Plan Year and did not meet the hours requirements and then an otherwise excludable class of Employees until the coverage requirements of the ratio percentage test of Code Section 410(b)(1)(A) or (B) are satisfied.

The preceding paragraph will not be construed to permit the reduction of any Participant's account balance, and any amounts which were allocated to Participants whose eligibility to share in the contribution did not result from the application of the preceding paragraph will not be reallocated to satisfy such requirements. Instead, the Employer shall make an additional contribution equal to the amount which the affected Participants would have received had they been included initially in the allocation of the Employer's contribution, even if it would cause the contributions of the Employer for the applicable Plan Year to exceed the amount which is deductible by the Employer for such Plan Year under Code Section 404. Any adjustments pursuant to this paragraph will be considered a retroactive amendment of the Plan that was adopted by the last day of the Plan Year.

Specifically excluded from the Code Section 410(b) coverage tests are those Employees who are excluded from participation in the Plan for the entire Plan Year which includes those Employees whose retirement benefits are subject to a collective bargaining agreement, nonresident aliens, those Employees excluded from Plan participation by age and Service requirements imposed by the Plan and those Employees who incur a Severance from Employment during the applicable Plan Year and for the Plan Year fail to complete more than five hundred (500) Hours of Service or three (3) consecutive calendar months under the Elapsed Time method.

After the end of the Plan Year, the correction method for any coverage failure must be done in accordance with the requirements of the Employee Plans Compliance Resolution System (EPCRS) program for which they are eligible.

### 3.8 Eligibility For Contribution

The Employer will determine in the Adoption Agreement the conditions that Participants must meet in order to receive an allocation of an Employer contribution and any forfeitures, subject to the following:

(a) In a Plan established under a Standardized Adoption Agreement, a Participant who is employed on the last day of the Plan Year will share in the allocation of the Employer contribution in that Plan Year without regard to the Participant's Hours of Service.

A Participant in a Plan established under a Standardized Adoption Agreement, who completed more than five hundred (500) Hours of Service, ninety-one (91) consecutive calendar days, or three (3) consecutive calendar months under the Elapsed Time method will share in the allocation of Employer contributions for the Plan Year, regardless of whether employed on the last day of the Plan Year.

(b) In a Plan established under a Nonstandardized Adoption Agreement, the Employer will elect in the Adoption Agreement whether any Employer contribution shall be allocated to any Participant who does not complete the necessary Hours of Service, requisite number of days, or consecutive calendar months requirement elected in the Adoption Agreement, subject to the Top-Heavy minimum contribution requirements, if applicable.

In a Plan established under a Nonstandardized Adoption Agreement, the Employer will elect in the Adoption Agreement whether a Participant will receive an allocation of the Employer's contribution if not employed on the last day of the Plan Year, or if applicable, the end of the Plan Year quarter.

- (c) The Employer may elect in the Standardized or Nonstandardized Adoption Agreement any other conditions a Participant must meet to receive an allocation of a contribution under the Plan established hereunder.
- (d) The Adoption Agreements that accompany this Basic Plan Document #03 have been generally designed to satisfy Code Section 401(a)(4) as a designed-based safe harbor. Designed-based safe harbor contribution formulas include those that provide a uniform allocation as either a percentage of Compensation or a dollar amount. Non-designed-based safe harbor contribution formulas include a uniform points and age-based allocation formulas.

### 3.9 Cross-Tested Allocation Formula

Unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, when a cross-testing formula has been elected, Employer contributions for a Plan Year will be allocated to each Employee of the Employer who has met the allocation accrual requirements as specified in the Adoption Agreement. The general nondiscrimination test under Regulations Section 1.401(a)(4)-2(c)(1) must be satisfied using equivalent accrual rates [within the meaning of Regulations Section 1.401(a)(4)-8(b)(2)] that are substituted for each Employee's allocation rate in the determination of rate groups. The allocation rate for any Employee is equal to the sum of Employer Non-Elective Contributions and any forfeitures allocated to the Employee's account, divided by the Employee's Compensation as defined in paragraph 1.16. When calculating equivalent accrual rates for purposes of nondiscrimination testing, a standard interest rate and standard mortality table [within the meaning of the definitions in Regulations Section 1.401(a)(4)-12] must be used.

As elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, the Employer will determine the total amount of contributions for each Plan Year and either (1) allocate such total amount to participant groups (the "Participant Group Allocation Method") or (2) allocate such total amount using age weighted allocation rates (the "Age Weighted Allocation Method"). Employer contributions will be allocated to each eligible Participant.

(a) **Participant Group Allocation Method** - If the Employer has elected the Participant Group Allocation method in the Adoption Agreement, each eligible Participant of the Employer will constitute a "separate allocation group" for purposes of allocating contributions. Only a limited number of allocation rates are permitted, and the number of allocation rates cannot be greater than the maximum allowable number of allocation rates. The maximum allowable number of allocation rates for eligible Non-Highly Compensated Employees (eligible NHCEs) and the allowable number of allocation rates for eligible Highly Compensated Employees (eligible HCEs). The allowable number of allocation rates for eligible HCEs is equal to the number of eligible HCEs, limited to twenty-five (25). The allowable number of NHCE allocation rates depends on the number of eligible NHCEs, limited to twenty-five (25). The allocation will be made as follows:

The total amount of contributions is allocated among the deemed aggregated allocation groups in portions determined by the Employer. A deemed aggregated allocation group consists of all of the separate allocation groups that have the same allocation rate. Second, within each deemed aggregated allocation group, the allocated portion is allocated to each Participant in the ratio that such Participant's Compensation as defined in paragraph 1.16, bears to the total Compensation of all Participants in the group. An allocation rate is the amount of contributions allocated to a Participant for a Plan Year expressed as a percentage of Compensation, as defined in paragraph 1.16. The number of eligible NHCEs to which a particular allocation rate applies must reflect a reasonable classification of Participants, and no Participant can be assigned to more than one (1) deemed aggregated allocation group for a Plan Year.

The Employer will specify in written instructions to the Plan Administrator or Trustee, by no later than the due date of the Employer's tax return for the year to which the Employer's Contribution relates, the portion of such contribution to be allocated to each Participant allocation group. The Employer Contributions allocated to each Participant allocation group will be allocated among the Employees in that group in the ratio that each Employee's Compensation, as defined in paragraph 1.16, bears to the total compensation of all employees in the group. In the event that an eligible Employee is included in more than one Participant allocation group, the Participant's share of the Employer Contribution allocated to each such group will be based on the Participant's Compensation for the part of the year the Participant was in the group.

(b) Age Weighted Allocation Method - If the Age Weighted Allocation Method is selected in the Adoption Agreement, the total Employer Contribution will be allocated to each eligible Participant such that the

equivalent benefit accrual rate for each Participant is identical. The equivalent benefit accrual rate is the annual annuity commencing at the Participant's testing age, expressed as a percentage of the Participant's Compensation as defined in paragraph 1.16 which is provided from the allocation of Employer contributions and forfeitures for the Plan Year, using standardized actuarial assumptions that satisfy Regulations Section 1.401(a)(4)-12. The Participant's testing age is the later of Normal Retirement Age, or the Participant's current age.

The allocation methodology used in determining a Participant's individual allocation must satisfy one of the following three allocation rules:

- (c) **Minimum Allocation Gateway** Any allocation of Contributions under either the Participant Group Allocation Method or the Age Weighted Allocation Method must satisfy the minimum allocation gateway. Each eligible Non-Highly Compensated Employee has an allocation rate that is equal to the lesser of five percent (5%) of the Employee's Compensation (as defined in paragraph 1.16), or one-third of the allocation rate of the Highly Compensated Employee with the highest allocation rate. An allocation rate is the amount of Contributions allocated to an Employee for a year, expressed as a percentage of Compensation. The allocation rate for each group of Highly Compensated Employees will be as stated in an addendum to the Adoption Agreement.
- (d) **Broadly Available Allocation Rates** Each allocation rate will be currently available [within the meaning of Regulations Section 1.401(a)(4)-4(b)(2)] to a group of Employees that satisfies Code Section 410(b) without regard to the average benefit percentage test. If two allocation rates are permissively aggregated under Regulations Section 1.401(a)(4)-4(d)(4), they are aggregated and treated as a single allocation rate. The ability to disregard the age and service conditions of Regulations Section 1.401(a)(4)-4(b)(2)(ii)(A) does not apply for purposes of this paragraph. The allocation rate for each group of Employees will be as stated in the addendum to either the new comparability cash or deferred profit sharing or new comparability profit sharing Adoption Agreement(s) (whichever is applicable).
- (e) Gradually Increasing Age Or Service Schedule Each allocation rate increases smoothly at regular intervals within a series of bands based solely on age, based solely on Years of Service, or based on the number of points representing the sum of age and Service (age and Service points), as designated in the Adoption Agreement, such that the same allocation rate applies to all Employees whose age, Years of Service, or age and Service points are within each band. If age-only bands are used, all Participants younger than age twenty-five (25) are deemed to be in the first band. If the age and Service point band is used, all Participants with a sum of age and Service that is less than twenty-five (25) are deemed to be in the first band.

The specific categories of Participant should be such that resulting allocations are provided in a definite predetermined formula that complies with Regulations Section 1.401-1(b)(1)(ii). The number of allocation rates must not exceed the maximum allowable number of allocation rates. Highly Compensated Employees may each be in separate allocation groups. Eligible Non-Highly Compensated Employees must be grouped using allocation rates specified in the Adoption Agreement, or as stated in an addendum to the new comparability cash or deferred or new comparability profit sharing Adoption Agreement (whichever is applicable). The grouping of eligible Non-Highly Compensated Employees must be done in a reasonable manner and should reflect a reasonable classification in accordance with Regulations Section 1.410(b)(4)-4(b). Standard interest rates and standard mortality table assumptions in accordance with Regulations Section 1.401(a)(4)-12 must be used when testing the Plan for satisfaction of nondiscrimination requirements. In the case of self-employed individuals (i.e., sole proprietorships or partnerships), the requirements of Regulations Section 1.401(k)-1(a)(6) continue to apply, and the allocation method should not be such that a cash or deferred election is created for a self-employed individual as a result of application of the allocation method.

Standard interest rates and mortality table assumptions in accordance with Regulations Section 1.401(a)(4)-12 must be used when testing the Plan for satisfaction of the nondiscrimination requirements. A table of age-weighted factors that comply with the previous sentence may also be used.

Notwithstanding the above allocation requirements of Employer Non-Elective Contributions, if during the Plan Year a Non-Highly Compensated Participant's account is allocated Employer Non-Elective Contributions (including any Top-Heavy minimum benefits), Qualified Non-Elective Contributions, Safe Harbor Non-Elective Contributions or forfeitures used as Employer Non-Elective Contributions and the Plan must also satisfy the gateway test under Treasury Regulations Section 1.401(a)(4)-8(b)(1)(vi) during such Plan Year, then Employer Non-Elective Contributions (including any Top-Heavy minimum benefits) when aggregated with Qualified Non-Elective Contributions, Safe Harbor Non-Elective Contributions or forfeitures used as Employer Non-Elective Contributions allocated to such Non-Highly Compensated Participant shall be an amount that is no less than 1/3 of the allocation rate of the Highly Compensated Participant with the highest allocation rate or five percent (5%) of Section 415 Compensation for the Plan Year. The exclusions entered into the blank on the Adoption Agreement cannot result in the group of Non-Highly Compensated Employees participating in the Plan being only those Non-Highly Compensated Employees with the lowest amount of Compensation and/or the shortest periods of Service and who may represent the minimum number of these Employees necessary to satisfy coverage under Code Section 410(b).

### 3.10 Prevailing Wage (Davis-Bacon) Contribution

The Employer will irrevocably contribute the amount determined in accordance with the contribution formula or formulas elected in the Adoption Agreement. An Employer may take credit for purposes of the Davis-Bacon Act or any other Federal, state or municipal Davis-Bacon prevailing wage law at the hourly rate specified in an addendum attached to the Adoption Agreement. Contributions made by the Employer to the Plan for the Davis-Bacon work performed by the Employer's Employees during the Plan Year may be used as an offset for any Employer contributions to be made to this or any other Defined Contribution Plan sponsored by the Employer. Davis-Bacon or prevailing wage contributions may be treated as Qualified Non-Elective Contributions, which become nonforfeitable and that are distributable only in accordance with the distribution provisions (other than Hardships) that are applicable to Elective Deferrals, Roth Elective Deferrals and Qualified Matching Contributions. Contributions made on behalf of Participants who do not perform prevailing wage work cannot be used as a credit towards meeting the Employer's obligation under the prevailing wage or Davis-Bacon plan.

#### 3.11 Uniform Dollar Contribution

The Employer's contribution to a Plan utilizing a uniform dollar allocation formula for a Plan Year shall be the same dollar amount to each Participant regardless of Compensation, Years of Service, age or any other variable set forth in the Adoption Agreement.

# 3.12 Uniform Points Contribution

The Employer's contribution to a Plan utilizing a uniform points allocation formula for a Plan Year shall be in the same ratio that each Participant's points, as elected in the Adoption Agreement, bears to the total points awarded to all Participants for the Plan Year.

# 3.13 403(b) Or 457(b) Matching Contribution

If a tax-exempt Employer elects in the 401(k) Adoption Agreement to make a Matching Contribution based on the Employee's Elective Deferral or Roth Elective Deferral contributions under the Code Section 403(b) or 457(b) Plan, the Employer shall make a Matching Contribution to the Matching Contribution Account of those Participants who make Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals (while an Employee and a Participant in the Plan) and who are eligible under the Adoption Agreement to receive the Matching Contribution. Any such Matching Contribution made to the Plan will be allocated under the formula elected in the Adoption Agreement. In the event the rate of Matching Contribution is determined to be discriminatory in favor of one or more Highly Compensated Employees, that part of the Matching Contribution as is necessary to make such rate nondiscriminatory shall be forfeited. Any such amount forfeited shall be disregarded under the Plan's provisions relating to Code Sections 401(k)(3) and 401(m)(2).

# 3.14 Frozen Plan

If the Employer has elected in the Adoption Agreement that the Plan has been frozen, during the time the Plan is frozen and notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, no contributions may be made to the Plan in accordance with this Article III. Should the Employer amend the Plan to remove the frozen election, contributions may resume in accordance with the provisions of the Plan as amended.

# ARTICLE IV EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS

## 4.1 Voluntary After-tax Contributions

If elected by an Employer in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant may make Voluntary After-tax Contributions to the Plan. These contributions are not excludable from the Participant's gross income. Such contributions must be made in a uniform and nondiscriminatory manner. Such contributions are subject to the limitations on Annual Additions and are subject to ACP nondiscrimination testing. Any Voluntary After-tax Contribution shall not be a condition precedent to the contribution or allocation of any Employer contribution to the Participant. Under any Plan established hereunder and if permitted in the Plan's loan policy document, a Participant may repay a defaulted loan from the Plan with Voluntary After-tax dollars. The Employer may permit buy-back of amounts previously forfeited with after-tax dollars even if Voluntary After-tax Contributions are not permitted in the Plan. Any buy-back of amounts previously forfeited must be subject to uniform and nondiscriminatory rules that do not operate in favor of Highly Compensated Employees. Repayment of loans made to a Participant and buy-backs of cash-outs as described in Code Section 411(a)(7)(B) will not be considered Annual Additions as described in Regulations Section 1.415-6(b)(6). These amounts are not subject to the limitation contained in Code Section 401(m) in the year in which made, as they are not considered Annual Additions pursuant to Code Section 415.

# 4.2 Required After-tax Contributions

If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, each Eligible Participant shall be required to make Required After-tax Contributions to the Plan as a condition of participation in the Plan. Such contributions shall be withheld from the Employee's Compensation and shall be transmitted by the Employer to the Trustee and/or Custodian. A Participant may discontinue participation or change his or her contribution percentage in accordance with either an election on the Adoption Agreement or uniform and nondiscriminatory rules established by the Employer. If a Participant discontinues his or her contributions, such Participant may not again authorize such contributions until a change is permitted in accordance with uniform and nondiscriminatory rules established by the Employer. The Employer may reduce a Participant's contribution percentage if required to satisfy the ACP Test described in Article XI.

#### 4.3 **Qualified Voluntary Contributions**

A Participant may no longer make Qualified Voluntary Contributions to the Plan for taxable years beginning after December 31, 1986. Amounts already contributed may remain in the Plan until distributed to the Participant. Such amounts will be maintained in a separate account that will be nonforfeitable at all times. The account will share in the gains and losses of the Trust in the same manner as described at paragraph 5.5. No part of the Qualified Voluntary Contribution Plan account will be used to purchase life insurance. Subject to Article VIII, Joint and Survivor Annuity Requirements (if applicable), the Participant may withdraw any part of the Qualified Voluntary Contribution account by making written application to the Plan Administrator.

### 4.4 Rollover Contributions

Unless elected otherwise in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant/Employee may make a Rollover Contribution to a Defined Contribution Plan established hereunder of all or any part of an amount distributed or distributable to him or her from a Qualified Plan or any individual retirement account (IRA) qualified under Code Section 408 including one where the IRA was used as a conduit from a Qualified Plan provided:

- (a) the amount distributed to the Participant/Employee is deposited to the Plan no later than the sixtieth day after such distribution was received by the Participant/Employee,
- (b) the amount distributed is not one of a series of substantially equal periodic payments made for the life (or life expectancy) of the Participant/Employee or the joint lives (or joint life expectancies) of the Participant/Employee and the Participant's/Employee's Beneficiary, or for a specified period of ten (10) years or more,
  - (c) the amount distributed is not a required minimum distribution under Code Section 401(a)(9),
- (d) if the amount distributed included property, such property is rolled over only upon the Trustee, Custodian and/or Employer's approval, or if sold, the proceeds of such property may be rolled over,
- (e) the amount distributed would otherwise be includible in gross income (determined without regard to the exclusion for net unrealized appreciation with respect to Employer securities), and
- (f) unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, the amount rolled over does not include any amounts contributed on an after-tax basis by the Participant to the Qualified Plan.
- (g) If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, the Plan will accept Participant Rollover Contributions and/or Direct Rollovers of distributions made from the types of plans specified in the Adoption Agreement.

- (h) The Plan Administrator shall be held solely responsible for determining the tax-free status of any Rollover Contribution made to this Plan, and the Trustee and/or Custodian shall have no responsibility for any such determination.
- (i) A Participant or an Employee may arrange for the direct transfer of his or her entire benefit from another Qualified Plan to the Plan established hereunder. A terminated Participant may also arrange for Roth or transfer his or her benefit from another Qualified Plan to this Plan provided such Terminated Participant maintains an account balance in the Employers Plan and if permitted in the Employer's administrative policy. Such transfer shall be made for any reason and may be in cash and/or in-kind. The Employer, the Trustee and/or Custodian, if applicable, in their sole discretion shall have the right to refuse to accept a transfer for any reason including but not limited to the following reasons: that such assets do not comply operationally; the proposed transfer would result in a prohibited transaction; the assets are not readily marketable; or they are not compatible with the Employer's investment policy objectives. If necessary, for accounting and recordkeeping purposes, Transfer Contributions shall be treated in the same manner as Rollover Contributions.
- (j) In the event the Employer accepts a Transfer Contribution from a Plan in which the Participant or Employee was directing the investment of his or her account, the Employer may, if the Employer determines that it is appropriate and not in violation of the nondiscrimination rules under Regulation Section 1.401(a)(4)-4, permit the Participant or Employee to continue to direct his or her investments in accordance with paragraph 12.7 with respect only to such Transfer Contribution.
- (k) Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, to the extent that any optional form of benefit under the Plan established hereunder permits a distribution prior to the Employee's Normal Retirement Age, death, Disability, or severance from employment, and prior to Plan termination, the optional form of benefit is not available with respect to benefits attributable to assets (including the post-transfer earnings thereon) and liabilities that are transferred, within the meaning of Code Section 414, to this Plan from a money purchase pension plan qualified under Code Section 401(a) (other than any portion of those assets and liabilities attributable to Voluntary After-tax Contributions).
- (I) Unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, an Employee is not required to be a Participant in order to make a Rollover or Transfer Contribution.
- (m) If elected in the Adoption Agreement, the Plan shall accept a Direct Rollover from another Roth Elective Deferral Account under a retirement plan as described in Code Section 402A(e)(1). When a portion of a distribution is from a Roth Elective Deferral Account, the rollover of any such distribution pursuant to Code Section 402A(c)(3) must be accomplished through a Direct Rollover and can only be made to a plan qualified under Code Section 401(a) which agrees to separately account for the amount not includible in income. The transferring Plan shall report the amount of the investment in the contract (contributions as well as associated earnings) and the first year of the five (5) year period to the plan established hereunder. For purposes of this paragraph, the five (5) taxable year period of Plan participation is the period of five (5) consecutive taxable years that begins with the first day of the first taxable year in which the Participant makes a designated Roth Elective Deferral to any designated Roth Elective Deferral Account established for the Participant under the plan and ends when five (5) consecutive taxable years have been completed. For this purpose, the first taxable year in which a Participant makes a designated Roth Elective Deferral is the year in which the amount is first includible in the Participant's gross income.

# 4.5 Voluntary Direct Transfers Between Plans

A Participant or Employee shall be able to transfer amounts up to his or her entire benefit between qualified Defined Contribution Plans [other than a direct transfer described in Code Section 401(a)(31)] without regard to whether the Participant's benefit is immediately distributable or results in the elimination or reduction of Code Section 411(d)(6) protected benefits. Such a transfer does not violate Code Section 411(d)(6) if the following requirements are met:

- (a) The plan from which the benefits are transferred must provide that the transfer is conditioned upon a voluntary, fully informed election by the Participant to transfer his or her entire benefit to another qualified Defined Contribution Plan. As an alternative to the transfer, the Participant must be offered the opportunity to retain the Participant's Code Section 411(d)(6) protected benefits under the Plan [or if the Plan is terminating, to receive any optional form of benefit for which the Participant is eligible under the Plan as required by Code Section 411(d)(6)].
- (b) The transferring plan must be the same plan type as the Plan sponsored by the Employer. When benefits are being transferred from a qualified cash or deferred arrangement under Code Section 401(k), the benefits must be transferred to a qualified cash or deferred arrangement under Code Section 401(k). Money purchase pension plans must be transferred to money purchase pension plans. Benefits transferred from a profit-sharing plan other than a 401(k) plan or employee stock ownership plan may be transferred to any type of Defined Contribution Plan, even if the event is not one that allows a distribution.
- (c) This type of elective transfer is only available for transfers made on or after September 6, 2000, even if the transaction or change of employment occurred prior to that date.

- (d) If the conditions outlined in (a), (b), and (c) above are met, the Employer's Plan is not required to protect optional forms of benefits available under the prior plan with respect to any benefit transferred [except as required by the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity requirements under Code Sections 401(a)(11) and 417]. Such a transfer is not a protected optional form of benefit, but rather is a "right or feature" under Regulation Section 1.401(a)(4)-4(e).
- (e) When more than one Employer participates in this Plan, it is anticipated that an Employee may be transferred between Employers participating in the Plan, and in the event of any such transfer, the Employee involved shall carry with him his accumulated service and eligibility. No such transfer shall effect a termination of employment hereunder, and the Employer to whom the Employee is transferred shall thereupon become obligated hereunder with respect to such Employee in the same manner as was the Employer from whom the Employee was transferred.

## 4.6 Elective Deferrals In A 401(k) Plan

- (a) Elective Deferrals are Employer contributions made to the Plan at the election of the Participant in lieu of cash compensation. With respect to any taxable year, a Participant's Elective Deferrals are the sum of all Employer contributions made on behalf of such Participant pursuant to an election to defer under any qualified cash or deferred arrangement ("CODA") described in Code Section 401(k), any salary reduction simplified employee pension described in Code Section 408(k)(6), any SIMPLE IRA Plan described in Code Section 408(p), any Plan described under Code Section 501(c)(18), and any Employer contributions made on the behalf of a Participant for the purchase of an annuity contract under Code Section 403(b) pursuant to a salary reduction agreement. For Plan Years beginning after 2005, the term "Elective Deferrals" includes both pre-tax Elective Deferrals and Roth Elective Deferrals. Pre-tax Elective Deferrals are a Participant's Elective Deferrals that are not includible in the Participant's gross income at the time deferred. Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals shall not include any deferrals properly distributed as Excess Annual Additions.
- (b) A Participant may enter into a Salary Deferral Agreement with the Employer authorizing the Employer to withhold a portion of such Participant's Compensation not to exceed the dollar limit under Code Section 402(g), as adjusted under Code Section 415(d), for the Applicable Calendar Year, or the percentage or dollar amount of Compensation specified in the Adoption Agreement except to the extent permitted under paragraph 4.7 and Code Section 414(v), if applicable. The dollar limitation contained in Code Section 402(g) was \$15,000 for taxable years beginning in 2006. After 2006, this limit may be adjusted by the Secretary of the Treasury for cost-of-living increases under Code Section 402(g)(4).
  - (c) Any Salary Deferral Agreement may not be effective earlier than the latest date of the following:
    - (1) the date of the Participant's entry (or reentry) into the Plan;
    - (2) the execution of the Participant's Salary Deferral Agreement;
- (3) the date the Employer adopts the Cash or Deferred Profit-Sharing Plan by executing the Adoption Agreement;
- (4) the Effective Date of the Elective Deferral or Roth Elective Deferral provisions as specified in the Adoption Agreement;
- (5) the first Entry Date after the Participant becomes subject to the Plan's Automatic Enrollment Provisions.
- Any such contribution shall be credited to the Employee's Elective Deferral or Roth Elective Deferral account, whichever is applicable. A Participant may terminate deferrals at any time. A Participant may amend his or her Salary Deferral Agreement to increase or decrease his or her deferral percentage upon notice in accordance with the provisions in the Adoption Agreement or such other uniform and nondiscriminatory procedures. The Employer shall determine the permitted frequency of such changes, which shall be no less frequently than once each calendar year. Any such election will be effective as soon as practicable following the receipt of the notification by the Employer in accordance with uniform and nondiscriminatory procedures established and communicated to the Participants. The Participant shall notify the Employer of any change in his or her deferral election in writing or in such other form or manner as permitted. A Participant's election will remain in effect until superseded by another election. Except in the case of an In-Plan Roth Rollover (a Rollover to a Participant's Roth Elective Deferral Account from another account of the Participant in this Plan) Elective Deferrals contributed to the Plan as one type, either Roth or pre-tax, may not later be reclassified as the other type. The Employer may, notwithstanding any limit to the contrary in the Adoption Agreement, limit the maximum deferral percentage for any Employee including but not limited to Highly Compensated Employees. If a Participant terminates his or her agreement, such Participant shall be permitted to put a new Salary Deferral Agreement into effect as provided in the Adoption Agreement or any other uniform and nondiscriminatory procedures established. The Employer may also amend or terminate said agreement on notice to the affected Participant, if required to maintain the qualified status of the Plan.

- (e) If permitted by the Employer, a Participant who has not authorized the Employer to withhold the maximum annual deferral amount pursuant to Code Section 402(g) and who desires to increase the total amount withheld for a Plan Year may authorize the Employer to withhold a supplemental amount up to 100% of his or her Compensation for one or more pay periods. In no event may the amounts withheld under the Salary Deferral Agreement plus any additional amount deferred pursuant to this paragraph, exceed the lesser of 100% of a Participant's Compensation or any other limitation elected in the Adoption Agreement by the Employer.
- (f) If the Plan permits Voluntary After-tax Contributions and the Employer has elected in the Adoption Agreement that all or any portion of amounts previously withheld under any Salary Deferral Agreement may be recharacterized as Voluntary After-tax Contributions within the Plan Year, such Elective Deferrals may be so recharacterized.
- (g) Generally, Elective Deferrals and Roth Elective Deferrals shall be deposited in the Plan's Trust as soon as administratively feasible after being withheld from the Participant's Compensation at the earliest date on which the contributions can reasonably be segregated from the Employer's general assets, but no later than the time prescribed by the Code, ERISA or by applicable Treasury or Department of Labor Regulations. No contributions other than Roth Elective Deferrals, In-Plan Roth Rollovers and properly attributable earnings will be credited to each Participant's Roth Elective Deferral Account, and gains, losses and other credits or charges will be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to such account.
- (1) For purposes of this paragraph (g), in the case of a Plan with fewer than one hundred (100) Participants at the beginning of the Plan Year, any amount deposited with such Plan not later than the seventh (7<sup>th</sup>) business day following the day on which such amount is received by the Employer (in the case of amounts that a Participant or Beneficiary pays to an Employer), or the seventh (7<sup>th</sup>) business day following the day on which such amount would otherwise have been payable to the Participant in cash (in the case of amounts withhold by an Employer from a Participant's wages), shall be deemed to be contributed or repaid to such Plan on the earliest date on which such contributions (or Participant loan repayments) can reasonably be segregated from the Employer's general assets.
- (2) Paragraph (g)(1) sets forth an optional alternative method of compliance with the general rule set forth in paragraph (g). Paragraph (g)(1) does not establish the exclusive means by which Participant contributions or loan repayments shall be considered to be contributed or repaid to a Plan by the earliest date on which such contributions or repayments can reasonably be segregated from the Employer's general assets.
- (3) With respect to a Plan defined in ERISA Section 3(2), in no event shall the date determined pursuant to paragraph (g)(1) of this section occur later than the fifteenth (15<sup>th</sup>) business day of the month following the month in which the Participant contribution (or loan repayment) is received by the Employer (in the case of amounts that a Participant or Beneficiary pays to an Employer) or the fifteenth (15<sup>th</sup>) business day of the month following the month in which such amounts would otherwise have been payable to the participant in cash (in the case of amounts withheld by an Employer from a Participant's wages).
- (h) Except in the case of an In-Plan Roth Rollover (as defined at paragraph 6.12) Elective Deferrals contributed to the Plan as either pre-tax Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals may not be reclassified as the other type of deferral.
  - (i) Roth Elective Deferrals may be treated as Catch-Up Contributions.
- (j) Employer Contributions generally may not be deemed as Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals if they are remitted to the Trust before the payroll date associated with services rendered or before the services have been performed. An exception to the foregoing timing rule on deposits to the Trust is available where the earlier remittance of Elective Deferral or Roth Elective Deferral amounts is on account of bona fide administrative considerations (as more fully described in the Income Tax regulations), and that the timing of such remittance is not made for the principal purpose of accelerating deductions.

#### 4.7 **Catch-Up Contributions**

Employees who are eligible to make Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals under this Plan and who have attained age fifty (50) before the end of their taxable year shall be eligible to make Catch-Up Contributions in accordance with, and subject to the limitations of, Code Section 414(v). Such Catch-Up Contributions shall not be taken into account for purposes of the provisions of the Plan implementing the required limitations of Code Sections 402(g) and 415. The Plan shall not be treated as failing to satisfy the provisions of the Plan implementing the requirements of Code Section 401(k)(3), 401(k)(11), 401(k)(12), 410(b), or 416, as applicable, by reason of the making of such Catch-Up Contributions. "Catch-Up Contributions" are Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals made to the Plan that are in excess of an otherwise applicable Plan limit and that are made by Participants who are age fifty (50) or over by the end of their taxable years. An otherwise applicable Plan limit is a limit in the Plan that applies to Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals without regard to Catch-Up Contributions, such as the limits

on annual additions, the dollar limitation on Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals under Code Section 402(g) (not counting Catch-Up Contributions) and the limit imposed by the Actual Deferral Percentage (ADP) test under Code Section 401(k)(3). Catch-Up Contributions for a Participant for a taxable year may not exceed:

- (a) the dollar limit on Catch-Up Contributions under Code Section 414(v)(2)(B)(i) for the taxable year, or
- (b) when added to other Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals, seventy-five percent (75%) (or as elected on the Adoption Agreement) of the Participant's Compensation for taxable year.

The dollar limit on Catch-Up Contributions under Code Section 414(v)(2)(B)(i) was \$5,000 for taxable years beginning in 2006. After 2006, this limit may be adjusted by the Secretary of the Treasury for cost-of-living increases under Code Section 414(v)(2)(C). Different limits apply to Catch-Up Contributions under SIMPLE 401(k) Plans. Catch-Up Contributions are not subject to the limit on Annual Additions, are not counted in the ADP test and are not counted in determining the minimum allocation under Code Section 416 (but Catch-Up Contributions made in prior years are counted in determining whether the Plan is Top-Heavy). Provisions in the Plan relating to Catch-Up Contributions apply to Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals made after 2001.

# 4.8 Elective Deferrals In A SIMPLE 401(k) Plan

If the Employer has selected the SIMPLE 401(k) provisions in the Adoption Agreement, the following shall apply:

- (a) An Eligible Employee may enter into a Salary Deferral Agreement with the Employer authorizing the Employer to withhold a portion of such Eligible Employee's Compensation, not to exceed the limitation on Elective Deferrals in effect for the calendar year. The limitation on Elective Deferrals was \$10,500 for the taxable year ending 2006. After 2006, this limit may be adjusted by the Secretary of the Treasury for cost-of-living increases under Code Section 408(p)(2)(E). No Eligible Employee shall be permitted to make Elective Deferrals under this Plan, or any other Qualified Plan maintained by the Employer, during any taxable year in excess of the dollar limitation contained in Code Section 402(g) in effect in at the beginning of such taxable year. This limit may be reduced if an Eligible Employee contributes pre-tax contributions to Qualified Plans of other employers.
- (b) In addition to any other election periods provided, each Participant may make or modify his Salary Deferral Agreement during the sixty (60) day election period immediately preceding each January 1.
- (c) For the Plan Year in which an Eligible Employee becomes eligible to make Elective Deferrals under the SIMPLE 401(k) Plan provisions, the sixty (60) day election period requirement of paragraph 4.8(b) above is deemed satisfied if the Eligible Employee may make or modify a Salary Deferral Agreement election during a sixty (60) day period that includes either the date the Employee becomes eligible, or the day before.
- (d) An Eligible Employee may amend his or her Salary Deferral Agreement to increase or decrease the percentage upon proper and timely notice to the Employer. The Employer shall determine the permitted frequency of such changes. An Eligible Employee may terminate his or her Salary Deferral Agreement at any time during the Plan Year upon notice to the Employer. If an Eligible Employee terminates his or her Salary Deferral Agreement, such Eligible Employee will be permitted to execute a new Salary Deferral Agreement in accordance with the provisions elected in the Adoption Agreement or any other uniform and nondiscriminatory procedure. The Employer may also amend or terminate any Salary Deferral Agreement on notice to the affected Eligible Employee, if required to maintain the qualified status of the Plan.
- (e) If permitted by the Employer, a Participant who has not authorized the Employer to withhold at the maximum annual deferral amount and desires to increase the total amount withheld for a Plan Year, such Participant may authorize the Employer to withhold an amount up to 100% of his or her Compensation for one or more pay periods. In no such event may the amounts withheld under the Salary Deferral Agreement, plus any additional amount deferred pursuant to this paragraph, exceed the lesser of 100% of a Participant's Compensation. A Participant may terminate their Salary Deferral Agreement at any time.
- (f) Elective Deferrals shall be deposited in the Plan's Trust as soon as administratively feasible after being withheld from the Participant's Compensation at the earliest date on which the contributions can reasonably be segregated from the Employer's general assets but no later than the time prescribed by the Code, ERISA or by applicable Treasury or Department of Labor Regulations.
- (g) The Employer will notify each Eligible Employee prior to the sixty (60) day election period described in paragraph 4.8(b) that he or she can make an Elective Deferral or modify a prior election during that period.
- (h) The notification described in this subparagraph will indicate whether the Employer will provide a Matching Contribution described in paragraph 3.3(a) or a 2% Non-Elective Contribution described in paragraph 3.3(b).

- (i) The Plan is not treated as a Top-Heavy Plan under Code Section 416 for any Plan Year for which the SIMPLE 401(k) Plan provisions apply.
- (j) Except to the extent permitted under subparagraph (k) below, the Adoption Agreement, EGTRRA §631 and Code Section 414(v), the maximum salary reduction contribution that can be made to this Plan is the amount determined under Code Section 408(p)(2)(A)(ii) for the calendar year.
- (k) All Employees who are eligible to make Elective Deferrals under a SIMPLE 401(k) Plan and who have attained age fifty (50) before the end of the calendar year shall be eligible to make Catch-Up Contributions in accordance with, and subject to the limitations of, Code Section 414(v). Allowable Catch-Up Contributions were \$2,500 for the taxable year ending 2006. After 2006, this limit may be adjusted by the Secretary of the Treasury for cost-of living increases under Code Section 414(v)(2)(C). Catch-Up Contributions are otherwise treated the same as other Elective Deferrals. Such Catch-Up Contributions shall not be taken into account for purposes of the provisions of the Plan implementing the required limitations of Code Sections 401(k)(11), 408(p)(2)(A)(ii), 410(b) and 415(c) as applicable, by reason of the making of such Catch-Up Contributions.
- (I) The ADP and ACP tests described in Article XI are treated as satisfied for any Plan Year in which this paragraph applies.

# 4.9 Roth Elective Deferrals In A 401(k) Plan

If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, eligible Employees ("Participants") may make a designated Roth contribution to a 401(k) Plan as described in Code Section 402A. The term designated Roth contribution (which for purposes of this Plan shall also be referred to as a "Roth Elective Deferral") shall mean an Elective Deferral made under a qualified cash or deferred arrangement that qualifies as a "qualified" Roth contribution Plan pursuant to Code Section 402A(b) and, to the extent permitted under the Plan, is:

- (a) designated irrevocably by the Participant at the time of the cash or deferred election as a Roth Elective Deferral;
- (b) treated by the Employer as includible in the Participant's income at the time the Employee would have received the amount in cash if the Participant had not made the cash or deferred election (i.e., by treating the contributions as wages subject to applicable withholding requirements); and
  - (c) maintained by the Plan in a separate account.

Under the separate accounting requirement of this paragraph, contributions and withdrawals of Roth Elective Deferrals (including In-Plan Roth Rollovers) must be credited and debited to a Roth Elective Deferral Account maintained for the Participant who made the designation and the Plan must maintain a record of the Participant's investment in the contract (i.e., Roth Elective Deferrals that have not been distributed) with respect to the Participant's Roth Elective Deferral Account. In addition, gains, losses, and other credits or charges must be separately allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to the Roth Elective Deferral Account and other accounts under the Plan. Forfeitures may not be allocated to the Roth Elective Deferral Account. The separate accounting requirement applies at the time the Roth Elective Deferral is contributed to the Plan and must continue to apply until the Roth Elective Deferral Account is completely distributed. No contributions other than designated Roth Elective Deferrals, In-Plan Roth Rollovers, and Rollover Contributions described in Code Section 402A(c)(3)(B) are permitted to be allocated to a designated Roth Elective Deferral account.

A Roth Elective Deferral must satisfy the requirements applicable to Elective Deferrals made under a qualified cash or deferred arrangement. A Roth Elective Deferral must satisfy the requirements of Regulations Section 1.401(k)-1(c) and (d) and is treated as an Employer Contribution for purposes of Code Sections 401(a), 401(k), 402, 404, 409, 411, 412, 415, 416 and 417. Additionally, Roth Elective Deferrals are treated as Elective Deferrals for purposes of the ADP Test and are subject to the rules of Code Section 401(a)(9)(A) and (B) in the same manner as an account that contains pre-tax Elective Deferrals. The rules regarding the frequency of elections apply in the same manner to both pre-tax Elective Deferrals and designated Roth Elective Deferrals. Thus, an Employee must have an effective opportunity to make (or change) an election to make Roth Elective Deferrals at least once during each Plan Year.

The Employer may make Matching Contributions based on a Participant's Roth Elective Deferrals based on a formula elected in the Adoption Agreement. Matching Contributions shall not be allocated to any Roth Elective Deferral account. Any Matching Contribution shall be allocated to the Participant's Matching Contribution Account. Roth Elective Deferrals may be treated as Catch-Up Contributions.

# 4.10 Automatic Enrollment

(a) If the Employer so elects in the Adoption Agreement, each Employee eligible under the Employer's Code Section 401(k) cash or deferred arrangement shall automatically become a Participant in the Plan as of the first Entry Date after satisfying the Plan's eligibility requirements. The default deferral contributions are to be treated as

pre-tax Elective Deferrals. The Employer may elect in the Adoption Agreement to apply the automatic enrollment provisions to current Employees and Participants or only to Employees hired on or after the Effective Date of the adoption of or the amendment to the Plan providing for the automatic enrollment provisions. If the Employer elects the provision to apply to current Employees, the Employer will apply the automatic enrollment provision to Employees who have not made an affirmative election to defer an amount to the Plan, including a zero (0) amount.

- (b) After satisfying the Plan's eligibility requirements, each Employee will have his or her Compensation automatically reduced by the percentage elected in the Adoption Agreement. These amounts will be contributed to the Plan. An election by the Employee not to make Elective Deferrals or to contribute a different percentage may be made at any time. The election is effective for the first pay period and subsequent pay periods (until superseded by a subsequent election) if filed when the Employee is hired, or within a reasonable period thereafter ending before the Compensation for the first pay period is currently made available. In the event an Employee has Elective Deferrals withheld pursuant to this provision and no investment directive has been received, any cash received shall be invested as provided for in paragraph 13.7 herein or another appropriate vehicle. If an Employee elects to receive cash in lieu of Elective Deferrals and the election is made when the Employee is hired or within a reasonable period thereafter ending before the Compensation is currently available, then no Elective Deferrals for the first pay period or subsequent pay periods are made on the Employee's behalf to the Plan until the Employee makes a subsequent affirmative election to reduce his or her Compensation. Elections filed at a later date are effective as soon as administratively feasible pursuant to the election in the Adoption Agreement.
- (c) If so elected in the Adoption Agreement, for those current Participants who are deferring at a percentage or dollar amount less than the amount elected on the Adoption Agreement, the Employer will in the first payroll period after the effective date of the amendment reduce the Participant's Compensation by the difference between the Participant's current deferral election and the election as stated on the Adoption Agreement.
- (d) At the time an Employee is hired, the Plan Administrator shall provide the Employee a notice that explains the automatic enrollment provision. This notice will also explain the Employee's right to elect to have no such Elective Deferrals made to the Plan or to alter the amount of those contributions. This notice will include the procedure for exercising the right and the timing for implementation of any such election. The Plan Administrator shall provide each Participant in the Plan with an annual notice of his or her Elective Deferral percentage and each Participant's right to change the percentage, including the procedure for exercising that right and the timing for implementation of any such election. Prior to an Employee's automatic enrollment becoming effective, the Plan Administrator will provide such Employee with appropriate guidance as to the procedures then in effect, for the Employee to make alternative elections referenced above. Each Employee deferring Compensation pursuant to this paragraph shall be deemed to have consented to an Elective Deferral contribution in the amount specified by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, unless he/she has filed an election to the contrary with the Plan Administrator pursuant to the Plan's administrative procedures.
- (e) The Employer who has adopted the automatic enrollment provisions may adopt an administrative policy that increases the automatic deferral default amount each year in which the automatic enrollment provision is in effect. Unless the Employer specifies a different incremental amount, the automatic deferral default amount shall be no less than 3% in the first full year of a Participant's participation in the Plan, increasing to no less than 4% in the next following Plan Year, no less than 5% in the second following Plan Year, and no less than 6% in all subsequent years.

# 4.11 Qualified And Eligible Automatic Contribution Arrangements

- (a) **Qualified Automatic Contribution Arrangement (QACA)** Effective for Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2007, and if elected in the Adoption Agreement, the Employer will maintain a Qualified Automatic Contribution Arrangement for the purpose of satisfying the nondiscrimination requirements for Elective Deferrals and Matching Contributions under Code Sections 401(k) and 401(m). For purposes of the nondiscrimination requirements, a Qualified Automatic Contribution Arrangement is defined as any cash or deferred arrangement that satisfies certain requirements with respect to automatic deferrals, Matching or Non-Elective Contributions and timely notice to Employees.
- (1) The automatic deferral requirements are met if, under the arrangement, Employees are treated as having elected to have the Employer make Elective Deferrals equal to a qualified percentage of Compensation as elected on the Adoption Agreement which meets the safe harbor definition under Regulations Section 1.401(k)-3(b)(2). The qualified percentage cannot be more than 10% and must be equal to at least 3% of Compensation for the first Plan Year the deemed election applies to the Participant; 4% for the Plan Year beginning after the Plan Year containing the first anniversary of the Employee's participation in the Plan; 5% during the Plan Year beginning after the Plan Year containing the second anniversary of the Employee's participation in the Plan; and 6% for the Plan Year beginning after the Plan Year containing the third anniversary of the Employee's participation in the Plan and all subsequent Plan Years. The qualified percentage must be applied uniformly to all eligible Employees.

The Employer may elect to increase the minimum contribution midyear if (i) the percentage is uniform based on the number of Plan Years or portion of Plan Years since an Employee first had a default contribution made on his or her behalf and (ii) the minimum percentage requirement is satisfied for the entire Plan Year.

- (2) An Employee may affirmatively elect not to have such Elective Deferrals made on his or her behalf or to make the Elective Deferrals at a different level. Such election shall remain in effect until revoked or amended by the Participant. Employees eligible to participate in the automatic contribution arrangement (or a predecessor arrangement) immediately before the date on which the arrangement became a Qualified Automatic Contribution Arrangement and who had an election in effect to either participate at a certain percentage or not to participate, are not included in the meaning of eligible Employees for purposes of applying the automatic deferral provision. An election not to defer [i.e., the Employee has elected to contribute zero percent (0%)] is considered an affirmative election. Current Employees who have not made an election as to participate are treated as not having made an affirmative election.
- (3) The QACA Safe Harbor Employer Contribution is a Matching Contribution made to satisfy the nondiscrimination rules, equal to the sum of 100% of the Elective Deferrals of the Employee to the extent that such contributions do not exceed 1% of Compensation plus 50% of such Elective Deferrals that exceed 1% of Compensation. For purposes of this provision, the following requirements must also be satisfied:
- (i) Matching Contributions are not provided with respect to Elective Deferrals in excess of 6% of Compensation;
- (ii) the rate of Matching Contribution does not increase as the rate of an Employee's Elective Deferrals increases; and
- (iii) the rate of Matching Contribution with respect to any rate of Elective Deferral by a Highly Compensated Employee is no greater than the rate of Matching Contribution with respect to the same rate of Elective Deferral by a Non-Highly Compensated Employee.

Alternatively, the Matching Contribution requirements are met if the Employer makes a QACA Non-Elective Contribution to the Plan of at least 3% of an Employee's Compensation on behalf of each Employee who is eligible to participate in the Plan. A QACA Non-Elective Contribution cannot be taken into account when computing permitted disparity under Code Section 401(I).

- (4) In determining whether a Qualified Automatic Contribution Arrangement satisfies the nondiscrimination requirements with respect to Employer Contributions, including Matching Contributions, any Employee who has completed at least two (2) Years of Service must have a nonforfeitable right to 100% of the Employee's accrued benefit from the Employer contributions. In addition, QACA Safe Harbor Matching or Non-Elective Contributions are subject to the withdrawal rules applicable to Elective Deferrals and cannot be withdrawn prior to age 59½ or be used for Hardship withdrawal purposes. A Defined Contribution Plan is treated as meeting the requirements of Code Section 401(m)(2) with respect to Matching Contributions if the Plan is a Qualified Automatic Contribution Arrangement as defined herein and in Code Section 401(k)(13) and meets the limitation on Matching Contributions requirements of Code Section 401(k)(11)(B).
- (5) If an Employee is rehired following a termination of employment lasting longer than an entire Plan Year, the Plan Administrator may enroll the Employee at the applicable minimum contribution percentage applicable to an Employee's initial participation under the Plan, regardless of the percentage applicable to the rehired Employee at the time of his or her termination. If a terminated Employee is reemployed before a full Plan Year has passed, QACA contributions shall resume at the minimum contribution percentage applicable to the Employee based on the number of Plan Years or portions of Plan Years since the date the Employee first had default contributions made under the QACA.
- (b) *Eligible Automatic Contribution Arrangement (EACA)* Effective for Plan Years beginning on or after January 1, 2008, the Employer may elect in the Adoption Agreement to comply with the Eligible Automatic Contribution Arrangement (EACA) rules of Code Section 414(w). For Plan Years beginning on or after January 1, 2008 but prior to January 1, 2010, this Plan could operate in accordance with a good-faith interpretation of the EACA rules.
- (1) An Eligible Automatic Contribution Arrangement is defined as an arrangement under which a Participant may elect to have the Employer make payments as contributions under the Plan or to the Participant directly in cash, under which the Participant is treated as having elected to have the Employer make such contributions in an amount equal to a uniform percentage of Compensation provided under the Plan until the Participant affirmatively elects through a procedure established by the Plan Administrator to have such contributions made (or specifically elects to have such contributions made at a different percentage), and under which Participants are provided a notice that meets the requirements of Code Section 414(w)(4). A uniform contribution rate must apply

to the automatic contributions for all Employees under the Plan. For this purpose, all plans of the Employer required to be aggregated under Code Section 410(b) are considered to be one arrangement. The determination of whether an election is made no later than ninety (90) days after the date of the first default Elective Deferral under the EACA must take into account any other EACA that is required to be aggregated with the EACA under the rules of Regulations Section 1.414(w)-1(b)(2)(iii).

- (2) The Employer must provide Employees with a notice [as explained at 4.11(c) below] describing the EACA provisions and the ability to opt out of the Plan or to modify the automatic contribution amount.
- Participants may be automatically enrolled in an EACA provided such Participant may elect if permitted by the Plan Administrator to withdraw the automatic contribution within ninety (90) days [or such other period of time which shall be no shorter than thirty (30) days] of participation without being subject to the premature distribution penalty. A "permissible withdrawal" is defined as any withdrawal from an EACA that is made pursuant to an Employee's election and consists of Elective Deferrals and earnings or losses attributable to those contributions. Any such withdrawal shall be made in accordance with the Plan's ordinary timing procedures for processing and paying distributions. The Plan may also charge a fee for processing such a withdrawal which can be no more than the fee which applies to any other type of distribution. However, if no fee is imposed for distributions, then no such fee may be imposed on such withdrawal. Permissible withdrawals of erroneous contributions are included in the Employee's gross income in the year of the distribution. The premature distribution penalty under Code Section 72(t) is not imposed with respect to the distribution and the arrangement is not treated as violating any restriction on distributions by allowing the withdrawal. With respect to distributions to an Employee as a result of this election, Employer Matching Contributions are forfeited or subject to other treatment that the IRS may prescribe. The amount treated as an erroneous contribution is limited to the amount of automatic contributions made during the ninety (90) day (or such shorter) period that the Employee elects to treat as an erroneous contribution and must be made within ninety (90) days (or such shorter period) of the first Elective Deferral with respect to the Employee under the arrangement and must be effective no later than the earlier of (A) the pay date for the second payroll period that begins after the date the election is made; and (B) the first pay date that occurs at least thirty (30) days after the election is made. For purposes of determining the date of the first default Elective Deferral that triggers the ninety (90) day (or such shorter) election period, the Plan is permitted to treat Employees who did not have default Elective Deferrals for an entire Plan Year as if the Employee had never had such contributions for any prior Plan Year. A permissible withdrawal under this paragraph shall not be treated as an Eligible Rollover Distribution.
- QACA And EACA Notice Requirements Within a reasonable period prior to the beginning of each Plan Year, each Employee covered by a QACA or an EACA must receive a notice explaining the Employee's rights and obligations under the arrangement. The notice must be sufficiently accurate and comprehensive to inform the Employee of such rights and obligations by being written in a manner that is understandable by the average Employee to whom the arrangement applies and remain in effective for an entire twelve (12) month Plan Year. The reasonable time requirement is satisfied if the Employer provides such notice at least thirty (30) days and no more than ninety (90) days before the beginning of the Plan Year. In the case of an Employee who becomes eligible after the 90<sup>th</sup> day before the beginning of the Plan Year, the timing requirement is satisfied if the notice is provided no more than ninety (90) days before the Employee becomes eligible for the cash or deferred arrangement (and no later than the date the Employees becomes a Participant. However, if it is not practicable for the notice to be provided on or before this date, the notice must be provided as soon as practicable after that date and the Employee is permitted to elect to defer from all types of Compensation that may be deferred under the Plan earned beginning on that date). The Plan shall comply with all applicable notice requirements as specified under the Regulations as may be amended from time to time. The notice must explain the Employee's right under the arrangement to elect not to have Elective Deferrals made on the Employee's behalf or to elect to have contributions made in a different amount, and how contributions made under the arrangement will be invested in the absence of any affirmative investment election by the Employee. The Employee must be given a reasonable period of time after receipt of such notice and before the first Elective Deferral is made to make the election with respect to contributions and investments. A QACA will not permit the Plan to make any default Elective Deferral effective any later than the earlier of (A) the pay date for the second payroll period that begins after the date the notice is provided; and (B) the first pay date that occurs at least thirty (30) days after the notice is provided. If an Employer fails to provide a timely notice, the Plan will not be a QACA for the affected Plan Year and an EACA will not be eligible to use the ninety (90) day withdrawal provision and the six (6) month extension for distributing Excess Contributions or Excess Aggregate Contributions, and may be subject to penalties.

The Plan may but is not required to provide for an expiration of a Participant's affirmative election and subsequently automatically enroll an Employee who fails to make a second affirmative election after the expiration occurs through a procedure established by the Plan Administrator.

(d) **Rules Of Application -** Default Elective Deferrals will be made on behalf of eligible Employees who do not have an affirmative election in effect regarding Elective Deferrals. The amount of Default Elective Deferrals made for a Covered Participant each pay period is equal to the Default Percentage specified in the Adoption Agreement multiplied by the Covered Participant's Compensation for that pay period. If the Employer has so elected in the Adoption Agreement, a Covered Participant's Default Percentage will increase as indicated by the

formula selected in the Adoption Agreement. The increase will be effective beginning with the first pay period that begins in such Plan Year or, if elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, the first pay period in such Plan Year that begins on or after the date specified in the Adoption Agreement.

A Covered Participant will have a reasonable opportunity after receipt of the Notice described in paragraph 4.11(g) to make an affirmative election regarding Elective Deferrals (either to have no Elective Deferrals made or to have a different amount of Elective Deferrals made) before Default Elective Deferrals are made on the Covered Participant's behalf. Default Elective Deferrals made on behalf of a Covered Participant will cease as soon as administratively feasible after the Covered Participant makes an affirmative election.

# (e) **Definitions** –

- (1) An Eligible Automatic Contribution Arrangement ("EACA") is an Automatic Contribution Arrangement that satisfies the uniformity requirement in paragraph 4.11(f) and the notice requirement in paragraph 4.11(g).
- (2) An Automatic Contribution Arrangement ("ACA") is an arrangement under which, in the absence of an affirmative election by a Covered Participant, a certain percentage of Compensation will be withheld from the Covered Participant's pay and contributed to the Plan as an Elective Deferral.
- (3) A "Covered Participant" is a Plan Participant identified in the Adoption Agreement as being covered under an Automatic Contribution Arrangement (ACA) including an Eligible Automatic Contribution Arrangement (EACA).
- (4) "Default Elective Deferrals" are the Elective Deferrals contributed to the Plan under an Automatic Contribution Arrangement including an EACA on behalf of Covered Participants who do not have an affirmative election in effect regarding Elective Deferrals.
- (5) The "Default Percentage" is the percentage of a Covered Participant's Compensation contributed to the Plan as a Default Elective Deferral for the Plan Year. The Default Percentage is specified in the Adoption Agreement.
- (f) **Uniformity Requirements** Except as provided in paragraph 4.11(g)(2) below, if the Employer has elected an increasing Default Percentage in the Adoption Agreement, the same percentage of Compensation will be withheld as Default Elective Deferrals from all Covered Participants Compensation subject to the Default Percentage. Default Elective Deferrals will be reduced or stopped to meet the limitations under Code Sections 401(a)(17), 402(g) and 415 and to satisfy any suspension period required after a distribution.
- (g) **Notice Requirement** At least thirty (30) days, but not more than ninety (90) days, before the beginning of the Plan Year, the Employer will provide each Covered Participant a comprehensive notice of the Covered Participant's rights and obligations under an Automatic Contribution Arrangement including an EACA, written in a manner calculated to be understood by the average Covered Participant. If an Employee becomes a Covered Participant after the ninetieth (90<sup>th</sup>) day before the beginning of the Plan Year and does not receive the notice for that reason, the notice will be provided no more than ninety (90) days before the Employee becomes a Covered Participant but not later than the date the Employee becomes a Covered Participant. The notice must accurately describe:
- (1) the amount of Default Elective Deferrals that will be made in the absence of an affirmative election:
- (2) if elected in the Adoption Agreement, the Covered Participant's right to elect to have no Default Elective Deferrals made on his or her behalf or to have a different amount of Elective Deferrals made;
- (3) how Default Elective Deferrals will be invested in the absence of the Covered Participant's investment instructions; and
- (4) if elected in the Adoption Agreement, the Covered Participant's right to make a withdrawal of Default Elective Deferrals and the procedures for making such a withdrawal.

# (h) Withdrawal Of Default Elective Deferrals -

(1) If elected in the Adoption Agreement, no later than ninety (90) days after the Default Elective Deferrals are first withheld from a Covered Participant's Compensation, the Covered Participant may request a distribution of his or her Default Elective Deferrals. No spousal consent is required for a withdrawal under this paragraph.

- (2) The amount to be distributed from the Plan upon the Covered Participant's request is equal to the amount of Default Elective Deferrals made through the earlier of (a) the pay date for the second payroll period that begins after the Covered Participant's withdrawal request and (b) the first pay date that occurs after thirty (30) days after the Covered Participant's request, plus attributable earnings through the date of distribution. Any fee charged to the Covered Participant for the withdrawal may not be greater than any other fee charged for a cash distribution.
- (3) Unless the Covered Participant affirmatively elects otherwise, any withdrawal request will be treated as an affirmative election to stop having Elective Deferrals made on the Covered Participant's behalf as of the date specified in paragraph 4.11(h)(2) above.
- (4) Default Elective Deferrals distributed pursuant to this paragraph 4.11(h)(4) are not counted towards the dollar limitation on Elective Deferrals contained in Code Section 402(g) nor for the ADP Test. Matching Contributions that might otherwise be allocated to a Covered Participant's account on behalf of Default Elective Deferrals will not be allocated to the extent the Covered Participant withdraws such Elective Deferrals pursuant to this 4.11(h) and any Matching Contribution already made on account of Default Elective Deferrals that are later withdrawn pursuant to paragraph 4.11(h) will be forfeited.

# 4.12 Make-Up Contributions Under USERRA

A Participant who has the right to make-up Elective Deferrals, Roth Elective Deferrals, Voluntary After-tax Contributions and/or Required After-tax Contributions under USERRA shall be permitted to increase his or her Elective Deferral with respect to a make-up year without regard to any provision limiting contributions for such Plan Year. Make-up contributions shall be limited to the maximum amount permitted under the Plan and the statutory limitations applicable with respect to the make-up year. Employee-related make-up contributions must be made within the time period beginning on the date of reemployment and continuing for the lesser of five (5) years or three (3) times the period of military service.

# ARTICLE V PARTICIPANT ACCOUNTS

#### 5.1 Separate Accounts

The Plan Administrator or its agent shall establish a separate recordkeeping account for each Participant showing the fair market value of his or her Plan benefits. Each Participant's account may be separated for recordkeeping purposes into the following sub-accounts:

- (a) Employer contributions:
  - (1) Non Safe-Harbor Matching Contribution Formula 1
  - (2) Non Safe-Harbor Matching Contribution Formula 2
  - (3) Non Safe-Harbor Matching Contribution Formula 3
  - (4) Qualified Matching Contributions
  - (5) Qualified Non-Elective Contributions
  - (6) Non-Elective Contributions Formula 1
  - (7) Non-Elective Contributions Formula 2
  - (8) Non-Elective Contributions Formula 3
  - (9) Safe Harbor Matching Contributions
  - (10) Safe Harbor Non-Elective Contributions
  - (11) Davis-Bacon Contributions
  - (12) SIMPLE 401(k) Matching Contributions
  - (13) SIMPLE 401(k) Non-Elective Contributions
  - (14) Money Purchase Pension Plan Contributions
- (b) Employee contributions:
  - (1) Voluntary After-tax Contributions
  - (2) Qualified Voluntary Contributions
  - (3) Elective Deferrals (other than Roth Elective Deferrals)
  - (4) Roth Elective Deferrals
  - (5) Required After-tax Contributions
  - (6) Rollover Contributions
  - (7) In-Plan Roth Rollover Contributions
  - (8) Transfer Contributions
  - (9) Elective Deferrals in a SIMPLE 401(k) Plan
  - (10) Deemed Traditional IRA Contributions
  - (11) Deemed Roth IRA Contributions

#### 5.2 Valuation Date

The Trustee shall value the Trust at the fair market value as of each Valuation Date and those Valuation Dates elected in the Adoption Agreement or as directed in writing by the Plan Administrator.

The fair market value of securities listed on a registered stock exchange will be the prices at which they were last traded on such exchange preceding the close of business on the Valuation Date. If the securities were not traded on the Valuation Date, or if the exchange on which they are traded was not open for business on the Valuation Date, then the securities will be valued at the prices at which they were last traded prior to the Valuation Date. Any unlisted security will be valued at its bid price next preceding the close of business on the Valuation Date, which bid price will be obtained from a registered broker or an investment banker. To determine the fair market value of assets other than securities for which trading or bid prices can be obtained, the Trustee may use any reasonable method to determine the value of such assets, or may elect to employ one or more appraisers for that purpose and rely on the values established by such appraiser or appraisers.

All allocations for a particular Plan Year will be made as of the last Valuation Date(s) of that Plan Year or such other dates determined by the Plan Administrator.

#### 5.3 Allocations To Participant Accounts

As of each Valuation Date elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement and/or on any date within the allocation period selected in writing by the Plan Administrator, each Participant's account shall be adjusted to reflect:

- (a) the Participant's share of the Employer's contribution and forfeitures as determined in the Adoption Agreement,
  - (b) any Employee contributions,
- (c) any repayment of amounts previously distributed to a Participant upon a separation from Service and repaid by the Participant since the last Allocation Date,
- (d) the Participant's proportionate share of any investment earnings and increase in the fair market value of the Trust since the last Allocation Date, and
  - (e) loan repayments of principal and interest.

The Employer shall deduct from each account:

- (f) any withdrawals or payments made from the Participant's account since the last Allocation Date,
- (g) the Participant's proportionate share of any decrease in the fair market value of the Trust since the last allocation Date, and
  - (h) the Participant's proportionate or "per capita" share of any fees and expenses paid from the Plan.

## 5.4 Allocating Employer Contributions

- (a) The Employer must specify in the Adoption Agreement the manner in which the Employer's contribution shall be allocated to Participants including any minimum contribution for Top-Heavy Plans. Employer contributions shall be allocated to all Participants eligible to receive a contribution as provided in the Adoption Agreement.
- (b) Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, Participants will accrue the right to share in allocations of Employer contributions with respect to periods of qualified military service as provided in Code Section 414(u).
- (c) Allocation of Employer contributions and/or forfeitures will not be discontinued or decreased due to a Participant's attainment of any age.
- (d) At the end of each Plan Year the Plan Administrator shall redetermine any Matching Contribution for each Participant based on his or her eligible annual Compensation in accordance with the Matching Contribution formula elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement. Any Participant for whom any Matching Contribution has not been sufficiently made in accordance with the Matching Contribution formula elected by the Employer shall receive an additional Matching Contribution so that the total annual deferrals (whether pre-tax or after-tax) reflected as a percentage of eligible annual Compensation are matched in accordance with the Matching Contribution formula ("true-up" of Matching Contributions) selected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement. If no election is made in the Adoption Agreement, no true-up of Matching Contributions will occur.

### 5.5 Allocating Investment Earnings And Losses

Account balances are adjusted to reflect actual income and investment gains and losses from the period beginning on the day following the last Valuation Date and ending on the current Valuation Date. Each Participant's account shall receive a proportionate share of the actual income and investment gains and losses during the period. The

value of accounts for allocation purposes shall be based on the value of all Participant accounts (without regard to any portion of any such account attributable to segregated investments) as of the last Valuation Date less withdrawals, distributions and expenses plus any contributions including deferrals (whether pre-tax or after-tax) if any, paid from the Trust since the last Valuation Date. Investment gains and losses shall be credited to all Participant accounts having a balance on the Valuation Date regardless of the vested status of such account and regardless of the Participant's employment status. The Plan Administrator shall also have the right to adopt an alternative procedure for allocating income and investment gains and losses provided that such alternative procedure is uniform and does not discriminate in favor of Highly Compensated Employees. Any change in procedure shall be effective as of the next following Valuation Date or such other date as agreed to by the Employer and the Plan Administrator. Accounts with segregated investments shall receive the income or loss on such segregated investments. Investment gains or losses are determined separately for each investment alternative offered under the Plan.

- (a) The value of a Participant's account invested in a mutual fund (Registered Investment Company) will equal the value of a share in such fund multiplied by the number of shares credited to the Participant's account.
- (b) In the case of any pooled investment vehicle, earnings, gains or losses on the pooled investment vehicle will be allocated among the Participant's accounts in proportion to the value of each Participant's account invested in that investment vehicle immediately prior to the Valuation Date. The gain or loss attributed to each investment vehicle will be credited to or charged against the Participants' account. Alternatively, the Plan Administrator or his designate may establish unit values for each pooled investment vehicle offered under the Plan in accordance with uniform procedures established by the Plan Administrator for this purpose. The value of the portion of a Participant's account invested in a pooled investment vehicle will equal the value of a unit in such investment vehicle multiplied by the number of units credited to the account.
- (c) In the case of any investment that is held specifically for a Participant's account, any gain or loss on such investment will be charged or credited to that Participant's account.

# 5.6 Allocation Adjustments

The Plan Administrator or his designate, if applicable, shall have the right to redetermine the value of Participant accounts if a previous allocation or valuation was performed incorrectly. Such redetermination shall be made without regard to the reason for the incorrect allocation. Such reasons may include, but are not limited to, incorrect contribution or Employee information provided by the Employer or representative of the Employer, incorrect valuation of Plan assets, incorrect determination of investment income and gains or losses, improper interpretation of the Plan's allocation formulas or procedures, erroneous omission of Top-Heavy minimum contributions and failure to transmit, receive or interpret amendments to the allocation formulas, methods or procedures. Subject to express limits that may be imposed under the Code, the Plan Administrator reserves the right to delay the processing of any contribution, distribution or other transaction for any legitimate business reason (including, but not limited to, failure of systems or computer programs, failure of means of transmission of data, *force majeure*, the failure of any Service Provider to timely receive values or prices, or to correct for its errors or omissions, or the errors or omissions of any Service Provider). After having made any necessary adjustments, the Plan Administrator or his designate, if applicable, may issue either revised or adjusted statements to Participants with an explanation of the allocation adjustments.

# 5.7 Participant Statements

The Plan Administrator shall prepare a statement for each Participant not less frequently than annually. Statements may be prepared more frequently, as may be agreed between the Plan Administrator and the Service Provider or other entity responsible for the maintenance of Plan records or for valuing Plan assets. Each statement shall show the additions to and subtractions from the Participant's account for the period since the last such statement and shall show the fair market value of the Participant's account as of the current statement date.

# 5.8 Changes In Method And Timing Of Valuing Participants' Accounts

If necessary or appropriate, the Plan Administrator may establish different or additional uniform and nondiscriminatory procedures for determining the fair market value of Participant's accounts under the Plan.

# 5.9 Roth Elective Deferral Account

The Roth Elective Deferral account is the required separate account maintained to record the contribution and withdrawal of a Participant's Roth Contributions and other adjustments as required by the Plan. Forfeitures may not be allocated to a Roth Elective Deferral Account and no contributions other than designated Roth Elective Deferrals will be allocated. If elected in the Adoption Agreement, Direct Rollover contributions described in Code Section 402A(c)(3) are permitted to be allocated to the Roth Elective Deferral Account. Each Participant's Roth Elective Deferral Account shall continue to be maintained and administered separately until it is completely distributed. Income, losses and other credits or charges must be separately allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to the Participant's Roth Elective Deferral Account and other accounts under the Plan to ensure that the Roth Elective Deferral account maintains a record of the Participant's interest in the Plan.

# ARTICLE VI RETIREMENT BENEFITS AND DISTRIBUTIONS

### 6.1 Normal Retirement Benefits

A Participant shall be entitled to receive the balance held in his or her account upon retiring after attaining his or her Normal Retirement Age or at such earlier dates as the provisions of this Article VI and the Adoption Agreement may permit. If a Participant elects to continue working past his or her Normal Retirement Age, he or she will continue as an active Participant. If the Employer elects otherwise in the Adoption Agreement, distribution shall be made to such Participant at his or her request prior to his or her actual retirement. Distribution shall be made in the normal form, or if elected, in one of the optional forms of payment provided in the Adoption Agreement.

### 6.2 Early Retirement Benefits

If elected in the Adoption Agreement, an Early Retirement benefit may be available to individuals who meet the age and Service requirements that are specified in the Adoption Agreement. A Participant who attains his or her Early Retirement Date will become fully vested, regardless of any vesting schedule which otherwise might apply. If a Participant separates from Service with a nonforfeitable benefit before satisfying the age requirements, but after having satisfied the Service requirement, the Participant will be entitled to elect an Early Retirement benefit upon satisfaction of the age requirement.

### 6.3 **Benefit Upon Death**

Upon the death of a Participant prior to termination of employment, or upon the death of a terminated Participant prior to distribution of his or her Vested Account Balance, his or her Beneficiary will be entitled to the Participant's Vested Account Balance determined as of the most recent Valuation Date coinciding with or immediately preceding the date of distribution. A Participant who dies prior to attainment of Normal Retirement Age but before termination of employment will become fully vested, regardless of any vesting schedule which otherwise might apply. If any Beneficiary who is alive on the date of the Participant's death dies before receiving the entire death benefit to which he or she is entitled, the balance of the death benefit will be distributed to the Beneficiary's Beneficiary in accordance with paragraph 7.6. The Plan Administrator's determination that a Participant has died and that a particular person has a right to receive a death benefit will be final. Distribution will be made in accordance with paragraph 7.6.

Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, contributions, benefits and service credit with respect to qualified military service will be provided in accordance with Code Section 414(u). In addition, the survivors of any Participant who dies on or after January 1, 2007, while performing qualified military service, are entitled to any additional benefits (other than contributions relating to the period of qualified military service, but including vesting service credit for such period and any ancillary life insurance or other survivor benefits) that would have been provided under the Plan had the Participant resumed employment on the day preceding the Participant's death and then terminated employment on account of death.

# 6.4 **Benefit Upon Disability**

If a Participant suffers a Disability prior to termination of employment and terminates employment with the Employer as a result of that Disability, or if a terminated Participant suffers a Disability prior to a distribution of his or her Vested Account Balance, he or she will be entitled to his or her Vested Account Balance determined as of the most recent Valuation Date coinciding with or immediately preceding the date of distribution. A Participant who retires prior to attainment of Normal Retirement Age but before termination of employment on account of a Disability will become fully vested, regardless of any vesting schedule which otherwise might apply.

# 6.5 **Benefits On Termination Of Employment**

- (a) If a Participant terminates employment prior to Normal Retirement Age, such Participant shall be entitled to receive the vested balance held in his or her account payable at Normal Retirement Age in the normal form, or if elected, in one of the other forms of payment provided hereunder and by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement. If applicable, the Early Retirement benefit provisions may be elected. Notwithstanding the preceding, a former Participant may, if allowed in the Adoption Agreement, make application to the Employer requesting early payment of any deferred vested and nonforfeitable benefit due.
- (b) For purposes of this Article, if the value of a Participant's Vested Account Balance is zero, the Participant shall be deemed to have received a distribution of such Vested Account Balance immediately following termination. If the Participant is reemployed prior to incurring five (5) consecutive one (1) year Breaks in Service or Periods of Severance, he or she will be deemed to have immediately repaid such distribution. Notwithstanding the above, if the Employer maintains or has maintained a policy of not distributing any amounts until the Participant's Normal Retirement Age, the Employer can continue to uniformly apply such policy.
- (c) If a Participant who is not 100% vested receives or is deemed to receive a distribution pursuant to this paragraph and resumes employment covered under this Plan, the Participant shall have the right to repay to the Plan the full amount of the distribution attributable to both Employer Contributions and Employee Contributions including Elective Deferrals and/or Roth Elective Deferrals on or before the earlier of the date the Participant incurs

five (5) consecutive one (1) year Breaks in-Service following the date of distribution or five (5) years after the first date on which the Participant is subsequently reemployed. In such event, the Participant's account shall be restored to the value thereof at the time the distribution was made. The account may be further increased by the Plan's income and investment gains and/or losses on the undistributed amount from the date of the distribution to the date of repayment.

- (d) If a Participant terminates employment with a Vested Account Balance greater than \$5,000, and elects (with his or her Spouse's consent, if required) to receive 100% of the value of his or her Vested Account Balance in a lump sum, the non-vested portion will be treated as a forfeiture. The Participant (and his or her Spouse, if required) must consent to any distribution when the Vested Account Balance described above exceeds \$5,000.
- (e) A Participant whose Vested Account Balance is greater than \$5,000 shall have the option to postpone payment of his or her Plan benefits until his or her Required Beginning Date. If elected in the Adoption Agreement, any balance in a Participant's account resulting from his or her Employee contributions listed at paragraph 5.1(b), not previously withdrawn, may be withdrawn by the Participant immediately following separation from Service.
- (f) Unless elected otherwise in the Adoption Agreement, if a Participant's Vested Account Balance is \$1,000 or less, after the Participant's Severance from Employment, the distributions shall be in a lump sum and any non-vested amounts shall be immediately forfeited. Such distribution shall be paid to the Participant as soon as practicable after complying with the Federal tax withholding rules without the need for spousal consent. Terminated Participants receiving an involuntary distribution of \$200 or more must be notified of their right to have such amounts directly rolled over to an IRA or Qualified Plan of their choosing.

If elected in the Adoption Agreement, when a terminating Participant or Employee does not make a timely election with respect to the cash-out distribution of amounts greater than \$1,000 but less than or equal to \$5,000, [pursuant to Code Sections 411(a)(7), 411(a)(11) and 417(e)(7)], the Plan Administrator shall make a Direct Rollover into an individual retirement account or annuity ("IRA"). The Plan Administrator will select the IRA trustee or custodian, establish the IRA, and make the initial IRA investment selection.

If elected in the Adoption Agreement, when the Participant does not elect to have such distribution paid directly to an Eligible Retirement Plan, as specified by the Participant, or does not elect to receive the distribution directly, the Plan Administrator shall pay the distribution in a Direct Rollover to an individual retirement plan that is designated by the Plan Administrator and is communicated to the Plan Participant. The extent to which Rollover Contributions will be included or excluded in determining the value of the Participant's Vested Account Balance for purposes of the Plan's involuntary cash-out rules will be governed by the election made in the Adoption Agreement. Rollover Contributions will always be considered in determining if the \$1,000 automatic rollover threshold has been exceeded.

If elected in the Adoption Agreement, the value of a Participant's nonforfeitable account balance shall be determined without regard to that portion of the account balance that is attributable to Rollover Contributions (and the earnings allocable thereto) within the meaning of Code Sections 402(c), 403(a)(4), 403(b)(8), 408(d)(3)(A)(ii) and 457(e)(16). If the value of the Participant's nonforfeitable account balance as so determined is \$5,000 or less, the Plan shall immediately distribute the Participant's entire nonforfeitable account balance, subject to this paragraph. Eligible Rollover Distributions from a Participant's Roth Elective Deferral Account are taken into consideration in determining whether the total amount of the Participant's account balances under the Plan exceeds the \$1,000 threshold for purposes of mandatory distributions from the Plan.

(g) If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, this paragraph shall apply for distributions and severances from employment occurring after the dates specified in the Adoption Agreement.

A Participant's Elective Deferrals, Roth Elective Deferrals, Qualified Non-Elective Contributions, Qualified Matching Contributions, and earnings attributable to these contributions shall be distributed on account of the Participant's Severance from Employment. However, such a distribution shall be subject to the other provisions of the Plan regarding distributions, other than provisions that require a Severance from Employment before such amounts may be distributed.

(h) A Direct Rollover of a distribution from a Roth Elective Deferral Account under this Plan will be made to another Roth Elective Deferral Account under an applicable retirement plan described in Code Section 402A(e)(1) or to a Roth IRA described in Code Section 408A, and only to the extent the rollover is permitted under Code Section 402(c).

The Plan shall not provide for a Direct Rollover (including an automatic rollover) of distributions from a Participant's Roth Elective Deferral Account if the amount of the distributions that are Eligible Rollover Distributions are reasonably expected to total less than \$200 during a year. In addition, any distribution from a Participant's Roth Elective Deferral Account are not taken into consideration in determining whether distributions from a Participant's other accounts are reasonably expected to total less than \$200 during a year.

(i) If the Plan permits partial distributions, a Participant shall be permitted to designate all or any portion of such distribution to be from the Roth Elective Deferral Account. This provision does not apply to a return of Excess Contribution or a distribution of Excess Elective Deferrals.

#### 6.6 Restrictions On Immediate Distributions

- (a) An account balance is immediately distributable if any part of the account balance could be distributed to the Participant (or Surviving Spouse) before the Participant attains (or would have attained if not deceased) the later of the Normal Retirement Age or age sixty-two (62).
- (b) If payment in the form of a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity is required and the value of a Participant's Vested Account Balance exceeds \$5,000, or there are remaining payments to be made with respect to a particular distribution option that previously commenced, and the account balance is immediately distributable, the Participant and his or her Spouse (or where either the Participant or the Spouse has died, the survivor) must consent to any distribution of such account balance.
- (c) If payment in the form of a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity is not required with respect to a Participant and the value of a Participant's Vested Account Balance exceeds \$5,000, and the account balance is immediately distributable, only the Participant must consent to any distribution of such account balance.
- (d) The consent of the Participant and/or the Spouse shall be obtained in writing or in such other form accepted by the Plan Administrator within the 180 day period [ninety (90) day period for Plan Years beginning before January 1, 2007] ending on the Annuity Starting Date, which is the first day of the first period for which an amount is paid as an annuity or in any other form. The Plan Administrator shall notify the Participant and the Participant's Spouse of the right to defer any distribution until the Participant's account balance is no longer immediately distributable and, for Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2006, the consequences of failing to defer any distribution. Such notification shall include a general description of the material features, and an explanation of the relative values of, the optional forms of benefit available under the Plan in a manner that would satisfy the notice requirements of Code Section 417(a)(3), and a description of the consequences of failing to defer a distribution, and shall be provided no less than thirty (30) days and no more than 180 days [ninety (90) days for Plan Years beginning before January 1, 2007] prior to the Annuity Starting Date.
- (e) If the distribution is one to which Code Sections 401(a)(11) and 417 do not apply, such distribution may commence less than thirty (30) days after the notice required under Regulations Section 1.411(a)-11(c) is given provided that:
- (1) the Plan Administrator clearly informs the Participant that the Participant has the right to a period of at least thirty (30) days after receiving the notice to consider the decision of whether or not to elect a distribution (and, if applicable, a particular distribution option), and
  - (2) the Participant after receiving the notice affirmatively elects a distribution.

If a distribution is one to which Code Section 417 does apply, the distribution may commence less than thirty (30) days, but not less than seven (7) days after the notice required under Regulations Section 1.411(a)-11(c) is given, provided that the conditions of sub-paragraphs (1) and (2) above are satisfied with regard to both the Participant and the Participant's Spouse.

- (f) Notwithstanding the foregoing, only the consent of the Participant to the commencement of a distribution in the form of a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity is required while the account balance is immediately distributable. Furthermore, if payment in the form of a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity is not required with respect to the Participant pursuant to paragraph 8.7 of the Plan, only the Participant must consent to the distribution of an account balance that is immediately distributable. Neither the consent of the Participant nor the Participant's Spouse shall be required to the extent that a distribution is required to satisfy Code Section 401(a)(9) or Code Section 415 or constitutes Excess Deferrals, Excess Contributions or Excess Aggregate Contributions. In addition, upon termination of this Plan if the Plan does not offer an annuity option (purchased from a commercial provider), the Participant's account balance may, without the Participant's consent, be distributed to the Participant or transferred to another Defined Contribution Plan [other than an employee stock ownership plan as defined in Code Section 4975(e)(7)] within the same controlled group.
- (g) For purposes of determining the applicability of the foregoing consent requirements to distributions made before the first day of the first Plan Year beginning after December 31, 1988, the Participant's Vested Account Balance shall not include amounts attributable to accumulated deductible employee contributions within the meaning of Code Section 72(o)(5)(B).
- (h) Any Plan established hereunder which is making distributions to any former Employee, Participant or surviving Spouse may charge reasonable Plan administrative expenses to the account of that former Employee,

Participant or surviving Spouse, but only if the administrative expenses are apportioned on a pro-rata basis, i.e., the expenses are based on the amount in each account of a former Employer, Participant or surviving Spouse receiving benefits from the Plan, (or another reasonable basis that complies with the requirements of Title I of ERISA). However, the allocation of Plan expenses still must meet the nondiscrimination rules of Code Section 401(a)(4).

# 6.7 Normal And Optional Forms Of Payment

- (a) The normal form of payment for a profit sharing, 401(k) or SIMPLE 401(k) plan shall be designated in the Adoption Agreement. If no election is made in the Adoption Agreement, the Plan will default to the normal form of benefit being a lump sum, and the safe harbor provisions of paragraph 8.7 shall apply.
- (b) A Plan other than a money purchase pension plan or a profit-sharing plan required to provide a Joint and Survivor benefit may be amended to eliminate or restrict optional payment forms provided that a single lump sum payment option remains available. The remaining lump sum must have the same (or less restrictive) timing of distribution, medium of distribution and eligibility conditions that were available for the eliminated forms of payment.

Each optional form of benefit provided under a Prototype Plan (other than any that have been prospectively eliminated) must be currently available to all Employees benefiting under the Plan. This is the case regardless of whether a particular form of benefit is the actuarial equivalent of any other optional form of benefit under the Plan. Code Section 411(d)(6) prevents a Plan from being amended to eliminate or restrict optional forms of benefits and any other Code Section 411(d)(6) protected benefits with respect to benefits attributable to Service before the amendments except as expressly provided under the Regulations Section 1.411(d)-4. The availability of each optional form of benefit shall not be subject to Employer discretion nor shall optional forms of benefits be made available in a manner that favors Highly Compensated Employees.

- (c) The normal form of payment for a money purchase pension plan shall be a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity as provided under Article VIII. The Employer may elect in the Adoption Agreement to eliminate any periodic payment options that are not required by the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity rules such as but not limited to installment payments.
- (d) The normal form of payment shall be automatic, unless the Participant files a written request with the Employer prior to the date on which the benefit is automatically payable, electing another option available under the Plan.
- (e) As elected in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant shall (with the consent of his or her Spouse, if applicable) have the right to receive his or her benefit in a single lump sum or in installment payments. Installment payments need not be equal or substantially equal until such time as the individual reaches his or her Required Beginning Date. Installment payments which are intended to be equal or substantially equal can be made monthly, quarterly, semi-annually or annually based on any period not extending beyond the joint and survivor life expectancy of the Participant and his or her Beneficiary.
- (f) Benefits payable under the Plan may be distributed in cash or in-kind as elected in the Adoption Agreement. The Employer may also elect on the Adoption Agreement to limit a Participant's right to receive distributions in the form of marketable securities (other than Employer securities) and to require distributions in the form of cash only. Only the right to receive a distribution in the form of cash, Employer securities and/or other property that is not marketable is protected.
- (g) A Plan that permits its Participants to receive in-kind distributions may limit the available in-kind distributions to the investments listed in the Adoption Agreement and only to the extent the investments are held in the Participant's account at the time of the distribution. A Plan may be amended to limit the investments that may be distributed in-kind. The amendment must include all investments (other than marketable securities for which cash may be substituted) that are held in a Participant's account at the time of the amendment and for which the Plan, prior to such amendment, allowed for distribution of those investments in kind. The right to an in-kind distribution for investments held at the time of the distribution would only have to be protected to the extent such investment was in the Participant's account at the time the amendment was adopted or effective, if later.
- (h) Promissory notes of Participants may be distributed in-kind pursuant to the Employer's loan policy document.
- (i) Distribution of benefits payable in the form of installments shall be paid in cash. If this is an amendment or restatement of an existing Plan where the Plan only permits distribution in a lump sum, Required Minimum Distributions taken by Participants may be made in installments payments to any affected Participant.
- (j) The Plan Administrator shall have the sole responsibility to determine the propriety, amount, and form of any distribution made under the terms of this Plan and such determination will be final. Upon such

determination, the Plan Administrator shall inform the Trustee and/or Custodian in writing or by any such other means as expressly agreed upon, of its determination.

## 6.8 **Distribution In Event Of Incapacity**

If any person who is entitled to receive a distribution of benefits (the "Payee") suffers from a Disability or is under a legal incapacity, payments may be made in one or more of the following ways as directed by the Plan Administrator:

- (a) to the Payee directly; or
- (b) to the guardian or legal representative of the Payee's person or estate.

The Plan Administrator's determination of the minority or incapacity of any Payee will be final.

### 6.9 **Commencement Of Benefits**

Unless the Participant elects otherwise, distribution of benefits will begin no later than the sixtieth day after the close of the Plan Year in which the latest of the following events occurs:

- (a) the Participant attains age sixty-five (65) (or Normal Retirement Age if earlier),
- (b) the tenth anniversary of the year in which the Participant commenced participation in the Plan, or
- (c) the Participant terminates Service with the Employer.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the failure of a Participant and Spouse (if necessary) to consent to a distribution while a benefit is immediately distributable within the meaning of paragraph 6.6 hereof, shall be deemed an election to defer commencement of payment of any benefit sufficient to satisfy this paragraph.

### 6.10 In-Service Withdrawals

If elected in the Adoption Agreement, an Employer may elect to permit a Participant in the Plan to make an in-service withdrawal, subject to any limitation(s) specified in the Adoption Agreement.

- (a) Unless indicated otherwise on the Adoption Agreement, a Participant may withdraw all or any part of the fair market value of his or her Voluntary or Required After-tax Contributions as described in Article IV, other than Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals, upon request to the Plan Administrator. No amount of the Employer's Contribution will be forfeited solely as a result of a Participant's withdrawal of an amount pursuant to this paragraph 6.10. Unless indicated otherwise in the Adoption Agreement, Rollover and Transfer Contributions, and the income allocable to each, may be withdrawn at any time.
- (b) Subject to Article VIII, Joint and Survivor Annuity Requirements (if applicable) and pursuant to the Employer's election in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant may be eligible to withdraw any part of his or her Qualified Voluntary Contribution account by making application to the Plan Administrator. A request to withdraw amounts pursuant to this paragraph must be consented to by the Participant's Spouse, unless the Plan satisfies the safe harbor under paragraph 8.7 hereof. Spousal consent, if required, shall comply with the requirements of paragraph 6.6 relating to immediate distributions.
- (c) A Participant may withdraw all or any part of the fair market value of his or her pre-1987 Voluntary Contributions with or without withdrawing the earnings attributable thereto. Post-1986 Voluntary Contributions may only be withdrawn along with a portion of the earnings thereon. The amount of the earnings to be withdrawn is determined by using the formula: DA [1-(V ÷ V+E)], where DA is the distribution amount, V is the amount of Voluntary Contributions and V+E is the amount of Voluntary Contributions plus the earnings attributable thereto. The aggregate value of the Participant's Vested Account Balance derived from Employer and Employee contributions (including Rollovers), whether vested before or upon death, includes the proceeds of insurance contracts, if any, on the Participant's life. The provisions of this Article shall apply to a Participant who is vested in amounts attributable to Employer contributions, Employee contributions (or both) at the time of death or distribution.
- (d) Under a Profit Sharing Plan and to the extent that the Employer elects in the Adoption Agreement, the Participant is required to satisfy at least one of the following conditions to make an in-service withdrawal of all or any part of the Participant's vested Non-Safe Harbor Matching Contributions and Non-Elective Contributions.
- (1) An Employee who has been a Participant in the Plan for at least five (5) years may, prior to separating from Service with the Employer, elect to withdraw all or any part of the vested Non-Safe Harbor Matching Contributions and Non-Elective contributions.
- (2) Vested Non-Safe Harbor Matching and Non-Elective Contributions which have been in the Plan for at least two (2) years may be withdrawn.

- (3) A Participant who has attained age 59½ may, prior to Severance from Employment, elect to withdraw all or any part of their vested Non-Safe Harbor Matching Contributions and Non-Elective contributions.
- (4) A Participant may also be required to be 100% vested before a withdrawal can be made for any of the reasons above.
- (5) The Employer may require any or all of these conditions to be satisfied prior to an inservice distribution being made from the Plan.
  - (6) An Inactive Participant is not eligible for an in-service withdrawal.
- (e) Unless otherwise elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, Elective Deferrals, Roth Elective Deferrals, Qualified Non-Elective Contributions, Safe Harbor Matching and Non-Elective Contributions, and Qualified Matching Contributions, and income allocable to each, are not distributable to a Participant earlier than upon severance of employment (separation from Service for Plan Years beginning before 2002), death, or Disability. Such amounts may also be distributed upon:
- (1) termination of the Plan without the establishment of another Defined Contribution Plan other than an employee stock ownership plan [as defined in Code Section 4975(e)(7)] or a Simplified Employee Pension Plan [as defined in Code Section 408(k)], or a SIMPLE IRA plan [as defined in Code Section 408(p)], a Plan or contract described in Code Section 403(b) or a Plan described in Code Section 457(b) or (f) at any time during the period beginning on the date of Plan termination and ending twelve (12) months after all assets have been distributed from the Plan. Such distribution must be made in a lump sum;
  - (2) the attainment of age 59½ in the case of a profit-sharing plan; or
  - (3) the Hardship of a Participant as described in paragraph 6.13.
- (4) The Participant's call to active duty after September 11, 2001 (because of the Participant's status as a member of a reserve component) for a period of at least 180 days or for an indefinite period (a "Qualified Reservist Distribution").
- (5) The Participant's service in the uniformed services while on active duty for a period of at least thirty (30) days. If a Participant receives a distribution under this provision, the Participant's Elective Deferrals Roth Deferrals, and Voluntary After-tax Contributions if any, will be suspended for six (6) months after receipt of the distribution.
  - (6) A Federally declared disaster, where resulting legislation authorizes such a distribution.
- (f) An in-service withdrawal shall not be eligible for redeposit to the Trust. A withdrawal under this paragraph shall not prohibit such Participant from sharing in any future Employer contribution he or she would otherwise be eligible to receive. Payment will be made in accordance with the administrative policy set by the Employer.
- (g) If elected in the Adoption Agreement, Money Purchase Pension Plans shall allow in-service withdrawals only after the Participant's attainment of age sixty two (62) or if earlier, the Participant's Severance from Employment; attainment of Normal Retirement Age under the Plan, death, disability, or upon termination of the Plan.
- (h) Notwithstanding any provisions of the Plan to the contrary, to the extent that any optional form of benefit under this Plan permits a distribution prior to the Participant's retirement, death, Disability, or Severance from Employment, and prior to Plan termination, the optional form of benefit shall not be available with respect to benefits attributable to assets [including the post-transfer earnings thereon) and liabilities that are transferred within the meaning of Code Section 414(I), to this Plan from a money purchase pension plan qualified under Code Section 401(a) (other than any portion of those assets and liabilities attributable to Voluntary After-tax Contributions].
- (i) If elected in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant may withdraw any amount not in excess of the vested amount of Non-Elective Contributions, Elective Deferrals, Roth Elective Deferrals and Matching Contributions, if the withdrawal is made after the Participant attains age 59½.
- (j) If a distribution is made at a time when a Participant has a nonforfeitable right to less than 100% of the account balance derived from Employer contributions and the Participant may increase the nonforfeitable percentage in the account:
- (1) a separate account will be established for the Participant's interest in the Plan as of the time of the distribution, and

(2) at any relevant time the Participant's nonforfeitable portion of the separate account will be equal to an amount ("X") determined by the formula: X = P [AB + D] - D. For purposes of applying the formula: "P" is the nonforfeitable percentage at the relevant time, "AB" is the account balance at the relevant time, "D" is the amount of the distribution.

### 6.11 **Qualified Reservist Distribution**

Effective August 17, 2006, a Participant who is ordered or called to active duty after September 11, 2001 may take a Qualified Reservist Distribution if the following are satisfied:

- (a) the distribution consists solely of Elective Deferrals in a Code Section 401(k) Plan;
- (b) the Participant was ordered or called to active duty for a period in excess of one hundred and seventy nine (179) days or for an indefinite period; and
- (c) the distribution from the Plan is made during the period which begins on the date of such order or call and ends at the close of the active duty period.

The 10% early withdrawal penalty tax will not apply to a Qualified Reservist Distribution, which meets requirements stated above. An Employee who receives a qualified reservist distribution may repay to an individual retirement plan (in one or more contributions) the amount of the distribution at any time during the two (2) year period beginning after the end of the active duty period. The dollar limitations that would otherwise apply to IRA contributions will not apply to repayment contributions during such two (2) year period and no deduction is allowed for any contribution made under this provision.

Unless elected otherwise on the Adoption Agreement, the Plan Administrator may implement on a uniform and nondiscriminatory basis an ordering rule for in-service withdrawals from a Participant's account attributable to pre-tax Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals.

## 6.12 In-Plan Roth Rollover

If elected by the Employer in a Cash or Deferred Profit Sharing Plan Adoption Agreement, distributions made to Plan Participants or Beneficiaries after the applicable effective date indicated in the Adoption Agreement (no earlier than September 27, 2010) from a Plan that permits Roth Elective Deferrals may be rolled from a non-Roth account to a designated Roth account. A distribution that satisfies the requirements below will be known as an "In-Plan Roth Rollover."

- (a) An amount is eligible to be an In-Plan Roth Rollover only if the Employer's Plan has elected to provide for such rollovers. An In-Plan Roth Rollover may be accomplished by a Direct Rollover ("In-Plan Roth Direct Rollover," as described in IRS Notice 2010-84) or to the extent allowed by the Plan Administrator, by a distribution of funds to the Participant who, within sixty (60) days from the date of the distribution, rolls such distribution back to a designated Roth account within the same Plan.
- (b) Any vested amount held in a Participant's account (other than amounts held in a designated Roth account) is eligible to be an In-Plan Roth Rollover to a designated Roth account in the same Plan. A Plan that does not currently allow for in-service withdrawals from a Participant's pre-tax Elective Deferral, Qualified Non-Elective, Qualified Matching, or Safe Harbor Contributions accounts may be amended to permit In-Plan Roth Direct Rollovers from such accounts while not otherwise permitting distribution of such pre-tax Elective Deferrals. Similarly, a Code Section 401(k) Plan that does not currently allow for in-service withdrawals from a Participant's Matching Contributions, Non-Elective Contributions or Rollover Contributions accounts may be amended to permit In-Plan Roth Direct Rollovers from such accounts while not otherwise permitting distribution of such Contributions. Once a Participant elects an In-Plan Roth Rollover, such amounts may not be recharacterized back to pre-tax status.
- (c) The taxable amount of an In-Plan Roth Rollover (the fair market value of the distribution, reduced by any basis the Participant has in the distribution) will be included in a Participant's gross income. If the distribution includes Employer securities, the fair market value includes any net unrealized appreciation within the meaning of Code Section 402(e)(4). If an outstanding loan is rolled over in an In-Plan Roth Rollover, the amount includible in gross income includes the balance of the loan.
- (d) In-Plan Roth Rollovers will not be subject to the 10% additional tax on early distributions; however a Participant who receives a distribution from the Roth Rollover account within the five (5) year period that begins on January 1 of the year of the rollover may become subject to such tax.
- (e) In-Plan Roth Rollovers will not be subject to the 20% mandatory withholding of Code Section 3405(c). However a Participant may elect to increase his or her payroll withholding or make estimated tax payments to avoid an underpayment penalty.

- (f) An In-Plan Roth Rollover may be elected by a Beneficiary provided such Beneficiary is a Surviving Spouse and by an alternate payee only if he or she is a Spouse or former Spouse.
- (g) Payments from a designated Roth account will not be taxed provided such payment occurs after the Participant's attainment of age 59½, death or Disability, and the expiration of the five (5) year period. The five (5) year period begins on January 1 of the year of the In-Plan Roth Rollover (or the year of the first contribution to the Participant's designated Roth account, if earlier). If the Participant's designated Roth account is due to a Direct Rollover from a designated Roth account in a plan of another employer, the five (5) year period begins on January 1 of the year the Participant's first contribution was made to the designated Roth account in this Plan or, if earlier, to the designated Roth account in the plan of the other employer.
- (h) An In-Plan Roth Direct Rollover will not be treated as a distribution for purposes of changing any loan repayment schedule or creating a new loan; obtaining spousal consent relating to annuities and distribution of amounts in excess of \$5,000 as described by Code Section 401(a)(11); or the rules regarding the elimination of optional forms of benefit under Code Section 411(d)(6)(B)(ii). Participants who had a distribution right (such as a right to an immediate distribution of the amount rolled over) prior to the rollover may not have this right eliminated through an In-Plan Roth Rollover. The Plan will maintain such records as are necessary for the proper reporting of In-Plan Roth Rollovers.

# 6.13 Hardship Withdrawals

If elected in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant may request a Hardship withdrawal as provided in this paragraph. If applicable, Hardship withdrawals are subject to the spousal consent requirements in Code Sections 401(a)(11) and 417. A request to make a withdrawal on account of Hardship must be consented to by the Participant's Spouse unless the Plan satisfies the safe harbor provisions under paragraph 8.7. Spousal consent, if required, shall comply with the requirements of paragraph 6.6 relating to immediate distributions.

If elected in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant shall be permitted to make a Hardship withdrawal of any amount attributable to the vested portion of Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals (and any earnings credited to a Participant's account as of the later of December 31, 1988, and the end of the last Plan Year ending before July 1, 1989). Unless elected otherwise in the Adoption Agreement, vested Non-Elective Contributions, Matching Contributions, Rollover Contributions, Transfer Contributions and the income allocable to each (without regard to attainment of age 59½ or Disability) may be available for Hardship withdrawal if the Participant establishes that an immediate and heavy financial need exists and the withdrawal is necessary to satisfy such financial need. A Participant may withdraw all or any part of the fair market value of his or her Voluntary or Required After-tax Contributions due to a Hardship upon request to the Plan Administrator. Such request shall be made in accordance with procedures adopted by the Plan Administrator or his or her designate, who shall have sole authority to authorize and direct a Hardship withdrawal pursuant to the following rules:

- (a) For purposes of this paragraph, an immediate and heavy financial need of the Employee is one which cannot reasonably be relieved by borrowing from commercial sources on reasonable commercial terms in an amount sufficient to satisfy the need. In any event, a Hardship distribution may not be requested in excess of the amount of the immediate and heavy financial need described at paragraph (b) including amounts necessary to pay any Federal, state or local income taxes or penalties reasonably anticipated to result from the distribution.
- (b) An immediate and heavy financial need exists when the Hardship withdrawal will be used to pay the following:
- (1) expenses incurred or necessary for medical care that would be deductible under Code Section 213(d) (determined without regard to whether the expenses exceed 7.5% of adjusted gross income) of the Participant, his or her Spouse, children and other dependents, or primary Beneficiary under the Plan:
- (2) the cost directly related to the purchase (excluding mortgage payments) of the principal residence of the Participant;
- (3) payment of tuition and related educational expenses (including but not limited to expenses associated with room and board) for up to the next twelve (12) months of post-secondary education for the Participant, his or her Spouse, children or other dependents [as defined in Code Section 152, and for the taxable years beginning on or after January 1, 2005, without regard to Code Sections 152(b)(1), (b)(2) and (d)(1)(B)], or primary Beneficiary under the Plan;
- (4) the need to prevent eviction of the Participant from, or a foreclosure on the mortgage of, the Participant's principal residence;
- (5) payments for burial or funeral expenses for the Participant's deceased parent, Spouse, child or dependent [as defined in Code Section 152, and for taxable years beginning on or after January 1, 2005, without regard to Code Section 152(d)(1)(B)], or primary Beneficiary under the Plan; or

- (6) expenses for the repair of damage to the Participant's principal residence that would qualify for the casualty deduction under Code Section 165 (determined without regard to whether the loss exceeds 10% of adjusted gross income).
- (c) A distribution is not treated as necessary to satisfy an immediate and heavy financial need of a Participant to the extent the need may be relieved from other resources that are reasonably available to the Participant. For purposes of this paragraph, the Participant's resources are deemed to include those assets of the Participant's Spouse and minor children that are reasonably available to the Participant. However, property held for the Participant's child under an irrevocable trust or under the Uniform Gifts to Minors Act (or comparable state law) is not treated as a resource of the Participant.

If the Plan Administrator approves a request for a Hardship withdrawal, funds shall be withdrawn from the contribution sources as elected in the Adoption Agreement unless provided otherwise by the Plan Administrator in an administrative procedure. Liquidation of a Participant's assets for the purpose of a Hardship withdrawal will be allocated on a pro-rata basis across all the investment alternatives in a Participant's account, unless otherwise provided by a directive from the Plan Administrator or by the Plan Participant.

If Elective Deferrals (including Roth Elective Deferrals, if any), Voluntary After-tax, or Required After-tax Contributions are withdrawn under 6.13(b) above, such amounts will be suspended for all plans maintained by the Employer (other than benefits under Code Section 125 plans) for six (6) months after the receipt of the Hardship distribution. If an Employee who participates in a QACA is ineligible to make contributions under the Plan for six (6) months because of a Hardship withdrawal and the six (6) month period includes a date as of which the QACA default minimum percentage is increased, then the QACA default percentage must reflect that increase when the Participant is permitted to resume contributions unless such Participant has made an affirmative election prior to the Hardship withdrawal to have Elective Deferrals withheld at a different rate.

- (d) The Plan Administrator may implement on a uniform and nondiscriminatory basis an ordering rule for Hardship withdrawals from a Participant's account attributable to pre-tax Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals.
- (e) A Participant's "primary Beneficiary under the Plan" is an individual named as a Beneficiary under the Plan who has an unconditional right to all or a portion of the Participant's account balance under the Plan upon the Participant's death.
- (f) If provided by the Employer in an administrative policy, the Employer may permit hardship or other in-service withdrawals to Participants (or former Participants with a Vested Account Balance in the Plan) when legislation is passed that provides for special Plan distributions that would otherwise not be available or if the IRS issues guidance providing such special relief.

# 6.14 Direct Rollovers

Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary that would otherwise limit a Distributee's election under this part, a Distributee may elect, at the time and in the manner prescribed by the Plan Administrator, to have any portion of an Eligible Rollover Distribution that is equal to at least \$500 paid directly to an Eligible Retirement Plan specified by the Distributee in a Direct Rollover. If an Eligible Rollover Distribution is less than \$500, a Distributee may not make the election described in the preceding sentence to rollover a portion of the Eligible Rollover Distribution.

### (a) **Definitions** –

- (1) Eligible Rollover Distribution An Eligible Rollover Distribution is any distribution of all or any portion of the balance to the credit of the Distributee, except that an Eligible Rollover Distribution does not include: any distribution that is one of a series of substantially equal periodic payments (not less frequently than annually) made for the life (or Life Expectancy) of the Distributee or the joint lives (or Joint Life Expectancies) of the Distributee and the Distributee's Designated Beneficiary, or for a specified period of ten (10) years or more; any distribution to the extent such distribution is required under Code Section 401(a)(9); the portion of any other distribution(s) that is not includible in gross income (determined without regard to the exclusion for net unrealized appreciation with respect to Employer securities); and any other distribution(s) that is reasonably expected to total less than \$200 during a year. For purposes of this paragraph, any amount that is distributed on account of Hardship shall not be an Eligible Rollover Distribution and the Distributee may not elect to have any portion of such a distribution paid directly to an Eligible Retirement Plan. For purposes of the \$200 rule, a distribution from a designated Roth account and a distribution from other accounts under the Plan are treated as made under separate Plans.
- (2) **Eligible Retirement Plan** An Eligible Retirement Plan is an eligible Plan under Code Section 457(b) which agrees to separately account for amounts transferred into such Plan from this Plan, a traditional IRA, a Roth IRA, an annuity plan described in Code Section 403(a), or a Qualified Plan described Code Section

401(a), that accepts the Distributee's Eligible Rollover Distribution. The definition of Eligible Retirement Plan shall also apply in the case of a distribution to a surviving Spouse, or to a Spouse or former Spouse who is an alternate payee under a Qualified Domestic Relations Order as defined in Code Section 414(p).

(3) **Distributee** – A Distributee includes an Employee or former Employee. In addition, the Employee's or former Employee's surviving Spouse and the Employee's or former Employee's Spouse or former Spouse who is the alternate payee under a Qualified Domestic Relations Order, as defined in Code Section 414(p), are Distributes with regard to the interest of the Spouse or former Spouse.

A Distributee includes the Participant's or former Participant's non-Spouse Designated Beneficiary, in which case, the distribution can only be transferred to a traditional or Roth IRA established on behalf of the non-Spouse Designated Beneficiary for the purpose of receiving the distribution.

- (4) **Direct Rollover** A Direct Rollover is a payment by the Plan to the Eligible Retirement Plan specified by the Distributee.
- (b) Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary that would otherwise limit a Participant's election under this paragraph, a Participant may elect, at the time and in the manner prescribed by the Plan Administrator, to have any portion of an Eligible Rollover Distribution paid directly to an Eligible Retirement Plan or individual retirement account specified by the Participant in a Direct Rollover. Any portion of a distribution that is not paid directly to an Eligible Retirement Plan or individual retirement account, pursuant to such Participant's direction shall be distributed to the Participant. For purposes of this paragraph, a surviving Spouse or a Spouse or former Spouse who is an alternate payee under a Qualified Domestic Relations Order as defined in Code Section 414(p), will be permitted to elect to have any Eligible Rollover Distribution paid directly to an individual retirement account (IRA) or an individual retirement annuity (IRA) or to another Qualified Plan in which the alternate payee is a participant.
- (c) If the entire Vested Account Balance is not eligible for a Direct Rollover of benefits as described in (a) above, the Participant may either make an elective transfer of the entire Vested Account Balance pursuant to the procedure described at paragraph 4.5 or a Direct Rollover of the portion which can be rolled over as described in (a) above and an elective transfer of the rest as described in paragraph 4.5 herein.
- (d) The elective transfer of distributable benefits will be available only if the Direct Rollover provisions of Code Section 401(a)(31) would not be available to transfer the Participant's entire Vested Account Balance to the transferee plan. This elective transfer option will only be available in the following circumstances:
- (1) The Plan does not have a single sum distribution option available. The benefits are distributable only in a periodic payment method.
- (2) The distribution includes benefits that are not eligible for rollover treatment, including benefits attributable to after-tax contributions, required minimum distributions or other amounts that have previously been included in income.

For purposes of this paragraph, a portion of the distribution shall not fail to be an Eligible Rollover Distribution merely because the portion consists of Voluntary After-tax Contributions that are not includible in gross income. However, such portion may be transferred only to an individual retirement account or annuity described in Code Section 408(a) or (b), or a Roth IRA described in Code Section 408(a), or to a qualified Defined Contribution Plan described in Code Section 401(a) or 403(a) that agrees to separately account for amounts so transferred, including separately accounting for the portion of such distribution which is includible in gross income and the portion of such distribution which is not so includible.

(e) When a portion of a distribution is from a Roth Elective Deferral account, the rollover of any such distribution pursuant to Code Section 402A(c)(3) must be accomplished through a Direct Rollover and can only be made to a plan qualified under Code Section 401(a) which agrees to separately account for the amount not includible in income. The transferring Plan shall report the amount of the investment in the contract (contributions as well as associated earnings) and the first year of the five (5) year period to the recipient plan so that the recipient plan will not need to rely on the information from the Distributee.

For purposes of this paragraph, the five (5) taxable year period of Plan participation is the period of five (5) consecutive taxable years that begins with the first day of the first taxable year in which the Participant makes a designated Roth Elective Deferral to any designated Roth Elective Deferral Account established for the Participant under the same plan and ends when five (5) consecutive taxable years have been completed. For this purpose, the first taxable year in which a Participant makes a designated Roth Elective Deferral is the year in which the amount is first includible in the Participant's gross income.

- (f) A Direct Rollover of a distribution from a Roth Elective Deferral Account under this Plan will be made to another Roth Elective Deferral Account under an applicable retirement plan described in Code Section 402A(e)(1) or to a Roth IRA described in Code Section 408A, and only to the extent the rollover is permitted under Code Section 402(c). The Plan shall not provide for a Direct Rollover (including an automatic rollover) of distributions from a Participant's Roth Elective Deferral Account if the amount of the distributions that are Eligible Rollover Distributions are reasonably expected to total less than \$200 during a year. In addition, any distributions from a Participant's Roth Elective Deferral Account are not taken into consideration in determining whether distributions from a Participant's other accounts are reasonably expected to total less than \$200 during a year.
- (g) If, with respect to any portion of a distribution from the Plan of a deceased Participant's Vested Account Balance, a direct trustee-to-trustee transfer is made to an individual retirement plan as described in Code Section 402(c)(8)(B)(i) or (ii), established for the purpose of receiving the distribution on behalf of an individual who is a Designated Beneficiary of the deceased Participant and who is not his or her Surviving Spouse or a Spouse or former Spouse who is an Alternate Payee under a Qualified Domestic Relations Order (1) the transfer shall be treated as an Eligible Rollover Distribution; (2) the individual retirement plan shall be treated as an inherited individual retirement account or individual retirement annuity [within the meaning of Code Section 408(d)(3)(C)]; and (3) Code Section 401(a)(9)(B) [other than Code Section 401(a)(9)(B)(iv)] shall apply to such individual retirement plan. For purposes of this paragraph, to the extent provided in rules prescribed by the Secretary, a trust maintained for the benefit of one or more designated beneficiaries shall be treated in the same manner as a Designated Beneficiary. For Plan Years beginning on or after January 1, 2010, non-spouse Beneficiaries must be given the opportunity to perform a Direct Rollover of any otherwise eligible amounts distributed to them.

## 6.15 **Participant's Notice**

In the event that a Participant's benefit becomes payable under Plan terms or if a Participant requests distribution of his or her benefit, the Plan Administrator shall provide such Participant with a notice regarding distribution of such benefit. The notice shall describe any Plan related information regarding the distribution including the Joint and Survivor Annuity requirements provided at paragraph 6.6(d), if applicable, the normal and optional forms of payment provided at paragraph 6.7, and the information required in connection with an Eligible Rollover Distribution. Information in connection with an Eligible Rollover Distribution shall include the right to have the funds transferred directly to another Qualified Plan or individual retirement account, the income tax withholding requirements, the rollover rules with respect to amounts distributed to the Participant, the default Direct Rollover provisions of Vested Account Balances greater than \$1,000 but less than or equal to \$5,000 (including any other appropriate information such as the name and address, and telephone number of the IRA Trustee and information regarding IRA maintenance and withdrawal fees and how the IRA funds will be invested), and the general tax rules which apply to such distributions. Such notice shall be provided to the Participant within the time period prescribed at paragraph 6.6(d) hereof or, if the safe harbor provisions of paragraph 8.7 are applicable, not less than thirty (30) days prior to the Annuity Starting Date, subject to a waiver period of a lesser number of days if elected by the Participant and if applicable, their Spouse. A default Direct Rollover will occur not less than thirty (30) days and not more than ninety (90) days after such notice with the explanation of the default Direct Rollover is provided to the separating Participant.

# 6.16 Assets Transferred From Money Purchase Pension Plans

Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, to the extent that any optional form of benefit under this Plan permits a distribution prior to the Employee's retirement, death, Disability, or severance from employment, and prior to Plan termination, the optional form of benefit shall not be available with respect to benefits attributable to assets (including the associated post-transfer earnings) and liabilities that are transferred, within the meaning of Code Section 414(I), to this Plan from a money purchase pension plan qualified under Code Section 401(a) (other than any portion of those assets and liabilities attributable to Voluntary After-tax Contributions).

## 6.17 Assets Transferred From A Code Section 401(k) Plan

If the Plan receives a direct transfer (by merger or otherwise) of Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals (or amounts treated as Elective Deferrals) under a Plan with a Code Section 401(k) arrangement, the distribution restrictions of Code Sections 401(k)(2) and 401(k)(10) continue to apply to those transferred Elective Deferrals.

# 6.18 Periods Of Qualified Active Military Service Treated As Severance From Employment

Employees performing military service while on active duty for more than thirty (30) days will be treated as having incurred a severance from employment during such period. The restrictions on in-service distributions found at paragraphs 6.10 and 6.13 shall not apply. If an Employee who is a Plan Participant elects to receive a distribution of Elective Deferrals under this provision, the Participant may not make an Elective Deferral or Employee Contribution during the six (6) month period beginning on the date of the distribution.

# 6.19 Death Benefits Under USERRA-Qualified Active Military Service

Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, contributions, benefits and Service credit with respect to qualified military service will be provided in accordance with Code Section 414(u). In the case of a Participant who dies while performing qualified military service [as defined Code Section 414(u)], the survivors of the Participant are entitled to any additional benefits (other than Contributions relating to the period of qualified military service but including Vesting Service credit for such period and any ancillary life insurance or other survivor benefits) that would

have been provided under the Plan had the Participant resumed employment on the day preceding the Participant's death and then terminated employment on account of death. This paragraph shall apply with respect to deaths and disabilities occurring on or after January 1, 2007.

#### 6.20 Benefit Accruals Due To Death And Disability Under USERRA

For benefit accrual purposes, the Employer may elect to treat an Employee who dies or becomes Disabled while performing qualified military service with respect to the Employer maintaining the Plan as an Employee who had resumed employment in accordance with the individual's reemployment rights under USERRA on the day preceding death or Disability (as the case may be) and terminated employment on the actual date of death or Disability. In the case of any such treatment, and subject to the following paragraphs, any full or partial compliance by such Plan with respect to the benefit accrual requirements with respect to such Employee shall be treated as if such compliance were required under USERRA.

- (a) With respect to the Employer maintaining the retirement plan, all Employees performing qualified military service who died or become Disabled as a result of performing qualified military service, prior to reemployment by the Employer, are to be credited with Service and benefits on reasonable equivalent terms.
- (b) The amount of Employee Contributions and the amount of Elective Deferrals of an Employee treated as reemployed on the day before death or Disability shall be determined on the basis of the individual's average actual Employee Contributions or Elective Deferrals for the lesser of (1) the twelve (12) month period of Service with the Employer immediately prior to qualified military service, or (2) the actual length of continuous Service with the Employer.

# ARTICLE VII DISTRIBUTION REQUIREMENTS

# 7.1 **Joint And Survivor Annuity Requirements**

All distributions made under the terms of this Plan must comply with the provisions of Article VIII including, if applicable, the safe harbor provisions thereunder.

#### 7.2 **Designation Of Beneficiary**

(a) For purposes of the Plan, a Beneficiary is the person or persons designated as such in accordance with Code Section 401(a)(9) and the Regulations thereunder by the Participant or by the Participant's surviving Spouse if the Participant's surviving Spouse is entitled to receive distributions under the Plan. Such a designation by the Participant's surviving Spouse, however, shall relate solely to the distributions to be made under the Plan after the death of both the Participant and the surviving Spouse. A Beneficiary designation shall be communicated to the Plan Administrator on a form or other type of communication acceptable to the Plan Administrator for use in connection with the Plan, signed by the designating person, and subject to the last sentence of this subparagraph (a), filed with the Plan Administrator in accordance with this paragraph not later than thirty (30) days after the designating person's death. The form may name individuals, trusts or estates to take upon the contingency of survival and may specify or limit the manner of distribution thereto. In the event a Participant or the Participant's surviving Spouse, as the case may be, fails to properly designate a Beneficiary (including, as improper, a designation to which the Participant's surviving Spouse did not properly consent) or in the event that no properly designated Beneficiary survives the Participant or the Participant's surviving Spouse, as applicable, then the Beneficiary of such person shall be his surviving Spouse or, if none, his issue *per stirpes* or, if no issue, the Participant's surviving parents in equal shares, or if no surviving parents, then to the Participant's estate.

The Beneficiary designation last accepted by the Plan Administrator during the designating person's lifetime before such distribution is to commence shall be controlling and, whether or not fully dispositive of the vested portion of the account of the Participant involved, thereupon shall revoke all such forms previously filed by that person.

- (b) Notwithstanding subparagraph (a), the designation by a married Participant of any Beneficiary other than the Participant's Spouse, or the change of any such Beneficiary to a new Beneficiary other than the Participant's Spouse, shall not be valid unless made in writing and consented to by the Participant's Spouse. The Spouse's consent to such designation must be made in the manner described in this paragraph.
- (c) Any Beneficiary designation made and in effect under a Qualified Plan immediately prior to that Plan's amendment and continuation in the form of this Plan shall be deemed to be a valid Beneficiary designation filed under this Plan to the extent consistent with this Plan. If such Beneficiary designation was made with respect to a Qualified Plan that permitted the Participant to designate without spousal consent a Beneficiary to receive 50% of the Participant's account balance in the event of the Participant's death, with respect to such Beneficiary designation under this Plan, this paragraph shall be applied by application of 50% of the vested portion of the Participant's account toward the purchase of a Qualified Pre-Retirement Survivor Annuity and the balance of the Participant's account shall be paid to the Designated Beneficiary pursuant to the provisions of Article VIII. In such event, the amount of Voluntary After-tax Contributions applied to the purchase of the annuity shall be in the same proportion as the Voluntary After-tax Contributions bear to the entire Participant's account.
- (d) In the absence of a Beneficiary designation or other directive from the deceased Participant to the contrary, any Beneficiary may name his or her own Beneficiary to receive any benefits which may be payable in the event of the Beneficiary's death prior to the receipt of all the Participant's death benefits to which the Beneficiary was entitled.
- (e) Notwithstanding any provision in this section, any Beneficiary named hereunder will be considered a contingent Beneficiary until the death of the Participant (or Beneficiary, as the case may be), and until such time will have no rights granted to Beneficiaries under the Plan.
- (f) Designated Beneficiary will also include a non-spouse Designated Beneficiary. For this purpose, a non-spouse Designated Beneficiary means a Designated Beneficiary other than (i) a Surviving Spouse or (ii) a Spouse or former Spouse who is an Alternate Payee under a Qualified Domestic Relations Order.

# 7.3 Minimum Distribution Requirements

All distributions required under this Article shall be determined and made in accordance with the minimum distribution requirements of Code Section 401(a)(9) and the Regulations issued thereunder, including the minimum distribution incidental benefit rules found at Regulations Section 1.401(a)(9)-(G). The entire interest of a Participant must be distributed or begin to be distributed no later than the Participant's Required Beginning Date. Life Expectancy and joint and last survivor life expectancies are computed by using the expected return multiples found in Regulations Section 1.72-9. The provisions of this Article will apply for purposes of determining required minimum distributions for

calendar years beginning with the 2003 calendar year. Notwithstanding the other provisions of this Article, distributions may be made under a designation made before January 1, 1984, in accordance with Section 242(b)(2) of the Tax Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act ("TEFRA") and the provisions of the Plan that relate to Section 242(b)(2) of TEFRA.

#### 7.4 Limits On Distribution Periods

As of the First Distribution Calendar Year, distributions, if not made in a single sum, may only be made over one of the following periods (or a combination thereof):

- (a) the life of the Participant,
- (b) the life of the Participant and a Designated Beneficiary,
- (c) a period certain not extending beyond the life expectancy of the Participant, or
- (d) a period certain not extending beyond the joint and last survivor life expectancy of the Participant and a Designated Beneficiary.

# 7.5 Required Beginning Date

The Participant's entire interest will be distributed, or begin to be distributed, to the Participant no later than the Participant's Required Beginning Date as defined at paragraph 1.99.

#### 7.6 **Death Of Participant Before Distributions Begin**

If the Participant dies before required distributions begin, the Participant's entire interest will be distributed, or begin to be distributed, no later than as follows:

- (a) If the Participant's surviving Spouse is the Participant's sole designated Beneficiary, then, except as provided in the Adoption Agreement, distributions to the surviving Spouse will begin by December 31 of the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in which the Participant died, or by December 31 of the calendar year in which the Participant would have attained age 70½, if later.
- (b) If the Participant's surviving Spouse is not the Participant's sole Designated Beneficiary, then, except as provided in the Adoption Agreement, distributions to the Designated Beneficiary will begin by December 31 of the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in which the Participant died.
- (c) If there is no Designated Beneficiary as of the date of the Participant's death who remains a Beneficiary as of September 30 of the year immediately following the year of the Participant's death, the Participant's entire interest will be distributed by December 31 of the calendar year containing the fifth anniversary of the Participant's death.
- (d) If the Participant's surviving Spouse is the Participant's sole Designated Beneficiary and the surviving Spouse dies after the Participant but before distributions to the surviving Spouse begin, this paragraph 7.6, with the exception of paragraph 7.6(a), will apply as if the surviving Spouse were the Participant.

For purposes of this paragraph and paragraphs 7.10 and 7.11, unless subparagraph 7.6(d) applies, distributions are considered to begin on the Participant's Required Beginning Date. If subparagraph 7.6(d) applies, distributions are considered to begin on the date distributions are required to begin to the surviving Spouse under paragraph 7.6(a). If distributions under an annuity purchased from an insurance company irrevocably commence to the Participant before the Participant's Required Beginning Date [or to the Participant's surviving Spouse before the date distributions are required to begin to the surviving Spouse under paragraph 7.6(a)], the date distributions are considered to begin is the date distributions actually commence.

#### 7.7 Forms Of Distributions

Unless the Participant's interest is distributed in the form of an annuity purchased from an insurance company or in a single sum on or before the Required Beginning Date, as of the First Distribution Calendar Year distributions will be made in accordance with paragraph 7.8 through paragraph 7.11. If the Participant's interest is distributed in the form of an annuity purchased from an insurance company, distributions thereunder will be made in accordance with the requirements of Code Section 401(a)(9) and the corresponding Treasury Regulations.

# 7.8 Amount Of Required Minimum Distribution For Each Distribution Calendar Year

During the Participant's lifetime, the minimum amount that will be distributed for each Distribution Calendar Year is the lesser of:

(a) the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant's account balance including Roth Elective Deferrals by the distribution period set forth in the Uniform Lifetime Table found in Regulations Section 1.401(a)(9)-9, Q&A-2, using the Participant's age as of the Participant's birthday in the Distribution Calendar Year; or

(b) if the Participant's sole Designated Beneficiary for the Distribution Calendar Year is the Participant's Spouse, the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant's account balance by the number in the Joint and Last Survivor Table set forth in Regulations Section 1.401(a)(9)-9, Q&A-3, using the Participant's and Spouse's attained ages as of the Participant's and Spouse's birthdays in the Distribution Calendar Year.

# 7.9 Lifetime Required Minimum Distributions Continue Through Year Of Participant's Death Required minimum distributions will be determined under this paragraph and paragraph 7.8 beginning with the first Distribution Calendar Year and continuing up to and including the Distribution Calendar Year that includes the Participant's date of death.

# 7.10 **Death On Or After Required Distributions Begin**

- (a) **Participant Survived By Designated Beneficiary** If the Participant dies on or after the date distributions begin and there is a Designated Beneficiary, the minimum amount that will be distributed for each Distribution Calendar Year after the year of the Participant's death is the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant's account balance by the longer of the remaining life expectancy of the Participant's Designated Beneficiary, determined as follows:
- (1) The Participant's remaining life expectancy is calculated in accordance with the Single Life Table found in Regulations Section 1.401(a)(9)-9, Q&A-1, using the age of the Participant in the year of death, reduced by one (1) for each subsequent year.
- (2) If the Participant's surviving Spouse is the Participant's sole Designated Beneficiary, the remaining life expectancy of the surviving Spouse is calculated in accordance with the Single Life Table found in Regulations Section 1.401(a)(9)-9, Q&A-1, for each Distribution Calendar Year after the year of the Participant's death using the surviving Spouse's age as of the Spouse's birthday in that year. For Distribution Calendar Years after the year of the surviving Spouse's death, the remaining life expectancy of the surviving Spouse is calculated using the age of the surviving Spouse as of the Spouse's birthday in the calendar year of the Spouse's death, reduced by one (1) for each subsequent calendar year.
- (3) If the Participant's surviving Spouse is not the Participant's sole Designated Beneficiary, the Designated Beneficiary's remaining life expectancy is calculated under the Single Life Table using the age of the Beneficiary in the year following the year of the Participant's death, reduced by one (1) for each subsequent year.
- (b) **No Designated Beneficiary** If the Participant dies on or after the date required distributions begin and there is no Designated Beneficiary as of the Participant's death who remains a Beneficiary as of September 30 of the year after the year of the Participant's death, the minimum amount that will be distributed for each Distribution Calendar Year after the year of the Participant's death is the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant's account balance by the Participant's remaining life expectancy calculated under the Single Life Table, using the age of the Participant in the year of death, reduced by one (1) for each subsequent year.

# 7.11 Death Before Date Required Distributions Begin

- (a) **Participant Survived By Designated Beneficiary** If the Participant dies before the date required distributions begin and there is a Designated Beneficiary, the minimum amount that will be distributed for each Distribution Calendar Year after the year of the Participant's death is the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant's account balance by the remaining life expectancy of the Participant's Designated Beneficiary, determined as provided in paragraph 7.10.
- (b) **No Designated Beneficiary** If the Participant dies before the date distributions begin and there is no Designated Beneficiary as of the date of death of the Participant who remains a Beneficiary as of September 30 of the year following the year of the Participant's death, distribution of the Participant's entire interest must be completed by December 31 of the calendar year containing the fifth anniversary of the Participant's death.
- (c) Death Of Surviving Spouse Before Distributions To Surviving Spouse Are Required To Begin If the Participant dies before the date distributions begin, the Participant's Surviving Spouse is the Participant's sole Designated Beneficiary, and the Surviving Spouse dies before distributions are required to begin to the Surviving Spouse under paragraph 7.6(a), this paragraph shall apply as if the Surviving Spouse were the Participant.

# 7.12 Prior Pre-Retirement Distribution Options

(a) **Elimination Of Pre-Retirement Age 70½ Distribution Option** – The pre-retirement age 70½ distribution option will only be eliminated for Employees who reach age 70½ in or after a calendar year that begins after the later of December 31, 1998, or the date of adoption of this amended Plan. The pre-retirement age 70½ distribution option is an optional form of benefit under which benefits payable in a particular distribution form (including any modifications that may be elected after benefit commencement) begin at a time during the period that

begins on or after January 1 of the calendar year in which an Employee reaches age 70½ and ends April 1 of the immediately following calendar year.

- (b) **Election To Defer** If the Plan Administrator offered an election to defer distributions, a Participant who is not a 5% owner who reaches age 70½ in years after 1995 and who made the election by April 1 of the calendar year following the year in which he or she reached age 70½ (or by December 31, 1997, in the case of a Participant who reached age 70½ in 1996) may defer distribution until the calendar year following the calendar year in which his or her retirement occurs. If the Plan Administrator does not offer such an election, or if the election is offered but not made, the Participant will begin receiving distributions by April 1<sup>st</sup> of the calendar year following the year in which he or she reaches age 70½ (or by December 31, 1997 in the case of a Participant who reached age 70½ in 1996).
- (c) **Election To Suspend** If the Plan Administrator offered an election to suspend distributions, a Participant who is not a 5% owner who reached age 70½ prior to 1997 and who made the election may stop distributions and recommence by April 1 of the calendar year following the year in which the Participant actually retires. In such an event, the Plan Administrator may elect that a new Annuity Starting Date will begin upon the distribution recommencement date.

#### 7.13 Transitional Rules

- (a) Notwithstanding the other requirements of this Article and subject to the requirements of Article VIII, Joint and Survivor Annuity Requirements, distribution on behalf of any Employee, including a 5% owner may be made in accordance with all of the following requirements, regardless of when such distribution commences:
- (1) the distribution by the Plan is one which would not have disqualified such Plan under Code Section 401(a)(9) as in effect prior to amendment by the Deficit Reduction Act of 1984,
- (2) the distribution is in accordance with a method of distribution designated by the Participant whose interest in the Plan is being distributed or, if the Participant is deceased, by a Beneficiary of such Participant,
- (3) such designation was in writing, was signed by the Participant or the Beneficiary, and was made before January 1, 1984,
  - (4) the Participant had accrued a benefit under the Plan as of December 31, 1983, and
- (5) the method of distribution designated by the Participant or the Beneficiary specifies the time at which distribution will commence, the period over which distributions will be made, and in the case of any distribution upon the Participant's death, the Beneficiaries of the Participant listed in order of priority.
- (b) A distribution upon death will not be covered by this transitional rule unless the information in the designation contains the required information described above with respect to the distributions to be made upon the death of the Participant.
- (c) For any distribution which commences before January 1, 1984, but continues after December 31, 1983, the Participant or the Beneficiary to whom such distribution is being made, will be presumed to have designated the method of distribution under which the distribution is being made, if the method of distribution was specified in writing and the distribution satisfies the requirements in subparagraphs (a)(1) through (5) above.
- (d) If a designation is revoked, any subsequent distribution must satisfy the requirements of Code Section 401(a)(9) and the Regulations thereunder. If a designation is revoked subsequent to the date distributions are required to begin, the Plan must distribute by the end of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the revocation occurs the total amount not yet distributed which would have been required to have been distributed to satisfy Code Section 401(a)(9) and the Regulations thereunder, but for the Code Section 242(b)(2) election of the Tax Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act of 1982. For calendar years beginning after 1988, such distributions must meet the minimum distribution incidental benefit requirements in Regulations Section 1.401(a)(9)-2. Any changes in the designation will be considered to be a revocation of the designation. However, the mere substitution or addition of another Beneficiary (one not named in the designation) under the designation will not be considered to be a revocation of the designation, so long as such substitution or addition does not alter the period over which distributions are to be made under the designation, directly or indirectly (for example, by altering the relevant measuring life). In the case in which an amount is transferred or rolled over from one plan to another plan, the rules in Regulations Section 1.401(a)(9)-8, Q&A-14 and Q&A-15 shall apply.

#### 7.14 Distributions To Minors And Individuals Who Are Legally Incompetent

Benefits payable to either a minor or an individual who has been declared legally incompetent shall be paid, at the direction of the conservator appointed either under a court order or applicable state law that permits such an individual to be a court appointed guardian for the benefit of said minor or incompetent.

#### 7.15 Unclaimed Benefits

- (a) The Plan Administrator shall notify Participants or Beneficiaries by certified or registered mail sent to his or her last known address of record with the Employer when their benefits become distributable as provided at paragraph 6.15 hereof. If a Participant or Beneficiary does not respond to the notice within ninety (90) days of the date of the notice, the Plan Administrator may take reasonable steps to locate the Participant or Beneficiary including, but not limited to, requesting assistance from the Employer, Employees, Social Security Administration and/or the Internal Revenue Service.
- (b) If the Participant cannot be located after a period of twelve (12) months, or such other period determined by the Plan Administrator, the Plan Administrator shall treat the benefit as a forfeiture pursuant to paragraph 9.8. The forfeiture provisions of this subparagraph 7.15(b) apply only to the Participant's or Beneficiary's account balance which is less than \$1,000. If the Employer does not make a contribution for the Plan Year during which the forfeiture takes place, such amount shall first be applied to pay Plan expenses and, if there are no such expenses, it shall then be allocated to eligible Participant accounts as if the amount were the Employer's contribution for such Plan Year.
- (c) If a Participant or Beneficiary later makes a claim for such benefit, the Plan Administrator shall validate such claim and provide the Participant or Beneficiary with all notices and other information necessary for the Participant or Beneficiary to perfect the claim. If the Plan Administrator validates the claim for benefits, the Participant's account balance shall be restored to the benefit amount treated as a forfeiture. Such benefit shall not be adjusted for investment earnings or losses during the period beginning on the date of forfeiture and ending on the date of restoration. The funds necessary to restore the Participant's account will first be taken from amounts eligible for reallocation or other disposition as forfeitures with respect to the Plan Year. If such funds do not exist or if such funds are insufficient, the Employer will make a contribution prior to the date on which the benefit is payable to restore such Participant's account. Such benefit shall be paid or commence to be paid in the same manner as if the benefit was eligible for distribution on the date the claim for benefit is validated.
- (d) The Plan Administrator shall follow the same procedure in locating and subsequently treating as a forfeiture the benefit of a Participant or Beneficiary whose benefit has been properly paid under Plan terms but where the Participant or Beneficiary has not negotiated the benefit check(s).
- (e) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Plan Administrator may establish alternative procedures for locating and administering the benefits of missing Plan Participants, including but not limited to re-establishing the Participant's account.
- (f) In the event of a Plan termination, the Plan Administrator shall apply such search methods for locating missing Participants as described in the Department of Labor Field Assistance Bulletin 2004-02 as it considers in its sole discretion appropriate under the circumstances.
- (g) In making distributions from a terminating Plan on behalf of Participants who are either determined to be missing or who otherwise fail to elect a method of distribution in connection with the termination of the Plan, the Plan Administrator shall comply with the relevant requirements of proposed Treasury Regulation §2550.404a-2, without regard to the amount involved in the rollover distribution.
- (h) Unless elected otherwise in the Adoption Agreement, if a terminated Participant cannot be located, the Participant's Vested Account Balance is in excess of \$1,000 but not greater than \$5,000, and no Participant election has been made regarding the disposition of his or her Vested Account Balance, the automatic rollover provisions of Code Section 401(a)(31)(B) as contained in paragraph 6.5 may be applied to said account.

# 7.16 **2009 Required Minimum Distributions**

Notwithstanding paragraph 7.3 of the Plan, a Participant or Beneficiary who would have been required to receive Required Minimum Distributions for 2009 but for the enactment of Code Section 401(a)(9)(H) ("2009 Required Minimum Distributions"), and who would have satisfied that requirement by receiving distributions that are (1) equal to the 2009 Required Minimum Distributions or (2) one or more payments in a series of substantially equal distributions (that include the 2009 Required Minimum Distributions) made at least annually and expected to last for the life (or life expectancy) of the Participant, the joint lives (or joint life expectancy) of the Participant and the Participant's Designated Beneficiary, or for a period of at least ten (10) years, will not receive those distributions for 2009 unless the Participant or Beneficiary chooses to receive such distributions. Participants and Beneficiaries described in preceding sentence were given the opportunity to elect to receive the distributions described in the preceding sentence. In applying the five (5) year rule, the relief allows the 2009 calendar year to be ignored. For Beneficiaries of deceased Participants, 2009 will not be counted as part of the five (5) year period during which they must take a distribution.

# ARTICLE VIII JOINT AND SURVIVOR ANNUITY REQUIREMENTS

# 8.1 Applicability Of Provisions

The provisions of this Article shall apply to any Participant who is credited with at least one (1) Hour of Service with the Employer and such other Participants as provided in paragraph 8.8.

#### 8.2 Payment Of Qualified Joint And Survivor Annuity

Unless an optional form of benefit is selected pursuant to a Qualified Election within the 180-day period [ninety (90) day period for Plan Years beginning before January 1, 2007] ending on the Annuity Starting Date, a Participant's Vested Account Balance will be paid in the form of a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity. For this purpose, a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity with respect to an unmarried Participant's Vested Account Balance will be paid in the form of a straight life annuity. A straight life annuity means an annuity payable in equal installments for the life of the Participant that terminates upon the Participant's death. The Participant may elect to have such annuity distributed upon attainment of the Early Retirement Age under the Plan, if any.

For Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2007, if a married Participant elects to waive the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity, the Participant may elect the Qualified Optional Survivor Annuity at any time during the applicable election period.

# 8.3 Payment Of Qualified Pre-Retirement Survivor Annuity

Unless an optional form of benefit has been elected within the Election Period pursuant to a Qualified Election, if a Participant dies before benefits have commenced then the Participant's Vested Account Balance shall be paid in the form of a life annuity for the life of the surviving Spouse. The surviving Spouse may elect to have such annuity distributed within a reasonable period after the Participant's death. If no election has been made within the Election Period prior to the Participant's death, the surviving Spouse shall have the right to select an optional form of benefit after the Participant's death. Such election will only be permitted if the surviving Spouse is provided with a notice similar to that required under paragraph 8.5 except that the notice will be modified to explain a life annuity rather than a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity.

A Participant who does not meet the age thirty-five (35) requirement set forth in the Election Period as of the end of any current Plan Year may make a special Qualified Election to waive the Qualified Pre-Retirement Survivor Annuity for the period beginning on the date of such election and ending on the first day of the Plan Year in which the Participant will attain age thirty-five (35). Such election shall not be valid unless the Participant receives a written explanation of the Qualified Pre-Retirement Survivor Annuity in such terms as are comparable to the explanation required under paragraph 8.5. Qualified Pre-Retirement Survivor Annuity coverage will be automatically reinstated as of the first day of the Plan Year in which the Participant attains age thirty-five (35). Any new waiver on or after such date shall be subject to the full requirements of this Article.

#### 8.4 Qualified Election

A Qualified Election is an election to either waive a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity or a Qualified Pre-Retirement Survivor Annuity. Any such election shall not be effective unless:

- (a) the Participant's Spouse consents in writing to the election,
- (b) the election designates a specific Beneficiary, including any class of Beneficiaries or any contingent Beneficiaries, which may not be changed without spousal consent unless the Spouse expressly permits designations by the Participant without any further spousal consent,
  - (c) the Spouse's consent acknowledges the effect of the election, and
  - (d) the Spouse's consent is witnessed by a Plan representative or notary public.

A Participant's waiver of the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity shall not be effective unless the election designates a form of benefit payment that may not be changed without spousal consent unless the Spouse expressly permits designations by the Participant without any further spousal consent. If it is established to the satisfaction of the Plan Administrator that the Participant is unmarried or that the Spouse cannot be located, a waiver will be deemed a Qualified Election. Any consent by a Spouse obtained under this provision (or establishment that the consent of a Spouse cannot be obtained) shall be effective only with respect to such Spouse. A consent that permits designations by the Participant without any requirement of further consent by such Spouse must acknowledge that the Spouse has the right to limit consent to a specific Beneficiary, and a specific form of benefit where applicable, and that the Spouse voluntarily elects to relinquish either or both of such rights. A Participant may revoke a prior waiver without the consent of the Spouse at any time before the commencement of benefits. The number of revocations shall not be limited. No consent obtained under this provision shall be valid unless the Participant has received notice as provided in paragraphs 8.5 and 8.6 below.

#### 8.5 Notice Requirements For Qualified Joint And Survivor Annuity

The Plan Administrator will notify the Participant when a benefit under the Plan is due. Such notification shall include a general description indicating the investment options available under the Plan (including fees) that will available if distributions are deferred and the portion of the summary plan description that contains any special rules that might materially affect a Participant's decision to defer.

In the case of a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity, the Plan Administrator shall, no less than thirty (30) days and no more than 180 days [ninety (90) days for notices given in Plan Years beginning before January 1, 2007] prior to the Annuity Starting Date, provide each Participant a written explanation of:

- (a) the terms and conditions of a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity and the Qualified Optional Survivor Annuity,
- (b) the Participant's right to make and the effect of an election to waive the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity form of benefit,
  - (c) the rights of a Participant's Spouse, and
- (d) the right to make and the effect of a revocation of a previous election to waive the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity. The written explanation shall comply with the requirements of Regulations Section 1.417(a)(3).

The consent of the Participant and the Participant's Spouse shall be obtained in writing within the 180-day period [ninety (90) day period for Plan Years beginning before January 1, 2007] ending on the Annuity Starting Date. The Annuity Starting Date is the first day of the first period for which an amount is paid as an annuity or any other form. The Plan Administrator shall notify the Participant and the Participant's Spouse of the right to defer any distribution until the Participant's Account Balance is no longer immediately distributable and, for Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2006, the consequences of failing to defer any distribution. Such notification shall include a general description of the material features, an explanation of the optional forms of benefit available under the Plan in a manner that would satisfy the notice requirements of Code Section 417(a)(3), and a description of the consequences of failing to defer a distribution, and shall be provided no less than thirty (30) days and no more than 180 days [ninety (90) days for Plan Years beginning before January 1, 2007] prior to the Annuity Starting Date. However, distribution may commence less than thirty (30) days after the notice described in the preceding sentence is given, provided the distribution is one to which Code Section 401(a)(11) and 417 do not apply, the Plan Administrator clearly informs the Participant that the Participant has a right to a period of at least thirty (30) days after receiving the notice to consider the decision of whether or not to elect a distribution (and if applicable a particular distribution option), and the Participant, after receiving the notice, affirmatively elects a distribution.

# 8.6 Notice Requirements For Qualified Pre-Retirement Survivor Annuity

In the case of a Qualified Pre-Retirement Survivor Annuity as described in paragraph 8.3, the Plan Administrator shall provide each Participant within the applicable period for such Participant a written explanation of the Qualified Pre-Retirement Survivor Annuity in such terms and in such manner as would be comparable to the explanation provided for meeting the requirements of paragraph 8.5 applicable to a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity. The written explanation shall comply with the requirements of Regulations Section 1.417(a)(3)-1. The applicable period for a Participant is whichever of the following periods ends at the latest date:

- (a) the period beginning with the first day of the Plan Year in which the Participant attains age thirty-two (32) and ending with the close of the Plan Year preceding the Plan Year in which the Participant attains age thirty-five (35),
  - (b) a reasonable period ending after the individual becomes a Participant, or
  - (c) a reasonable period ending after this Article first applies to the Participant.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, notice must be provided within a reasonable period ending after separation from Service in the case of a Participant who separates from Service before attaining age thirty-five (35). If such a Participant subsequently returns to employment with the Employer, the applicable period for such Participant shall be re-determined.

For purposes of applying the preceding paragraph, a reasonable period ending after the events described in (b) and (c) is the end of the two (2) year period beginning one (1) year prior to the date the applicable event occurs, and ending one (1) year after that date. In the case of a Participant who separates from Service before the Plan Year in which age thirty-five (35) is attained, notice shall be provided within the two (2) year period beginning one (1) year prior to separation and ending one (1) year after separation.

The written explanation shall comply with the requirements of Regulations Section 1.417(a)(3)-1.

#### 8.7 Special Safe Harbor Exception For Certain Profit-Sharing Or 401(k) Plans

This paragraph shall apply to a Participant in a profit-sharing or 401(k) plan, and to any distribution, made on or after the first day of the first Plan Year beginning after 1988, from or under a separate account attributable solely to Qualified Voluntary Contributions, as maintained on behalf of a Participant in a money purchase pension, if the following conditions are satisfied:

- (a) the Participant does not elect payments in the form of a life annuity, and
- (b) on the death of a Participant, the Participant's Vested Account Balance will be paid to the Participant's Surviving Spouse, but if there is no surviving Spouse, or if the Surviving Spouse has consented to, in a manner conforming to a Qualified Election, then to the Participant's Beneficiary.
- (c) The surviving Spouse may elect to have distribution of the Vested Account Balance commence within the ninety (90) day period following the date of the Participant's death. The account balance shall be adjusted for gains or losses occurring after the Participant's death in accordance with the provisions of the Plan governing the adjustment of account balances for other types of distributions.
- (d) If a Plan is otherwise exempt from the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity requirements, the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity requirements are not triggered unless the Participant in the Plan actually elects a life annuity as a distribution option.
- (e) These safe harbor rules shall not be applicable to a Participant in a profit-sharing or 401(k) plan if the Plan is the recipient of assets as the result of a merger with a plan which was subject to the survivor annuity requirements of Code Sections 401(a)(11) and 417, and would therefore have a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity as its normal form of benefit, unless separate accounts or separate accounting was monitored for the assets of the merged plan.
- (f) Money purchase pension plans are required to include the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity option. These Plans may eliminate any periodic payment options that are not required by the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity rules such as installment payments.
- (g) The Participant may waive the spousal death benefit described in this paragraph at any time provided that no such waiver shall be effective unless it satisfies the conditions (described in paragraph 8.4) that would apply to the Participant's waiver of the Qualified Pre-Retirement Survivor Annuity.
- (h) Profit-sharing plans that satisfy all of the requirements of this paragraph so that the Plan is not required to provide a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity for the Participant, but do provide such annuity (even if the annuity is the normal form), may replace the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity with payment in a single-sum distribution form that is otherwise identical to such annuity in accordance with the requirements under the Regulations Section 1.411(d)-4.
- (i) For purposes of this paragraph, Vested Account Balance shall mean, in the case of a money purchase pension plan, the Participant's separate account balance attributable solely to accumulated deductible employee contributions within the meaning of Code Section 72(o)(5)(b); in the case of a profit-sharing plan, Vested Account Balance shall have the same meaning as provided in paragraph 1.127.
- (j) If this paragraph 8.7 is operative, then all other provisions of this Article VIII other than paragraph 8.8 are inoperative.

# 8.8 Transitional Rule

Special transitional rules apply to Participants who were not receiving benefits on August 23, 1984.

- (a) Notwithstanding the other requirements of this Article and subject to the requirements of Article VII, Distribution Requirements, distribution on behalf of any Employee, including a more than 5% owner, may be made in accordance with all of the following requirements (regardless of when such distribution commences):
- (1) The distribution by the Plan is one which would not have disqualified such Plan under Code Section 401(a)(9) as in effect prior to amendment by the Deficit Reduction Act of 1984.
- (2) The distribution is in accordance with a method of distribution designated by the Employee whose interest in the Plan is being distributed or, if the Employee is deceased, by a Beneficiary of such Employee.
- (3) Such designation was in writing, was signed by the Employee or the Beneficiary, and was made before January 1, 1984.
  - (4) The Employee had accrued a benefit under the Plan as of December 31, 1983.

- (5) The method of distribution designated by the Employee or the Beneficiary specifies the time at which distribution will commence, the period over which distributions will be made, and in the case of any distribution upon the Employee's death, the Beneficiaries of the Employee listed in order of priority.
- (b) A distribution upon death will not be covered by this transitional rule unless the information in the designation contains the required information described above with respect to the distributions to be made upon the death of the Employee.
- (c) For any distribution which commences before January 1, 1984, but continues after December 31, 1983, the Employee, or the Beneficiary, to whom such distribution is being made, will be presumed to have designated the method of distribution under which the distribution is being made if the method of distribution was specified in writing and the distribution satisfies the requirements in subparagraphs 8.8(a) and (a)(5).
- (d) If a designation is revoked, any subsequent distribution must satisfy the requirements of Code Section 401(a)(9) and the Regulations thereunder. If a designation is revoked subsequent to the date distributions are required to begin, the Plan must distribute by the end of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the revocation occurs the total amount not yet distributed which would have been required to have been distributed to satisfy Code Section 401(a)(9) and the Regulations thereunder, but for the Section 242(b)(2) election. For calendar years beginning after December 31, 1988, such distributions must meet the minimum distribution incidental benefit requirements. Any changes in the designation will be considered to be a revocation of the designation. However, the mere substitution or addition of another Beneficiary (one not named in the designation) under the designation will not be considered to be a revocation of the designation, so long as such substitution or addition does not alter the period over which distributions are to be made under the designation, directly or indirectly (for example, by altering the relevant measuring life).
- (e) In the case in which an amount is transferred or rolled over from one plan to another plan, the rules in Regulations Section 1.401(a)(9)-8, Q&A-14 and Q&A-15 shall apply.

#### 8.9 Automatic Joint And Survivor Annuity And Early Survivor Annuity

Any Participant who has elected pursuant to paragraph 8.8(b) and any Participant who does not elect under paragraph 8.8(a) or who meets the requirements of paragraph 8.8(a), except that such Participant does not have at least ten (10) years of vesting Service when he or she separates from Service, shall have his or her benefits distributed in accordance with all of the following requirements if benefits would have been payable in the form of a life annuity in accordance with all of the following requirements:

- (a) If benefits in the form of a life annuity become payable to a married Participant who:
  - (1) begins to receive payments under the Plan on or after Normal Retirement Age, or
  - (2) dies on or after Normal Retirement Age while still working for the Employer, or
  - (3) begins to receive payments on or after the Qualified Early Retirement Age, or
- (4) separates from Service on or after attaining Normal Retirement Age (or the Qualified Early Retirement Age) and after satisfying the eligibility requirements for the payment of benefits under the Plan and thereafter dies before beginning to receive such benefits, such benefits will be received under this Plan in the form of a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity, unless the Participant has elected otherwise during the Election Period. The Election Period must begin at least six (6) months before the Participant attains Qualified Early Retirement Age and end not more than ninety (90) days before the commencement of benefits. Any election will be in writing and may be changed by the Participant at any time.
- (b) A Participant who is employed after attaining the Qualified Early Retirement Age will be given the opportunity to elect, during the Election Period, to have a survivor annuity payable on death. If the Participant elects the survivor annuity, payments under such annuity must not be less than the payments which would have been made to the Spouse under the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity if the Participant had retired on the day before his or her death. Any election under this provision will be in writing and may be changed by the Participant at any time. The Election Period begins on the later of:
  - (1) the ninetieth day before the Participant attains the Qualified Early Retirement Age, or
- (2) the date on which participation begins, and ends on the date the Participant terminates employment.

For purposes of this paragraph, Qualified Early Retirement Age is defined at paragraph 1.89 herein.

(c) For Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2007, if the Participant elects to waive the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity or Qualified Pre-Retirement Survivor Annuity form of benefit, he or she may elect a Qualified Optional Survivor Annuity (as defined at paragraph 1.93) during the applicable Election Period, and revoke such election at any time during the applicable Election Period. Any waiver of the Qualified Optional Survivor Annuity must satisfy the waiver and notice requirements of paragraph 8.5.

# 8.10 **Annuity Contracts**

Any annuity contract distributed under this Plan must be nontransferable. The terms of any annuity contract purchased and distributed by the Plan to a Participant or Spouse shall comply with the requirements of this Plan.

# ARTICLE IX VESTING

#### 9.1 **Employee Contributions**

A Participant shall always have a 100% vested and nonforfeitable interest in his or her Elective Deferrals, Roth Elective Deferrals, Catch-Up Contributions, Voluntary After-tax Contributions, Required After-tax Contributions, Qualified Voluntary Contributions, Rollover and Transfer Contributions, plus the earnings thereon. No forfeiture of Employer contributions (including any minimum contributions made under paragraph 14.2) will occur solely as a result of a Participant's withdrawal of any Employee contributions. Separate accounts for each contribution source will be maintained for each Participant. Each account will be credited with the applicable contributions and earnings thereon.

# 9.2 **Employer Contributions**

A Participant shall always have a 100% vested and nonforfeitable interest in any Qualified Matching Contributions, Qualified Non-Elective Contributions, Safe Harbor Matching Contributions, and Safe Harbor Non-Elective Contributions made by the Employer, plus the earnings thereon. Separate accounts for each contribution source will be maintained. A Participant shall acquire a vested and nonforfeitable interest in his or her account attributable to other Employer contributions in accordance with the schedule selected in the Adoption Agreement, provided that if a Participant is not already fully vested, he or she shall become so upon attaining Normal Retirement Age, Early Retirement Age, on death prior to normal retirement (provided the Participant has not terminated employment prior to death), on retirement due to Disability, or on termination of the Plan. Any contributions made on behalf of a Participant with a Disability within the meaning of Code Section 22(e)(3) at the election of the Employer must be fully vested when made. Effective for Plan Years beginning in 2002, Employer Matching Contributions are subject to the minimum vesting requirements of Code Section 411 and must satisfy either a three (3) year cliff vesting schedule or a two (2) to six (6) year graded vesting schedule as elected by the Employer.

Vested Matching Contributions (including Qualified Matching Contributions) will be subject to forfeiture if the contributions to which they relate are determined to be Excess Deferrals (unless the Excess Deferrals are for Non-Highly Compensated Employees), Excess Contributions, or Excess Aggregate Contributions.

#### 9.3 Vesting Of Employer Contributions In A SIMPLE 401(k) Plan

A Participant shall have a 100% vested and nonforfeitable interest in his or her account attributable to any Employer contributions made under a SIMPLE 401(k) Plan. All previous contributions made under the Plan shall become nonforfeitable as of the first day of the Plan Year during which the SIMPLE 401(k) provisions first apply.

#### 9.4 Computation Period

The vesting computation period used for determining Years of Service and Breaks in Service when calculating the vesting of a Participant means any twelve (12) consecutive month period as elected in the Adoption Agreement during which an Employee completes the number of Hours of Service (not to exceed 1,000) as specified in the Adoption Agreement. Alternatively, if the Plan elects the Elapsed Time method of crediting Service, the vesting computation period for which the Employee receives credit for a Year of Service will be determined under the Service crediting rules of paragraph 1.107.

# 9.5 Requalification Prior To Five Consecutive One-Year Breaks In Service

Subject to Article VI, the account balance of a Participant who is re-employed prior to incurring five (5) consecutive one (1) year Breaks in Service or Periods of Severance shall consist of any undistributed amount in his or her account as of the date of re-employment plus any future contributions added to such account plus the investment earnings on the account. The Vested Account Balance of such Participant shall be determined by multiplying the Participant's account balance (adjusted to include any distribution or redeposit made under paragraph 6.5) by such Participant's vested percentage. All Service of the Participant, both prior to and following the break, shall be counted when computing the Participant's vested percentage.

#### 9.6 Requalification After Five Consecutive One-Year Breaks In Service

Subject to Article VI, if a Participant was not fully vested prior to termination of employment and is re-employed after incurring five (5) consecutive one (1) year Breaks in Service or Periods of Severance, a new account shall be established for such Participant to separate his or her deferred vested and nonforfeitable account, if any, from the account to which new allocations will be made. The Participant's deferred account to the extent remaining shall be fully vested and shall continue to share in earnings and losses of the Trust. When computing the Participant's vested portion of the new account, all pre-break and post-break Service shall be counted. However, notwithstanding this provision, no such former Participant who has had five (5) consecutive one (1) year Breaks in Service or Periods of Severance shall acquire a larger vested and nonforfeitable interest in his or her prior account balance as a result of requalification hereunder.

# 9.7 Calculating Vested Interest

A Participant's vested and nonforfeitable interest, as determined by the Plan Administrator shall be calculated by multiplying the fair market value of his or her account attributable to Employer contributions on the Valuation Date

concurrent with or preceding distribution by the decimal equivalent of the vested percentage as of his or her termination date. The amount attributable to Employer contributions for purposes of the calculation includes amounts previously paid out pursuant to paragraph 6.5 and not repaid. The Participant's vested and nonforfeitable interest, once calculated above, shall be reduced to reflect those amounts previously paid out to the Participant and not repaid by the Participant. The Participant's vested and nonforfeitable interest so determined shall continue to share in the investment earnings and any increase or decrease in the fair market value of the Trust up to the Valuation Date preceding or coinciding with payment.

#### 9.8 Forfeitures

Any balance in the account of a Participant who has separated from Service to which he or she is not entitled under the foregoing provisions, shall be forfeited and applied as provided in the Adoption Agreement or as set forth in an amendment in the form of an addendum to the Adoption Agreement. The allocation of forfeitures shall not be discontinued or decreased due a Participant's attainment of any age. The reallocation or other disposition of a nonvested benefit may only occur if the Participant has received payment of his or her entire vested benefit from the Plan, if the Participant has incurred five (5) consecutive one (1) year Breaks in Service, or a deemed cash-out has occurred. A Participant who is zero percent (0%) vested shall have a deemed cash-out distribution on the date of the Participant's separation from Service and shall not be entitled to an allocation of any forfeitures (if reallocated) of any portion of his account balance or of any other Participant who has terminated Service in the same or prior Plan Year.

A Participant who is less than 100% vested who receives a distribution in the year of his or her termination of Employment will receive an allocation of forfeitures unless the Participant fails to satisfy the allocation requirements elected in the Adoption Agreement. If the vested portion of a Participant's account balance is not distributed by the end of the second Plan Year after such Participant's termination of employment, forfeiture of the non-vested portion of the Participant's account balance may not take place until such Participant has incurred five (5) consecutive one (1) year Breaks in Service. While awaiting reallocation or other disposition, the Plan Administrator or his designate, if applicable, shall have the right to leave the non-vested benefit in the Participant's account or may transfer the non-vested benefit to a forfeiture suspense account. Amounts held in a forfeiture suspense account may share in any increase or decrease in fair market value of the assets of the Trust in accordance with Article V of the Plan. The Plan Administrator or his designate shall make such determination, if applicable.

If a Participant's account balance is forfeited prior to five (5) consecutive one (1) year Breaks in Service, the amount necessary to restore the account balance to a Participant will be obtained from one of the following sources: current Plan Year's forfeitures; an additional Employer contribution; or earnings on investments for the applicable Plan Year, as determined by the Plan Administrator. For purposes of this paragraph, if the value of a Participant's Vested Account Balance is zero (0), the Participant shall be deemed to have received a distribution of his or her Vested Account Balance.

A Highly Compensated Employee's Matching Contributions may be forfeited, even if vested, if the contributions to which they relate are Excess Deferrals, Excess Contributions or Excess Aggregate Contributions.

Benefits with respect to Participants who cannot be located as provided at paragraph 7.15 hereof will be treated in the same manner as a forfeiture. If any Participant's vested account balance is forfeited because the Participant or Beneficiary cannot be found, such benefit will be reinstated if a claim is made by the Participant or Beneficiary.

# 9.9 Amendment Of Vesting Schedule

No amendment to the Plan shall have the effect of decreasing a Participant's Vested Account Balance determined without regard to such amendment as of the later of the date such amendment is adopted or the date it becomes effective. This includes a Plan amendment that decreases a Participant's vested account balance, or otherwise places greater restrictions or conditions on a Participant's rights to Code Section 411(d)(6) protected benefits, even if the amendment merely adds a restriction or condition that is permitted under Code Section 412(d)(2) or to the extent permitted under Regulations Sections 1.411(d)-3 and 1.411(d)-4. Further, if the vesting schedule of the Plan is amended, or the Plan is amended in any way that directly or indirectly affects the computation of any Employee's nonforfeitable percentage or if the Plan is deemed amended by an automatic change to or from a Top-Heavy vesting schedule, each Employee with at least three (3) Years of Service with the Employer may elect, during the election period defined herein, to have his or her nonforfeitable percentage computed under the Plan without regard to such amendment. For Participants who do not have at least one (1) Hour of Service in any Plan Year beginning after 1988, the preceding sentence shall be applied by substituting "five (5) Years of Service" for "three (3) Years of Service" where such language appears. The period during which the election may be made shall commence with the date the amendment is adopted and shall end on the later of:

- (a) sixty (60) days after the amendment is adopted,
- (b) sixty (60) days after the amendment becomes effective, or
- (c) sixty (60) days after the Participant is issued written notice of the amendment by the Employer or the Trustee.

Should the Trustee notify the Participants involved, the Plan may be charged for the costs incurred.

Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, a Participant's account balance may be reduced to the extent permitted under Code Section 412(d)(2) or to the extent permitted under Regulations Sections 1.411(d)-3 and 1.411(d)-4. For purposes of this paragraph, a Plan amendment which has the effect of decreasing a Participant's account balance with respect to benefits attributable to Service before the amendment, shall be treated as reducing an accrued benefit. Furthermore, if the vesting schedule of a Plan is amended, in the case of an Employee who is a Participant as of the later of the date such amendment is adopted or the date it becomes effective, the nonforfeitable percentage (determined as of such date) of such Employee's Employer-derived accrued benefit will not be less than the percentage computed under the Plan without regard to such amendment. No amendment to the Plan shall be effective to eliminate or restrict an optional form of benefit. The preceding sentence shall not apply to a Plan amendment that eliminates or restricts the ability of a Participant to receive payment of his or her account balance under a particular form of benefit if the amendment provides a single sum distribution form that is otherwise identical to the optional form of benefit restricted. For purposes of this condition, a single-sum distribution form is otherwise identical only if it is identical in all respects to the eliminated or restricted optional form of benefit (or would be identical except that it provides greater rights to the Participant) except with respect to the timing of payments after commencement.

#### 9.10 Service With Controlled Groups

All Years of Service with all members of a controlled group of corporations [as defined in Code Section 414(b) as modified by Code Section 415(h)], all commonly controlled trades or businesses [as defined in Code Section 414(c) as modified by Code Section 415(h)], or members of an affiliated service group [as defined in Code Section 414(m)] of which the Employer is a part, and any other entity required to be aggregated with the Employer pursuant to Regulations under Code Section 414(o), shall be considered for purposes of determining a Participant's nonforfeitable percentage.

9.11 Compliance With Uniformed Services Employment And Reemployment Rights Act Of 1994
Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, Years of Service for vesting will be credited to Participants with respect to periods of qualified military service as provided in Code Section 414(u).

# ARTICLE X LIMITATIONS ON ALLOCATIONS

# 10.1 Maximum Annual Additions

In general, for purposes of applying the limitations in this Article, Compensation for a Limitation Year is the Compensation actually paid or made available in gross income during such Limitation Year. For Limitation Years beginning before January 1, 2002, the maximum Annual Addition that may be contributed or allocated to a Participant's Account under the Plan for any Limitation Year shall not exceed the lesser of:

- (a) the Defined Contribution Dollar Limitation, or
- (b) twenty-five percent (25%) of the Participant's Compensation (as elected in the Adoption Agreement) for the Limitation Year.

For Limitation Years beginning on or after January 1, 2002, except to the extent permitted under paragraph 4.7 and under Code Section 414(v), the Annual Addition that may be contributed or allocated to a Participant's account under the Plan for any Limitation Year beginning after December 31, 2006 shall not exceed the lesser of:

- (c) \$40,000, as adjusted for increases in the cost-of-living under Code Section 415(d), or
- (d) 100% of the Participant's Compensation (as elected in the Adoption Agreement), within the meaning of Code Section 415(c)(3), for the Limitation Year.

The Compensation limit referred to in (b) and (d) above shall not apply to any contribution for medical benefits after separation from Service [within the meaning of Code Section 401(h) or Code Section 419A(f)(2)] that is otherwise treated as an Annual Addition.

If a short Limitation Year is created because of an amendment changing the Limitation Year to a different twelve (12) consecutive month period, the Maximum Permissible Amount will not exceed the Defined Contribution Dollar Limitation multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of months in the short Limitation Year, and the denominator of which is twelve (12). If the Plan is terminated as of a date other than the last day of the Limitation Year, the Plan is deemed to have been amended to change its Limitation Year and the Maximum Permissible Amount shall be prorated for the resulting Short Limitation Year.

# 10.2 Participation In This Plan Only

If the Participant does not participate in and has never participated in another Qualified Plan, a Welfare Benefit Fund, individual medical account as defined in Code Section 415(I)(2), or a Simplified Employee Pension Plan as defined in Code Section 408(k) maintained by the adopting Employer, which provides an Annual Addition, the amount of Annual Additions which may be credited to the Participant's account for any Limitation Year will not exceed the lesser of the Maximum Permissible Amount or any other limitation contained in this Plan. If the Employer contribution that would otherwise be contributed or allocated to the Participant's account would cause the Annual Additions for the Limitation Year to exceed the Maximum Permissible Amount, the amount contributed or allocated will be reduced so that the Annual Additions for the Limitation Year will equal the Maximum Permissible Amount. Prior to determining the Participant's actual Compensation for the Limitation Year, the Employer may determine the Maximum Permissible Amount for a Participant on the basis of a reasonable estimate of the Participant's Compensation for the Limitation Year, uniformly determined for all Participants similarly situated. As soon as is administratively feasible after the end of the Limitation Year, the Maximum Permissible Amount for the Limitation Year will be determined on the basis of the Participant's actual Compensation for the Limitation Year.

#### 10.3 Disposition Of Excess Annual Additions

Any Excess Annual Addition shall be corrected by the use of the Employee Plans Compliance Resolution System (EPCRS) program for which it may be eligible.

# 10.4 Participation In Multiple Defined Contribution Plans

The Annual Additions that may be credited to a Participant's account under this Plan for any Limitation Year will not exceed the Maximum Permissible Amount. With respect to this Plan, the Maximum Permissible Amount is reduced by the Annual Additions credited to a Participant's account under any other qualified Master or Prototype Defined Contribution Plans, Welfare Benefit Funds, individual medical accounts as defined in Code Section 415(I)(2), Simplified Employee Pension Plans, and Code Section 403(b) annuity contracts purchased for certain Employees that may be maintained by the Employer which provide an Annual Addition for the same Limitation Year. If the Annual Additions with respect to the Participant under other Defined Contribution Plans, Welfare Benefit Funds, individual medical accounts and Simplified Employee Pension Plans maintained by the Employer are less than the Maximum Permissible Amount and the Employer contribution that would otherwise be contributed or allocated to the Participant's account under this Plan would cause the Annual Additions for the Limitation Year to exceed this limitation, the amount contributed or allocated under this Plan will be reduced so that the Annual Additions under all such plans and funds for the Limitation Year will equal the Maximum Permissible Amount. If the Annual Additions

with respect to the Participant under such other Defined Contribution Plans and Welfare Benefit Funds in the aggregate are equal to or greater than the Maximum Permissible Amount, no amount will be contributed or allocated to the Participant's account under this Plan for the Limitation Year. Prior to determining the Participant's actual Compensation for the Limitation Year, the Employer may determine the Maximum Permissible Amount for a Participant in the manner described in paragraph 10.1. As soon as administratively feasible after the end of the Limitation Year, the Maximum Permissible Amount for the Limitation Year will be determined on the basis of the Participant's actual Compensation for the Limitation Year. If the Participant is covered under another qualified Defined Contribution Plan maintained by the Employer which is not a Master or Prototype Plan, Annual Additions which may be credited to the Participant's account under this Plan for any Limitation Year will be limited in accordance with this paragraph as though the other plan were a Master or Prototype Plan unless the Employer specifies other limitations in the Adoption Agreement.

#### 10.5 Disposition Of Excess Annual Additions Under Two Plans

If a Participant's Annual Additions under this Plan and such other plans as described in the preceding paragraph would result in an Excess Annual Additions for a Limitation Year due to an error in estimating a Participant's Compensation for a Limitation Year under paragraph 10.4 or as a result of forfeitures, the Excess Annual Additions will be deemed to consist of the Annual Additions last allocated except that Annual Additions attributable to a Simplified Employee Pension Plan will be deemed to have been allocated first and then Annual Additions to a Welfare Benefit Fund or individual medical account as defined in Code Section 415(I)(2) will be deemed to have been allocated next regardless of the actual Allocation Date. If an Excess Annual Addition was allocated to a Participant on a Valuation or Allocation Date of this Plan that coincides with a valuation or allocation date of another plan, the Excess Annual Additions attributed to this Plan will be the product of:

- (a) the total Excess Annual Additions allocated as of such date, times
- (b) the ratio of:
- (1) the Annual Additions allocated to the Participant for the Limitation Year as of such date under this Plan, to
- (2) the total Annual Additions allocated to the Participant for the Limitation Year as of such date under this and all the other qualified Master or Prototype Defined Contribution Plans.

Any Excess Annual Additions attributed to this Plan will be disposed of in the manner described in paragraph 10.3.

# ARTICLE XI NONDISCRIMINATION TESTING

# 11.1 General Testing Requirements

With respect to each Plan Year, an Employer's Plan which offers a Code Section 401(k) cash or deferred arrangement and any contributions made thereunder must satisfy the Average Deferral Percentage Test ("ADP Test") and, if applicable, the Average Contribution Percentage Test ("ACP Test"). Under each of these tests, the Average Deferral Percentage (ADP) and the Average Contribution Percentage (ACP) for Highly Compensated Employees may not exceed the ADP and ACP for Non-Highly Compensated Employees by more than the amount permitted by application of the basic limit or the alternative limit. These limits are described at paragraphs 11.2 and 11.4 herein. If the ADP or ACP for Highly Compensated Employees exceeds the basic limit or the alternative limit, the applicable average for Highly Compensated Employees either must be reduced to the maximum permitted under the most liberal limit or the average of the Non-Highly Compensated Employees must be increased.

The reduction in the average is determined in accordance with paragraph 11.7 herein. In lieu of reducing the applicable average for the Highly Compensated Employees, the Employer may elect to make an additional Qualified Non-Elective Contribution ("QNEC") and/or a Qualified Matching Contribution ("QMAC") for Non-Highly Compensated Employees to increase their ADP and/or ACP to the point where the Plan satisfies the ADP and/or the ACP Test. These qualified contributions are described at paragraph 11.11 herein. Any Plan established under this Basic Plan Document #03 and associated Adoption Agreement may use different testing methods for the ADP and the ACP Tests provided the Plan established hereunder does not permit the recharacterization of Excess Contributions or Excess Elective Deferrals to be used in the ACP Test or permit the use of Qualified Matching Contributions in the ADP Test.

(a) Aggregation And Disaggregation Rules For A Multiple Employer Plan – Each Participating Employer together with any controlled group member of such Participating Employer, if applicable, shall be considered a separate Employer and each Participating Employer's Employees shall be mandatorily disaggregated from other Employees of this Plan for purposes of testing under Code Sections 401(a)(4), 401(k), 401(m), 410(b) and 416. If a Leased Employee is a common law Employee of a leasing organization as described in Code Section 414(n) and such Employee performs services to a Participating Employer, contributions allocated on behalf of such Leased Employee will be included for purposes of testing under Code Sections 401(a)(4), 401(k), 401(m), 410(b) and 416 with respect to the Participating Employer but only Leased Employees that perform services to the Participating Employer will be aggregated with its Employees for purposes of testing under Code Sections 401(a)(4), 401(k), 401(m), 410(b) or 416. Such Leased Employees will not again be aggregated with the other leasing organization employees for purposes of testing under Code Sections 401(a)(4), 401(k), 401(m), 410(b) and 416 in regard to that Participating Employer.

The rules regarding Safe Harbor Matching Contributions or Safe Harbor Non-Elective Employer Contributions pursuant to this Article III and Article XI will apply separately to each Participating Employer.

(b) Aggregation And Disaggregation Rules For Members Of A Controlled Group – Each Participating Employer together with any controlled group member of such Participating Employer, if applicable, shall be considered a separate Employer and their Employees shall be mandatorily disaggregated from other Employees of this Plan for purposes of testing under Code Sections 401(a)(4), 401(k), 401(m), 410(b) and 416.

The rules regarding Safe Harbor Matching Contributions or Safe Harbor Non-Elective Employer Contributions pursuant to this Article III and Article XI will apply separately to each Participating Employer.

# 11.2 ADP Testing Limitations

- (a) **Prior Year Testing** If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, the ADP for a Plan Year for Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees for each Plan Year and the Prior Plan Year's ADP for Participants who were Non-Highly Compensated Employees for the Prior Plan Year must satisfy the basic limit set forth in (1) or the alternative limit set forth at (2):
- (1) The ADP for the Plan Year for Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees for the Plan Year shall not exceed the Prior Plan Year's ADP for Participants who were Non-Highly Compensated Employees for the Prior Plan Year multiplied by 1.25; or
- (2) The ADP for a Plan Year for Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees for the Plan Year shall not exceed the Prior Plan Year's ADP for Participants who were Non-Highly Compensated Employees for the Prior Plan Year multiplied by 2.0, provided that the ADP for Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees does not exceed the ADP for Participants who were Non-Highly Compensated Employees in the Prior Plan Year by more than two (2) percentage points.

For the first Plan Year of a Plan where the Plan permits a Participant to make Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals and the Plan is not a successor Plan, for purposes of the foregoing limits, the Prior Plan Year's Non-Highly Compensated Employees' ADP shall be 3%, unless the Employer has elected in the Adoption Agreement to use the current Plan Year's ADP for these Participants.

(b) **Current Year Testing** – If no election is made by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, or if so elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, the ADP limits in (1) and (2), above, will be applied by comparing the current Plan Year's ADP for Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees with the current Plan Year's ADP for Participants who are Non-Highly Compensated Employees. Once made, the Employer can switch to Prior Year Testing for a Plan Year only if the Plan has used Current Year Testing for each of the preceding five (5) Plan Years (or if lesser, the number of Plan Years the Plan has been in existence) or if, as a result of a merger or acquisition described in Code Section 410(b)(6)(C)(i), the Employer maintains both a plan using Prior Year Testing and a plan using Current Year Testing and the change is made within the transition period described in Code Section 410(b)(6)(C)(ii).

Contributions taken into account for a Plan Year must be allocated to the Participant's account on a day within the Plan Year.

# 11.3 Special Rules Relating To Application Of The ADP Test

- (a) A Participant is a Highly Compensated Employee for a particular Plan Year if he or she meets the definition of a Highly Compensated Employee in effect for that Plan Year. Similarly, a Participant is a Non-Highly Compensated Employee for a particular Plan Year if he or she does not meet the definition of a Highly Compensated Employee in effect for that Plan Year.
- (b) The Actual Deferral Percentage for any Participant who is a Highly Compensated Employee for the Plan Year and who is eligible to have Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals (and QNEC or QMAC, or both, if treated as Elective Deferrals for purposes of the ADP Test) allocated to his or her accounts under two (2) or more arrangements described in Code Section 401(k), that are maintained by the Employer, shall be determined as if such Elective Deferrals (and, if applicable, such QNECs or QMACs, or both) were made under a single arrangement. If a Highly Compensated Employee participates in two (2) or more cash or deferred arrangements that have different Plan Years, all Elective Deferrals made during the Plan Year under all such arrangements shall be aggregated. For Plan Years beginning before 2006, all such cash or deferred arrangements ending with or within the same calendar year shall be treated as a single arrangement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, certain plans shall be treated as separate if the Regulations issued under Code Section 401(k) require mandatory disaggregation.
- (c) In the event that this Plan satisfies the requirements of Code Sections 401(k), 401(a)(4), or 410(b) only if aggregated with one (1) or more other plans, or if one (1) or more other plans satisfy the requirements of such Code Sections only if aggregated with this Plan, then this section shall be applied by determining the Actual Deferral Percentage of Participants as if all such plans were a single plan. If more than 10% of the Employer's Non-Highly Compensated Employees are involved in a Plan coverage change as defined in Regulations Section 1.401(k)-2(c)(4), then any adjustments to the Non-Highly Compensated Employee ADP for the Prior Plan Year will be made in accordance with such Regulations, unless the Employer has elected in the Adoption Agreement to use the Current Year Testing method. Plans may be aggregated in order to satisfy Code Section 401(k) only if they have the same Plan Year and use the same ADP testing method.
- (d) The Employer shall maintain records sufficient to demonstrate satisfaction of the ADP Test and the amount of QNECs or QMACs, or both, used in such test.
- (e) For purposes of the ADP Test, Elective Deferrals, Roth Elective Deferrals, QNECs and QMACs must be made before the end of the twelve (12) month period immediately following the Plan Year to which the contributions relate.
- (f) A Plan may adopt a uniform written administrative policy that permits a Highly Compensated Employee who has made Elective Deferrals for a year where such Elective Deferrals includes both pre-tax Elective Deferrals and Roth Elective Deferrals to elect whether the Excess Contributions are to be attributed to pre-tax Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals or a combination of the two. In the event that no such administrative policy is adopted, Excess Contributions will be first attributed to pre-tax Elective Deferrals, and, if such pre-tax contributions are not in an amount sufficient to make full correction, will then be attributed to Roth Elective Deferrals.

# 11.4 ACP Testing Limitations

Employee contributions and Matching Contributions must meet the nondiscrimination requirements of Code Section 401(a)(4) and the ACP Test of Code Section 401(m). Safe Harbor Contributions are taken into account for a Plan Year under the ACP Test in accordance with Treasury Regulations Section 1.401(m)-1(b)(4)(ii)(A). If Employee contributions (including any Elective Deferrals recharacterized as Voluntary After-tax Contributions) or Matching Contributions are made in connection with a cash or deferred arrangement, the ACP Test is in addition to the ADP

Test under Code Section 401(k). QMACs and QNECs used to satisfy the ADP Test may not be used to satisfy the ACP Test.

- (a) **Prior Year Testing** If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, the ACP for a Plan Year for eligible Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees for each Plan Year and the Prior Plan Year's ACP for eligible Participants who were Non-Highly Compensated Employees for the Prior Plan Year must satisfy one of the following tests:
- (1) The ACP for a Plan Year for Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees for the Plan Year shall not exceed the Prior Plan Year's ACP for eligible Participants who were Non-Highly Compensated Employees for the Prior Plan Year multiplied by 1.25; or
- (2) The ACP for a Plan Year for Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees for the Plan Year shall not exceed the Prior Plan Year's ACP for eligible Participants who were Non-Highly Compensated Employees for the Prior Plan Year multiplied by 2.0, provided that the ACP for eligible Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees does not exceed the ACP for eligible Participants who were Non-Highly Compensated Employees in the Prior Plan Year by more than two (2) percentage points.

For the first Plan Year of a Plan where this Plan permits any eligible Participant to make Employee contributions, provides for Matching Contributions, or both, and the Plan is not a successor Plan, for purposes of the foregoing limits, the Prior Plan Year's Non-Highly Compensated Employees' ACP shall be 3% unless the Employer has elected in the Adoption Agreement to use the current Plan Year's ACP for these Participants.

(b) **Current Year Testing** – If no election is made by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, or if so elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, the ACP limits in (1) and (2), above, will be applied by comparing the current Plan Year's ACP for eligible Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees for the Plan Year with the current Plan Year's ACP for eligible Participants who are Non-Highly Compensated Employees. Once made, the Employer can elect Prior Year Testing for a Plan Year only if the Plan has used Current Year Testing for each of the preceding five (5) Plan Years (or if lesser, the number of Plan Years the Plan has been in existence) or if, as a result of a merger or acquisition described in Code Section 410(b)(6)(C)(i), the Employer maintains both a plan using Prior Year Testing and a plan using Current Year Testing and the change is made within the transaction period described in Code Section 410(b)(6)(C)(ii).

# 11.5 Special Rules Relating To The Application Of The ACP Test

- (a) A Participant is a Highly Compensated Employee for a particular Plan Year if he or she meets the definition of a Highly Compensated Employee in effect for that Plan Year. Similarly, a Participant is a Non-Highly Compensated Employee for a particular Plan Year if he or she does not meet the definition of a Highly Compensated Employee in effect for that Plan Year.
- (b) For purposes of this paragraph, the ACP for any Participant who is a Highly Compensated Employee and who is eligible to have Contribution Percentage Amounts allocated to his or her account under two (2) or more plans described in Code Section 401(a) or arrangements described in Code Section 401(k) that are maintained by the Employer, shall be determined as if the total of such Contribution Percentage Amounts were made under a single plan or arrangement. If a Highly Compensated Employee participates in two (2) or more such plans or arrangements that have different Plan Years, all such plans and arrangements shall be aggregated. For Plan Years beginning before 2006, all such plans and arrangements ending with or within the same calendar year shall be treated as a single arrangement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, certain plans shall be treated as separate if their disaggregation is mandatory under the Regulations issued under Code Section 401(m).
- (c) Notwithstanding paragraphs (b)(2)(vi)(A) and (B) of Regulations Section 1.401(m)-2, a distribution of Excess Aggregate Contributions is not includible in gross income to the extent it represents a distribution of Roth Elective Deferrals. However, the income allocable to a corrective distribution of Excess Aggregate Contributions that are Roth Elective Deferrals is taxed in the same manner as income allocable to a corrective distribution of Excess Aggregate Contributions that are not Roth Elective Deferrals.
- (d) In the event that this Plan satisfies the requirements of Code Sections 401(a)(4), 401(m), or 410(b) only if aggregated with one (1) or more other plans, or if one (1) or more other plans satisfy the requirements of such Code Sections only if aggregated with this Plan, then this section shall be applied by determining the ACP of eligible Participants as if all such plans were a single plan. If more than 10% of the Employer's Non-Highly Compensated Employees are involved in a Plan coverage change as defined in Regulations Section 1.401(m)-2(c)(4), then any adjustments to the Non-Highly Compensated Employees ACP for the Prior Plan Year will be made in accordance with such Regulations, unless the Employer has elected in the Adoption Agreement to use the Current Year testing method. Plans may be aggregated in order to satisfy Code Section 401(m) only if the aggregated plans have the same Plan Year and use the same ACP testing method.

- (e) For purposes of the ACP Test, Employee contributions are considered to have been made for the Plan Year in which contributed to the Plan. Matching Contributions and QMACs and QNECs, if applicable, will be considered made for a Plan Year if made no later than the end of the twelve (12) month period beginning on the day after the close of the Plan Year.
- (f) The determination and treatment of the ACP of any Participant shall satisfy such other requirements as may be prescribed by the Secretary of the Treasury.
- (g) Contribution Percentage Amounts shall mean the sum of the Employee contributions, Matching Contributions and QMACs (to the extent not taken into account for the purposes of the ADP Test) made under the Plan on behalf of the Participant for the Plan Year. Such Contribution Percentage Amounts shall not include Matching Contributions that are forfeited either to correct Excess Aggregate Contributions or because the contributions to which they relate are Excess Deferrals, Excess Contributions, or Excess Aggregate Contributions. If elected, the Employer may include QNECs in the contribution percentage amounts. The Employer may also elect to use Elective Deferrals in the Contribution Percentage Amounts so long as the ADP Test is met before the Elective Deferrals are used in the ACP Test and continues to be met following the exclusion of those Elective Deferrals that are used to meet the ACP Test.
- (h) Employee contributions shall mean any contribution (other than Roth Elective Deferrals) made to the Plan by or on behalf of a Participant that is included in the Participant's gross income in the year in which made and that is maintained under a separate account to which earnings and losses are allocated.
- (i) In the event the Plan fails the ADP Test and Excess Contributions are returned to Highly Compensated Employees, any corresponding Matching Contributions that are not returned because of a simultaneous failure of the ACP Test (Excess Aggregate Contributions) shall be forfeited, even if vested, from the Matching Contribution Account of the affected Highly Compensated Employees. Unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, such forfeited amounts shall be first used to reduce Employer Contributions that otherwise would be made for the Plan Year. If such forfeited amounts exceed the amount of the Employer's intended contribution, any such excess shall be allocated to the Matching Contribution Account of each Non-Highly Compensated Employee who made an Elective Deferral (including Roth Elective Deferrals, if applicable) or an Voluntary After-tax Contribution, in the ratio that each such Employee's Compensation bears to the total Compensation of all such Non-Highly Compensated Employees for that Plan Year. Forfeitures of Excess Aggregate Contributions will be applied at the end of the Plan Year in which they occurred and shall not be allocated to the account of any Highly Compensated Employee.

#### 11.6 **Recharacterization**

If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement Elective Deferrals allocated to a Highly Compensated Employee as excess Contributions will be recharacterized. Recharacterization is permitted only when Voluntary After-tax Contributions are permitted. A Participant may treat his or her Excess Contributions allocated to him or her as an amount distributed to the Participant and then contributed by the Participant to the Plan. Recharacterized amounts will remain nonforfeitable and subject to the same distribution requirements as Elective Deferrals. A Highly Compensated Employee may not recharacterize an Excess Contribution to the extent that such amount in combination with other Employee contributions made by that Employee would exceed any stated limit under the Plan on Employee contributions. Roth Elective Deferrals may not be recharacterized as Voluntary After-Tax Contributions.

The amount of recharacterization is determined using the ratio leveling method and the Excess Contribution uses the dollars leveling method. Excess Contributions to be recharacterized are reduced by Excess Deferrals previously distributed. Recharacterization must occur no later than two and one-half (2½) months after the last day of the Plan Year for which such Excess Contributions arose and is deemed to occur no earlier than the date the last Highly Compensated Employee is informed in writing of the amount recharacterized and the consequences thereof. Recharacterized amounts will be taxable to the Participant for the Participant's tax year in which the Participant would have received them in cash.

# 11.7 Calculation And Distribution Of Excess Contributions And Excess Aggregate Contributions

(a) Reducing The Average For Highly Compensated Employees – If necessary, the ADP and/or ACP for Highly Compensated Employees must be reduced to the maximum allowed by the applicable limit at paragraphs 11.2 and 11.4. Excess ACP amounts are determined after determining the amount of Excess Contributions treated as Employee Contributions due to recharacterization. The average is reduced on a step-by-step leveling basis beginning by reducing the ADP or the ACP for the Highly Compensated Employee with the highest percentage until the average is reduced to the maximum allowed or until the ADP or ACP for such Highly Compensated Employee is lowered to that of the Highly Compensated Employee with the next highest percentage. This process continues until the ADP and/or the ACP is lowered to the maximum allowed for the Plan Year. The excess dollar amount attributable to each affected Highly Compensated Employee is then totaled for purposes of corrective distributions determined at paragraph (b) below.

- (b) Corrective Distributions To Highly Compensated Employees The total amount to be distributed as determined under paragraph (a) is allocated to Highly Compensated Employees on the basis of the dollar amount included for such Employee in the numerator of the ADP or ACP, as applicable. The distribution for each affected Highly Compensated Employee is determined on a leveling basis similar to that described at paragraph (a) except that the process is based on dollars rather than percentages. Excess Contributions and Excess Aggregate Contributions are allocated to the Highly Compensated Employees with the largest amount of Employer contributions taken into account in calculating the ADP or ACP Test for the year in which the excess arose, beginning with the Highly Compensated Employee with the largest amount of such Employer contributions and continuing in descending order until all the Excess Contributions and Excess Aggregate Contributions have been allocated. For purposes of the preceding sentence, the "largest amount" is determined after distribution of any Excess Contribution and Excess Aggregate Contributions. After correcting distributions are allocated, it is not necessary to recompute the Highly Compensated Employee averages to determine if they satisfy the ADP Test and/or the ACP Test. Distributions of Excess Contributions and Excess Aggregate Contributions are to be made in accordance with paragraphs 11.9 and 11.10.
- (c) Corrective Distributions Attributable To Roth Elective Deferrals Notwithstanding paragraphs (b)(2)(vi)(A) and (B) of Regulations Section 1.401(k)-2, a distribution of Excess Contributions is not includible in gross income to the extent it represents a distribution of Roth Elective Deferrals. However, the income allocable to a corrective distribution of Excess Contributions that are Roth Elective Deferrals is included in gross income in the same manner as income allocable to a corrective distribution of Excess Contributions that are pre-tax Elective Deferrals.
- (d) For Plan Years Beginning After December 31, 2007 The requirement that gap period income be allocated pursuant to Regulation Section 1.401(k)-2(b)(2) shall no longer apply to Excess Aggregate Contributions, Excess Contributions, and Excess Deferrals. Thus, with respect to such items, the Plan Administrator shall exclude gap period income that is allocated to Participants' accounts prior to distribution.

#### 11.8 Distribution Of Excess Elective Deferrals

- (a) No Participant shall be permitted to defer under this Plan with respect to a calendar year more than the maximum dollar amount permitted under Code Section 402(g), as indexed, for such calendar year. If a Participant defers more than the maximum allowed due to mistake of fact, such Excess Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals shall be distributed to the Participant no later than April 15 following the calendar year to which the excess is attributable. If a Participant who participates in this Plan and in another plan which permits Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals defers more than the Code Section 402(g) maximum, such Participant shall have the right to notify one or both plans by March 1 of the calendar year following the year to which the excess is attributable requesting a distribution of the Excess Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals. A Participant is deemed to notify the Plan Administrator of any Excess Elective Deferrals that arise by taking into account only those Elective Deferrals made to the Plan, contract, or arrangement of the Employer. If distribution is requested, the applicable plan(s) shall make distribution of the Excess Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals, plus any income and minus any loss allocable thereto, no later than April 15 following the calendar year to which the excess is attributable. Excess Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals that are distributed on a timely basis shall not be considered Annual Additions for the Limitation Year during which such amounts are deferred.
- (b) Excess Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals shall be adjusted for any income or loss. For Taxable Years beginning after 2007, the income or loss allocable to Excess Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals is the income or loss allocable to the Participant's Elective Deferral account or Roth Elective Deferral (and if applicable, the QNEC or QMAC account, or both) for the Year multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is such Participant's Excess Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals for the year and the denominator is the Participant's account balance attributable to Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals (and QNECs or QMACs, or both, if any of such contributions are included in the ADP Test) without regard to any income or loss occurring during such Year. For Taxable Years beginning before 2008, income or loss allocable to Excess Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals (and if applicable, QNECs and QMACs) also include 10% of the amount determined under the preceding sentence multiplied by the number of whole calendar months between the end of the Plan Year and the date of distribution, counting the month of the distribution if the distribution occurs after the fifteenth (15<sup>th</sup>) of such month.
- (c) The amount a Participant receives as a distribution of his or her Excess Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals is includible in income with respect to the taxable year to which the excess is attributable.
- (d) Any income attributable to the Excess Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals determined in (b) above shall be includible in income with respect to the taxable year in which the excess is distributed.
- (e) Additionally, if so elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, effective with the Plan Year beginning with or after January 1, 2006, Excess Elective Deferrals may be recharacterized as Catch-Up Contributions.

- (f) A distribution of Excess Elective Deferrals is not includible in gross income to the extent it represents a distribution of designated Roth Elective Deferrals. However, the income allocable to a corrective distribution of Excess Elective Deferrals that are designated Roth Elective Deferrals is included in gross income in the same manner as income allocable to a corrective distribution of Excess Elective Deferrals that are not designated as Roth Elective Deferrals.
- (g) The Plan Administrator may adopt a uniform written administrative policy that permits a Participant (including a Highly Compensated Employee) who has made Elective Deferrals for a year where such Elective Deferrals includes both pre-tax Elective Deferrals and Roth Elective Deferrals to elect whether the Excess Elective Deferrals, are to be attributed to pre-tax Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals or a combination of the two. In the event that no such administrative policy is adopted, Excess Elective Deferrals will be first attributed to pre-tax Elective Deferrals, and if such pre-tax contributions are not in an amount sufficient to make full correction, will then be attributed to Roth Elective Deferrals.

# 11.9 Distribution Of Excess Contributions

- (a) Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, Excess Contributions plus any income and minus any loss allocable thereto, shall be distributed to affected Participants no later than the last day of the Plan Year following the Plan Year to which the Excess Contributions are attributable except to the extent such Excess Contributions are classified as Catch-Up Contributions. Excess Contributions are allocated to the Highly Compensated Employees with the largest amounts of Employer contributions taken into account in calculating the ADP Test for the year in which the excess arose, beginning with the Highly Compensated Employee with the largest amount of such Employer contributions and continuing in descending order until all the Excess Contributions have been allocated. To the extent a Highly Compensated Employee has not reached his or her Catch-Up Contribution limit under the Plan, Excess Contributions allocated to such Highly Compensated Employee are Catch-Up Contributions and will not be treated as Excess Contributions. If such excess amounts (other than Catch-Up Contributions) are distributed more than two and one-half (2½) months [six (6) months in the case of certain Plans with an EACA] after the last day of the Plan Year to which the excess amounts are attributable, a 10% excise tax will be imposed on the Employer maintaining the Plan with respect to such amounts.
- (b) Excess Contributions, including any amount recharacterized as a Voluntary After-tax Contribution, shall be treated as Annual Additions with respect to the Plan Year to which the excess is attributable, even if distributed.
- (c) Excess Contributions shall be adjusted for any income or loss. For Plan Years beginning after 2007, the income or loss allocable to Excess Contributions allocated to each Participant is the income or loss allocable to the Participant's Elective Deferral or Roth Elective Deferral Account (and, if applicable, the QNEC Account or the QMAC Account or both) for the Plan Year multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is such Participant's Excess Contributions for the year and the denominator is the Participant's account balance attributable to Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals (and QNECs or QMACs, or both, if any of such contributions are included in the ADP test) without regard to any income or loss occurring during such Plan Year. For Plan Years beginning before 2008, allocable income or loss also includes 10% of the amount determined under the preceding sentence multiplied by the number of whole calendar months between the end of the Plan Year and the date of distribution, counting the month of distribution if the distribution occurs after the fifteenth (15<sup>th</sup>) of such month. A Plan may use any reasonable method for computing the income or loss allocable to Excess Contributions, provided such method is used consistently for all Participants and for all corrective distributions under the Plan for the Plan Year, and is used by the Plan for allocating income or loss to Participant's accounts. For Plan Years beginning before 2006, income or loss allocable to the period between the end of the Plan Year and the date of distribution could be disregarded in determining income or loss.

For Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2007, the requirement that gap period income be allocated pursuant to Regulation Section 1.401(k)-2(b)(2) shall no longer apply to Excess Contributions. Thus, with respect to such Excess Contributions, the Plan Administrator shall exclude gap period income that is allocated to Participants' accounts prior to distribution. No tax shall be imposed on any Excess Contribution to the extent such contribution (together with any income or losses allocable thereto through the end of the Plan Year for which the contribution was made) is distributed (or, if forfeitable, is forfeited) before the close of the first two and one-half (21/2) months of the following Plan Year. Any amount distributed as provided herein shall be treated as earned and received by the Participant in the taxable year in which such distribution was made. In the case of Excess Contributions under a Plan that includes an EACA within the meaning of Code Section 414(w), six (6) months is substituted for two and one-half (21/2) months mentioned in this paragraph. The additional time described herein applies to a distribution of Excess Contributions for a Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 2010 (or January 1, 2008 if compliance is in good-faith) only where all the eligible Non-Highly Compensated Employees and eligible Highly Compensated Employees are covered Employees under the EACA for the entire Plan Year (or for the portion of the Plan Year that the eligible Non-Highly Compensated Employees and eligible Highly Compensated Employees are eligible Employees). If an EACA covers fewer than all the eligible Employees under the Plan, the Employer cannot use the six (6) month extension.

- (d) Excess Contributions shall be distributed from the Participant's Elective Deferral or Roth Elective Deferral Account and QMAC Account (if applicable) in proportion to the Participant's Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferral and QMACs (to the extent used in the ADP Test) for the test year. Excess Contributions shall be distributed from the Participant's QNEC Account only to the extent that such Excess Contributions exceed the Participant's Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals and QMACs Account for the applicable test year.
- (e) The return of an Excess Contribution which represents contributions made pursuant to a Davis Bacon or prevailing wage contract shall be reported as additional wages paid to the affected Participant.
- (f) A distribution of Excess Contributions is not includible in gross income to the extent it represents a distribution of designated Roth Elective Deferrals. However, the income allocable to a corrective distribution of Excess Contributions that are designated Roth Elective Deferrals is included in gross income in the same manner as income allocable to a corrective distribution of Excess Contributions that are not designated as Roth Elective Deferrals.
- (g) A Participant (including a Highly Compensated Employee) who has made Elective Deferrals for a year where such Elective Deferrals includes both pre-tax Elective Deferrals and Roth Elective Deferrals to elect whether the, Excess Contributions are to be attributed to pre-tax Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals or a combination of the two. In the event that no election is made by the Participant, Excess Contributions will be first attributed to pre-tax Elective Deferrals, and if such pre-tax contributions are not in an amount sufficient to make full correction, will then be attributed to Roth Elective Deferrals.

# 11.10 Distribution Of Excess Aggregate Contributions

- (a) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Plan, Excess Aggregate Contributions, plus any income and minus any loss allocable thereto, shall be forfeited, if forfeitable or if not forfeitable, distributed no later than the last day of each Plan Year to Participants to whose accounts such Excess Aggregate Contributions were allocated for the preceding Plan Year. Excess Aggregate Contributions are allocated to the Highly Compensated Employees with the largest Contribution Percentage Amounts taken into account in calculating the ACP Test for the year in which the excess arose, beginning with the Highly Compensated Employee with the largest amount of such Contribution Percentage and continuing in descending order until all the Excess Aggregate Contributions have been allocated. For purposes of the preceding sentence, the "largest amount" is determined after distribution of any Excess Aggregate Contributions.
- (b) If such Excess Aggregate Contributions are distributed more than two and one-half (2½) months [or six (6) months in the case of certain Plans with an EACA] after the last day of the Plan Year in which such excess amount arose, a 10% excise tax will be imposed on the Employer maintaining the Plan with respect to those amounts. Excess Aggregate Contributions shall be treated as Annual Additions for purposes of Article X, Limitations On Allocations, even if distributed.
- (c) Excess Aggregate Contributions shall be adjusted for any income or loss. For Plan Years beginning after 2007, the income or loss allocable to the Excess Aggregate Contributions allocated to each Participant is the income or loss allocable to each Participant's Employee contribution account, Matching Contribution Account, QMAC Account (if any, and if all amounts therein are not used in the ADP Test) and, if applicable, QNEC Account and the Elective Deferral Account of the Plan Year multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is such Participant's Excess Aggregate Contributions for the year end the denominator is the Participant's account balance(s) attributable to contribution percentage amounts without regard to any income or loss occurring during such Plan Year. For Plan Years beginning before 2008, allocable income or loss also includes 10% of the amount determined under the preceding sentence multiplied by the number of whole calendar months between the end of the Plan Year and the date of distribution, counting the month of distribution if distribution occurs after the fifteenth (15<sup>th</sup>) of such month.

For Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2007, the requirement that gap period income be allocated pursuant to Regulation Section 1.401(k)-2(b)(2) shall no longer apply to Excess Aggregate Contributions. Thus, with respect to such Excess Aggregate Contributions, the Plan Administrator shall exclude gap period income that is allocated to Participants' accounts prior to distribution. No tax shall be imposed on any Excess Aggregate Contribution to the extent such contribution (together with any income or losses allocable thereto through the end of the Plan Year for which the contribution was made) is distributed (or, if forfeitable, is forfeited) before the close of the first two and one-half (2½) months of the following Plan Year. Any amount distributed as provided herein shall be treated as earned and received by the Participant in the taxable year in which such distribution was made. In the case of Excess Aggregate Contributions under a Plan that includes an EACA within the meaning of Code Section 414(w), six (6) months is substituted for two and one-half (2½) months mentioned in this paragraph. The additional time described herein applies to a distribution of Excess Contributions for a Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 2010 (or January 1, 2008 if compliance is in good-faith) only where all the eligible Non-Highly Compensated Employees and eligible Highly Compensated Employees are covered Employees under the EACA for the entire Plan

Year (or for the portion of the Plan Year that the eligible Non-Highly Compensated Employees and eligible Highly Compensated Employees are eligible Employees). If an EACA covers fewer than all the eligible Employees under the Plan, the Employer cannot use the six (6) month extension.

- (d) Excess Aggregate Contributions shall be forfeited, if forfeitable or distributed first from the Participant's Voluntary After-tax Contribution account, if any, then the Required After-tax Contribution Account, if any, then the vested Matching Contribution Account and QMAC Account (and if applicable the Participant's QNEC Account, and/or Elective Deferral, Roth Elective Deferral Account, or both).
- (e) Forfeitures of Excess Aggregate Contributions may be reallocated to the accounts of other Participants or applied to reduce Employer contributions.
- (f) Notwithstanding paragraphs (b)(2)(vi)(A) and (B) of Regulations Section 1.401(m)-2, a distribution of Excess Aggregate Contributions is not includible in gross income to the extent it represents a distribution of Roth Elective Deferrals. However, the income allocable to a corrective distribution of Excess Aggregate Contributions that are Roth Elective Deferrals is taxed in the same manner as income allocable to a corrective distribution of Excess Aggregate Contributions that are not Roth Elective Deferrals.
- (g) Employee Contributions shall mean any contribution (other than Roth Elective Deferrals) made to the Plan by or on behalf of a Participant that is included in the Participant's gross income in the year in which made and that is maintained under a separate account to which earnings and losses are allocated.
- (h) A Participant (including a Highly Compensated Employee) who has made Elective Deferrals for a year where such Elective Deferrals includes both pre-tax Elective Deferrals and Roth Elective Deferrals to elect whether the Excess Aggregate Contributions and Excess Annual Additions are to be attributed to pre-tax Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals or a combination of the two. In the event that no election is made by the Participant, Excess Aggregate Contributions will be first attributed to pre-tax Elective Deferrals, and if such pre-tax contributions are not in an amount sufficient to make full correction, will then be attributed to Roth Elective Deferrals.
- (i) Any Excess Aggregate Contributions may be corrected by the use of the Employee Plans Compliance Resolution System or any other correction method permitted by law.

# 11.11 Qualified Non-Elective And/Or Matching Contributions

The Employer may make a QNEC or QMAC for Non-Highly Compensated Employees to increase the ADP and/or ACP to the point where the Plan passes the ADP Test and/or the ACP Test. The following rules apply with respect to such contributions:

- (a) A QNEC or QMAC used in the ADP Test may not also be included in the ACP Test.
- (b) If testing is done on the basis of Current Plan Year data, QNECs and/or QMACs must be made and credited to Participant accounts not later than the last day of the twelve (12) consecutive month period following the end of the Plan Year being tested.
- (c) If testing is done on the basis of Prior Plan Year data for Non-Highly Compensated Employees, QNECs and/or QMACs for such Employees must be contributed not later than the last day of the Plan Year being tested.
- (d) If the Employer makes Non-Elective Contributions which are not designated as Qualified Non-Elective Contributions at the time of the contribution to the Plan, the Plan Administrator may re-designate such contributions as Qualified Non-Elective Contributions if the contributions otherwise satisfy the requirements of a Qualified Non-Elective Contribution.
- (e) The Employer's QNEC or QMAC Contribution will be allocated to a group of Non-Highly Compensated Participants. These contributions shall only be taken into account for a Plan Year for such Non-Highly Compensated Participant only to the extent any such contribution does not exceed the greater of:
  - (1) 5% of the Participant's 414(s) Compensation;
  - (2) the Participant's Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals for that year; and
- (3) the product of two (2) times the Plan's representative Matching Contribution rate and the Participant's Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals for that Plan Year.

For purposes of this paragraph, the Plan's representative Matching Contribution rate is the lowest matching rate for any eligible Non-Highly Compensated Employee among a group of Non-Highly Compensated Employees that consists of half of all eligible Non-Highly Compensated Employees in the Plan for the Plan Year who make Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals for the Plan Year (or, if greater, the lowest matching rate for all

eligible Non-Highly Compensated Employees in the Plan who are employed by the Employer on the last day of the Plan Year and who make Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals for the Plan Year).

For purposes of this paragraph, the Matching Contribution rate for a Participant generally is the Matching Contributions made for such Participant divided by the Participant's Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals for the Plan Year. If the Matching Contribution rate is not the same for all levels of Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals or a Participant, the Participant's Matching Contribution rate is determined assuming that a Participant's Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals are equal to 6% of Compensation.

If a Plan provides a Matching Contribution with respect to the sum of the Participant's Employee contributions and Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals, that sum is substituted for the amount of the Participants Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals of this paragraph and Participants who make either Employee Contributions or Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals are taken into account under this paragraph. Similarly, if a Plan provides a Matching Contribution with respect to the Participant's Employee contributions, but not to the Participant's Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals, the Participant's Employee contributions are substituted for the amount of the Participant's Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals and Participants who make Employee contributions are taken into account.

- (f) For purposes of this paragraph, the applicable contribution rate for an eligible Non-Highly Compensated Participant is the sum of the Qualified Matching Contributions taken into account under this paragraph for the eligible Non-Highly Compensated Participant for the Plan Year and the Qualified Non-Elective Contributions made for the eligible Non-Highly Compensated Participant for the Plan Year, divided by the eligible Non-Highly Compensated Participant's Compensation for the same period.
- (g) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Qualified Non-Elective Contributions that are made in connection an Employer's obligation to pay prevailing wages under the Davis-Bacon Act (45 Stat. 1494), Public Law 71-798, Service Contract Act of 1965 (79 Stat. 1965), Public Law 89-286, or similar legislation can be taken into account for a Plan Year for a Non-Highly Compensated Participant to the extent such contributions do not exceed 10% of that Non-Highly Compensated Employee's Compensation. This exception applies to both the ADP and ACP Test.
- (h) Qualified Matching Contributions satisfy this paragraph only to the extent that such Qualified Matching Contributions are Matching Contributions that are not precluded from being taken into account under the ACP Test for the Plan Year under the rules of Regulations Section 1.401(m)-2(a)(5)(ii).
- (i) Qualified Non-Elective Contributions and Qualified Matching Contributions cannot be taken into account under this paragraph where such contributions are taken into account for purposes of satisfying any other ADP Test, any ACP Test, or the requirements of Regulations Section 1.401(k)-4. Matching Contributions that are made pursuant to Regulations Section 1.401(k)-3(c) cannot be taken into account under the ADP Test. Similarly, if a plan switches from the Current Year testing method to the Prior Year testing method pursuant to Regulations Sections 1.401(k)-2(c), Qualified Non-Elective Contributions that are taken into account under the Current Year testing method for a Plan Year may not be taken into account under the Prior Year testing method for the next Plan Year.
- (j) If the Employer has elected in the Adoption Agreement to use the Current Year Testing method, in lieu of distributing Excess Contributions as provided in paragraph 11.6, or Excess Aggregate Contributions as provided in paragraph 11.7, and to the extent elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, the Employer will make a QNEC on behalf of Participants that is sufficient to satisfy the ADP Test and the ACP Test. QNECs will be allocated either to all Participants or only to Participants who are Non-Highly Compensated Employees, as elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, in the ratio in which each such Participant's Compensation for the Plan Year bears to the total Compensation of all such Participants for such Plan Year.

#### 11.12 Nondiscrimination Tests In A SIMPLE 401(k) Plan

The ADP/ACP Tests described this Article XI are treated as satisfied for any Plan Year for which the Employer has adopted and complied with the provisions of the SIMPLE 401(k) Adoption Agreement.

# 11.13 Safe Harbor 401(k) Plan Rules Of Application

(a) The Employer may elect in a cash or deferred adoption agreement to apply the safe harbor 401(k) plan provisions found in paragraphs 11.13 through 11.19 and the Matching Contributions shall not be made on Elective Deferrals that exceed 6% of Compensation. Except as otherwise permitted, an Employer must elect the Safe Harbor Plan provisions and must satisfy the notice requirements of paragraph 11.19 prior to the beginning of the Plan Year to which the Safe Harbor provisions will be applied. The Employer must apply the Safe Harbor provisions for the entire Plan Year [which shall be at least twelve (12) months long], including any short Plan Year. An Employer who elects in the Adoption Agreement and operationally satisfies the Safe Harbor provisions of paragraphs 11.13 through 11.19 is not subject to the nondiscrimination requirements of paragraph 11.2. An Employer who elects to provide additional Matching Contributions as set forth in paragraph 11.17 will be subject to the nondiscrimination provisions of

paragraph 11.4, unless the additional Matching Contributions satisfy the ACP Test safe harbor provisions in paragraph 11.17.

- (b) The Employer may elect in the Adoption Agreement either to make a Safe Harbor Non-Elective Contribution on behalf of each eligible Employee who is eligible to participate in the Plan, or to make a Safe Harbor Matching Contribution on behalf of each eligible Employee who is eligible to participate in the Plan and who is making Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals. A Plan intending to satisfy the requirements of Code Sections 401(k)(12) and 401(m)(11) (a "Safe Harbor CODA") generally must satisfy such requirements, including the notice requirement, for the entire Plan Year.
- (c) The Safe Harbor Non-Elective Contribution that will be made on behalf of each eligible Employee who is eligible to participate in the Plan will be equal to at least 3% of the Employee's Compensation.
- (d) The Safe Harbor Matching Contribution shall be made under the Basic Matching Formula or an Enhanced Matching Formula as described below.
- (1) **Basic Matching Contribution Formula** The Basic Matching Formula provides a Matching Contribution on behalf of each eligible Employee who is making Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals to the Plan in an amount equal to 100% of the amount of the Employee's Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals that do not exceed 3% of the Employee's Compensation and 50% of the amount of the Employee's Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals that exceed 3% of the Employee's Compensation but do not exceed 5% of the Employee's Compensation. A Plan satisfying the ADP Safe Harbor using the Basic Matching Formula automatically satisfies the ACP Test, if no Voluntary After-tax Contributions or other Matching Contribution is made under the Plan.
- (2) Enhanced Matching Formula The Enhanced Matching Formula provides a Matching Contribution on behalf of each Eligible Employee who is making Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals to the Plan under a formula that, at any rate of Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals provides an aggregate amount of Matching Contributions at least equal to the aggregate amount of Matching Contributions that would have been provided under the Basic Matching Formula. In no event shall the aggregate amount of Matching Contributions under an Enhanced Matching Formula exceed 6% of an eligible Employee's Compensation. Under the Enhanced Matching Formula, the rate of Matching Contributions may not increase as a Participant's rate of Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals increases. A Plan satisfying the ADP Safe Harbor using the Enhanced Matching Formula under which Matching Contributions made with respect to Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals that are not made in excess of 6% of the eligible Employee's Compensation, automatically satisfies the ACP Test if no Voluntary After-tax Contributions or other Matching Contribution is made under the Plan.
- (3) Additional Discretionary Matching Contribution An Employer may elect in the Adoption Agreement to provide an additional discretionary Matching Contribution. Any such contribution cannot exceed 4% of a Participant's Compensation. This is a limit on the total Matching Contribution formula, and is not a limit on the percentage of Compensation which is deferred and taken into account under the matching formula.
- (4) Limitation On Matching Contributions To Highly Compensated Employees The Matching Contribution requirement will not be satisfied if, at any rate of Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals, the rate of Matching Contributions that would apply with respect to any Highly Compensated Employee who is making Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals under the Plan is greater than the rate of Matching Contributions that would apply with respect to any Non-Highly Compensated Employee who is making Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals to the Plan and who has the same rate of Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals.
- (e) In accordance with Treasury Regulations Sections 1.401(k)-1(e)(7) and 1.401(m)-1(c)(2), it is impermissible for the Employer to use ADP and ACP testing for a Plan Year in which it is intended for the Plan, through its written terms, to be a Code Section 401(k) and 401(m) Safe Harbor Plan and the Employer fails to satisfy the requirements of such safe harbors for the Plan Year.

# 11.14 Safe Harbor 401(k) Plan Definitions

- (a) "ACP Test Safe Harbor" is the method described in paragraph 11.17 for satisfying the ACP Test of Code Section 401(m)(2).
- (b) "ACP Test Safe Harbor Matching Contributions" are Matching Contributions described in paragraph 11.15.
- (c) "ADP Test Safe Harbor" is the method described in paragraph 11.16 for satisfying the ADP Test of Code Section 401(k)(3).
- (d) "ADP Test Safe Harbor Contributions" are Matching Contributions and Non-Elective Contributions described in paragraph 11.15.

- (e) "Compensation" is defined in paragraph 1.16 with no dollar limit other than the limit imposed by Code Section 401(a)(17) as it applies to the Compensation of a Non-Highly Compensated Employee. Solely for purposes of determining the Compensation subject to a Participant's Salary Deferral Agreement, the Employer may use an alternative definition to the one described in the preceding sentence, provided such alternate definition is a reasonable definition with the meaning of Regulations Section 1.414(s)-1(d)(2), and permits each Participant to elect sufficient Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals to receive the maximum amount of Matching Contributions (determined using the definition of Compensation described in the preceding sentence) available to the Participant under this Plan.
- (f) "Eligible Employee" means an Employee eligible to make Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals under the Plan for any part of the Plan Year or who would be eligible to make Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals but for a suspension due to a distribution described in paragraph 6.10(e)(5) or 6.13 or to statutory limitations, such as Code Sections 402(g) and 415.
- (g) "Matching Contributions" are contributions made by the Employer on account of an Eligible Employee's Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals.

# 11.15 Required Restrictions On Safe Harbor 401(k) Contributions

- (a) Safe Harbor Matching Contributions and Safe Harbor Non-Elective Contributions are Matching and Non-Elective Contributions respectively, that are:
  - (1) nonforfeitable within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 1.401(k)-1(c),
- (2) subject to the distribution restrictions of Code Section 401(k)(2)(B) and Treasury Regulations Section 1.401(k)-1(d), and
  - (3) used to satisfy the Safe Harbor 401(k) Contribution requirements.
- (b) Pursuant to Code Section 401(k)(2)(B) and Treasury Regulations Section 1.401(k)-1(d), such contributions (and earnings thereon) must not be distributable earlier than severance from employment (separation from Service for Plan Years beginning before 2002), death, Disability, an event described in Code Section 401(k)(10), or in the case of a profit-sharing or stock bonus plan, the attainment of age 59½. Pursuant to Code Section 401(k)(2)(B) and Treasury Regulations Section 1.401(k)-1(d)(2)(ii), these contributions shall not be eligible for distribution for reasons of Hardship. A Plan electing to use either of the Safe Harbor Matching or the Safe Harbor Non-Elective Contribution provisions shall not require that an Employee be employed on the last day of the Plan Year or impose an hourly requirement in order for the Employee to be eligible to receive a Safe Harbor Matching Contribution or a Safe Harbor Non-Elective Contribution.
- (c) Such contributions must satisfy the ADP Test Safe Harbor without regard to permitted disparity under Code Section 401(I).
- (d) Safe Harbor Matching or Safe Harbor Non-Elective Contributions cannot be used to satisfy the Safe Harbor Contribution requirements with respect to more than one (1) Plan. Similarly, a cash or deferred arrangement will not fail to satisfy the requirement of this paragraph (d) if it is added to an existing profit-sharing, stock bonus, or pre-ERISA money purchase pension plan for the first time during that year provided that:
  - (1) The plan is not a successor plan; and
- (2) The cash or deferred arrangement is made effective no later than three (3) months prior to the end of the Plan Year.
- (e) A Plan will fail to satisfy the ADP Test Safe Harbor or the ACP Test Safe Harbor for a Plan Year unless the Plan Year is twelve (12) months in duration or in the case of the first Plan Year of a newly established Plan (other than a successor Plan), the Plan Year is at least three (3) months in duration (or any shorter period in the case of a newly established Employer that establishes the Plan as soon as administratively feasible after the Employer came into existence). If the Employer amends an existing Defined Contribution Plan to offer the Safe Harbor provisions, the 401(k) arrangement of the Plan must be at least three (3) months in duration.
- (f) If the Safe Harbor provisions are an amendment and restatement of an existing Plan, any contributions made prior to the adoption of the Safe Harbor provisions which are subject to a vesting schedule will continue to vest according to the vesting schedule in effect prior to the amendment or restatement of the Plan.
- (g) A Plan that has a short Plan Year as a result of changing its Plan Year will not fail to satisfy the requirements of this paragraph section merely because the Plan Year has less than twelve (12) months, provided that:

- (1) The Plan would satisfy the requirements of this section for the immediately preceding Plan Year; and
- (2) The Plan satisfies the requirements of this section [determined without regard to the notice requirement for the immediately following Plan Year or for the immediately following twelve (12) months if the immediately following Plan Year is less then twelve (12) months].
- (h) A Plan that terminates during a Plan Year will not fail to satisfy the requirements of this paragraph merely because the final Plan Year is less than twelve (12) months, provided that the Plan satisfies the requirement of this section through the date of termination and either:
- (1) The Plan satisfied the notice requirements of this paragraph treating the termination of the Plan as a reduction or suspension of Safe Harbor Matching Contributions, other than the requirement that Employees have a reasonable opportunity to change their cash or deferred elections and, if applicable, Employee contribution elections: or
- (2) The Plan termination is in connection with a transaction described in Code Section 410(b)(6)(C) or the Employer incurs a substantial business hardship comparable to a substantial business hardship described in Code Section 412(d).

#### 11.16 ADP Test Safe Harbor

- (a) The Employer may elect in the Adoption Agreement to make Basic Safe Harbor Matching Contributions, Enhanced Safe Harbor Matching Contributions or Safe Harbor Non-Elective Contributions to this Plan or to another Defined Contribution Plan as indicated in the Adoption Agreement.
- (b) Notwithstanding the requirement in subparagraph 11.16(a) above that the Employer make the ADP Test Safe Harbor Contributions to the Defined Contribution Plan indicated in the Adoption Agreement, such Safe Harbor Contributions will be made to this Plan unless each Employee eligible under this Plan is also eligible under the other Plan and the other Plan has the same Plan Year as this Plan, this Plan is established under a Nonstandardized Adoption Agreement, and complies with the requirements of paragraph 11.20.
- (c) The Participant's accrued benefit derived from ADP Test Safe Harbor Contributions is nonforfeitable and is subject to the same distribution restrictions as apply to Elective Deferrals, except that no distribution can be made on account of Hardship. In addition, such contributions must satisfy the ADP Test Safe Harbor without regard to permitted disparity under Code Section 401(e).

# 11.17 ACP Test Safe Harbor

The Employer maintaining a 401(k) Plan may elect in the Adoption Agreement to make additional Matching Contributions in addition to the Safe Harbor Matching Contributions made to the Plan. These additional Matching Contributions will be subject to the ACP Test Safe Harbor requirements instead of testing the contributions under paragraph 11.4. The ACP Test Safe Harbor will be satisfied if the following conditions are met:

- (a) No Matching Contribution may be made with respect to a Participant's Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals and/or Voluntary After-tax Contributions which exceed 6% of Compensation;
- (b) The amount of any discretionary Matching Contribution made after the 1999 Plan Year shall not exceed 4% of the Participant's Compensation;
- (c) The rate of Matching Contributions made to the Plan may not increase as the rate of Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals increase;
- (d) No Highly Compensated Employee may receive a greater rate of match than a Non-Highly Compensated Employee:
- (e) Matching Contributions used in the ACP Test Safe Harbor will be vested as indicated in the Adoption Agreement, but, in any event, such contributions shall be fully vested at death, attainment of Normal Retirement or Early Retirement, if applicable, upon the complete or partial termination of the Plan, or upon the complete discontinuance of Employer contributions. Forfeitures of nonvested ACP Test Safe Harbor Matching Contributions will be used to reduce the Employer's contribution of such ACP Test Safe Harbor Matching Contributions; and
- (f) Matching Contributions used in the ACP Test Safe Harbor will be vested accordance with a vesting schedule that complies with Code Section 411(a)(12) as elected in the Adoption Agreement. For Plan Years beginning before 2002, Matching Contributions could be vested according to any vesting schedule that satisfied Section 411(a)(2) [Code Section 416(b), if the Plan was top-heavy].

The Participant's accrued benefit derived from ACP Test Safe Harbor Contributions is nonforfeitable and may not be distributed earlier than Severance from Employment, death, Disability, an event described in Code Section 401(k)(10), or in the case of a profit-sharing plan, the attainment of age 59½. In addition, such contributions must satisfy the ACP Test Safe Harbor without regard to permitted disparity under Code Section 401(l).

If the Employer has elected in the Adoption Agreement different eligibility requirements, any additional Matching Contributions may be subject to the testing requirements of paragraph 11.4 rather than the Safe Harbor rules of paragraph 11.13. The testing requirements of paragraph 11.4 will apply in any year that a Non-Highly Compensated Employee fails to receive the required Matching Contribution.

# 11.18 Safe Harbor 401(k) Status

The Employer may amend a profit-sharing or Cash or Deferred 401(k) plan during a Plan Year to comply with the Safe Harbor provisions of this Article for a Plan Year. In order to comply with these provisions, the Employer must:

- (a) use the Current Year testing method;
- (b) amend the Plan to add the Safe Harbor provisions no later than thirty (30) days prior to the end of the Plan Year and apply the Safe Harbor provisions for the entire Plan Year;
  - (c) satisfy the Safe Harbor contribution requirements using the Safe Harbor Non-Elective Contribution;
- (d) provide the Safe Harbor notice to Participants prior to the beginning of the Plan Year for which the Plan amendment applies which indicates the Employer will provide Basic or Enhanced Matching Contributions or indicates that the Employer may later amend the Plan to comply with the Safe Harbor provisions by use of the Safe Harbor Non-Elective Contribution:
- (e) provide an additional notice to Participants at least thirty (30) days prior to the end of the Plan Year only in the case of Safe Harbor Non-Elective Contribution advising Participants of the amendment; and
- (f) actually provide the notice described in (e) above, should the Employer amend the Plan to comply with the Safe Harbor requirements.
- (g) A Safe Harbor 401(k) Plan may be amended during a Plan Year to reduce or entirely eliminate on a prospective basis any Safe Harbor Contribution conditioned on the Employer providing a notice to the Participants which explains the effect of the amendment and specifies the following:
- (1) informs the Participants they will have the opportunity to amend their Salary Deferral Agreements;
  - (2) the Effective Date of the amendment is specified;
- (3) Participants are given the opportunity prior to the Effective Date of the amendment to amend their Salary Deferral Agreement; and
- (4) the amendment to the Plan does not take effect until the later of thirty (30) days after the notice of the amendment is provided to the Participant or the date the Employer adopts the amendment.

An Employer who amends a Safe Harbor Plan to either reduce or eliminate the Safe Harbor Matching Contribution under this paragraph or terminates the Plan during the Plan Year, must continue to comply with all of the Safe Harbor requirements of this paragraph until the amendment or Plan termination becomes effective. The Plan must continue to use the Current Year testing method for the entire Plan Year and satisfy the nondiscrimination test under paragraph 11.2, and if applicable the nondiscrimination tests under paragraph 11.4.

# 11.19 Safe Harbor 401(k) Notice Requirement

The notice requirement is satisfied if each Eligible Employee is given an annual written notice of the Employee's rights and obligations under the Plan and the notice provided to the Employee satisfies the content requirement and the timing requirement as follows:

- (a) The notice shall be sufficiently accurate and comprehensive to inform the Employee of the Employee's rights and obligations under the Plan and written in a manner calculated to be understood by the average Employee eligible to participate in the Plan. The notice shall accurately describe:
- (1) the Safe Harbor Matching or Non-Elective Contribution Formula (including a description of the levels of Matching Contributions, if any, available under the Plan);
- (2) any other contributions under the Plan (including the potential for discretionary Matching Contributions) and the conditions under which such contributions are made;

- (3) the Plan to which the Safe Harbor Contributions will be made (if different than the Plan containing the cash or deferred arrangement);
  - (4) the type and amount of Compensation that may be deferred under the Plan;
- (5) how to make cash or deferred elections, including any administrative requirements that apply to such elections;
  - (6) the periods available under the Plan for making cash or deferred elections; and
  - (7) withdrawal and vesting provisions applicable to contributions under the Plan.
- (b) If the notice is provided to eligible Employees within a reasonable period before the beginning of each Plan Year (or in the Plan Year an Employee becomes eligible within a reasonable period before the Employee becomes eligible), the Plan shall satisfy the Safe Harbor notice requirements. Notwithstanding the foregoing general rule, a notice shall be deemed to have been provided in timely manner if the notice is provided to each Employee who is eligible to participate in the Plan for the Plan Year at least thirty (30) days [but no more than ninety (90) days] before the beginning of the Plan Year. If an Employee does not receive the notice because he or she only becomes eligible to participate in the Plan after the ninetieth day before the beginning of the Plan Year, the requirement to give the notice will be satisfied if the notice is provided not more than ninety (90) days before the Employee becomes eligible to participate, but in no event later than the date the Employee becomes eligible. The preceding sentence shall apply in the case of any Employee eligible for the first Plan Year in which an Employee becomes eligible under an existing Code Section 401(k) cash or deferred arrangement.
- (c) In addition to any other election periods provided under the Plan, each eligible Employee may make or modify a deferral election during the thirty (30) day period immediately following receipt of the notice described above.
- (d) The Plan may provide the Safe Harbor notice in writing or by electronic means. If provided electronically, the notice must be no less understandable than a written paper document and at the time of delivery of the electronic notice, the Employee is advised that he or she may request to receive the notice in writing at no additional charge. Supplemental notices may also be given electronically under the same conditions.
- (e) The Plan may also comply with the notice requirements by use of the Summary Plan Description. The Safe Harbor notice must cross-reference the applicable sections in the Summary Plan Description. The information which may be contained in the Summary Plan Description, as well as the notice, is the Safe Harbor Contribution Formula, including a description of the levels of Matching Contributions, if any, how to make salary deferral elections, including any administrative requirements that apply to such elections, and the periods available under the Plan for making deferral elections.

#### 11.20 Satisfying Safe Harbor 401(k) Contribution Requirements Under Another Defined Contribution Plan

- (a) **General Requirements** A Safe Harbor Matching or Safe Harbor Non-Elective Contribution may be made to this Plan or to another Defined Contribution Plan maintained by the Employer that satisfies Code Sections 401(a) or 403(a). The Employer electing this option shall do so by identifying the plan that makes the Safe Harbor Contribution in the Adoption Agreement. If the Safe Harbor Contributions are made to another Defined Contribution Plan, the Safe Harbor Contribution requirements must be satisfied in the same manner as if the contributions were being made to this Plan. A Safe Harbor Contribution made to another Defined Contribution Plan shall not satisfy this Safe Harbor requirement unless each Employee eligible to participate in this Plan is eligible to participate in the other Defined Contribution Plan under the same terms and conditions, and this Plan is established under a Nonstandardized Adoption Agreement.
- (b) **Same Plan Year Requirement –** In order to satisfy the Safe Harbor Contribution requirements, this Plan and the other Defined Contribution Plan to which the Safe Harbor Contribution is to be made must have the same Plan Year.
- (c) Aggregation And Disaggregation Rules The rules that apply for purposes of aggregating and disaggregating cash or deferred arrangement and Plans under Code Sections 401(k) and 401(m) also apply for purposes of Code Sections 401(k)(12) and 401(m)(11), respectively. All cash or deferred arrangements included in a Plan are treated as a single cash or deferred arrangement that must satisfy the Safe Harbor Contribution and notice requirements. Moreover, two (2) Plans within the meaning of Regulations Section 1.410(b)-7(b) that are treated as a single Plan pursuant to the permissive aggregation rules of Regulation Section 1.410(b)-7(d) are treated as a single Plan for purposes of the Safe Harbor requirements. Conversely, a Plan [within the meaning of Code Section 414(l)] that includes a cash or deferred arrangement covering both collectively bargained employees and non-collectively bargained employees is treated as two (2) separate plans for purposes of Code Section 401(k), and the ADP Safe

Harbor need not be satisfied with respect to both plans in order for one (1) of the plans to take advantage of the ADP Test Safe Harbor. Similarly, if pursuant to Code Section 410(b)(4)(B), an Employer applies Code Section 410(b) separately to the portion of the plan [within the meaning of Code Section 414(l)] that benefits only Employees who satisfy age and Service conditions under the plan that are lower than the greatest minimum age and Service conditions permitted under Code Section 410(a), the Plan is treated as two (2) separate plans for purposes of Code Section 401(k), and the ADP Test Safe Harbor need not be satisfied with respect to both plans in order for one (1) of the plans to take advantage of the ADP Test Safe Harbor.

# 11.21 Nondiscrimination Tests In An Eligible Automatic Contribution Arrangement

If the Employer has elected the Eligible Automatic Contribution Arrangement (EACA) provisions in the Adoption Agreement, the provisions of this paragraph shall apply for the Plan Year and to the extent that any other provision of the Plan is inconsistent with the provisions of this paragraph, the provisions of this paragraph shall govern.

- ADP And ACP Test Requirements An Eligible Automatic Contribution Arrangement (EACA) will be subject to the ADP and ACP Test requirements of this Article unless it meets the requirements of a Qualified Automatic Contribution Arrangement (QACA) or a traditional Safe Harbor 401(k) Plan. Elective Deferrals that are refunded to a Participant pursuant to Code Section 414(w) will not be taken into account when performing the ADP or ACP Tests. A Plan that fails the nondiscrimination tests because of Excess Contributions under an EACA may issue corrective refunds of the Excess Contributions or Excess Aggregate Contributions (including earnings or losses) within six (6) months after the end of the Plan Year and avoid the excise tax under Section 4979 of the Code, provided all eligible Non-Highly Compensated Employees and eligible Highly Compensated Employees are covered Employees under the EACA for the entire Plan Year (or the portion of the Plan Year that the Employees are eligible Employees). Consequently, if an EACA covers fewer than all the eligible Employees under the Plan, the Employer cannot use the six (6) month extension for distributing Excess Contributions and Excess Aggregate Contributions to avoid the excise tax under Section 4979 of the Code. No excise tax under Section 4979 of the Code shall be imposed on any Excess Contribution or Excess Aggregate Contribution, as the case may be, to the extent such contribution (together with any income or losses allocable thereto through the end of the Plan Year for which the contribution was made) is distributed (or, if forfeitable, is forfeited) before the close of the first six (6) months in the case of an Excess Contribution or Excess Aggregate Contribution in an Eligible Automatic Contribution Arrangement [as defined in Code Section 414(w)(3)] of the following Plan Year. Any amount distributed as provided herein shall be treated as earned and received by the Participant in the taxable year in which such distributions were made.
- (b) Special Rule For Distribution Of Excess Contributions And Excess Aggregate Contributions If the Employer has elected in the Adoption Agreement that all Plan Participants are Covered Participants, the Plan has until six (6) months [rather than two and one-half (2½) months] after the end of the Plan Year to distribute Excess Contributions and Excess Aggregate Contributions and avoid the Code Section 4979 10% excise tax.

# ARTICLE XII ADMINISTRATION

#### 12.1 Plan Administrator

The Plan shall be administered by the Plan Administrator who shall have the authority to enforce the Plan on behalf of any persons having or claiming any interest under the Plan and who shall be responsible for the operation of the Plan in accordance with its terms. The Plan Administrator shall be the "Named Fiduciary" for purposes of ERISA Section 402(a) with the sole authority to control and manage the operation and administration of the Plan, and will be responsible for complying with the reporting and disclosure requirements of Part 1 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA and agent for service of legal process with respect to the Plan. The Plan Administrator shall determine by rules of uniform application all questions arising out of the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan which determination(s) shall be conclusive and binding on all parties. The decision of the Plan Administrator on any dispute arising under the Plan, including but not limited to questions of construction, interpretation and administration, shall be final, conclusive and binding on all persons having an interest in or under the Plan. Any determination made by the Plan Administrator shall be given deference in the event such determination is subject to judicial review and shall be overturned by a court of law only if found to be arbitrary and capricious.

The Employer will serve as Plan Administrator unless an individual or other entity (excluding the Trustee or Custodian, unless they are the Employer sponsoring the Plan) is named to serve in such capacity. The Plan Administrator may appoint or allocate its duties among several individuals or entities. The Plan Administrator's duties may include but are not limited to:

- (a) communicating with Employees regarding their participation and benefits under the Plan, including the administration of all claims procedures;
- (b) maintaining all necessary records for the administration of the Plan, nondiscrimination testing, and filing any returns and reports with the Internal Revenue Service, Department of Labor, or any other governmental agency;
- (c) reviewing and approving any financial reports, investment reviews, or other reports prepared by any party appointed by the Employer;
- (d) construing and resolving any question of Plan interpretation and questions of fact. The Plan Administrator's interpretation of Plan provisions and resolution of questions of facts including eligibility and amount of benefits under the Plan is final and unless it can be shown to be arbitrary and capricious, will not be subject to "de novo" review;
- (e) monitoring the activities of the Trustee and the performance of, and making changes when necessary to, the portfolio of the Plan;
- (f) obtaining a legal determination of the qualified status of all domestic relations orders and complying with the requirements of the law with regard thereto;
- (g) administering the loan program including ensuring that any and all loans made by the Plan are in compliance with the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code and the Regulations issued thereunder, and the Regulations issued by the Department of Labor;
- (h) determining from the records of the Employer, the Compensation, Service, records, status, and the other facts regarding Participants and Employees;
- (i) the right to employ others, including legal counsel who may, but need not, be counsel to the Employer, to render advice regarding any questions which may arise with respect to its rights, duties and responsibilities under the Plan, and may rely upon the opinions or certificates of any such person;
- (j) the obligation as Named Fiduciary to monitor, collect and remit the contributions made to the Plan, except to the extent allocated and agreed to by the Trustee; and
- (k) the authority to make any and all necessary rules or regulations, binding upon all Participating Employers participating in the Plan and all Participants, to effectuate the purposes of this Article, including but not limited to all matters relating to Plan design, amendment of the Plan, termination of the Plan, selection and appointment persons and entities to serve in connection with the Plan or in connection with the custody or management of its assets, regulatory agencies in connection with the Plan, and in connection with all subordinate instruments, including, without limitation, the funding vehicles associated with the Plan.

No compensation other than reimbursement for expenses incurred shall be paid to a Plan Administrator who is the Employer or an Employee of the Employer.

#### 12.2 Persons Serving As Plan Administrator

If the Employer is no longer in existence, and the Plan does not specify and the Employer did not designate a person to take an action or otherwise serve in the place of a Plan Administrator which has resigned or otherwise vacated its position as Plan Administrator, then a successor shall be designated in writing by a majority of Participants whose accounts under the Plan have not yet been fully distributed at such time. A majority of the legally competent Beneficiaries of a deceased Participant then entitled to receive benefits may exercise a deceased Participant's right to participate in that designation and shall be considered for that purpose to be one Participant, in the Participant's place. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trustee and/or Custodian shall have the right to decline to honor instructions from any successor designated in such fashion, and may in its discretion require that a successor be appointed by other means including, but not limited to, by a court of competent jurisdiction.

#### 12.3 Action By Employer

Action by the Employer under the Plan shall be executed by the sole proprietor (if the Employer is a sole proprietorship), by a general partner or member of the Employer (if the Employer is a partnership or limited liability company), or by the board of directors or a duly authorized officer of the Employer (if the Employer is a corporation or other similarly organized business entity). If the Employer is no longer in existence, any action which would have otherwise be taken by the Employer shall be taken by a person selected following the approach referred to in paragraph 12.2, subject to the terms of said paragraph. The Trustee and/or Custodian shall have no responsibility for inquiring into the authority of any person purporting to act on behalf of an Employer.

The Employer may appoint or allocate its duties among several individuals or entities. The Employer's duties may include but are not limited to:

- (a) appointing the Plan's Plan Administrator, attorney, accountant, actuary, Trustee, Custodian, investment manager, or any other party needed to administer the Plan;
  - (b) directing the appropriate party with respect to payments from the Trust;
- (c) establishing a funding policy and investment objectives consistent with the purposes of the Plan and ERISA:
  - (d) directing the Trustee or Custodian with respect to investments; and
- (e) the right to employ others, including legal counsel who may, but need not, be counsel to the Plan Administrator, to render advice regarding any questions which may arise with respect to its rights, duties and responsibilities under the Plan, and may rely upon the opinions or certificates of any such person.

#### 12.4 Responsibilities Of The Parties

- (a) The Employer and the Plan Administrator shall cooperate with each other in all respects, including the provision to each other of records and other information relating to the Plan, as may be necessary or appropriate for the proper operation of the Plan or as may be required under the Code or ERISA.
- (b) The Plan Administrator may delegate in writing all or any part of the Plan Administrator's responsibilities under the Plan to agents or others by written agreement communicated to the delegate and to the Employer or, if the Employer is no longer in existence, to such person or persons selected following the approach in paragraph 12.2 and, in the same manner, may revoke any such delegation of responsibility. Any action of a delegate in the exercise of such delegated responsibilities shall have the same force and effect for all purposes as if the Plan Administrator had taken such action. The delegate shall have the right, in such person's sole discretion, by written instrument delivered to the Plan Administrator, to reject and refuse to exercise any such delegated authority. The Trustee and/or Custodian need not act on instructions of such a delegate despite any knowledge of such delegation, but may require the Plan Administrator to directly provide all instructions necessary under the Plan.
- (c) Unless otherwise provided in a separate agreement, responsibility with respect to the investment of the Trust shall be elected in the Adoption Agreement. The Trustee and/or Custodian shall invest the amounts allocated to Participants' accounts in accordance with the elections in the Adoption Agreement, Articles XII and XIII and/or in accordance with investment directions from authorized parties as provided hereunder.
- (d) The Trustee and/or Custodian (or other agent appointed for this purpose) may act upon receipt of directions (including without limitation, directions pursuant to a voice response system, facsimile or other electronic or mechanical means). The Trustee and/or Custodian shall be fully protected and will incur no liability for doing so.

#### 12.5 **Promulgating Notices And Procedures**

The Employer and Plan Administrator are given the power and responsibility to promulgate certain written notices, policies and/or procedures under the terms of the Plan and disseminate same to the Participants, and the Plan

Administrator may satisfy such responsibility by the preparation of any such notice, policy and/or procedure in a written form which can be published and communicated to a Participant in one or more of the following ways:

- (a) by distribution in hard copy;
- (b) through distribution of a summary plan description or summary of material modifications thereto which sets forth the policy or procedure with respect to a right, benefit or feature offered under the Plan;
- (c) by e-mail, either to a Participant's personal e-mail address or his or her Employer-maintained e-mail address; and
- (d) by publication on a web-site accessible by the Participant, provided the Participant is notified of the web-site publication. Any notice, policy and/or procedure provided through an electronic medium will only be valid if the electronic medium which is used is reasonably designed to provide the notice, policy and/or procedure in a manner no less understandable to the Participant than a written document, and under such medium, at the time the notice, policy and/or procedure is provided, the Employee may request and receive the notice, policy and/or procedure in a written paper document at no charge.

#### 12.6 Appointment Of Investment Manager

The Employer, Named Fiduciary or its designate may make the appointment of one or investment managers in accordance with this Article. If an investment manager is appointed, such entity or individual must be registered directly or indirectly as an investment manager under the Investment Advisors Act of 1940 or under applicable state law, meet the requirements of ERISA Section 3(38) or be a bank as defined in said Act or an insurance company qualified under the laws of more than one state to perform investment management services. An investment manager shall acknowledge in writing its appointment and fiduciary status hereunder and shall agree to comply with all applicable provisions of this document. The Employer, Plan Administrator, Trustee and any properly appointed investment manager may execute a written agreement which shall be incorporated by reference into the Plan which delineates the duties, responsibilities and any liabilities of the investment manager with respect to any part of the Trust. The investment manager shall have the investment powers granted the Trustee under the Plan except to the extent the investment manager's powers are limited by the investment management agreement. A copy of the investment management agreement (and any modifications or termination thereof) shall be provided to the Trustee or Custodian (in the instance where there is no Trustee) upon request. Written notice of each appointment of an investment manager shall be given to the Trustee or Custodian (in the instance where there is no Trustee) in advance of the effective date of the appointment. Such notice or agreement shall specify what portion of the Trust will be subject to the investment manager's discretion.

#### 12.7 Participant Investment Direction

If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, Participants may be provided with the option to direct the investment of all or any part of their account balances as specified therein. The Employer or the Named Fiduciary from time to time shall select the investments to be made available, including the appointment of any investment manager who meets the requirements of ERISA Section 3(38) to manage the assets of any Participant's account. The Employer or the Named Fiduciary, independent of the Trustee, shall be responsible for reviewing the performance of such investments. The following administrative procedures shall apply to the administration of investments selected by the Employer or the Named Fiduciary:

- (a) The Plan Administrator shall administer the program.
- (b) At the time an Employee becomes eligible for the Plan, he or she shall provide the Plan Administrator an investment designation stating the percentage of his or her contributions to be invested in the available investments.
- (c) A Participant may change his or her election with respect to future contributions by notifying the Employer, or if agreed upon, Trustee and/or Custodian or other Service Provider, as they shall mutually agree, in accordance with the procedures established by the Plan Administrator.
- (d) A Participant may transfer or exchange his or her balance from one investment alternative to another by notifying the Employer, Trustee and/or Custodian or other Service Provider, as they shall mutually agree, in accordance with the procedures established by the Plan Administrator.
- (e) The investment alternatives offered under the Plan may be limited in a uniform and nondiscriminatory manner. Investments may be restricted to specific investment alternatives selected, including but not limited to, certain mutual funds, investment contracts, collective funds or deposit accounts. If investments outside the alternatives selected are permitted, Participants may not direct that investments be made in collectibles other than U.S. Government or state issued gold and silver coins.

- (f) The Plan Administrator may permit, in a uniform and nondiscriminatory manner, a Beneficiary of a deceased Participant or alternate payee under a Qualified Domestic Relations Order [as defined in Code Section 414(p)] to individually direct their account in accordance with this paragraph.
- (g) Investment directions will be processed as soon as administratively practicable after proper investment directions are received from the Participant. The Employer, Plan Administrator, Service Provider, Trustee and/or Custodian cannot provide any guarantee of the timing of processing of any investment directive. The Employer, Plan Administrator, Service Provider, Trustee and/or Custodian reserve the right not to value an investment alternative or a Participant's account on any given Valuation Date for any reason deemed appropriate by the Employer or Plan Administrator. The Employer, Plan Administrator, Service Provider, Trustee and/or Custodian further reserve the right to delay the processing of any investment transaction for any legitimate business reason including but not limited to failure of systems or computer programs, failure of the means of the transmission of data, force majeure, the failure of a Service Provider to timely receive values or prices, to correct its errors or omissions or the errors or omissions of any Service Provider.
- (h) Notwithstanding the foregoing, and regardless of a Participant's authority to direct the investment of assets allocated to his or her account, the Named Fiduciary is authorized and empowered to direct the Trustee to invest funds in short term investments pending other investment instructions by the Plan Administrator.
- (i) If the Plan permits Participants the right to reallocate their contributions to a different fund and to transfer contributions into and out of investments provided under the Plan, subject to possible restrictions on these types of transactions, the Plan Administrator may decline to implement investment directives where it in its sole discretion deems it appropriate (for example, directives may be declined for excessive trading, market timing, or for any other legitimate reason where the Plan Administrator, in fulfilling its Fiduciary role under ERISA, believes that it would be imprudent to implement the directive). The Plan Administrator has the power to adopt such rules and procedures to govern all Participant elections and directions under the terms of the Plan.
- (j) All investment designations made by Participants are to be made subject to and in accordance with such rules or procedures as the Plan Administrator shall adopt. Any such rules or procedures when properly executed in a written document, will be deemed incorporated in this Plan. The rules or procedures therein may be modified or amended by the Plan Administrator without the necessity of amending this paragraph; however, any such modification must be communicated to Participants in a manner described in paragraph 12.5. Notwithstanding the foregoing: (1) a summary plan description or summary of material modifications in which the rules or procedures which describe investment designations are outlined shall be considered a separate written document sufficient to satisfy the requirements of this paragraph; and (2) any rules or procedures established under this paragraph must be applied in a uniform nondiscriminatory manner.
- (k) **Diversification Requirements for Publicly Traded Employer Securities** The provisions of this paragraph shall apply only if the Plan holds any publicly traded Employer Security, except as described in paragraph 12.7(k)(1). For purposes of this paragraph, a publicly traded security is a security which is traded on a national securities exchange that is registered under Section 6 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.SC.78f); or the security is traded on a foreign exchange that is officially recognized, sanctioned or supervised by a governmental authority and the security is deemed by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) as having a "ready market" under SEC Rule 15c3-1 (17 CFR 240.15c3).
- (1) If the Employer, or any member of a controlled group of corporations [as described in Treasury Regulations Section 1.401(a)(35)-1(f)(2)(iv)(A)] which includes the Employer, has issued a class of stock which is a publicly traded employer security, and the Plan holds employer securities which are not publicly traded employer securities, then the Plan shall be treated as holding publicly traded securities.
- (2) With respect to a Participant (including for purposes of this paragraph an alternate payee who has an account under the Plan, or a deceased Participant's Beneficiary), if any portion of the Participant's account under the Plan attributable to Elective Deferrals as described in Code Section 402(g)(3)(A), employee contributions, or rollover contribution is invested in publicly traded employer securities, the Participant must be offered the opportunity to elect to divest those employer securities and reinvest an equivalent amount in other investment options as described in paragraph 12.7(k)(3).

If the Plan holds publicly traded employer securities acquired in a Plan year beginning before January 1, 2007, paragraph 12.7(k)(2) need only apply to the applicable percentage of the number of shares of those securities. The applicable percentage is 33% for the first Plan Year to which Code Section 401(a)(35) applies, 66% for the second plan year, and 100% for all subsequent Plan Years. If the Plan holds more than one class of securities, this transitional rule does not apply to a Participant who has attained age fifty-five (55) and who has not completed at least three (3) years of vesting service before the first day of the plan year beginning after December 31, 2005.

A Participant completes three (3) Years of Service on the last day of the vesting computation period

provided for under the Plan that constitutes the completion of the third Year of Service under Code Section 411(a)(5). For a Plan that uses the Elapsed Time method of crediting service for vesting purposes (or a Plan that provides for immediate vesting without using a vesting computation period or the elapsed time method of determining vesting), a Participant completes three (3) Years of Service on the day immediately preceding the third anniversary of the Participant's date of hire.

- (3) The Plan Administrator must provide a notice to the applicable Participants not later than thirty (30) days before the first date on which the Participants are eligible to exercise their rights. The notice must set forth the diversification rights provided under Code Section 401(a)(35) and describe the importance of diversifying the investment of retirement plan assets.
- (4) At least three (3) investment options (other than Employer securities) must be offered to Participants described in paragraphs 12.7(k)(1) and (2). Each investment option must be diversified and have materially different risk and return characteristics. Periodic reasonable divestment and reinvestment opportunities must be provided at least quarterly. Except as provided in Treasury Regulations Sections 1.401(a)(35)-1(e)(2) and (3), restrictions (either direct or indirect) or conditions will not be imposed on the investment of publicly traded employer securities if such restrictions or conditions are not imposed on the investment of other Plan assets.

All related expenses incurred on behalf of a Participant (including but not limited to brokerage commissions and other transaction related expenses) shall, as determined by the Employer, either be paid from or otherwise be charged directly to the account of the Participant providing such direction or treated as a general expense of the Trust.

# 12.8 Application Of ERISA Section 404(c)

If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, Participant accounts under the Plan may be invested as elected by each Participant in a broad range of investment options made available from time to time by the Employer (or other Named Fiduciary) for this purpose. The Employer may further elect in an addendum to the Plan (or other agreement, which is incorporated by reference) that the Plan is intended to qualify as an "ERISA Section 404(c) Plan" within the meaning of Regulations issued pursuant to such section. Participants shall have the opportunity, at least once in any three (3) month period, to give investment instructions (with an opportunity to obtain written confirmation of such instructions) as to the investment of contributions made on his or her behalf among the available investment options. The Plan Administrator shall be obligated to comply with such instructions except as otherwise provided in the Regulations issued under ERISA Section 404(c).

The Plan Administrator will provide or will make arrangements to provide each Participant with a description of the investment alternatives available under the Plan; and with respect to each designated investment alternative, a general description of the investments objectives, risk and return characteristics of each alternative, including information relating to the type and diversification of assets comprising the investment portfolio.

The Plan Administrator by separate document may prescribe the form and the manner in which such direction shall be made, as well as the frequency with which such directions may be made or changed and the dates as of which they shall be effective, in a manner consistent with the foregoing. The Plan Administrator (or a person or entity so designated by the Employer) shall be the Named Fiduciary identified to furnish the information as contemplated by ERISA Section 404(c), but may designate on its behalf another person or entity to provide such information or to perform any of the obligations of the Plan Administrator under this paragraph.

Except as otherwise provided by law, the Trustee, Custodian, the Employer, or any Named Fiduciary of the Plan shall not be liable to the Participant or any of his or her Beneficiaries for any loss resulting from action taken at the direction of the Participant.

The protections of ERISA Section 404(c) will be extended to the investment in certain default funds if the Plan meets the requirements of a Qualified Default Investment Arrangement (QDIA). The QDIA requirements may apply to Automatic Contribution Arrangements (EACAs or QACAs as described in paragraph 4.11) or to other arrangements where Participant accounts are automatically invested in default funds. A QDIA must satisfy the following conditions:

- (a) Participants and Beneficiaries must be able to make investment decisions.
- (b) The Plan must offer a broad range of investment alternatives, as required by ERISA Section 404(c), which meet the following requirements:
- (1) The product is a lifecycle or target date fund that mixes investments taking into account an individual's age, life expectancy or target retirement date;
- (2) The product is a balanced fund that mixes investments taking into account characteristics of an entire Employee group;

- (3) Is an investment management service such as a managed account or asset allocation service that allocates contributions among existing Plan investment options to provide an asset mix that takes into account an individual's age, life expectancy or a target retirement date; or
- (5) The product is a capital preservation investment such as a stable value fund or a money market fund, provided it is only available to the individual for the first 120 days after becoming a Participant in the Plan. The Plan must then transfer the assets to an otherwise acceptable QDIA. The QDIA cannot hold Employer securities, except in certain situations allowed under Regulation Section 2550.404c-5, and must be diversified to minimize the risk of large losses. Assets in a QDIA must be managed by an investment manager, a Plan Sponsor that is a named fiduciary as described in ERISA Section 402(a), a registered investment company, or Plan Trustees meeting specific requirements.
- (c) Participants and Beneficiaries must receive an initial and annual notice at least thirty (30) days before the Participant is first eligible to participate or at least thirty (30) days before contributions are first invested in the QDIA. The notice must be written in a manner that is understandable by the average Participant and must contain the following provisions:
- (1) A description of how and when a Participant's or Beneficiary's account will be invested in a QDIA. Automatic enrollment plans must include a description of when automatic contributions will be withheld, the automatic contribution amount, and the Participant's right to not make Elective Deferrals or to change the automatic contribution rate:
- (2) An explanation of a Participant's or Beneficiary's right to direct the investment of their account and an explanation of any fees involved in connection with transferring amounts to another investment;
- (3) A description of the QDIA, it's investment objectives, risk and return characteristics, and any fees or expenses that will apply; and
- (4) An explanation of where Participants and Beneficiaries may obtain investment materials concerning other investment options under the Plan, as applicable.
- (d) The Plan must provide Participants the opportunity to change investments in the QDIA at least as often as they can change any other investment, but in no event less than quarterly. The QDIA cannot impose financial penalties or restrict the ability to transfer all or part of the QDIA assets to another investment option.
- (e) The Plan must provide Participants and Beneficiaries with the same investment materials it provides to those making affirmative investment elections.

# 12.9 Participant Loans

If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, a Plan Participant and Beneficiaries who are parties-in-interest as defined in ERISA Section 3(14) may make application to the Plan Administrator requesting a loan from the Plan. The Plan Administrator shall have the sole right to approve or deny a Participant's application provided that loans shall be made available to all Participants on a reasonably equivalent basis. Loans shall not be made available to Highly Compensated Employees in an amount greater than the amount made available to other Participants. Any loan granted under the Plan shall be made in accordance with the terms of a written loan policy adopted by the Employer which is hereby incorporated by reference and made a part of this Basic Plan Document #03. The loan policy may be amended in writing from time to time without the necessity of amending this paragraph and shall be subject to the following rules to the extent such rules are not inconsistent with such loan policy.

- (a) No loan, when aggregated with any outstanding loan(s) to the Participant, shall exceed the lesser of (i) \$50,000 reduced by the excess, if any, of the Participant's highest outstanding balance of all loans on any day during the one (1) year period ending on the day before the loan is made, over the outstanding balance of loans from the Plan on the date the Participant's loan is made or (ii) one-half of the fair market value of the Participant's Vested Account Balance consisting of contributions as specified in the loan policy. An election may be made in the loan policy, that if the Participant's Vested Account Balance is \$20,000 or less, the maximum loan shall not exceed the lesser of \$10,000 or 100% of the Participant's Vested Account Balance. For the purpose of the above limitation, all loans from all plans of the Employer and other members of a group of employers described in Code Sections 414(b), 414(c), and 414(m) are aggregated. An assignment or pledge of any portion of the Participant's interest in the Plan and a loan, pledge, or assignment with respect to any insurance contract purchased under the Plan, will be treated as a loan under this paragraph.
  - (b) All applications must be in accordance with procedures adopted by the Plan Administrator.
- (c) Any loan shall bear interest at a rate reasonable at the time of application, considering the purpose of the loan and the rate being charged by representative commercial banks in the local area for a similar loan unless the Plan Administrator sets forth a different method for determining loan interest rates in its written loan procedures. The loan agreement shall also provide that the payment of principal and interest be amortized in level payments not less frequently than quarterly provided that DOL Regulation Section 2550.4089(b)-1(e) is satisfied.

- (d) The term of such loan shall not exceed a period of five (5) years except in the case of a loan for the purpose of acquiring any house, apartment, condominium, or mobile home that is used or is to be used within a reasonable time as the principal residence of the Participant. The Plan Administrator in accordance with the Plan's loan policy shall determine the term of such loan.
- (e) The principal and interest paid by a Participant on his or her loan shall be credited to the Plan in the same manner as for any other Plan investment. Unless otherwise provided in the loan policy, loans will be treated as segregated investments of the individual Participant on whose behalf the loan was made. This provision is not available if its election will result in discrimination in the operation of the Plan.
- (f) If the Plan Administrator approves a Participant's loan request, it shall be evidenced by a note, loan agreement, and assignment of up to 50% of his or her interest in the Trust as collateral for the loan. The Participant, except in the case of a profit-sharing plan satisfying the requirements of paragraph 8.7, must obtain the consent of his or her Spouse, if any, within the 180 day period [ninety (90) for Plan Years beginning before January 1, 2007] before the time his or her account balance is used as security for the loan. A new consent is required if the account balance is used for any renegotiation, extension, renewal or other revision of the loan, including an increase in the loan amount. The consent must be written, must acknowledge the effect of the loan, and must be witnessed by a Plan representative or notary public. Such consent shall subsequently be binding with respect to the consenting Spouse or any subsequent Spouse.
- (g) If a valid Spousal consent has been obtained in accordance with paragraph (f), then, notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan, the portion of the Participant's Vested Account Balance used as a security interest held by the Plan by reason of a loan outstanding to the Participant shall be taken into account for purposes of determining the amount of the account balance payable at the time of death or distribution, but only if the reduction is used as repayment of the loan. If less than 100% of the Participant's Vested Account Balance (determined without regard to the preceding sentence) is payable to the surviving Spouse, then the account balance shall be adjusted by first reducing the Vested Account Balance by the amount of the security used as repayment of the loan, and then determining the benefit payable to the surviving Spouse.
- (h) Any loan made hereunder shall be subject to the provisions of a loan agreement, promissory note, security agreement, payroll withholding authorization and, if applicable, financial disclosure. Such documentation may contain additional loan terms and conditions not specifically itemized in this paragraph provided that such terms and conditions do not conflict with this paragraph. Such additional terms and conditions may include, but are not limited to, procedures regarding default, a grace period for missed payments, and acceleration of a loan's maturity date on specific events such as termination of employment.
- (i) Effective for Plan loans made after December 31, 2001, Plan provisions prohibiting loans to any Owner-Employee or Shareholder Employee shall cease to apply.
- (j) Liquidation of a Participant's assets for the purpose of the loan will be allocated on a pro-rata basis across all the investment alternatives in a Participant's account, unless otherwise specified by the Participant, Plan Administrator, or the Plan's loan policy.
- (k) If the Plan Administrator approves a request for a loan, funds shall be withdrawn from the recordkeeping sub-accounts specified by the Participant, including Roth Elective Deferrals, if applicable, or in the absence of such a specification, from the recordkeeping sub-accounts in the order specified in the loan policy. The Plan Administrator may modify the loan program to provide limitations on the ability to borrow from, or use as security, a Participant's Elective Deferral account. The loan policy may be amended to provide for ordering rules with respect to the default of a loan that is made from the Participant's Roth Elective Deferral account as well as other accounts under the Plan.
- (I) If a Plan permits loans to Participants, the Trustee and/or Custodian may appoint the Employer as its agent, and if the Employer accepts such appointment, agree to hold all notes and other evidence of any loans made to Participants. If provided in the loan policy, the Plan Administrator may also require additional collateral in order to adequately secure the loan. The Employer shall hold such notes and evidence under such conditions of safekeeping as is prudent and as required by ERISA. The Trustee and/or Custodian may account for all loans in the aggregate so that all Participant loans will be shown collectively as a single asset of the Plan.
- (m) Unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, loan payments shall be suspended under this Plan during periods of military service, as permitted under Code Section 414(u).
- (n) If provided by the Employer in an administrative policy, the Employer may permit loans to Participants (or former Participants with a Vested Account Balance in the Plan) when legislation is passed that provides for special Plan distributions that would otherwise not be available or if the IRS issues guidance providing such special relief.

#### 12.10 Insurance Policies

If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, a life insurance contract may be purchased on behalf of a Participant. No life insurance contract may be purchased unless the insured under the contract is the Participant or, where this Plan is a profit sharing or 401(k) plan, the Participant's Spouse or another individual in whom the Participant has an insurable interest. If a life insurance contract is to be purchased for a Participant, the aggregate premium for certain life insurance for each Participant must be less than a certain percentage of the aggregate Employer Contributions and Forfeitures allocated to a Participant's individual Account at any particular time as follows.

- (a) **Ordinary Life Insurance** For purposes of these incidental insurance provisions, ordinary life insurance contracts are contracts with both non-decreasing death benefits and non-increasing premiums. If such contracts are purchased, less than 50% of the aggregate Employer Contributions and Forfeitures allocated to any Participant's individual Account will be used to pay the premiums attributable to them.
- (b) **Term And Universal Life Insurance** No more than 25% of the aggregate Employer Contributions and Forfeitures allocated to any Participant's individual Account will be used to pay the premiums on term life insurance contracts, universal life insurance contracts, and all other life insurance contracts which are not ordinary life
- (c) **Combination** The sum of 50% of the ordinary life insurance premiums and all other life insurance premiums will not exceed 25% of the aggregate Employer Contributions and Forfeitures allocated to any Participant's Individual Account.

If this Plan is a profit-sharing plan, the above incidental benefits limits do not apply to life insurance contracts purchased by an Employee who has been a Participant in the Plan for five (5) or more years or purchased with Employer Contributions and Forfeitures that have been in the Participant's individual account for at least two (2) full Plan Years, measured from the date such contributions were allocated. For purposes of this paragraph, Rollover Contributions shall be considered Employer Contributions, and therefore may be used to pay contract premiums. No part of the Qualified Voluntary Contribution account will be used to purchase life insurance.

- (d) Any dividends or credits earned on insurance contracts for a Participant shall be allocated to such Participant's individual account derived from Employer Contributions for whose benefit the contract is held.
- (e) Subject to Article VIII, the contracts on a Participant's life will be converted to cash or an annuity or distributed to the Participant upon Severance from Employment with the Employer. In addition, contracts on the joint lives of a Participant and another person may not be maintained under this Plan if such Participant ceases to have an insurable interest in such other person.
- (f) The Trustee (or Custodian, if applicable) shall apply for and will be the owner of any insurance contract(s) purchased under the terms of this Plan. The insurance contract(s) must provide that proceeds will be payable to the Trustee (or Custodian, if applicable). However, the Trustee (or Custodian, if applicable) shall be required to pay over all proceeds of the contract(s) to the Participant's Designated Beneficiary in accordance with the distribution provisions of this Plan. A Participant's Spouse will be the Designated Beneficiary of the proceeds in all circumstances unless a Qualified Election has been made in accordance with Plan paragraph 8.4. Under no circumstances shall the Trust retain any part of the proceeds. In the event of any conflict between the terms of this Plan and the terms of any insurance contract purchased hereunder, the Plan provisions shall control.
- (g) The Plan Administrator may direct the Trustee (or Custodian, if applicable) to sell and distribute insurance or annuity contracts to a Participant (or other party as may be permitted) in accordance with applicable law or regulations.
- (h) Notwithstanding any other provision herein, and except as may be otherwise provided by ERISA, the Employer shall indemnify and hold harmless the insurer, its officers, directors, employees, agents, heirs, executors, successors, and assigns, from and against any and all liabilities, damages, judgments, settlements, losses, costs, charges, or expenses (including legal expenses) at any time arising out of or incurred in connection with any action taken by such parties in the performance of their duties with respect to this Plan, unless there has been a final adjudication of gross negligence or willful misconduct in the performance of such duties.

Further, except as may be otherwise provided by ERISA, the Employer will indemnify the insurer from any liability, claim, or expense (including legal expense) that the insurer incurs by reason of, or which results in whole or in part from the reliance of the insurer on the facts and other directions and elections the Employer communicates or fails to communicate.

(i) The Named Fiduciary or other fiduciary responsible for making investment decisions may discontinue the investment in life insurance policies at any time. If the Plan provides for Participant directed investments, life insurance as an investment option, may be eliminated by the Plan Administrator. Where life

insurance investment options are being discontinued, the Plan Administrator in its sole discretion, may offer to sell the insurance policies to the Participant, or to another person, provided the prohibited transaction exemption requirements of the Department of Labor are satisfied. Such payment shall be credited to the Participant's account for distribution under the terms of the Plan. All distributions resulting from the application of this paragraph shall be subject to the Joint and Survivor Annuity Rules of Article VIII, if applicable.

(j) The Plan Administrator shall be solely responsible to ensure the insurance provisions are administered properly and that if there is any conflict between the provisions of this Plan and any insurance contracts issued, the terms of this document will control.

# 12.11 Procedures And Other Matters Regarding Domestic Relations Orders

- (a) To the extent provided in any Qualified Domestic Relations Order, the former Spouse of a Participant shall be treated as a surviving Spouse of such Participant for purposes of any benefit payable in the form of either a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity or Qualified Preretirement Survivor Annuity.
- (b) The Plan shall not be treated as failing to meet the requirements of the Code, which generally prohibits payment of benefits before the Participant's termination of employment or Severance from Employment, as applicable, with the Employer, solely by reason of payments to an Alternate Payee pursuant to a Qualified Domestic Relations Order.
  - (c) In the case of any Domestic Relations Order received by the Plan,
- (1) the Plan Administrator shall promptly notify the Participant and any other Alternate Payee of the receipt of such order and the Plan's procedure for determining the qualified status of Domestic Relations Orders, and
- (2) within a reasonable period after receipt of such order, the Plan Administrator shall determine whether such order is a Qualified Domestic Relations Order and notify the Participant and each Alternate Payee of such determination.

The Plan Administrator shall establish reasonable procedures to determine the qualified status of Domestic Relations Orders and to administer distributions under such qualified orders.

Omestic Relations Order is being determined by the Plan Administrator, by a court of competent jurisdiction, or otherwise, the Plan Administrator shall segregate as a separate account in the Plan or in an escrow account the amounts which would have been payable to the Alternate Payee during such period if the order had been determined to be a Qualified Domestic Relations Order. If within eighteen (18) months the order or modification thereof is determined to be a Qualified Domestic Relations Order, the Plan Administrator shall pay the segregated amounts (plus any interest thereon) to the person or persons entitled thereto. If within eighteen (18) months either (1) it is determined that the order is not a Qualified Domestic Relations Order, or (2) the issue as to whether such order is a Qualified Domestic Relations Order, the Plan Administrator shall pay the segregated amounts (plus any interest thereon) to the person or persons who would have been entitled to such amounts if there had been no order, Any determination that an order is a Qualified Domestic Relations Order which is made after the close of the eighteen (18) month period shall be applied prospectively only.

#### 12.12 Determination Of Qualified Domestic Relations Order (QDRO Or Order)

Unless otherwise provided in a separate Trust Agreement, or separate written document such as the Plan's QDRO procedures, a domestic relations order shall specifically state all of the following in order to be deemed a Qualified Domestic Relations Order ("QDRO"):

- (a) The name and last known mailing address (if any) of the Participant and of each alternate payee covered by the QDRO. However, if the QDRO does not specify the current mailing address of the alternate payee, but the Plan Administrator has independent knowledge of that address, the QDRO will still be valid.
- (b) The dollar amount or percentage of the Participant's benefit to be paid by the Plan to each alternate payee, or the manner in which the amount or percentage will be determined.
  - (c) The number of payments or period for which the order applies.
  - (d) The specific Plan (by name) to which the domestic relations order applies.

The domestic relations order shall not be deemed a QDRO if it requires the Plan to provide:

(e) any type or form of benefit or any option not already provided for in the Plan;

- (f) increased benefits or benefits in excess of the Participant's vested rights;
- (g) payment of a benefit earlier than allowed by the Plan's earliest retirement provisions or, in the case of a profit-sharing or 401(k) plan, prior to the first date on which an in-service withdrawal is allowed; or
- (h) payment of benefits to an alternate payee which are required to be paid to another alternate payee under another QDRO.

Upon receipt of a domestic relations order ("Order") which may or may not be "qualified", the Plan Administrator shall notify the Participant and any alternate payee(s) named in the Order of such receipt, and forward either a copy of this paragraph or other written QDRO policies and procedures. The Plan Administrator shall establish written procedures to establish the qualified status of a domestic relations order, which may include forwarding the Order to the Plan's legal counsel for an opinion as to whether or not the Order is in fact "qualified" as defined in Code Section 414(p). Within a reasonable time after receipt of the Order, not to exceed sixty (60) days, the Plan Administrator shall make a determination as to its "qualified" status and the Participant and any alternate payee(s) shall be promptly notified in writing of the determination.

If the "qualified" status of the Order is in question, there will be a delay in any payout to any payee including the Participant, until the status is resolved. In such event, the Plan Administrator shall segregate the amount that would have been payable to the alternate payee(s) if the Order had been deemed a QDRO. If the Order is not qualified or the status is not resolved (for example, it has been sent back to the court for clarification or modification) within eighteen (18) months beginning with the date the first payment would have to be made under the Order, the Plan Administrator shall pay the segregated amounts plus any gains or losses to the person(s) who would have been entitled to the benefits had there been no Order. If a determination as to the qualified status of the Order is made after the eighteen (18) month period described above, then the Order shall only be applied on a prospective basis. If the Order is determined to be a QDRO, the Participant and alternate payee(s) shall again be notified promptly after such determination. Once an Order is deemed a QDRO, the Plan Administrator shall pay to the alternate payee(s) all the amounts due under the QDRO, including segregated amounts plus earnings and losses, if any, which may have accrued during a dispute as to the Order's qualification.

Unless specified otherwise in the Adoption Agreement or in a separate Trust Agreement or other written document the QDRO retirement age with regard to the Participant against whom the order is entered shall be the date the order is determined to be qualified. These provisions will only allow distributions to the alternate payee(s) and not the Participant.

The costs of administering the Plan may be shared between Participants and the Employer. In addition other administrative costs which may be deducted from Participant 's contributions or accounts, these additional costs and/or fees associated with the qualification of a domestic relations order may be charged back to the Participant and/or Alternate Payee. The Plan Administrator will notify the parties involved of any costs that are charged to a Plan Account in the operation of the Plan.

#### 12.13 Receipt And Release For Payments

Unless otherwise provided in a separate Trust Agreement, any payment to any Participant, his legal representative, Beneficiary, or to any guardian or committee appointed for such Participant or Beneficiary in accordance with the provisions of the Plan shall be in full satisfaction of all claims hereunder against the Trustee, Custodian, Employer or Plan Administrator each of whom may require such Participant, legal representative, Beneficiary, guardian or committee as a condition prior to such payment, to execute a receipt and release in such form as shall be determined by the Trustee, Custodian, Employer or Plan Administrator. The Plan Administrator shall have the right of recovery of any overpayment to a Plan Participant and/or Beneficiary, as well as the right of offset.

#### 12.14 Resignation And Removal

An individual serving as Plan Administrator may resign by giving written notice to the Employer, or if the Employer is no longer in existence, to the Trustee and/or Custodian, as applicable not less than thirty (30) days before the effective date of the individual's resignation. The Plan Administrator may be removed with or without cause by the Employer upon thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Plan Administrator, or if the Employer is no longer in existence, by a majority of the Participants and Beneficiaries following the procedure referred to in paragraph 12.2. A notice period provided for in this paragraph may be waived or reduced if acceptable to the parties involved. The Employer, if in existence, shall be the successor Plan Administrator, or the Employer may appoint a successor to a person who has resigned or been removed as Plan Administrator, but if the Employer is no longer in existence, the appointment shall be made by a majority of the Participants and Beneficiaries following the procedure referred to in paragraph 12.2. When the Plan Administrator's resignation or removal becomes effective, the Plan Administrator shall have all the rights and powers and all of the duties and obligations of the original Plan Administrator but shall have no responsibility for acts or omissions that occurred before the successor became Plan Administrator.

#### 12.15 Claims And Claims Review Procedure

The procedures in this paragraph will be the sole and exclusive remedy for an Employee, Participant or Beneficiary ("Claimant") to make a claim for retirement plan benefits under the Plan. These procedures will be administered and interpreted in a manner consistent with the requirements of ERISA Section 503 and the Regulations thereunder. Any electronic notices provided by the Plan Administrator will comply with the standards imposed under Regulations issued by the Department of Labor. All claims determinations made by the Plan Administrator will be made in accordance with the provisions of this paragraph and the Plan, and will be applied consistently to similarly situated Claimants.

- (a) **Written Claim** A Claimant, or the Claimant's duly authorized representative, may file a claim for a benefit to which the Claimant believes that he or she is entitled under the Plan. Any such claim must be filed in writing with the Plan Administrator.
- (b) **Denial Of Claim** The Plan Administrator, in its sole and complete discretion, will make all initial determinations as to the right of any person to benefits. If the claim is denied in whole or in part, the Plan Administrator will send the Claimant a written or electronic notice, informing the Claimant of the denial. The notice must be written in a manner calculated to be understood by the Claimant and must contain the following information: the specific reason(s) for the denial; a specific reference to pertinent Plan provisions on which the denial is based; if additional material or information is necessary for the Claimant to perfect the claim, a description of such material or information and an explanation of why such material or information is necessary; and an explanation of the Plan's claim review (i.e., appeal) procedures, the time limits applicable to such procedures, and Claimant's right to request arbitration if the claim denial is upheld in whole or in part on appeal. Written or electronic notice of the denial will be given within a reasonable period of time [but no later than ninety (90) days] from the date the Plan Administrator receives the claim, unless special circumstances require an extension of time for processing the claim. In no event may the extension exceed ninety (90) days from the end of the initial ninety (90) day period. If an extension is necessary, prior to the expiration of the initial ninety (90) day period, the Plan Administrator will send the Claimant a written notice indicating the special circumstances requiring an extension and the date by which the Plan Administrator expects to render a decision.
- (c) Request For Appeal If the Plan Administrator denies a claim in whole or in part, the Claimant may elect to appeal the denial. If the Claimant does not appeal the denial pursuant to the procedures set forth herein, the denial will be final, binding and unappealable. A written request for appeal must be filed by the Claimant (or the Claimant's duly authorized representative) with the Plan Administrator within sixty (60) days after the date on which the claimant receives the Plan Administrator's notice of denial. If a request for appeal is timely filed, the Claimant will be afforded a full and fair review of the claim and the denial. As part of this review, the Claimant may submit written comments, documents, records, and other information relating to the claim, and the review will take into account all such comments, documents, records, or other information submitted by the Claimant, without regard to whether such information was submitted or considered in the Plan Administrator's initial benefit determination. The Claimant also may obtain, free of charge and upon request, records and other information relevant to the claim, without regard to whether such information was relied upon by the Plan Administrator in making the initial benefit determination.
- (d) Review Of Appeal The Plan Administrator will determine, in its sole and complete discretion, whether to uphold all or a portion of the initial claim denial. If, on appeal, the Plan Administrator determines that all or a portion of the initial denial should be upheld, the Plan Administrator will send the Claimant a written or electronic notice informing the Claimant of its decision to uphold all or a portion of the initial denial, written in a manner calculated to be understood by the Claimant and containing the following information: the specific reason(s) for the denial; a specific reference to pertinent Plan provisions on which the denial is based; a statement that the Claimant is entitled to receive, upon request and free of charge, reasonable access to and copies of all documents and other information relevant to the claim; and an explanation of the Claimant's rights. Written or electronic notice will be given within a reasonable period of time (but no later than sixty (60) days) from the date the Plan Administrator receives the request for appeal, unless special circumstances require an extension of time for reviewing the claim, but in no event may the extension exceed sixty (60) days from the end of the initial sixty (60) day period. If an extension is necessary, prior to the expiration of the initial sixty (60) day period, the Plan Administrator will send the Claimant a written notice, indicating the special circumstances requiring an extension and the date by which the Plan Administrator expects to render a decision.
- (e) Alternative Time For An Appeal To Be Decided Notwithstanding paragraph (d), if the Plan Administrator holds regularly scheduled meetings on a quarterly or more frequent basis, the Plan Administrator may make its determination of the claim on appeal at its next regularly scheduled meeting if the Plan Administrator receives the written request for appeal more than thirty (30) days prior to its next regularly scheduled meeting or at the regularly scheduled meeting immediately following the next regularly scheduled meeting if the Plan Administrator receives the written request for appeal within thirty (30) days of the next regularly scheduled meeting. If special circumstances require an extension, the decision may be postponed to the third regularly scheduled meeting following the Plan Administrator receipt of the written request for appeal if, prior to the expiration of the initial time period for review, the Claimant is provided with written notice, indicating the special circumstances requiring an extension and the date by which the Plan Administrator expects to render a decision. If the extension is required

because the Claimant has not provided information that is necessary to decide the claim, the Plan Administrator may suspend the review period from the date on which notice of the extension is sent to the Claimant until the date on which the Claimant responds to the request for additional information.

#### 12.16 **Benefit Claims Procedure For Disability Claims**

If a Participant's claim for Disability benefits under the Plan is wholly or partially denied, the Plan Administrator shall furnish the Participant or his or her Beneficiary (hereinafter referred to below as a "claimant") or the claimant's authorized representative with written or electronic notice of the denial, within a reasonable period of time, generally not to exceed forty-five (45) days after the Plan Administrator receives the claim. This forty-five (45) day period may be extended for up to thirty (30) days, if the Plan Administrator both determines that such an extension is necessary due to matters beyond its control and notifies the claimant, prior to the expiration of the initial forty-five (45) day period, of the circumstances requiring the extension of time and the date by which the Plan Administrator expects to render a decision. If, prior to the end of the first thirty (30) day extension period, the Plan Administrator determines that, due to matters beyond its control, it cannot render a decision within that extension period, the period for making the determination may be extended for up to an additional thirty (30) days, provided that the Plan Administrator notifies the claimant, prior to the expiration of the first thirty (30) day extension period, of the circumstances requiring the extension and the date by which the Plan Administrator expects to render a decision. In the case of any extension, the notice of extension shall specifically explain the standards on which entitlement to a benefit is based, the unresolved issues that prevent a decision on the claim, and the additional information needed to resolve those issues, and the claimant will be given at least forty-five (45) days within which to provide the specified information.

Any written or electronic notice of the denial of benefits shall set forth, in an understandable manner, the following information:

- (a) The specific reason(s) for the denial of the claim;
- (b) Reference to the specific Plan provisions on which the denial is based;
- (c) A description of any additional material or information necessary for the claimant to perfect the claim and an explanation of why such material or information is necessary;
- (d) A description of the Plan's review procedures and the time limits applicable to such procedures, including a statement of the claimant's right to bring a civil action under Section 502(a) of the Act following a denial on review; and
- (e) If the Plan Administrator relied upon an internal rule, guideline, protocol, or other similar criterion in making the adverse determination, the notice shall set forth the specific rule, guideline, protocol, or other similar criterion or a statement that such a rule, guideline, protocol, or other similar criterion was relied upon in making the adverse determination and that a copy of such rule, guideline, protocol, or other criterion will be provided free of charge to the claimant upon request. If the adverse benefit determination is based on a medical judgment, the notice also shall set forth an explanation of the scientific or clinical judgment for the determination, applying the Plan's terms to the claimant's medical circumstances, or a statement that such explanation will be provided free of charge upon request.

The Plan Administrator's written extension notice must indicate the special circumstances requiring an extension of time for processing the claim, and the date by which the Plan Administrator expects to render its decision on the claim.

The claimant or his authorized representative may appeal the Plan Administrator's decision denying his claim within one hundred and eighty (180) days after the claimant or his authorized representative receives the Plan Administrator's notice denying the claim. The claimant or his authorized representative may submit to the Plan Administrator written comments, documents, records, and other information relating to the claim. The claimant or his authorized representative shall be provided, upon request and free of charge, reasonable access to, and copies of all documents, records, and other information relevant to the claim. For these purposes, a document, record or other information is "relevant" to the claim if it:

- (f) was relied upon by the Plan Administrator in making its decision on the claim;
- (g) was submitted, considered, or generated in the course of the Plan Administrator's making its decision on the claim, without regard to whether the Plan Administrator relied upon such document, record or other information in making its decision, or
- (h) complies with administrative processes and safeguards which are designed to ensure and to verify that decisions on claims are made in accordance with governing Plan documents, whose provisions are applied consistently with respect to similarly situated claimants.

The Plan Administrator's review of the claimant's claim and of the Plan Administrator's denial of such claim shall take into account all comments, documents, records, and other information submitted by the claimant or his authorized representative relating to the claim, without regard to whether these materials were submitted or considered by the Plan Administrator in its initial decision on the claim. The review of the Plan Administrator's initial adverse benefit determination shall not afford deference to such determination and shall be conducted by a named fiduciary of the Plan who is neither the individual who made the initial adverse benefit determination nor a subordinate of that individual. In deciding an appeal of any initial adverse benefit determination that is based, in whole or in part, on a medical judgment, the named fiduciary shall consult with a health care professional who has appropriate training and experience in the field of medicine involved in the medical judgment. The medical or vocational experts whose advice was obtained on behalf of the Plan Administrator in connection with its adverse benefit determination shall be identified to the claimant or his authorized representative, regardless of whether the Plan Administrator relied upon the advice in making the benefit determination. The health care professional whom the named fiduciary consults in making his review of the Plan Administrator's initial adverse benefit determination shall be an individual who is neither an individual whom the Plan Administrator consulted in connection with the adverse benefit determination that is the subject of the appeal, nor the subordinate of any such individual.

The named fiduciary's decision on the appeal of a denied claim shall be made within a reasonable period of time [not to exceed forty-five (45) days after receipt of the claimant's request for review by the Plan, unless the named fiduciary determines that special circumstances (such as a need to hold a hearing) require an extension of time for processing the claim and furnishes written notice of the extension to the claimant or his authorized representative before the initial forty-five (45) day period. In no event shall such extension exceed a period of forty-five (45) days from the end of the initial period ends. The extension notice shall indicate the special circumstances requiring an extension of time and the date by which the named fiduciary expects to render the determination on review.] The named fiduciary will furnish the claimant or his authorized representative with written or electronic notice of his decision on appeal. In the case of a decision on appeal upholding the Plan Administrator's initial denial of the claim, the named fiduciary's notice of its decision on appeal shall set forth, in an understandable manner, the following information:

- (i) The specific reason(s) for the decision on appeal;
- (j) Reference to the specific Plan provisions on which the decision on appeal is based;
- (k) A statement that the claimant is entitled to receive, upon request and free of charge, reasonable access to, and copies of, all documents, records and other information relevant to the claimant's claim for benefits;
- (I) A statement describing any voluntary appeal procedures (including any other form of dispute resolution) offered by the Plan and the claimant's right to obtain information sufficient to enable the claimant to make an informed judgment about whether to submit a benefit dispute to the voluntary level of appeal, and a statement of the claimant's right to bring an action under ERISA Section 502(a):
- (m) If the named fiduciary relied upon an internal rule, guideline, protocol, or other similar criterion in making the adverse determination, the notice shall set forth the specific rule, guideline, protocol, or other similar criterion or a statement that such rule, guideline, protocol or other similar criterion was relied upon in making the adverse determination and that a copy of such rule, guideline, protocol, or other criterion will be provided free of charge to the claimant upon request:
- (n) If the adverse benefit determination is based on a medical judgment, the notice also shall set forth and explanation of the scientific or clinical judgment for the determination, applying the Plan's terms to the claimant's medical circumstances, or a statement that such explanation will be provided free of charge upon request; and
- (o) In addition, the notice shall include the following statement: "You and your Plan may have other voluntary alternatives dispute resolution of terms, such as mediation. One way to find out what may be available is to contact your local U.S. Department of Labor office and your State insurance regulatory agency."

These procedures must be exhausted prior to any legal action taken against the Plan. Any legal action must be filed within one (1) year after the exhaustion of the claims and appeal process.

#### 12.17 **Bonding**

Every Fiduciary, except for a bank, trust company or an insurance company, unless otherwise exempted by ERISA and the Regulations issued thereunder shall be bonded in an amount not less than 10% of the amount of the funds such Fiduciary handles; provided however, that the minimum bond shall be \$1,000 and the maximum bond \$1,000,000. The amount of funds handled shall be determined at the beginning of each Plan Year by the amount of funds handled by such person, group or class to be covered and their predecessors, if any, during the preceding Plan Year, or if there is no preceding Plan Year, then by the amount of the funds to be handled during the then current year. The bond shall provide protection to the Plan against any loss by reason of acts of fraud or dishonesty by the Fiduciary either acting alone or in concert with others. The surety shall be a corporate surety company [as the term is used in ERISA Section 412(a)(2)], and the bond shall be in a form approved by the Secretary of Labor.

Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, the costs of such bonds shall be an expense of and may, at the election of the Plan Administrator, be paid from the Trust or by the Employer.

# 12.18 Expenses And Compensation

All reasonable expenses of administration, including, but not limited to, those involved in retaining necessary professional assistance, may be paid from the assets of the Trust. Alternatively, the Employer may, in its discretion, pay any or all such expenses. Pursuant to uniform and nondiscriminatory rules that the Plan Administrator may establish from time to time, administrative expenses and expenses unique to a particular Participant or group of Participants may be charged to the Individual Account of such Participant or may be assessed against terminated Participants even if not assessed against active Participants (subject to rules promulgated by the IRS and the DOL), or the Plan Administrator may allow Participants to pay such fees outside of the Plan. The Employer shall furnish the Plan Administrator with such clerical and other assistance as the Plan Administrator may need in the performance of their duties.

# ARTICLE XIII TRUST AND CUSTODIAL ACCOUNT PROVISIONS

# 13.1 Establishment Of The Trust

- (a) This paragraph applies where the Employer, by execution of the Adoption Agreement, appoints the an individual(s), institution or other entity named therein as Trustee for the Plan (the "Trustee"), and the individual(s), institution or other entity accepts such appointment by countersigning the Adoption Agreement and such other documents as the Trustee may require, all subject to the terms of the Plan. The entity so appointed and countersigning may be the Sponsor (or an affiliate). The Employer shall also have the right, but is not required, to appoint a Custodian in the Adoption Agreement to have custody of the Plan's assets. The Employer may execute a separate trust or custodial account agreement outlining the Trustee's or Custodian's duties and responsibilities that shall be incorporated by reference and made part of this Plan. Unless otherwise indicated in the ancillary agreement, no such ancillary agreement may conflict with any provision(s) of this document. Any provision that would jeopardize the tax-qualified status of this Plan shall be null and void. Unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, the Trust and/or custodial provisions of Article XII and this Article XIII, as applicable, together with any such ancillary agreement shall be operative.
- (b) The Employer establishes with the Trustee a Trust which shall consist of all money and property received under Articles III and IV of this document, increased by any income on or increment in such value of assets and decreased by any investment loss, expense, benefit payment, withdrawal or other distribution by the Trustee in accordance with the provisions of the Plan. The Trustee and/or the Custodian shall hold the Trust without distinction between principal and income. The Trust will be held, invested, reinvested and administered by the Trustee in accordance with this Article and any ancillary documents as provided for in this Article.
- (c) The term "Trust" shall be construed to apply to custodial account(s), annuity contract(s) or other contract(s) which shall be treated as a qualified trust pursuant to Code Section 401(f).
- (d) The Trustee shall discharge their duties with respect to the Plan solely in the interest of Participants and Beneficiaries and with the care, skill, prudence, and diligence under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent man acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters would use in the conduct of a like enterprise of a like character with like aims.

## 13.2 Control Of Plan Assets

The assets of the Trust or evidence of ownership shall be held by the Trustee and/or the Custodian under the terms contained herein. If the assets represent amounts transferred from another trustee or custodian, the Trustee and/or Custodian named hereunder shall not be responsible for any actions of any prior trustee and/or custodian including the propriety of any investment decision made by the prior trustee or custodian, as applicable. Instead, the Employer shall be responsible for such actions.

# 13.3 Discretionary Trustee

If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, the Trustee may act in the capacity of Discretionary Trustee, and the Trustee shall invest the Trust among those investment alternatives permitted at paragraph 13.7 herein. The Trustee will have the discretion and authority to invest, manage and control those Plan assets except those assets which are subject to the investment direction of the Employer, a Participant (if Participant direction is permitted), an investment manager or other Named Fiduciary, or other agent properly appointed by the Employer. The exercise of any investment direction hereunder shall be consistent with the investment policy of the Plan. The Trustee may also perform custodial functions for the Trust with respect to Plan assets the Trustee does not manage, to the extent agreed to between the Trustee and the Employer, if the Trustee is appointed Custodian for some or all of such assets in accordance with the terms of the Plan. The Trustee may execute any additional documents, as required, which shall be treated as an addendum to this Plan. No such agreement may conflict with any provision nor shall any provision in such an agreement jeopardize the tax-qualified status of the Plan. Any such provision shall be null and void. The Trustee's administrative duties shall be limited to those agreed to between the parties. The Employer or its designate shall be responsible for other administrative duties required under the Plan or by applicable law.

Subject to paragraphs 13.6 and 13.7 hereof, the Discretionary Trustee shall invest and reinvest principal and income of the Trust in accordance with the funding policy and investment objectives established by the Employer, provided that such investment are in accordance with ERISA Section 404.

#### 13.4 Non-Discretionary Directed Trustee

If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement or as otherwise agreed to in writing, the Trustee may act in the capacity of a non-discretionary Directed Trustee. In this capacity, the Trustee shall have no discretionary authority to invest, manage or control Plan assets and is authorized solely to make and hold investments only as directed pursuant to paragraph 13.7. The non-discretionary Directed Trustee shall have the same rights, powers and duties as the Discretionary Trustee but exercises such authority in accordance with the direction of the party which has the authority to manage and control the investment of Plan assets. If directions are not provided to the Trustee, the

Employer will provide such necessary direction.

- (a) **Responsibilities Of The Directed Trustees** The Directed Trustee's responsibilities may be further limited by the terms of a separate agreement between the Directed Trustee and the Employer. Subject to the previous sentence, the responsibilities of the Directed Trustee shall be limited to the following:
- (1) To receive Plan contributions and to hold, invest and reinvest, and distribute the Trust as directed by the party with authority under the Plan or its designee without distinction between principal and interest; provided, however, that nothing in this Plan shall require the Directed Trustee to maintain physical custody of stock certificates (or other indicia of ownership of any type of asset) representing assets within the Trust.
- (2) To maintain accurate records of contributions, investments, earnings, receipts, disbursements, withdrawals, and other transactions with respect to the Trust, and all accounts, books, and records relating thereto shall be open at all reasonable times to inspection and audit by any person designated by the Employer or the designee of either; provided, however, that the Directed Trustee is given reasonable advance notice of such inspection. On direction of the Employer or the designee of either, and if agreed to in a separate written agreement by the Directed Trustee, the Directed Trustee may provide annual or interim accountings, valuations, or other reports concerning the assets of the custodial account subject to payment of all required additional fees for such reports, but in all respects the parties agree that any valuation date as may be selected or employed from time to time remains the sole responsibility of the Employer or Plan Administrator, as applicable. The Directed Trustee's accounting will be at the Trust level rather than the Participant level, and the Directed Trustee will not be responsible for Participant-level record-keeping, reporting, or communication unless it agrees to do so in a separate written agreement with the Employer or Plan Administrator. The Directed Trustee will also furnish the Employer or its designee with such other information as the Directed Trustee possesses and which is necessary for the Employer or its designee to comply with the reporting requirements of ERISA or the Code, as applicable.
- (3) To make disbursements from the Trust upon the proper authorization of the Plan Administrator.
- (4) To invest the Trust only in investment options selected by the party which has investment authority or discretion. Such selection shall be made from among the types of property made available by the Prototype Plan Sponsor or Directed Trustee as described earlier in this section and in paragraph 13.7. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Employer (or other Named Fiduciary) and not the Prototype Plan Sponsor or Directed Trustee is responsible for choosing to make such investments available for investment and for determining the fair market value of each such investment. The party that has investment authority or discretion shall be responsible for ensuring compliance with all conditions, limitations, and restrictions concerning investment in any investment option. The Directed Trustee shall place monies or other property received by it in such permitted investments as it shall be directed from time to time in instructions provided to it by the party that has investment authority or discretion pursuant to paragraph 13.7(b). The Directed Trustee may hold the assets attributable to the Trust in omnibus accounts with assets of other retirement plans for which the Directed Trustee serves as Directed Trustee or trustee. Nothing herein shall preclude the party that has investment authority or discretion from investing any Plan assets through other parties as permitted by the Plan, but the Directed Trustee shall not be Directed Trustee or Trustee thereof or have any duties or responsibilities with respect thereto.
- (5) The Directed Trustee is not obligated to place orders for the investment of the Trust if sufficient cash is not available in the Trust for use in placing such orders. The Directed Trustee is authorized, but is not obligated, to advance funds or to arrange for another financial organization (which may be an affiliate of the Directed Trustee) to advance funds from time to time for the purchase of investment assets, for distributions from the Trust and for other purposes before receipt of sufficient funds (whether contributions or proceeds of the liquidation of other investments). All such advances shall be made subject to the requirements of ERISA and the rules, regulations, rulings, and interpretations thereunder, including but not limited to the U.S. Department of Labor's Prohibited Transaction Class Exemption 80-26, as amended from time to time. If sufficient funds to repay any such advance are not received by the following business day, the Directed Trustee may, in its discretion, and consistent with the provisions of the Plan, then or at any time thereafter before such repayment, sell, redeem, or otherwise liquidate any assets of the Trust in order to repay such advance. Any gain realized upon such liquidation, after payment of any related costs and expenses, shall belong to the Plan. The Employer shall reimburse the Directed Trustee on demand for any portion of any such advance and the related costs and expenses not repaid from the proceeds of the liquidation.
- (6) The Directed Trustee shall keep such portion of the Trust in cash or cash balances, deposit accounts, time deposits, savings accounts, money market accounts or similar investments (with affiliates of the Directed Trustee or otherwise) as may be directed from time to time by the party which has the authority or discretion. The Directed Trustee shall not be liable for any interest on any cash balances so maintained nor for interest on any cash or cash balances maintained in the Trust pending investment in accordance with appropriate directions. Monies being transferred to and disbursed by the Directed Trustee may be held in non-interest bearing transaction accounts of financial organizations selected by the Directed Trustee (which may be affiliates of the Directed Trustee) for purposes of

collections and processing transfers and disbursements. The Directed Trustee may transfer monies from the Trust to such accounts before issuance of wire transfer orders or checks, drafts, or other instruments payable from such accounts.

- The Directed Trustee may retain, as compensation for its services, the Trust 's proportionate share of any interest earned on aggregate cash balances held by the Directed Trustee or an affiliate with respect to "assets awaiting investment." This amount, known as "float," is earned by the Directed Trustee through investment in a number of short-term investment products and strategies, with the amount of such earnings retained by the Directed Trustee, due to the short-term nature of the investments, being generally at the prevailing Federal Funds interest rate, or such other rate as determined by the Directed Trustee. "Assets awaiting investment" for these purposes includes, without limitation and to the degree applicable; (1) new deposits to the Trust, including interest and dividends; (2) any uninvested assets held by the Trust caused by an instruction to the Directed Trustee to purchase and sell securities (which may, after the period described below, be automatically swept into a sweep vehicles): and (3) withdrawals from the Trust, to the degree check writing privileges may be offered.
- (8) Should the party which has the authority or discretion instruct the Directed Trustee to utilize the services of any broker, dealer, employee, or representative thereof, or any other person ("Broker") to render services to the Trust, or should the Directed Trustee require the services of such persons in order to fulfill its obligations pursuant to the Plan, the applicable party shall be solely responsible for the selection or designation of such Broker and shall be solely responsible for the acts of such Broker. The Directed Trustee shall fully comply with the written instructions, if of a continuing nature, until revoked.
- (9) In connection with payments and disbursements made from the Trust for any purpose, the Directed Trustee shall be responsible for issuing checks or drafts to such parties and for such amounts as the Trustee shall instruct. The Directed Trustee shall be fully protected in making such payments pursuant to such instructions from time to time and shall be charged with no responsibility whatsoever respecting the purposes or propriety of such payments or the application of such monies
- (10) The Directed Trustee shall provide any materials received by it relating to voting securities to the applicable party with investment authority or discretion, which shall be responsible for voting securities or arranging for such securities to be voted in accordance with the Plan and applicable law. It is understood that the Directed Trustee shall exercise the powers described in paragraph 13.11(b) only pursuant to instructions of the party with authority or discretion transmitted to the Directed Trustee.
- (11) The Directed Trustee shall rely exclusively upon, and shall not be responsible for, share and unit values established by third parties. The Directed Trustee shall have no liability for the failure or delay of any pricing source to provide a valuation as of any specific date. If values for any investment of the Trust are not generally available, the Directed Trustee shall rely upon instructions provided to it by the applicable party with authority or discretion as to valuation procedures. With respect to the portion of the Trust that is invested by an investment manager or other Named Fiduciary, the Directed Trustee may conclusively rely upon the value of any securities or other property in that portion of the account as reported to the Directed Trustee by the investment manager or other Named Fiduciary for all purposes hereunder
- (12) All records maintained by the Directed Trustee with respect to the Trust shall be held for such period as may be required under applicable law. Upon the expiration of any such required retention period, the Directed Trustee shall have the right to destroy such records. The Directed Trustee shall have the right to preserve all records and accounts in original form, electronically, or on microfilm, magnetic tape, or any other similar process pursuant to applicable federal law and subsequent rules promulgated by the Internal Revenue Service or Department of Labor.
- (13) Except as provided below, the Directed Trustee shall conclusively presume that the Employer, Trustee, Plan Administrator, or other responsible party has made all filings required by law as of the date required. Should the Directed Trustee incur any liability by reasons of any party's failure to timely file, the Employer shall indemnify and hold the Directed Trustee, any parent, subsidiary, related corporation or affiliate of the Directed Trustee, including their respective directors, managers, officers, employees, and agents harmless from any and all liabilities, costs, expenses (including reasonable attorney's fees), and other obligations, including penalties and interest incurred by the Directed Trustee.
- (14) Except for the disbursement of loan proceeds and reinvestment of loan payments pursuant to instructions received hereunder, under no circumstances shall the Directed Trustee have or be allocated any responsibility for the administration of any Participant loan program in paragraph 12.9
- (15) The Directed Trustee shall have no duty, obligation, or responsibility for the administration of the Plan or its qualification under the Code. Notwithstanding the foregoing and for the sake of clarity, the Prototype Plan Sponsor is, however, responsible for maintaining the Basic Plan Document #03 and Adoption Agreements in a form acceptable to the Internal Revenue Service.

- (16) The Directed Trustee shall be under no duty to take any action other than as specified in the Plan unless the Employer furnishes the Directed Trustee with written instructions, agrees to indemnify and hold the Directed Trustee harmless from any claims arising out of such instructions and such instructions are specifically agreed to in writing by an authorized representative of the Directed Trustee.
- (17) The Directed Trustee may consult with and employ suitable agents and advisors, including but not limited to legal counsel, sub-custodians, accountants and tax advisors, with respect to its duties under the Plan and applicable law.
- (18) Notices from the Directed Trustee to the Employer or to a Participant may be mailed to the last known address of the Employer or the Participant as appropriate.
- (19) The Directed Trustee may liquidate assets held in a Plan account to make distributions or transfers or pay fees, expenses, liabilities, charges or taxes assessed against the account (including Plan expenses allocated to the account and the Directed Trustee's and Prototype Plan Sponsor's own fees if not otherwise paid when due). If the Directed Trustee must liquidate assets the Employer and Trustee hereby authorize and direct the Directed Trustee to liquidate assets on a prorated basis across all the investment alternatives in the Trust.
- (20) The Directed Trustee shall not be liable for any loss of any kind which may result from any action it takes in accordance with the directions of the Employer, Plan Administrator, Trustee, investment manager or other party as authorized under the Plan or from any failure to act because of the absence of any such directions. The Directed Trustee is entitled to act upon any instrument, certificate or form it believes is genuine and believes is signed or presented by the proper person, or persons and the Directed Trustee need not investigate or inquire as to any statement contained in such document but may accept it as true and accurate.
- (b) Limitation Of Liability The Directed Trustee shall be under no duty to take any action other than its express responsibilities under this Plan unless the responsible party under the terms of the Plan furnishes the Directed Trustee with written instructions; provided that in no event may the Directed Trustee's responsibilities be expanded except with its prior written consent. Any instructions hereunder may be delivered to the Directed Trustee directly by the responsible party or by other mutually agreed upon parties. The Directed Trustee shall not be liable for any action taken or omitted by it in good faith in reliance upon any instructions received hereunder or any other notice, request, consent, certificate, or other instrument or paper reasonably believed by it to be genuine and to have been properly executed. The Directed Trustee shall not be responsible for determining that all instructions provided are being given by the appropriate party and are in proper form under the provisions of the Plan and applicable law. The Directed Trustee may conclusively presume that any instructions received have been duly authorized by the Employer, Named Fiduciary, Plan Administrator, Participant or other authorized party, as applicable, pursuant to the terms of the Plan and applicable law.

The Directed Trustee shall not be required to take any action upon receipt of any notice from the Internal Revenue Service or other taxing authority [unless such notice relates to the performance of Directed Trustee's responsibilities in paragraph 13.11(a)] except to promptly forward a copy thereof to the Employer. Further, it is specifically understood that the Directed Trustee shall have no duty or responsibility with respect to the determination of matters pertaining to the eligibility of any Employee to become a Participant or remain a Participant hereunder, the amount of benefit to which a Participant or Beneficiary shall be entitled to receive hereunder, whether a distribution to Participant or Beneficiary is appropriate under the terms of the Plan, the size and type of any policy to be purchased from any insurer for any Participant hereunder, or any other similar matters, it being understood that all such responsibilities under the Plan are vested in the Employer or Plan Administrator.

Indemnification Of The Directed Trustee - Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, the Employer hereby agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold the Directed Trustee and its affiliates, and their respective directors, managers, officers, employees, agents, and other representatives, harmless from any losses, costs, expenses, fees, liabilities, damages, claims, suits, or actions and appeals thereof resulting from their reliance upon any certificate, notice, confirmation, or instruction purporting to have been delivered by the Employer or a representative of the Employer or the Plan that has been duly identified to the Directed Trustee in a manner required or accepted by the Directed Trustee ("Designated Representative"). The Employer waives any and all claims of any nature it now has or may have against the Directed Trustee and its affiliates, and their respective directors, managers, officers, employees, agents, and other representatives, which arise, directly or indirectly, from any action that it takes in good faith in accordance with any certificate, notice, confirmation, or instruction from a Designated Representative. The Employer also hereby agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold the Directed Trustee and its affiliates and their respective directors, managers, officers, employees, agents, and other representatives, harmless from and against any and all loss, costs, damages, liability, expenses, or claims of any nature whatsoever, including but not limited to legal expenses, court costs, legal fees, and costs of investigation, including appeals thereof, arising, directly or indirectly, out of any loss or diminution of the Trust resulting from changes in the market value of the Trust assets; reliance, or action taken in reliance, on instructions from the Employer or a Designated Representative; any exercise or failure to exercise investment direction authority by the Employer or by a Designated Representative; the

Directed Trustee's refusal to act in accordance with any investment direction by the Employer or its Designated Representative; any other act or failure to act by the Employer or a Designated Representative; any prohibited transaction or plan disqualification of a qualified plan due to any actions taken or not taken by the Directed Trustee, in reliance on instructions from the Employer or its Designated Representative; or any other act the Directed Trustee takes in good faith hereunder that arises under the Plan or the administration of the Trust.

The Directed Trustee shall not be liable to the Employer for any act, omission, or determination made in connection with this Plan except for its gross negligence or willful misconduct. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Directed Trustee shall not be liable for any losses arising from its compliance with instructions from the Employer or a Designated Representative; for executing, failing to execute, failing to timely execute, or for any mistake in the execution of any instructions, unless such action or inaction is by reason of the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Directed Trustee.

The Directed Trustee shall be accountable only for monies or property actually received by it. If any portion of the Trust is held by another custodian or a trustee, the term "Trust" herein shall mean only that portion of the Trust from time to time held by the applicable party. The Directed Trustee shall not be deemed accountable, responsible, or liable for the acts or omissions of any other present or former custodian or trustee of the Plan.

The Directed Trustee is signing the Plan's Adoption Agreement solely to signify its acceptance of appointment as Directed Trustee and the Employer shall have sole responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, legal sufficiency, and due execution thereof, including consulting with legal counsel and tax advisors as the Employer deems appropriate in connection therewith.

The provisions of this paragraph 13.4(c) shall survive the termination or amendment of the Plan.

# 13.5 Provisions Relating To Individual Trustees

- (a) If there shall be more than one (1) individual acting in the capacity of Trustee, they shall act by a majority of their number, unless they unanimously decide that one (1) or more of them may act on the matter or category of matters involved without the approval of the others and they may authorize in writing that one (1) or more of them shall act on their behalf including but not limited to executing documents and authorizing distributions on behalf of the Trustees.
- (b) Any person may rely, without having to make further inquiry, upon instructions appearing to be genuine instructions from any individual serving as Trustee as being the will, intent and action of all individuals so serving if no allocation of duties has been made.

The Trustee shall be paid such reasonable compensation for services as shall from time to time be agreed upon in writing by the Employer and the Trustee, provided that an individual serving as Trustee who already receives full-time Compensation from the Employer shall not receive compensation for serving as such from the Plan.

#### 13.6 **Powers Of The Trustee**

The Trustee shall be responsible for the investment, administration and safekeeping of assets held in the Trust. The Trustee shall have the following powers, duties and responsibilities, in addition to powers given by law, and may or shall, as applicable:

- (a) receive contributions under the terms of the Plan;
- (b) direct the appropriate party with respect to payments from the Trust;
- (c) unless appointed as a non-discretionary Directed Trustee or Custodian, implementing an investment program based on the Employer's investment policy statement, funding policy, investment objectives and ERISA, as amended;
- (d) to the extent permitted by law, invest any assets of the Trust in a group or collective trust fund established to permit the pooling of funds of separate pension and profit-sharing trusts, or to any other common, collective, or commingled trust fund which has been or may hereafter be established and maintained by the Trustee, affiliate(s) of the Trustee, the Custodian or investment manager. Such commingling of assets of the Trust with assets of other qualified trusts is specifically authorized, and to the extent of the investment of the Trust in such a group or collective trust, the terms of the instrument establishing the group or collective trust shall be a part hereof as though set forth herein. The Employer may but is not required to specify the name(s) of the group or collective trust fund in an addendum to the Adoption Agreement. The Employer expressly understands and agrees that any such collective fund may provide for the lending of its securities by the collective fund trustee and that such collective fund's trustee will receive compensation from such collective fund for the lending of securities that is separate from any compensation of the Trustee hereunder, or any compensation of the collective fund trustee for the management of such collective fund:

- (e) for collective investment purposes, combine into one trust fund the Trust created under this Plan with the trust created under any other Qualified Plan the Employer maintains. However, the Trustee must maintain separate records of account for the assets of each Trust;
- (f) invest up to 100% of the Trust in the common stock, debt obligations, or any other security issued by the Employer or by an affiliate of the Employer within the limitations provided under ERISA Sections 406, 407, and 408, as amended, and further provided that such investment does not constitute a prohibited transaction under Code Section 4975. Any such investment in Employer securities shall only be made upon written direction of the Employer who shall be solely responsible for the propriety of such investment. Additional directives regarding the purchase, sale, retention or valuing of such securities may be addressed in an investment management or trust agreement, which is incorporated by reference. If there are any conflicts between this document and the above referenced agreements, this document shall govern;
- (g) hold cash uninvested and deposit the same with any banking or savings institution, including its own banking department or the banking department of an affiliate;
- (h) utilize a general disbursement account, i.e., in the form of a demand deposit account and/or time deposit account, for distributions from the Trust, without incurring any liability for payment of interest thereon, notwithstanding the Trustee's receipt of income with respect to float involving the disbursement account;
- (i) hold contributions in an omnibus account, i.e., in the form of a demand deposit and/or time deposit account, maintained by the Trustee for up to three (3) business days (or such longer period as may result due to circumstances beyond the Trustee's control), without liability for interest thereon. (The Employer acknowledges that any float earnings associated with the assets held in such omnibus account are retained by the Trustee as part of its compensation for performing services with respect to the allocation of contributions to Participants' accounts);
- (j) join in or oppose the reorganization, recapitalization, consolidation, sale or merger of corporations or properties, including those in which it or its affiliates are interested as Trustee, upon such terms as it deems advisable:
- (k) hold investments in nominee form in accordance with Department of Labor Regulations Section 2550.403a-1(b);
- (I) exercise all ownership rights including the voting of proxies and the exercise of tender offers but only with respect to assets over which the Trustee has investment management responsibility:
- (m) hold, manage and control all property forming part of the Trust Fund and sell, convey, transfer, exchange and otherwise dispose of the same from time to time:
- (n) apply for and procure from an insurance company as an investment of the Trust such annuity, or other contracts on the life of any Participant as the Trustee shall deem proper; exercise, at any time or from time to time, whatever rights and privileges may be granted under such annuity, or other contracts; and collect, receive, and settle for the proceeds of any such annuity, or other contracts as and when entitled to do so under the provisions thereof:
- (o) unless otherwise provided by a directive as described by paragraph 13.7, the Employer will pass through shareholder rights (including voting rights) on Qualified Employer Securities (securities issued by the Employer sponsoring the Plan and used as an investment option) to Plan Participants. If no directive is provided, the Trustee shall exercise any shareholder rights (including voting rights) with respect to any securities held, but only in accordance with the instructions of the person or persons responsible for the investment of such securities subject to and as permitted by, any applicable rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission and any national securities exchange. Voting rights with respect to shares of registered investment companies held in the Trust shall be directed by the Named Investment Fiduciary responsible for selection of such registered investment companies as permissible investment alternatives. In the event of any conflict with any other provision of this Article or this Basic Plan Document #03, the provision of this paragraph shall control. The Employer shall be responsible for preparing and distributing all required prospectuses for Qualified Employer Securities and making such materials available to Plan Participants;
- (p) retain and employ such attorneys, agents and servants as may be necessary or desirable, in the opinion of the Trustee, in the administration of the Plan, and pay them such reasonable compensation for their services as may be agreed upon as an expense of administration of the Plan, including the power to employ and retain counsel upon any matter of doubt as to the meaning or interpretation to be placed upon this Plan or any provisions thereof with reference to any question arising in the administration of the Plan or pertaining to the rights and liabilities of the Trustee hereunder. The Trustee in any such event, may rely upon the advice, opinions, records, statements and computations of any attorneys and agents and on the records, statements and computations of any

servants so selected by it in good faith and shall be released and exonerated of and from all liability to anyone in so doing (except to the extent that liability is imposed under ERISA);

- (q) institute, prosecute and maintain, or defend, any proceeding at law or in equity concerning the Plan or the assets thereof or any claims thereto, or the interests of Participants and Beneficiaries hereunder at the sole cost and expense of the Plan or at the sole cost and expense of the Participant that may be concerned therein or that may be affected thereby, as, in its opinion, shall be fair and equitable in each case; and compromise, settle and adjust all claims and liabilities asserted by or against the Plan or asserted by or against it, or such terms as it, in each such case, shall deem reasonable and proper. The Trustee shall be under no duty or obligation to institute, prosecute, maintain or defend any suit, action or other legal proceeding unless it shall be indemnified to its satisfaction against all expenses and liabilities (including without limitation, legal and other professional fees) which it may sustain or anticipate by reason thereof; and
- the Trustee is expressly authorized to the fullest extent permitted by law to (1) retain the services of any broker-dealer, registered investment advisor or other financial services entity (including the Trustee and any of its affiliates) and any future successors in interest thereto (collectively, for the purposes of this paragraph referred to as the "Affiliated Entities", to provide services to assist or facilitate the purchase or sale of investments in the Trust, (2) acquire as assets of the Trust shares of mutual funds to which Affiliated Entities provide, for a fee, services in any capacity and (3) acquire in the Trust any other services or products of any kind or nature from the Affiliated Entities regardless of whether the same or dissimilar services or products are available from other institutions. The Trust may pay directly or indirectly (through mutual funds fees and charges for example) management fees, transaction fees and other commissions to the Affiliated Entities for the services or products provided to the Trust and/or such mutual funds at such Affiliated Entities' standard or published rates without offset (unless required by law) from any fees charged by the Trustee for its services as Trustee. The Trustee may also deal directly with the Affiliated Entities regardless of the capacity in which it is then acting, to purchase, sell, exchange or transfer assets of the Trust even though the Affiliated Entities are receiving compensation or otherwise profiting from such transaction or are acting as principal in such transaction. Each of the Affiliated Entities is authorized to effect transactions on national securities exchanges for the Trust as directed by the Trustee, and retain any transactional fees related thereto, consistent with Section 11(a)(1) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended and related Rule 11a2-2(T). Included specifically, but not by way of limitation in the transactions authorized by this provision, are transactions in which any of the Affiliated Entities is serving as an underwriter or member of an underwriting syndicate for a security being purchased or is purchasing or selling a security for its own account. In the event the Trustee is directed by the Plan Administrator, any Named Investment Fiduciary, designated investment manager, Participant and/or Beneficiary, as applicable hereunder (collectively referred to as for purposes of this paragraph as the "Directing Party"), the Directing Party shall be authorized, and expressly retains the right hereunder, to direct the Trustee to retain the services of, and conduct transactions with, Affiliated Entities fully in the manner described above.
- (s) The Trustee shall provide the Employer with notice of any claim filed against the Plan or Trust or with regard to any related matter.

## 13.7 **Permissible Investments**

The Trustee (or Custodian, if applicable) may invest the assets of the Plan in property of any character, real or personal, including but not limited to the following: stocks, including Qualifying Employer Securities as defined in ERISA Section 407, bonds; notes; debentures; deposit, savings or money market accounts maintained by a bank or similar financial organization (whether or not the Trustee, Custodian or Prototype Plan Sponsor and/or any banking affiliate(s) of the Trustee, Custodian or Prototype Plan Sponsor) which bear a reasonable rate of interest; options; limited partnership interests; unit investment trusts; Treasury Bills, and other U.S. Government obligations; common trust funds, combined investment trusts, collective trust funds or commingled funds maintained by a bank or similar financial organization (whether or not the Trustee, Custodian, Prototype Plan Sponsor, or an affiliate thereof); savings accounts, deposit accounts, certificates of deposit, demand or time deposits or money market accounts of a bank or similar financial organization (whether or not the Trustee, Custodian, Prototype Plan Sponsor, or an affiliate thereof); annuity contracts that are "guaranteed benefit policies," as defined in ERISA Section 401(b)(2)(B); life insurance policies; or in such other investments as is deemed proper without regard to investments authorized by statute or rule of law governing the investment of trust funds but with regard to ERISA and this Plan. The investment of Plan assets in registered investment companies, common or collective trusts, pooled separate accounts or any other entities qualifying as "look-through investment vehicles" under U.S. Department of Labor Regulations Section 2550.404c-1(e)(1), for which an affiliate of the Trustee, Custodian and/or Prototype Plan Sponsor serves as investment advisor, investment manager, distributor or otherwise sponsors or provides services ("Affiliated Funds") is specifically authorized. The Employer and Trustee acknowledges that the Prototype Plan Sponsor, Trustee, Custodian and/or affiliates of the Prototype Plan Sponsor, Trustee and/or Custodian may receive compensation from Affiliated Funds, including compensation for transfer agency and dividend agency services, and that such entities may also receive compensation from mutual funds (both affiliated and non-affiliated funds) in which Plan assets are invested for similar services rendered to such investment funds. The Employer and Trustee also acknowledge that the Prototype Plan Sponsor, Trustee and/or Custodian and/or affiliates of the Prototype Plan Sponsor, Trustee and/or Custodian may receive "revenue sharing payments". The Employer and Trustee also acknowledge that the Prototype

Plan Sponsor, Trustee and/or Custodian and affiliates of the Trustee and/or Custodian may receive financial and other benefits with respect to investments in deposit accounts.

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, the Prototype Plan Sponsor may, as a condition of making the Plan available to the Employer, limit the types of property in which the assets of the Plan may be invested, and the Trustee or Custodian shall act as custodian only with respect to investments consisting of securities which meet such reasonable requirements as the Trustee or Custodian may adopt from time to time. The list of permissible investment options shall be further limited in accordance with any applicable law, regulations, or other restrictions applicable to the Trustee or Custodian, including, but not limited to, internal operational procedures adopted by such Trustee (or Custodian). If any Trustee (or Custodian, if applicable) invests all or any portion of the Trust pursuant to written instructions provided by the Employer (including an investment manager appointed by the Employer pursuant to paragraph 12.6) or any Participant pursuant to Plan paragraph 12.7, the Trustee (or Custodian, if applicable) will be deemed to have invested pursuant to the Employer's funding policy statement.

If the responsibility for directing investments for Elective Deferrals (and earnings) is executed by someone other than the Participants, the acquisition of Qualifying Employer Securities as defined in ERISA Section 407(d)(5) and Qualifying Employer Real Property as defined in ERISA Section 407 will be limited to 10% of the fair market value of the assets of the Plan to the extent required by ERISA Section 407(b)(2).

Any investment directive shall be made in writing or such other form as agreed to by the Employer, Trustee and/or Custodian and the investment manager, as applicable. In the absence of such directive, cash shall be automatically invested in such investment or investments as the Employer or Named Fiduciary shall select from the investments made available for that purpose unless and until the person or persons responsible for giving directions directs otherwise. Such automatic investment shall be made at regular intervals and pursuant to procedures established by the parties (which procedures may without limitation, provide for more frequent intervals only if uninvested balances exceed a stated amount). Absent a contrary direction in accordance with the provisions of this Plan, such instructions regarding the delegation of investment responsibility shall remain in force until revoked or amended in writing. Neither the Trustee nor the Custodian shall be responsible for the propriety of any directed investment made nor shall they be required to consult with or advise the Employer regarding the investment quality of any directed investment held hereunder. If the Employer does not issue investment directions with regard to specific assets held in the Trust, the Discretionary Trustee shall have authority to invest those assets in the Trust in its sole discretion subject to this paragraph 13.7. While the Employer may direct the Trustee with respect to Plan investments, the Employer may not borrow from the Plan or pledge any of the assets of the Plan as security for a loan, buy property or assets from or sell property or assets to the Plan, charge any fee for services rendered to the Plan, or receive any services from the Plan on a preferential basis.

# 13.8 Appointment Of Additional Trustee And Allocation Of Responsibilities

The Employer may appoint one or more additional Trustees to hold specified investments for which the original Trustee is not serving in the capacity of Trustee. In the event that an additional Trustee is appointed, the second Trustee shall have no responsibilities for these specific assets other than as set forth herein. The original Trustee shall have no duties with respect to an investment held by any other person including, without limitation, any other Trustee for the Plan. Any other secondary Trustee of the Plan shall have no duties with respect to assets held in the Plan by the original Trustee or another secondary Trustee.

# 13.9 Compensation, Administrative Fees And Expenses

All reasonable fees, charges and expenses incurred by the Trustee or the Custodian in connection with the administration of the Trust (net of any revenue sharing that reimburses or pays directly the expenses of administering the Plan) and all reasonable fees, charges and expenses incurred by the Plan Administrator in connection with the administration of the Plan (including such reasonable compensation to the Trustee and/or Custodian and the Plan Administrator as may be agreed upon from time to time between the Employer, the Trustee and/or Custodian and Plan Administrator) and fees for legal, accounting and actuarial services rendered to the Trustee and/or Custodian or Plan Administrator with respect to the Plan shall be paid from the Trust unless the payment of such amounts would constitute a "prohibited transaction" within the meaning of ERISA Section 406 or Code Section 4975 for which no statutory or administrative exemption is available or the Employer actually pays such amounts directly. Any and all reasonable additional administrative expenses incurred to effect directives made by the Participants and by each Beneficiary under this Plan shall be paid by the Trust and as determined by the Employer shall either be charged (in accordance with such reasonable nondiscriminatory rules as the Employer deems appropriate under the circumstances) to the account of the individual issuing such directive, or treated as a general expense of the Trust. If charged to a Participant's account and if the assets of such account are insufficient to satisfy such charges, the Employer shall pay any deficit to the Trustee. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this section shall prevent the Employer from paying the administrative expenses of the Plan directly.

If there are insufficient liquid assets of the Trust to cover the fees, charges and expenses of the Trustee or the Custodian, as described above, then assets of the Trust may be liquidated in accordance with paragraph 13.12(a)(18) to the extent necessary to cover such fees, charges and expenses.

Any investment gain or loss of the Trust that is not directly attributable to the investment of the account of any Participant (including, but not limited to, for example, any "float" earned on the disbursement account established for the Plan and not treated as part of the compensation of the Trustee or paying agent for the Plan shall be properly disclosed in accordance with the DOL Field Assistance Bulletin 2002-3.

Such compensation shall include any earnings on funds retained pursuant to this Article XIII in non-interest bearing accounts and any such earnings shall not become a part of the Trust. The Employer expressly acknowledges that the ability of the Trustee and/or Custodian, and any affiliated financial organization of the foregoing, to earn income on amounts held in such non-interest bearing accounts has been taken into consideration in establishing the Trustee's and/or Custodian's fees hereunder.

The Trustee and Custodian each have the right to change its fees and shall notify the Employer in writing of any changes in fees and the effective date or dates of such changes.

#### 13.10 *Records*

Within ninety (90) days following the close of each Plan Year, or at such other times as may be agreed to between the Employer and the Trustee and/or Custodian, and within ninety (90) days following its removal or resignation, the Trustee/Custodian shall file with the Employer a report of that part of the Trust held by the Trustee/Custodian during such year or from the end of the preceding Plan Year to the date of removal or resignation. Such report may include but is not limited to a statement of receipts and disbursements, the net income or loss of the Trust, the gains or losses realized by the Trust upon sale or other disposition of the assets, the increase or decrease in the value of the Trust, all payments and distributions made from the Trust since the date of its last report, and a schedule of assets listing the fair market value of investments held in the Trust as of the end of the Plan Year or the date of removal or resignation, as applicable. The fair market value of investments for which there is a ready market shall be determined using the most recent price quoted on a national or other recognized securities exchange or over-thecounter market. An independent third party with relevant knowledge and experience shall provide the fair market value of illiquid investments. They will be appointed by the Trustee or appointed by the Employer and approved by the Trustee and their determination of the value shall be final. The Employer shall review the Trustee's/Custodian's report and notify the Trustee/Custodian in the event of its disapproval of the report within thirty (30) days, providing the Trustee/Custodian with a written description of the items in question. The Trustee/Custodian shall have sixty (60) days to provide the Employer with a written explanation of the items in question. If the Employer again disapproves, the Trustee/Custodian shall have the right to file its report in a court of competent jurisdiction for audit and adjudication. In the event the Employer fails to file a written objection to the Trustee's/Custodian's report within the ninety (90) day period following receipt of the report, the Employer shall be deemed to have approved the report. In such case, the Trustee/Custodian shall be released and discharged with respect to all matters contained in the report.

Alternatively, the Trustee may comply with this records requirement by forwarding to the Employer a written notification without charge and within one (1) business day of its receipt of a broker/dealer confirmation for each security transaction in the Trust account which discloses, among other things: the Trustee's name, Plan's name, the capacity (capacities) in which the Trustee is acting, the date (and time, within a reasonable period, upon written request of the Employer) of execution, the identity, price, number of shares or units or principal amount of debt securities purchased or sold by the Plan, the name of the broker/dealer, the amount of any remuneration received by such broker/dealer form Plan and the amount of any remuneration received by the Trustee. The Employer shall accept the periodic written accounts described herein in satisfaction of the Trustee's obligation to provide written notification as described above, provided, that upon the Employer's request, the Trustee will provide to the Employer within a reasonable time and at no additional cost the information provided by federal regulations.

#### 13.11 Limitation On Trustee's Liability And Indemnification

- (a) The Trustee shall have the authority to manage and govern the Trust to the extent provided in this instrument, but does not guarantee the Trust in any manner against investment loss or depreciation in asset value, or guarantee the adequacy of the Trust to meet and discharge all or any liabilities of the Plan.
- (b) The Trustee shall not be liable for the making, retention, or sale of any investment or reinvestment made by it, as herein provided, or for any loss to, or diminution of the Trust, or for any other loss or damage which may result from the discharge of its duties hereunder except to the extent it is judicially determined such loss or damage is attributable to the Trustee's breach of its duties hereunder or under ERISA.
- (c) The Trustee (whether non-discretionary or discretionary) does not guarantee the adequacy of the Trust to meet and discharge any or all liabilities associated with the Plan.
- (d) The Employer warrants that all directions issued to the Trustee by it or the Plan Administrator will be in accordance with the terms of the Plan and the auxiliary agreement and not contrary to the provisions of ERISA, as amended, and the Regulations issued thereunder.

- (e) The Trustee shall not be answerable for any action taken pursuant to any direction, consent, certificate, or other paper or document in the belief that the same is genuine. All directions by the Employer, Participant, the Plan Administrator, Named Fiduciary or an investment manager shall be made pursuant communication procedures to which all such parties have agreed. The Employer shall deliver to the Trustee as applicable, written notification identifying the individual or individuals authorized to act on behalf the Plan and shall deliver specimens of their signatures to the Trustee.
- (f) The duties and obligations of the Trustee shall be limited to those expressly imposed by this instrument or subsequently agreed upon by the parties in writing. Responsibility for administrative duties required under the Plan or applicable law not expressly imposed upon or agreed to by the Trustee shall rest solely with the Employer.
- (g) The Employer shall indemnify the Trustee against, and agrees to hold the Trustee harmless from, all liabilities and claims and expenses including attorney's fees and expenses incurred in defending against such liability or claims against the Trustee, unless such liability or claim results from the gross negligent action or inaction of the Trustee, or where the Trustee is found to have breached its duties under this Article or Part 4 of Title I of ERISA by a final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction. Except as otherwise provided by the preceding sentence, the Employer also shall indemnify the Trustee as applicable against, and agrees to hold the Trustee harmless from, all liabilities, claims and expenses including attorney's fees and other expenses incurred in defending against such liabilities or claims, arising from any actions or breach of responsibility by any party other than the Trustee, including without limitation by specification any acts of a prior Trustee or of another Trustee appointed by the Employer.
- (h) Without limiting any provision in the prior paragraph, the Employer expressly agrees to indemnify the Trustee as applicable, against any liability or claim (including attorney's fees and expenses in defending against such liabilities or claims) arising as a result of any act taken or failure to act, in accordance with the directives received from the Employer, Plan Administrator, investment manager, Participant, or a designee specified by the Employer directly or transmitted by a designated Service Provider to the Plan and without limitation by specification.
- (i) The Trustee will take all reasonable steps to assure the security of any data received from the Employer in connection with services provided to the Plan. The Employer will be responsible for retaining duplicate copies of any such data or materials it forwards to the Trustee and for taking all other reasonable and necessary precautions in event such data or materials are lost or destroyed, regardless of cause, or in the event reprocessing is needed for any reason. The Trustee will maintain records in connection with the performance of services hereunder for the applicable period as required by law, or if no period is required, for such period as is reasonable under the law.
- (j) No waiver of any breach of this agreement shall constitute a waiver of any other breach, whether of the same or any other covenant, term or condition. The subsequent performance of any of the terms, covenants and conditions of this Article shall not constitute a waiver of any preceding breach, nor shall any delay or omission of any party's exercise of any rights arising from any default effect or impair the party's rights as to the same or future default.
- (k) The Trustee shall not be responsible in any way for any actions taken, or failure to act, by a prior trustee or custodian. The Employer shall indemnify and hold harmless the Trustee and/or Custodian as applicable, for such prior trustee and/or custodian's acts or inactions for any periods applicable, including periods for which the Plan must retroactively comply with any tax law or regulations thereunder.
- (I) A Fiduciary with respect to the Plan shall not be liable for a breach of Fiduciary responsibility of another Fiduciary with respect to the Plan except to the extent that:
- (1) it participates knowingly in, or knowingly undertakes to conceal, an act or omission of such other Fiduciary, knowing such act or omission is a breach;
- (2) by its failure to comply with ERISA Section 404(a)(1) in the administration of its specific responsibilities which give rise to its status as a Fiduciary, it has enabled such other Fiduciary to commit a breach; or
- (3) it has knowledge of a breach by such other Fiduciary, unless it makes reasonable efforts under the circumstances to remedy the breach.
- (m) If the assets of the Plan are held by two (2) or more Trustees, each Trustee will use reasonable care to prevent a co-Trustee from committing a breach of duty under the ERISA and they shall jointly manage and control the assets of the Plan; provided however, that such co-Trustee shall be authorized to allocate specific responsibilities, obligations or duties among the co-Trustees pursuant to a written agreement. If co-Trustees do enter into such an agreement, then a Trustee to whom certain responsibilities, obligations or duties have not been allocated shall not be liable either individually or as Trustee for any loss resulting to the Plan arising from the acts or omissions on the part of another Trustee to which such responsibilities, obligations or duties have been allocated.

#### 13.12 Custodian

This paragraph applies where the Employer, by execution of the Adoption Agreement, appoints the entity named therein as custodian for the Plan (the "Custodian"), and the entity accepts such appointment by countersigning the Adoption Agreement and such other documents as the Custodian may require, all subject to the terms of the Plan. The Employer, Plan Administrator, any Trustee, any other Fiduciary, and the Custodian so appointed and countersigning shall be bound by all the terms of the Plan. Notwithstanding any provision hereof regarding the responsibilities of or granting powers to the Custodian, the Custodian shall have no discretionary authority with respect to the management, investment or administration of the Plan or the Trust, and will act only as directed by the entity or individual who has such authority, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Custodian. The resignation or removal of the Custodian shall be made in accordance with paragraph 13.18 as though the Custodian were a Trustee for the purposes of said paragraph.

- (a) **Responsibilities Of The Custodian** The Custodian's responsibilities may be further limited by the Plan Trustee(s) and, notwithstanding any provision hereof to the contrary, may also be further limited by the terms of a separate agreement between the Custodian and the Employer. Subject to the previous sentence, the responsibilities of the Custodian shall be limited to the following:
- (1) To receive Plan contributions and to hold, invest and reinvest, and distribute the Trust as directed by the party with authority under the Plan or its designee without distinction between principal and interest; provided, however, that nothing in this Plan shall require the Custodian to maintain physical custody of stock certificates (or other indicia of ownership of any type of asset) representing assets within the Trust.
- (2) To maintain accurate records of contributions, investments, earnings, receipts, disbursements, withdrawals, and other transactions with respect to the Trust, and all accounts, books, and records relating thereto shall be open at all reasonable times to inspection and audit by any person designated by the Employer, the Trustee or the designee of either; provided, however, that the Custodian is given reasonable advance notice of such inspection. On direction of the Employer, the Trustee or the designee of either, and if agreed to in a separate written agreement by the Custodian, the Custodian may provide annual or interim accountings, valuations, or other reports concerning the assets of the custodial account subject to payment of all required additional fees for such reports, but in all respects the parties agree that any Valuation Date as may be selected or employed from time to time remains the sole responsibility of the Employer, Trustee or Plan Administrator, as applicable. The Custodian's accounting will be at the Trust level rather than the Participant level, and the Custodian will not be responsible for Participant-level record-keeping, reporting, or communication unless it agrees to do so in a separate written agreement with the Employer, Trustee or Plan Administrator. The Custodian will also furnish the Employer or its designee with such other information as the Custodian possesses and which is necessary for the Employer or its designee to comply with the reporting requirements of ERISA of the Code, as applicable.
  - (3) To make disbursements from the Trust upon the proper authorization of the Trustee.
- (4) To invest the Trust only in investment options selected by the party which has investment authority or discretion. Such selection shall be made from among the types of property made available by the Prototype Plan Sponsor or Custodian as described earlier in this section and in paragraph 13.7. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Employer (or other Named investment Fiduciary) and not the Prototype Plan Sponsor or Custodian is responsible for choosing to make such investments available for investment and for determining the fair market value of each such investment, and the Custodian has determined only that it is functionally and operationally willing and able to provide its services hereunder with respect thereto. The party which has investment authority or discretion shall be responsible for ensuring compliance with all conditions, limitations, and restrictions concerning investment in any investment option. The Custodian shall place monies or other property received by it in such permitted investments as the Custodian shall be directed from time to time in instructions provided to it by the party that has investment authority or discretion pursuant to paragraph 13.7(b). The Custodian may hold the assets attributable to the Trust in omnibus accounts with assets of other retirement plans for which the Custodian serves as custodian or trustee. Nothing herein shall preclude the party which has investment authority or discretion from investing any Plan assets through other parties as permitted by the Plan, but the Custodian shall not be Custodian or Trustee thereof or have any duties or responsibilities with respect thereto.
- (5) The Custodian is not obligated to place orders for the investment of the Trust if sufficient cash is not available in the Trust for use in placing such orders. The Custodian is authorized, but is not obligated, to advance funds or to arrange for another financial organization (which may be an affiliate of the Custodian) to advance funds from time to time for the purchase of investment assets, for distributions from the Trust and for other purposes before receipt of sufficient funds (whether contributions or proceeds of the liquidation of other investments). All such advances shall be made subject to the requirements of ERISA and the rules, regulations, rulings, and interpretations thereunder, including but not limited to the U.S. Department of Labor's Prohibited Transaction Class Exemption 80-26, as amended from time to time. If sufficient funds to repay any such advance are not received by the following business day, the Custodian may, in its discretion, and consistent with the provisions of the Plan, then or at any time thereafter before such repayment, sell, redeem, or otherwise liquidate any assets of the Trust in order to repay such advance. Any gain realized upon such liquidation, after payment of any related costs and expenses, shall belong to

the Plan. The Employer shall reimburse the Custodian on demand for any portion of any such advance and the related costs and expenses not repaid from the proceeds of the liquidation.

- (6) The Custodian shall keep such portion of the Trust in cash or cash balances, deposit accounts, time deposits, savings accounts, money market accounts or similar investments (with affiliates of the Custodian or otherwise) as may be directed from time to time by the party which has the authority or discretion. The Custodian shall not be liable for any interest on any cash balances so maintained nor for interest on any cash or cash balances maintained in the Trust pending investment in accordance with appropriate directions. Monies being transferred to and disbursed by the Custodian may be held in non-interest bearing transaction accounts of financial organizations selected by the Custodian (which may be affiliates of the Custodian) for purposes of collections and processing transfers and disbursements. The Custodian may transfer monies from the Trust to such accounts before issuance of wire transfer orders or checks, drafts, or other instruments payable from such accounts.
- (7) The Custodian may retain, as compensation for its provision of services, the Trust s proportionate share of any interest earned on aggregate cash balances held by the Custodian or an affiliate with respect to "assets awaiting investment." This amount, known as "float," is earned by the Custodian through investment in a number of short-term investment products and strategies, with the amount of such earnings retained by the Custodian, due to the short-term nature of the investments, being generally at the prevailing Federal Funds interest rate, or such other rate as determined by the Custodian. "Assets awaiting investment" for these purposes includes, without limitation and to the degree applicable; (1) new deposits to the Trust, including interest and dividends; (2) any uninvested assets held by the Trust caused by an instruction to the Custodian to purchase and sell securities (which may, after the period described below, be automatically swept into a sweep vehicles): and (3) withdrawals from the Trust, to the degree check writing privileges may be offered.
- (8) Should the party which has the authority or discretion instruct the Custodian to utilize the services of any broker, dealer, employee, or representative thereof, or any other person ("Broker") to render services to the Trust, or should the Custodian require the services of such persons in order to fulfill its obligations pursuant to the Plan, the applicable party shall be solely responsible for the selection or designation of such Broker and shall be solely responsible for the acts of such Broker. The Custodian shall fully comply with the written instructions, if of a continuing nature, until revoked.
- (9) In connection with payments and disbursements made from the Trust for any purpose, the Custodian shall be responsible for issuing checks or drafts to such parties and for such amounts as the Trustee shall instruct. The Custodian shall be fully protected in making such payments pursuant to such instructions from time to time and shall be charged with no responsibility whatsoever respecting the purposes or propriety of such payments or the application of such monies
- (10) The Custodian shall provide any materials received by it relating to voting securities to the applicable party with investment authority or discretion, which shall be responsible for voting securities or arranging for such securities to be voted in accordance with the Plan and applicable law. It is understood that the Custodian shall exercise the powers described in paragraph 13.12(b) only pursuant to instructions of the party with authority or discretion transmitted to the Custodian.
- (11) The Custodian shall rely exclusively upon, and shall not be responsible for, share and unit values established by third parties, or unit values established by the Custodian in its capacity as a mutual fund record keeper, transfer agent, or custodian to the extent that the Custodian establishes such unit values in reliance on third-party information, including, but not limited to:
- (i) in connection with mutual funds, the net asset value reported to the Custodian by such mutual funds or the transfer or other agents of such mutual funds or any generally recognized pricing service:
- (ii) in connection with bank collective funds, the unit value as reported by the trustee of such funds or its agent;
- (iii) in connection with policies and contracts with insurance companies or other financial institutions, the book value or other value ascribed to such policies or contracts by the insurance company or its agent or other financial organization or its agent; and
- (iv) in connection with publicly traded securities, the market price of such securities as reported to the public in a generally available form.

The Custodian shall have no liability for the failure or delay of any pricing source to provide a valuation as of any specific date. If values for any investment of the Trust are not generally available, the Custodian shall rely upon instructions provided to it by the applicable party with authority or discretion, as to valuation procedures. With respect to the portion of the Trust that is invested by an investment manager or other Named Investment Fiduciary, the Custodian may conclusively rely upon the value of any securities or other property in that

portion of the custodial account as reported to the Custodian by the investment manager or other Named Investment Fiduciary, for all purposes hereunder

- (12) All records maintained by the Custodian with respect to the Trust shall be held for such period as may be required under applicable law. Upon the expiration of any such required retention period, the Custodian shall have the right to destroy such records. The Custodian shall have the right to preserve all records and accounts in original form, electronically, or on microfilm, magnetic tape, or any other similar process pursuant to applicable federal law and subsequent rules promulgated by the Internal Revenue Service or Department of Labor.
- (13) Except as provided below, the Custodian shall conclusively presume that the Employer. Trustee, Plan Administrator, or other responsible party has made all filings required by law as of the date required. Should the Custodian incur any liability by reasons on any party's failure to timely file, the Employer shall indemnify and hold the Custodian, any parent, subsidiary, related corporation or affiliate of the Custodian, including their respective directors, managers officers, employees, and agents harmless from any and all liabilities, costs, expenses (including reasonable attorney's fees), and other obligations, including penalties and interest incurred by the Custodian.
- (14) Except for the disbursement of loan proceeds and reinvestment of loan payments pursuant to instructions received hereunder, under no circumstances shall the Custodian have or be allocated any responsibility for the administration of any Participant loan program in paragraph 12.9
- (15) The Custodian shall have no duty, obligation, or responsibility for the administration of the Plan or its qualification under the Code. Notwithstanding the foregoing, and for the sake of clarity, the Prototype Plan Sponsor is, however, responsible for maintaining the Basic Plan Document #03 and Adoption Agreements in a form acceptable to the Internal Revenue Service.
- (16) The Custodian shall be under no duty to take any action other than as specified in the Plan unless the Employer furnishes the Custodian with written instructions, agrees to indemnify and hold the Custodian harmless from any claims arising out of such instructions and such instructions are specifically agreed to in writing by an authorized representative of the Custodian.
- (17) The Custodian may consult with and employ suitable agents and advisors, including but not limited to legal counsel, sub-custodians, accountants and tax advisors, with respect to its duties under the Plan and applicable law. To the extent that any sub-custodian is appointed such sub-custodian shall be treated for purposes of the Plan as the Custodian.
- (18) Notices from the Custodian to the Employer or to a Participant may be mailed to the last known address of the Employer or the Participant as appropriate.
- (19) The Custodian may liquidate assets held in a Plan account to make distributions or transfers or pay fees, expenses, liabilities, charges or taxes assessed against the account (including Plan expenses allocated to the account and the Custodian's and Prototype Plan Sponsor's own fees if not otherwise paid when due). If the Custodian must liquidate assets the Employer and Trustee hereby authorize and direct the Custodian to liquidate assets in the following order to the extent held in the Plan's account:
- (i) amounts that may be held in a bank deposit program sweep vehicle or any other sweep vehicle;
  - (ii) shares held in a money market mutual fund acquired through direct purchase;
  - (iii) publicly traded securities in such order as the Custodian deems reasonable;
  - (iv) other investments in such order as the Custodian deems reasonable; and
  - (v) limited partnership interests.
- (20) The Custodian shall not be liable for any loss of any kind which may result from any action taken by it in accordance with the directions of the Employer, Plan Administrator, Trustee, investment manager or other party as authorized under the Plan or from any failure to act because of the absence of any such directions. The Custodian is entitled to act upon any instrument, certificate or form it believes is genuine and believes is signed or presented by the proper person, or persons and the Custodian need not investigate or inquire as to any statement contained in such document but may accept it as true and accurate.
- (b) **Powers Of The Custodian** Except as otherwise provided in this Plan, and subject to receipt of instructions from the Employer, Trustee, Plan Administrator, or party with investment authority or discretion, as appropriate, the Custodian shall have the power, but, in the absence of proper direction as provided in paragraph

13.7(b), not the duty, to take any action with respect to the Trust which it deems necessary or advisable to discharge its responsibilities under this Plan including, but not limited to voting upon any stocks, bonds, or other securities; giving general or special proxies or powers of attorney with or without power of substitution; exercising any conversion privileges or subscription rights and making any payments incidental thereto; opposing, or consenting to, or otherwise participating in, corporate reorganizations or other changes affecting corporate securities, and paying any assessment or charges in connection therewith; holding investments in nominee form; and generally exercising any of the powers of an owner with respect to stocks, bonds, securities, or other property;

(c) Limitation Of Liability – The Custodian shall be under no duty to take any action other than its express responsibilities under this Plan unless the responsible party under the terms of the Plan shall furnish the Custodian with written instructions; provided that in no event may the Custodian's responsibilities be expanded except with its prior written consent. Any instructions hereunder may be delivered to the Custodian directly by the responsible party or by other mutually agreed upon parties. The Custodian shall not be liable for any action taken or omitted by it in good faith in reliance upon any instructions received hereunder or any other notice, request, consent, certificate, or other instrument or paper reasonably believed by it to be genuine and to have been properly executed. The Custodian shall have no duty to inquire into the purpose or propriety of any order, instruction, or other communication received hereunder and may conclusively presume that any such order, instruction, or other communication is accurate and complete. The Custodian shall not be responsible for determining that all instructions provided to the Custodian are being given by the appropriate party and are in proper form under the provisions of the Plan and applicable law. The Custodian may conclusively presume that any instructions received have been duly authorized by the Employer, Trustee, Named Fiduciary, Plan Administrator, Participant or other authorized party, as applicable, pursuant to the terms of the Plan and applicable law.

The Custodian shall not be required to take any action upon receipt of any notice from the Internal Revenue Service or other taxing authority (unless such notice relates to the performance of Custodian responsibilities in paragraph 13.12(a) except to promptly forward a copy thereof to the Employer. Further, it is specifically understood that the Custodian shall have no duty or responsibility with respect to the determination of matters pertaining to the eligibility of any Employee to become a Participant or remain a Participant hereunder, the amount of benefit to which a Participant or Beneficiary shall be entitled to receive hereunder, whether a distribution to Participant or Beneficiary is appropriate under the terms of the Plan, the size and type of any policy to be purchased from any insurer for any Participant hereunder, or any other similar matters, it being understood that all such responsibilities under the Plan are vested in the Employer, Trustee or Plan Administrator.

#### 13.13 Indemnification Of The Custodian

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, the Employer hereby agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold the Custodian and its affiliates, and their respective directors, managers, officers, employees, agents, and other representatives, harmless from any losses, costs, expenses, fees, liabilities, damages, claims, suits, or actions and appeals thereof resulting from their reliance upon any certificate, notice, confirmation, or instruction purporting to have been delivered by the Employer or a representative of the Employer or the Plan that has been duly identified to the Custodian in a manner required or accepted by the Custodian ("Designated Representative"). The Employer waives any and all claims of any nature it now has or may have against the Custodian and its affiliates, and their respective directors, managers, officers, employees, agents, and other representatives, which arise, directly or indirectly, from any action that it takes in good faith in accordance with any certificate, notice, confirmation, or instruction from a Designated Representative. The Employer also hereby agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold the Custodian and its affiliates and their respective directors, managers, officers, employees, agents, and other representatives, harmless from and against any and all loss, costs, damages, liability, expenses, or claims of any nature whatsoever, including but not limited to legal expenses, court costs, legal fees, and costs of investigation, including appeals thereof, arising, directly or indirectly, out of any loss or diminution of the Trust resulting from changes in the market value of the Trust assets; reliance, or action taken in reliance, on instructions from the Employer or a Designated Representative; any exercise or failure to exercise investment direction authority by the Employer or by a Designated Representative; the Custodian's refusal to act in accordance with any investment direction by the Employer or its Designated Representative; any other act or failure to act by the Employer or a Designated Representative; any prohibited transaction or plan disqualification of a qualified plan due to any actions taken or not taken by the Custodian, in reliance on instructions from the Employer or its designated representative; or any other act the Custodian takes in good faith hereunder that arises under the Plan or the administration of the Trust.

The Custodian shall not be liable to the Employer for any act, omission, or determination made in connection with this Plan except for its gross negligence or willful misconduct. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Custodian shall not be liable for any losses arising from its compliance with instructions from the Employer or a Designated Representative; for executing, failing to execute, failing to timely execute, or for any mistake in the execution of any instructions, unless such action or inaction is by reason of the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Custodian.

The Custodian shall be accountable only for monies or property actually received by it. If any portion of the Trust is held by another custodian or a trustee, the term "Trust" herein shall mean only that portion of the Trust from time to time held by the applicable party. The Custodian shall not be deemed accountable, responsible, or liable for the acts

or omissions of any other present or former custodian or Trustee of the Plan. The Custodian shall have no duty or responsibility for the determination of the accuracy or sufficiency of the contributions to be made under the Plan, the collection thereof, the transmittal of the same to the Custodian, or compliance with any statute, regulation, or rule applicable to such contributions. The Custodian shall have no discretion as to investment of the Trust or administration of the Plan and shall not be deemed a "fiduciary" as that term is used in ERISA, unless otherwise agreed to by the Custodian in writing. The Custodian is signing the Plan's Adoption Agreement solely to signify its acceptance of appointment as Custodian and the Employer shall have sole responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, legal sufficiency, and due execution thereof, including consulting with legal counsel and tax advisors as the Employer deems appropriate in connection therewith.

The provisions of this paragraph 13.13 shall survive the termination or amendment of the Plan.

#### 13.14 Prohibited Transactions

Neither the Trustee, Custodian, Employer, investment manager, Named Fiduciary nor any Participant shall knowingly enter into any transaction, engage in any activity, or direct the purchase or acquisition of any investment with respect to the Plan which would constitute a prohibited transaction under ERISA or the Code for which a statutory or administrative exemption is not available. The Trustee and/or Custodian shall be permitted to receive fees from a regulated investment company to the extent that the receipt of such fees is not a prohibited transaction pursuant to any guidance or exemption issued by the Department of Labor from time to time.

# 13.15 Exclusive Benefit Rules

No part of the Trust shall be used for, or diverted to, purposes other than for the exclusive benefit of Participants, former Participants with a vested interest, and the Beneficiary or Beneficiaries of deceased Participants who have a vested interest in the Plan at death.

#### 13.16 Assignment And Alienation Of Benefits

Except as provided in paragraphs 12.9 or 12.11, no right or claim to, or interest in, any part of the Plan or any payment from the Plan shall be assignable, transferable, or subject to sale, mortgage, pledge, hypothecation, commutation, anticipation, garnishment, attachment, execution, or levy of any kind. The Trustee shall not recognize any attempt to assign, transfer, sell, mortgage, pledge, hypothecate, commute, or anticipate the same, except to the extent required by law. The preceding sentences shall also apply to the creation, assignment, or recognition of a right to any benefit payable with respect to a Participant pursuant to a domestic relations order, unless such order is determined to be a Qualified Domestic Relations Order, as defined in Code Section 414(p), or any domestic relations order entered before January 1, 1985 which the Plan's attorney and Plan Administrator deem to be qualified.

Notwithstanding any provision of this paragraph to the contrary, an offset to a Participant's Vested Account Balance against an amount that the Participant is ordered or required to pay the Plan with respect to a judgment, order or decree issued, or a settlement entered into, on or after August 5, 1997, shall be permitted in accordance with Code Sections 401(a)(13)(C) and (D).

## 13.17 Liquidation Of Assets

If the Trustee and/or Custodian must liquidate assets in order to make distributions, transfer assets, or pay fees, expenses or taxes assessed against all or a part of the Trust, and the Trustee and/or Custodian is not instructed as to the liquidation of such assets, assets will be liquidated in the order set forth in paragraph 13.12(a)(19), or as otherwise agreed to by the parties. The Trustee and/or Custodian are expressly authorized to liquidate assets in order to satisfy the Trust's obligation to pay the Trustee and/or Custodian's fees or other compensation if such fees or compensation are not paid on a timely basis.

# 13.18 Resignation And Removal Of The Trustee And/Or Custodian

The Trustee and/or Custodian may resign upon thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Employer that will become effective thirty (30) days after receipt of such notice of resignation (unless a shorter period is agreed upon between the Trustee and/or Custodian and the Employer). The Employer may remove the Trustee and/or Custodian upon sixty (60) days written notice to the Trustee or Custodian, or the parties may agree to reduce the period of notice of resignation or removal to a period less than sixty (60) days and has the power to appoint a successor Trustee or Custodian. The Trustee and/or Custodian shall deliver the Trust to its successor on the effective date of the resignation or removal, or as soon thereafter as practicable, provided that this shall not waive any lien the Trustee or Custodian may have upon the Trust for its compensation or expenses. Following the effective date of the notice of termination, the Trustee and/or Custodian shall have no further responsibility for providing services to the Employer or the Plan. Upon receipt of the transferred assets, the successor trustee or custodian shall assume all of the powers and responsibilities given to the Trustee or Custodian under this Plan.

If the Employer fails to amend the Plan and appoint a successor trustee and/or custodian within the said sixty (60) days, or such shorter or longer period as the Trustee and/or Custodian may agree to in writing, the highest ranking officer of the Employer shall be deemed the successor trustee or custodian as the case may be. In such event, the Trustee and/or Custodian may but shall not be required to continue to hold custody of the assets of the Plan until

such time as appropriate arrangements have been made for the security of the Plan assets; however, a discretionary Trustee shall no longer have any responsibility for the investment of Plan assets.

If a financial organization who serves as Trustee or Custodian is merged with or bought by another organization or comes under the control of any Federal or state agency, that organization shall serve as the successor trustee or custodian of this Plan provided such organization can so serve under applicable law. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Trustee or Custodian or any subsequent assignees may, by prior written notice to the Employer, and without the need for such Employer's consent or prior approval, assign all or any part of its rights and obligations under this Plan to any affiliate (which term includes, without limitation, any parent, subsidiary, or sister entity) of the Trustee or Custodian or the assignee.

Where the Trustee or Custodian is serving as a non-bank trustee or custodian pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 1.408-2(e), the Employer will appoint a successor Trustee (or Custodian, if applicable) upon notification by the Commissioner of Internal Revenue that such substitution is required because the Trustee (or Custodian, if applicable) has failed to comply with the requirements of Treasury Regulation Section 1.408-2(e) or is not keeping such records or making such returns or rendering such statements as are required by forms or regulations.

#### 13.19 Reimbursement For Taxes

The Trustee and/or Custodian shall be reimbursed by the Employer or from the Trust for all taxes of any kind whatsoever that may be levied or assessed under existing or future laws of any jurisdiction upon or in respect to the Trust. The Trustee and/or Custodian shall promptly notify the Employer with regard to any levies or tax assessments that it receives on any income or property maintained in the Trust and unless notified to the contrary by the Employer within ninety (90) days, shall pay any such levies or assessments. If the Employer notifies the Trustee and/ Custodian within said period that it is its opinion or the opinion of counsel that such levies or assessments are invalid or that they should be contested, then the Trustee and/or Custodian shall take whatever action concerning payment of the levy or assessment as is indicated in the notice received by the Trustee and/or Custodian, provided, however, that the Employer, and not the Trustee or Custodian, shall be responsible for contesting any such levies or assessments or litigating any such claims.

# ARTICLE XIV TOP-HEAVY PROVISIONS

# 14.1 Applicability Of Rules

If the Plan [except in the case of a SIMPLE 401(k) Plan] is or becomes Top-Heavy in any Plan Year, the provisions of this Article will supersede any conflicting provisions in the Basic Plan Document #03 and accompanying Adoption Agreement. The Top-Heavy requirements of Code Section 416 and this Article shall not apply in any Plan Year beginning after December 31, 2001, in which the Plan consists solely of a cash or deferred arrangement which meets the requirements of Code Section 401(k)(12) and Matching Contributions which meet the requirements of Code Section 401(m)(11) or Code Sections 401(k)(13) or 401(m)(12).

#### 14.2 Determination Of Top-Heavy Status

This paragraph shall apply for purposes of determining whether the Plan is a Top-Heavy Plan under Code Section 416(g) for Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2001, and whether the Plan satisfies the minimum benefits requirements of Code Section 416(c) for such years. This paragraph shall apply for purposes of determining the Present Values of accrued benefits and the amounts of account balances of Employees as of the Top-Heavy Determination Date.

- (a) **Distributions During the Plan Year Ending on the Top-Heavy Determination Date** The Present Value of accrued benefits and the amounts of account balances of an Employee as of the Top-Heavy Determination Date shall be increased by the distributions made with respect to the Employee under the Plan and any plan aggregated with this Plan under Code Section 416(g)(2) during the one (1) year period ending on the Top-Heavy Determination Date. The preceding sentence shall also apply to distributions under a terminated plan which, had it not been terminated, would have been aggregated with this Plan under Code Section 416(g)(2)(A)(i). In the case of a distribution made for a reason other than separation from Service, death, or Disability, this provision shall be applied by substituting "five (5) year period" for "one (1) year period".
- (b) Employees Not Performing Services During the Plan Year Ending on the Top-Heavy Determination Date The accrued benefits and accounts of any individual who has not performed services for the Employer during the one (1) year period ending on the Top-Heavy Determination Date shall not be taken into account.

# (c) **Top-Heavy Ratio**:

- If the Employer maintains one or more Defined Contribution Plans (including any Simplified Employee Pension Plan) and the Employer has not maintained any Defined Benefit Plan which during the one (1) year period [five (5) year period in determining whether the Plan is Top-Heavy for Plan Years beginning before January 1, 2002] ending on the Determination Date(s) has or has had accrued benefits, the Top-Heavy Ratio for this Plan alone or for the Required or Permissive Aggregation Group as appropriate is a fraction, the numerator of which is the sum of the account balances of all Key Employees as of the Determination Date(s) [including any part of any account balance distributed in the one (1) year period ending on the Determination Date(s) or five (5) year period ending on the Determination Date in the case of a distribution made for a reason other than severance from employment, death or Disability and in determining whether the Plan is Top-Heavy for Plan Years beginning before January 1, 2002], and the denominator of which is the sum of all account balances [including any part of any account balance distributed in the one (1) year period ending on the Determination Date(s) or five (5) year period ending on the Determination Date in the case of a distribution made for a reason other than severance from employment, death or Disability and in determining whether the Plan is Top-Heavy for Plan Years beginning before January 1, 2002], both computed in accordance with Code Section 416 and the Regulations thereunder. Both the numerator and denominator of the Top-Heavy Ratio are increased to reflect any contribution not actually made as of the Determination Date, but which is required to be taken into account on that date under Code Section 416 and the Regulations thereunder.
- (2) If the Employer maintains one or more Defined Contribution Plans (including any Simplified Employee Pension Plan) and the Employer maintains or has maintained one or more Defined Benefit Plans which during the one (1) year period [five (5) year period in determining whether the Plan is Top-Heavy for Plan Years beginning before January 1, 2002] ending on the Determination Date(s) has or has had any accrued benefits, the Top-Heavy Ratio for any Required or Permissive Aggregation Group as appropriate is a fraction, the numerator of which is the sum of account balances under the aggregated Defined Contribution Plan or Plans for all Key Employees, determined in accordance with (1) above, and the Present Value of accrued benefits under the aggregated Defined Benefit Plan or Plans for all Key Employees as of the Determination Date(s), and the denominator of which is the sum of the account balances under the aggregated Defined Contribution Plan or Plans for all Participants, determined in accordance with (1) above, and the Present Value of accrued benefits under the Defined Benefit Plan or Plans for all Participants as of the Determination Date(s), all determined in accordance with Code Section 416 and the Regulations thereunder. The accrued benefits under a Defined Benefit Plan in both the numerator and denominator of the Top-Heavy Ratio are increased for any distribution of an accrued benefit made in the one (1) year period ending on the Determination Date [five (5) year period ending on the Determination Date in

the case of a distribution made for a reason other than severance from employment, death or Disability and in determining whether the Plan is Top-Heavy for Plan Years beginning before January 1, 2002].

(3) For purposes of (1) and (2) above, the value of account balances and the Present Value of accrued benefits will be determined as of the most recent Valuation Date that falls within or ends with the twelve (12) month period ending on the Determination Date, except as provided in Code Section 416 and the Regulations thereunder for the first and second Plan Years of a Defined Benefit Plan. The account balances and accrued benefits of a Participant (1) who is not a Key Employee but who was a Key Employee in a prior year, or (2) who has not been credited with at least one (1) Hour of Service with any Employer maintaining the Plan at any time during the one (1) year period [five (5) year period in determining whether the Plan is Top-Heavy for Plan Years beginning before January 1, 2002] ending on the Determination Date will be disregarded. The calculation of the Top-Heavy Ratio and the extent to which distributions, rollovers, and transfers are taken into account will be made in accordance with Code Section 416 and the Regulations thereunder. Deductible Employee contributions will not be taken into account for purposes of computing the Top-Heavy Ratio. When aggregating Plans, the value of account balances and accrued benefits will be calculated with reference to the Determination Dates that fall within the same calendar year.

The accrued benefit of a Participant other than a Key Employee shall be determined under (a) the method, if any, that uniformly applies for accrual purposes under all Defined Benefit Plans maintained by the Employer, or (b) if there is no such method, as if such benefit accrued not more rapidly than the slowest accrual rate permitted under the fractional rule of Code Section 411(b)(1)(C).

- (d) **Permissive Aggregation Group** The Required Aggregation Group of plans plus any other plan or plans of the Employer which, when considered as a group with the Required Aggregation Group, would continue to satisfy the requirements of Code Section 401(a)(4) and 410.
- (e) **Required Aggregation Group** Each Qualified Plan of the Employer in which at least one (1) Key Employee participates or participated at any time during the determination period (regardless of whether the Plan has terminated), and any other Qualified Plan of the Employer which enables a Plan described herein to meet the requirements of Code Section 401(a)(4) or 410.
- (f) **Determination Date** For any Plan Year subsequent to the first Plan Year, the last day of the preceding Plan Year. For the first Plan Year of the Plan, the last day of that year is the Determination Date.
- (g) **Valuation Date** The date elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement as of which account balances or accrued benefits are valued for purposes of calculating the Top-Heavy Ratio.
- (h) **Present Value** The actuarial equivalent of a Participant's accrued benefit under a Defined Benefit Plan maintained by the Employer expressed in the form of a lump sum. Actuarial equivalence shall be based on reasonable interest and mortality assumptions determined in accordance with the Top-Heavy provisions of the respective plan. Present Value is used for the purposes of the Top-Heavy test and the determination with respect thereto Present Value shall be based only on the interest and mortality rates specified in the Adoption Agreement.
- (i) Each employer's portion of the Multiple Employer plan must be taken into account, along with any other plan of that Employer, in applying the top-heavy requirements of Code Section 416.

## 14.3 Minimum Contribution

For any Plan Year in which the Plan is Top-Heavy, the aggregate Employer contributions and forfeitures allocated on behalf of any Participant who is not a Key Employee (without regard to any Social Security contribution) under this Plan, the Employer will contribute the lesser of 3% of such Participant's Compensation (as defined in the Adoption Agreement) or in the case where the Employer has no Defined Benefit Plan which designates this Plan to satisfy Code Section 401, the largest percentage of the Employer contributions and forfeitures, as a percentage of the Key Employee's Compensation, up to a maximum permitted under Code Section 401(a)(17), as indexed, allocated on behalf of any Key Employee for that year. For this purpose, Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals as defined in Code Section 401(k) are used in determining the lesser of 3% of Compensation or the amount allocated on behalf of Key Employees.

Each Participant who is employed by the Employer on the last day of the Plan Year shall be entitled to receive an allocation of the Employer's minimum contribution for such Plan Year. The minimum allocation applies even though under other Plan provisions the Participant would not otherwise be entitled to receive an allocation, or would have received a lesser allocation for the year because the Participant fails to make required contributions to the Plan, the Participant's Compensation is less than a stated amount, or the Participant fails to complete 1,000 Hours of Service (or such lesser number designated by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement) during the Plan Year. An Employer may elect in the Adoption Agreement by resolution or by Plan amendment whether the Top-Heavy minimum contribution will be made to all Participants or to non-Key Employees.

The Top-Heavy minimum contribution does not apply to any Participant to the extent the Participant is covered under any other plan(s) of the Employer and the Employer has provided in the Adoption Agreement that the minimum

allocation or benefit requirements applicable to this Plan will be satisfied in the other plan(s), and the Participant receives the minimum allocation or benefit under such Plan or plans.

If a Key Employee makes an Elective Deferral or Roth Elective Deferral or has an allocation of Matching Contributions credited to his or her account, a Top-Heavy minimum contribution will be required for non-Key Employees who are Participants. For purposes of satisfying the Top-Heavy minimum contribution requirement, Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals are not taken into account; Matching Contributions shall be taken into account unless otherwise elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement. Employer Matching Contributions that are used to satisfy the minimum contribution requirements shall be treated as Matching Contributions for purposes of the ACP Test and other requirements of Code Section 401(m).

The Employer may provide in the Adoption Agreement that the minimum benefit requirement shall be met in another plan, including another plan that consists solely of a cash or deferred arrangement which meets the requirements of Code Section 401(k)(12) and Matching Contributions which meet the requirements of Code Section 401(m)(11).

If a Participating Employer maintains a Defined Benefit Plan and the Plans are Top-Heavy Plans, then the top-heavy minimum benefit shall be 3% for each Employee who does not participate in the Participating Employer's Defined Benefit Plan or if the Non-Key Employee also participates in the Participating Employer's Defined Benefit Plan, the top-heavy minimum benefit percentage in this Plan will increase to 5% of Code Section 415 Compensation unless the Participating Employer's Defined Benefit Plan satisfies the top-heavy minimum benefit.

## 14.4 Minimum Vesting

For any Plan Year during which this Plan is Top-Heavy, the minimum vesting schedule selected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement will apply to the Plan. If the vesting schedule elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement is less liberal than the allowable schedule, the schedule will automatically shift to a vesting schedule that satisfies the Top-Heavy minimum requirements. For those Plans using a graded vesting schedule, the schedule will accelerate to no less than a two (2) to six (6) year graded vesting schedule. For those Plans using a cliff vesting schedule, the schedule will accelerate to a three (3) year cliff vesting schedule. If the vesting schedule under the Employer's Plan shifts in or out of the Top-Heavy schedule for any Plan Year, such shift is an amendment to the vesting schedule and the election in paragraph 9.9 applies. The minimum vesting schedule applies to all accrued benefits within the meaning of Code Section 411(a)(7) except those attributable to Employee contributions, including benefits accrued before the effective date of Code Section 416 and benefits accrued before the Plan became Top-Heavy. No reduction in vested benefits may occur in the event the Plan's status as Top-Heavy changes for any Plan Year. This paragraph does not apply to the account balances of any Employee who does not have one (1) Hour of Service after the Plan initially becomes Top-Heavy and such Employee's account balance attributable to Employer contributions and forfeitures will be determined without regard to this paragraph.

#### 14.5 Limitations On Allocations

In any Limitation Year beginning prior to January 1, 2000 in which the Top-Heavy Ratio exceeds 90% (i.e., the Plan becomes Super Top-Heavy), the denominators of the Defined Benefit Fraction and Defined Contribution Fraction shall be computed using 100% of the dollar limitation instead of 125%.

# 14.6 Use Of Safe Harbor Contributions To Satisfy Top-Heavy Contribution Rules

If elected in the Adoption Agreement, a 3% Safe Harbor Non-Elective Contribution allocated to all eligible Employees may be used to satisfy the minimum contribution requirement for a Top-Heavy Plan. A Safe Harbor Matching Contribution may also be used to satisfy the minimum contribution requirement for a Top-Heavy Plan, provided no other contribution is made to the Plan for that Plan Year.

An Eligible Automatic Contribution Arrangement will be subject to the top-heavy provisions of this Article unless it meets the definition of a Qualified Automatic Contribution Arrangement (QACA). A QACA is exempt from top-heavy testing if it consists solely of Elective Deferrals and QACA Safe Harbor Matching or Non-Elective Employer Contributions which satisfy the requirements of Code Sections 401(k)(11), 401(k)(13) and 401(m)(2).

# 14.7 Top-Heavy Rules For SIMPLE 401(k) Plans

A SIMPLE 401(k) Plan is not treated as a Top-Heavy Plan under Code Section 416 for any year for which the Employer maintains a SIMPLE 401(k) Plan.

# ARTICLE XV AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION

# 15.1 Amendment By Prototype Plan Sponsor

The Prototype Plan Sponsor may amend any or all provisions of this Prototype Plan at any time without obtaining the approval or consent of any Employer which has adopted this Plan and Trust provided that no amendment shall authorize or permit any part of the corpus or income of the Plan to be used for or diverted to purposes other than for the exclusive benefit of Participants and their Beneficiaries, or eliminate an optional form of distribution. For purposes of Prototype Plan Sponsor amendments, the mass submitter of this Prototype Plan shall be recognized as the agent of the Prototype Plan Sponsor. If the Prototype Plan Sponsor does not adopt the amendments made available by the mass submitter, it will no longer be identical to or a minor modifier of the mass submitter plan.

The Prototype Plan Sponsor may amend any part of the Plan. However, for purposes of reliance on an opinion or determination letter, the Prototype Plan Sponsor will no longer have the authority to amend the Plan on behalf of the Employer as of the date the Employer amends the Plan to incorporate a type of Plan described in section 6.03 of Revenue Procedure 2011-49 that is not permitted under the program, or the Internal Revenue Service notifies the Employer, in accordance with Section 24.03 of Revenue Procedure 2011-49, that the Plan is an individually designed Plan due to the nature and extent of Employer amendments to the Plan.

# 15.2 Amendment By Employer

The Employer may:

- (a) change the choice of options in the Adoption Agreement;
- (b) add overriding language in the Adoption Agreement when such language is necessary to satisfy Code Section 415 or 416 because of the required aggregation of multiple plans;
- (c) amend administrative provisions of the Trust or custodial document in the case of a Plan established under a Nonstandardized Adoption Agreement and make more limited amendments in the case of a Plan established under a Standardized Adoption Agreement such as the name of the Plan, Employer, Trustee or Custodian, Plan Administrator and other Fiduciaries, the trust year, and the name of any pooled trust in which the Plan's Trust will participate:
- (d) add certain sample or model amendments published by the Internal Revenue Service or other required good faith amendments which specifically provide that their adoption will not cause the Plan to be treated as individually designed; and
- (e) add or change provisions permitted under the Plan and/or specify or change the Effective Date of a provision as permitted under the Plan and correct obvious and unambiguous typographical errors and/or cross-references that merely correct a reference but that do not in any way change the original intended meaning of the provisions. An Employer that amends the Plan for any other reason, including a waiver of the minimum funding requirement under Code Section 412(d), will no longer participate in this Prototype Plan and will be considered to have an individually designed plan.

The Participating Employer has the right to amend the Participation Agreement. Any amendment to the Participation Agreement thereunder shall be limited solely to changes in the options stated in the Participation Agreement.

# 15.3 **Protected Benefits**

No amendment to the Plan shall be effective to the extent that it has the effect of decreasing a Participant's accrued benefit. This includes a Plan amendment that decreases a Participant's accrued benefit or otherwise places greater restrictions or conditions on a Participant's rights to Code Section 411(d)(6) protected benefits, even if the amendment merely adds a restriction or condition that is permitted under the vesting rules in Code Section 411(a)(3) through (11). Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, a Participant's account balance may be reduced to the extent permitted under Code Section 412(d)(2) or to the extent permitted under Regulations Section 1.411(d)-3 and 1.411(d)-4. For purposes of this paragraph, a Plan amendment which has the effect of decreasing a Participant's account balance with respect to benefits attributable to Service before the amendment shall be treated as reducing an accrued benefit. Furthermore, if the vesting schedule of a Plan is amended, in the case of an Employee who is a Participant as of the later of the date such amendment is adopted or the date it become effective, the nonforfeitable percentage (determined as of such date) of such Employee's Employer-derived accrued benefit will not be less than the percentage computed under the Plan without regard to such amendment.

# 15.4 Permitted Plan Amendments Affecting Alternative Forms Of Payment

This Plan will not violate the requirements of Code Section 411(d)(6) merely because the adopting Employer amends this Plan to eliminate or restrict the ability of a Participant to receive payment of his or her Vested Account Balance under a particular optional form of benefit if, after the Plan amendment is effective with respect to the Participant, the alternative forms of payment available to such Participant include payment in a lump sum distribution form that is otherwise identical to the optional form of benefit that is being eliminated or restricted.

For purposes of this paragraph, a lump sum distribution form is otherwise identical to an optional form of benefit that is eliminated or restricted pursuant to the paragraph above only if the lump sum distribution form is identical in all respects to the eliminated or restricted optional form of benefit (or would be identical except that it provides greater rights to the Participant) except with respect to the timing of payments after commencement. A lump sum distribution form is not otherwise identical to a specified installment form of benefit if the lump sum distribution form is not available for distribution on the date on which the installment form would have been available for commencement, is not available in the same medium of distribution as the installment form, or imposes any condition of eligibility that did not apply to the installment form. However, an otherwise identical distribution form need not retain rights or features of the optional form of benefit that is eliminated or restricted to the extent that those rights or features would not be protected from elimination or restriction under Code Section 411(d)(6) or this paragraph.

#### 15.5 **Plan Termination**

The Employer shall have the right to terminate its Plan at any time. The Prototype Plan Sponsor shall be given sixty (60) days' notice in writing of the Employer's intent to terminate or transfer the assets of the Plan or shall be notified by such other means and/or within such time period as the Prototype Plan Sponsor may designate and/or may be agreed upon between the Prototype Plan Sponsor and the Employer. If the Plan is terminated, partially terminated, or if there is a complete discontinuance of contributions under a profit-sharing plan maintained by the Employer, all amounts credited to the accounts of Participants shall vest and become nonforfeitable. In the event of a partial termination, only those who are affected by such partial termination shall be fully vested. In the event of termination, the Plan Administrator shall direct the Trustee or Custodian as applicable with respect to the distribution of accounts to or for the exclusive benefit of Participants or their Beneficiaries. Such distribution may be made directly to Participants or, at the direction of the Participant, may be transferred directly to another Eligible Retirement Plan, including an individual retirement account. In the absence of an election by a Participant who has received notice pursuant to paragraph 6.5 from the Plan Administrator, the Plan Administrator with the approval or at the direction of the Trustee and/or Custodian as applicable, may transfer the Participant's benefit to another Defined Contribution Plan maintained by the Employer, other than an employee stock ownership plan. If the Employer does not maintain another Defined Contribution Plan, the Plan Administrator, may request the Trustee or Custodian to transfer the Participant's benefit to an individual retirement account with an institution selected by the Plan Administrator, but only to the extent provided for in the Adoption Agreement, or make a distribution pursuant to paragraph 7.15. Prior to making any distribution, the Trustee or Custodian, as applicable, may require the Plan Administrator to represent that the Plan has received a favorable determination letter from the Internal Revenue Service approving the Plan termination and authorizing the distribution of benefits to Plan Participants. In the absence of such determination letter and prior to agreeing to make any distributions in accordance with the Plan Administrator's directions, the Trustee or Custodian may require the Plan Administrator to represent in a manner acceptable to the Trustee or Custodian that the applicable requirements, if any, of ERISA and the Code governing the termination of employee benefit plans have been or are being complied with or that appropriate authorizations, waivers, exemptions, or variances have been or are being obtained. Until final distribution of the assets of the Trust, the Plan Administrator and Trustee shall have all the powers necessary for the orderly administration, liquidation and distribution of the assets of the Trust.

#### 15.6 **Involuntary Termination**

The Plan shall terminate if:

- (a) the Employer is dissolved or adjudicated bankrupt or insolvent in appropriate proceedings, or if a general assignment is made by the Employer for the benefit of creditors, or
- (b) the Employer loses its identity by consolidation or merger into one or more corporations or organizations, unless within the time period prescribed by Code Section 410(b)(6)(c)(ii) such corporations(s) or organization(s) elect to continue the Plan. Following the termination of the Plan, the Trust will continue until each Participant's benefit has been distributed.

# 15.7 **Termination Of Participation By Participating Employer**

Any Participating Employer may by written resolution terminate participation in the Plan at any time by notification to the Prototype Plan Sponsor, the Plan Administrator, and the Trustee and/or Custodian as applicable. Such Participating Employer may thereupon request a transfer of Trust assets attributable to its Employees from this Plan to any successor Qualified Plan maintained by the Participating Employer or its successor. The Plan Administrator may, however, refuse to make such transfer if in its considered opinion such transfer would operate to the detriment of any Participant, jeopardize the continued qualification of the Plan, or if such transfer does not comply with any requirements of the Internal Revenue Service. No such transfer shall be made by the Trustee if the result is the elimination or reduction of any Section 411(d)(6) protected benefit. If no transfer is made, the provisions in the definition of Participating Employer in Article I will apply with respect to the payment of benefits for Employees of such Participating Employer.

If a Participating Employer terminates or partially terminates its part of the Plan, or if there is a complete discontinuance of contributions by the Participating Employer to the Plan, then affected Participants of the Participating Employer shall become fully vested in their Account Balance.

If the Employer's Plan fails to attain or retain qualification, the funds of such Plan will be removed from the master trust (if applicable) as soon as administratively feasible.

In no such event shall any part of the corpus or income of the Trust fund as it relates to the terminating Participating Employer be used for or diverted for purposes other than for the exclusive benefit of the Employees of that Participating Employer.

#### 15.8 Distribution Restrictions Under A Code Section 401(k) Plan

If the Employer's Plan includes a cash or deferred arrangement or if transferred assets described in paragraph 6.17 are subject to the distribution restrictions of Code Sections 401(k)(2) and 401(k)(10), the special distribution provisions of this paragraph apply. The portion of the Participant's Vested Account Balance attributable to Elective Deferrals or Roth Elective Deferrals (or to amounts treated under the cash or deferred arrangement as Elective Deferrals such as QNECs and QMACs and income allocable to each) are not distributable earlier than upon the Participant's severance from employment, death, or Disability. Such amounts may also be distributed upon:

- (a) Termination of the Plan without the Employer maintaining another Defined Contribution Plan [other than an employee stock ownership plan as defined in Code Section 4975(e)(7) or 409(a), a Simplified Employee Pension Plan as defined in Code Section 408(k), a SIMPLE IRA Plan as defined in Code Section 408(p), a Plan or contract described in Code Section 403(b), or a Plan described in Code Section 457(b) or (f)] at any time during the period beginning on the date of Plan termination and ending twelve (12) months after all assets have been distributed from the Plan. Such a distribution must be made in a lump sum.
  - (b) The attainment of age 59½ in the case of a profit-sharing plan.
  - (c) The Hardship of the Participant, as described in paragraph 6.13.

For Plan Years beginning prior to 2002, such amounts could also be distributed upon:

- (d) The disposition by a corporation to an unrelated corporation of substantially all of the assets [within the meaning of Code Section 409(d)(2)] used in trade or business of such corporation if such corporation continues to maintain the Plan after the disposition, but only with respect to the Employees who continue employment with the corporation acquiring such assets. Such a distribution must be made in a lump sum.
- (e) The disposition by a corporation to an unrelated entity of such corporation's interest in a subsidiary [within the meaning of Code Section 409(d)(3)] if such corporation continues to maintain the Plan, but only with respect to Employees who continue employment with such subsidiary. Such a distribution must be made in a lump sum.

All distributions that may be made pursuant to one or more of the foregoing distributable events are subject to the spousal and Participant consent requirements (if applicable) contained in Code Sections 401(a)(11) and 417. Other distribution restrictions include:

- (f) If Roth Elective Deferral Accounts are permitted for tax years beginning after 2005, distributions from such accounts (other than corrective distributions) are not includible in the Participant's gross income if made after five (5) years and after the Participant's death, Disability, or attainment of age 59½. Earnings on corrective distributions of Roth Elective Deferrals are includible in gross income the same as earnings on corrective distributions of pre-tax Elective Deferrals; or
- (g) The Participant otherwise is entitled under the terms of the Plan to a distribution of that portion of the Vested Account Balance.

#### 15.9 **Qualification Of Employer's Plan**

The Trustee and/or Custodian, if applicable shall have no liability with respect to any operational or qualification failure of any Plan established hereunder. If the adopting Employer fails to obtain or retain applicable Internal Revenue Service qualification as a Prototype Plan, such Employer's Plan shall no longer participate in this Prototype Plan and will be considered an individually designed plan. Furthermore, each of the Trustee, Custodian and Prototype Plan Sponsor may take such action as it deems necessary, including, but not limited to, refusing to honor distribution and transfer requests, in the event that it believes the Employer has failed to maintain the qualified status of its Plan.

(a) **Employer Reliance Using A Standardized Adoption Agreement** – An Employer establishing a Plan under a Standardized Adoption Agreement in conjunction with this Prototype Plan may rely on that Plan's opinion letter, except as provided in (1) through (3) and paragraph (c) below if the Prototype Plan Sponsor of such Plan or Plans has a currently valid favorable opinion letter, the Employer has followed the terms of the Plan(s), and the coverage and contributions or benefits under the Plan(s) are not more favorable for Highly Compensated Employees than for other Employees.

- An Employer may not rely on an opinion letter for a Plan established under a Standardized Adoption Agreement with respect to the requirements of Code Sections 415 and 416, without obtaining a determination letter, if the Employer maintains at any time, or has maintained at any time, another plan including a Plan established under a Standardized Adoption Agreement that was qualified or determined to be qualified covering some of the same Participants. For this purpose, a plan that has been properly replaced by the adoption of a Plan established under a Standardized Adoption Agreement is not considered another plan. The plan that has been replaced and the Plan established under a Standardized Adoption Agreement must be of the same type (e.g., both Defined Contribution Plans) in order for the Employer to be able to rely on the Plan established under a Standardized Adoption Agreement with respect to the requirements of Code Sections 415 and 416 without obtaining a determination letter. In addition, an Employer that adopts a Defined Contribution Plan under a Standardized Adoption Agreement will not be considered to have maintained another plan merely because the Employer has maintained another Defined Contribution Plan(s), provided such other plan(s) has been terminated prior to the Effective Date of the Plan established under a Standardized Adoption Agreement and no Annual Additions have been credited to the account of any Participant under such other plan(s) as of any date within a Limitation Year of the Plan established under a Standardized Adoption Agreement. Likewise, an Employer that adopts a Defined Contribution Plan established under a Standardized Adoption Agreement that is first effective on or after the Effective Date of the repeal of Section 415(e) will not be considered to have maintained another plan merely because the Employer has maintained a Defined Benefit Plan(s), provided the Defined Benefit Plan(s) has been terminated prior to the Effective Date of the Defined Contribution Plan established under a Standardized Adoption Agreement.
- (2) An Employer that adopts a Plan established under a Standardized Adoption Agreement may not rely on an opinion letter with respect to:
- (i) whether the timing of any amendment to the Plan (or series of amendments) satisfies the nondiscrimination requirements of Regulations Section 1.401(a)(4)-5(a), except with respect to Plan amendments granting past Service that meet the safe harbor described in Regulations Section 1.401(a)(4)-5(a)(3) and are not part of a pattern of amendments that significantly discriminate in favor of Highly Compensated Employees; or
- (ii) whether the Plan satisfies the effective availability requirement of Regulations Section 1.401(a)(4)-4(c) with respect to any benefit, right, or feature.

An Employer that adopts a Plan established under a Standardized Adoption Agreement as an amendment to a plan other than a Plan established under a Standardized Adoption Agreement may not rely on an opinion letter with respect to whether a benefit, right, or feature that is prospectively eliminated satisfies the current availability requirements of Regulations Section 1.401(a)(4)-4. Such an Employer may request a determination letter if the Employer wishes to have reliance as to whether the prospectively eliminated benefit, right, or feature satisfies the current availability requirements.

- (b) **Employer Reliance Using A Nonstandardized Adoption Agreement** An Employer establishing a Plan using a Nonstandardized Adoption Agreement in conjunction with this Basic Plan Document #03 may rely on that Plan's opinion letter as described below if the Employer's Plan is identical to the approved Prototype Plan with a currently valid favorable opinion letter, the Employer has not amended the Plan other than to choose options provided under the terms of the approved Prototype Plan, or to make amendments as described below in 15.9(c) and the Employer has followed the terms of the Plan [also see paragraph 15.9(c)(3) below]. The Employer may forego filing IRS Form 5307 and rely on the Prototype Plan's favorable opinion letter with respect to the qualification requirements, except as provided in section (1) through (4) and paragraph 15.9(c) below.
- (1) Except as provided in paragraphs 15.9(c)(2), (3) and (4), the adopting Employer of a Plan established under a Nonstandardized Adoption Agreement may not rely on a favorable opinion letter with respect to the requirements of Code Sections 401(a)(4), 401(a)(26), 401(l), 410(b) or 414(s) or, if the Employer maintains or has ever maintained another plan covering some of the same Participants, Code Sections 415 or 416. For this purpose, whether an Employer maintains or has ever maintained another plan will be determined using principles consistent with paragraph 15.9(a) above.
- (2) An adopting Employer of a Plan established under a Nonstandardized Adoption Agreement may rely on the opinion letter with respect to the requirements of Code Sections 410(b) and 401(a)(26) [other than the Code Section 401(a)(26) requirements that apply to a prior benefit structure] if 100% of all nonexcludable Employees benefit under the Plan.
- (3) Plans established using a Nonstandardized Adoption Agreement must give adopting Employers the option to elect a safe harbor allocation or benefit formula and a safe harbor Compensation definition. Employers of Plans established under a Nonstandardized Adoption Agreement that elect a safe harbor allocation or benefit formula and a safe harbor Compensation definition may rely on an opinion letter with respect to the nondiscriminatory amounts requirement under Code Section 401(a)(4). Plans established under a Nonstandardized Adoption Agreement that are Code Section 401(k) and/or Code Section 401(m) plans may rely on an opinion letter

with respect to whether the form of the Plan satisfies the ADP Test of Code Section 401(k)(3) or the ACP Test of Code Section 401(m)(2) if the Employer elects to use a safe harbor definition of Compensation in the test. Plans established under a Nonstandardized Adoption Agreement described in Code Sections 401(k)(11) and/or 401(m)(12) may rely on an opinion letter with respect to whether the form of the Plan satisfies these requirements unless the Plan provides for the safe harbor contribution to be made under another Plan.

- (c) **Other Limitations and Conditions on Reliance –** The following conditions and limitations apply with respect to Prototype Plans:
- (1) An adopting Employer can rely on a favorable opinion letter for a Prototype Plan that amends or restates a Plan of the Employer only if the Plan that is being amended or restated was qualified.
- (2) An adopting Employer has no reliance if the Employer's adoption of the Plan precedes the issuance of an opinion letter for the Prototype Plan.
- (3) An adopting Employer can rely on an opinion letter only if the requirements of this paragraph 15.9 are met, and the Employer's Plan is identical to an approved Prototype Plan with a currently valid favorable opinion letter, and the Employer has not added any terms to the approved Prototype Plan and has not modified or deleted any terms of the Plan, other than selecting options permitted under the Prototype Plan or amended the document as permitted under paragraph 15.2.
- (4) An Employer's Plan will not fail to be identical to an approved Prototype Plan merely because the Employer modifies or amends the Plan to:
- (i) Add or change a provision and/or to specify or change the Effective Date of a provision, provided the Employer is permitted to make the modification or amendment under the terms of the approved Prototype Plan as well as under Code Sections 401(a), or 403(a), and, except for the Effective Date, the provision is identical to a provision in the approved Plan. Thus, an Employer is not required to restate its Prototype Plan in order to change options under the Plan or to specify different Effective Dates. The Employer, in its ability to amend a Prototype Plan without causing the Plan to be treated as an individually designed plan, must execute a new signature page when the Employer modifies any prior elections or makes a new election in its Adoption Agreement.
- (ii) Adopt an interim or discretionary amendment in accordance with Section 21 of the Revenue Procedure 2011-49 or Revenue Procedure 2007-44, or
- (iii) Adopt model, sample or other required good faith amendments that specifically provide that their adoption by an adopter of a Prototype Plan will not cause the Plan to be treated as an individually designed plan or cause the Plan to fail to be "identical" to the approved Prototype Plan within the meaning of this paragraph.
- (5) An adopting Employer cannot rely on an opinion letter if the adopting Employer has modified the terms of the Plan's approved Trust Agreement in a manner that would cause the Plan to fail to be qualified.
- (d) Reliance Equivalent to Determination Letter If an Employer can rely on a favorable opinion letter pursuant to this paragraph, the opinion letter shall be equivalent to a favorable determination letter. The favorable opinion letter shall be treated as a favorable determination letter for purposes of Section 21 of Revenue Procedure 2011-6, regarding the effect of a determination letter, and Section 5.01(4) of Revenue Procedure 2008-50, regarding the definition of "favorable letter" for purposes of the Employee Plans Compliance Resolution System (and as such Revenue Procedures are subsequently modified or superseded by written guidance issued by the Department of the Treasury or by the Internal Revenue Service); however, the extent of the Employer's reliance may be limited, as provided above.

#### 15.10 Mergers And Consolidations

In the case of any merger or consolidation of the Employer's Plan with, or transfer of assets or liabilities of the Employer's Plan to any other plan, Participants in the Employer's Plan shall be entitled to receive benefits immediately after the merger, consolidation, or transfer which are equal to or greater than the benefits they would have been entitled to receive immediately before the merger, consolidation, or transfer if the Plan had then terminated.

## 15.11 Qualification Of Prototype

The Prototype Plan Sponsor intends that this Prototype Defined Contribution Plan, inclusive of the Basic Plan Document #03 and associated Adoption Agreements, will meet the requirements of the Code and the Regulations thereunder. Should the Commissioner of Internal Revenue or any delegate of the Commissioner at any time determine that this Prototype Plan fails to meet the applicable qualification requirements of the Code and/or the Regulations thereunder, the Prototype Plan Sponsor will amend the Basic Plan Document #03 and/or Adoption Agreement(s) as necessary to maintain their qualified status.

15.12 **Discontinuance Of Prototype**The Employer may discontinue its participation in this Prototype Plan effective upon sixty (60) days written notice to the Prototype Plan Sponsor. In such event the Employer shall, prior to the effective date thereof, amend the Plan to eliminate any reference to this Prototype Plan.

# ARTICLE XVI GOVERNING LAW

# 16.1 Governing Law

Construction, validity and administration of the Prototype Plan and any Employer Plan established under the terms of this Plan and accompanying Adoption Agreement(s), shall be governed by Federal law to the extent applicable, and, to the extent Federal law is not applicable by the laws of the State or Commonwealth in which the principal office of the Prototype Plan Sponsor or its affiliate is located. The foregoing provisions of this paragraph shall not preclude the Employer and the Trustee from agreeing to a different state law with respect to the contribution, administration and enforcement of the Plan.

Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, no provision in the Basic Plan Document #03 shall subject a governmental Plan as defined in Code Section 414(d) or a non-electing church plan as described in Code Section 410(d) to the fiduciary provisions of Title I of ERISA or any other provision of ERISA that is not applicable to such governmental or non-electing church plans.

# 16.2 State Community Property Laws

The terms and conditions of the Prototype Plan and any Employer's Plan established under the terms of this Basic Plan Document #03 and accompanying Adoption Agreement(s) shall be applicable without regard to community property laws of any state.

Approved April 30, 2014

# ARTICLE XVII DEEMED IRAS

This Article shall apply if elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement and shall be effective for Plan Years beginning after the date specified in the Adoption Agreement, but in no event earlier than the Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 2003. Any Traditional or Roth IRA established hereunder to accept Deemed IRA Contributions as permitted by Code Section 408(g) will follow the rules set forth in Code Section 408 and outlined in Article XVIII. Any Roth IRA established hereunder to accept Deemed IRA Contributions as permitted by Code Section 408(g) shall follow the rules set forth in Code Section 408A and outlined in Article XIX. Any account established hereunder is for the exclusive benefit of the Participant or his or her Beneficiaries.

#### 17.1 Deemed IRAs

If the Employer's Plan allows Participants to make Voluntary Employee Contributions, such Participant may make Voluntary Employee Contributions to the Participant's Traditional or Roth IRA as elected on the Adoption Agreement under Basic Plan Document #03. Simplified Employee Pension Plans (SEPs) under Code Section 409(k) and SIMPLE IRAs under Code Section 408(p) may not be used as Deemed IRAs.

The Plan may establish an annuity or a trust (whether or not separate from the Employer's Plan Trust) for the designated IRA contributions of each Participant and any earnings properly allocable to the contributions. A separate recordkeeping account with respect to each such IRA will be maintained for each Participant. If Deemed IRA contributions are made to an annuity contract, such annuity contract shall be separate from the Employer's Qualified Plan. Contributions may be held under a single annuity contract or under separate annuity contracts. Where a single annuity contract is used, separate accounting for the interest of each Participant is required.

#### 17.2 *Individual*

The Participant in the Plan who has established a Traditional IRA or a tax-qualified Roth IRA under this Basic Plan Document #03, which may be amended from time to time.

# 17.3 Investment In Collectibles

If a Deemed IRA established hereunder acquires collectibles within the meaning of Code Section 408(m) after December 31, 1981, assets of the Deemed IRA will be treated as a distribution in an amount equal to the cost of such collectibles.

#### 17.4 Restrictions On Directing Investments

While the Individual may direct the Trustee or Insurer with respect to investments, the Individual may not borrow from the account or pledge any of the assets of the IRA as security for a loan, or buy property or assets from or sell property or assets to the account.

# 17.5 Prohibition Against Investing In Life Insurance

No part of the Deemed IRA assets (whether or not the Deemed IRA Account is separate from the Employer's Qualified Plan) used to hold Deemed IRA contributions will be invested in life insurance contacts.

# 17.6 Commingling Of Assets

The assets of a Deemed IRA may be commingled for investment purposes with those of Employer Qualified Plan. However, the restrictions on the commingling of Plan and IRA assets as outlined in Code Section 408(a)(5) with other assets apply to the assets of the Employer Qualified Plan and the Deemed IRA.

#### 17.7 Nonforfeitability

The balance in an Individual's Deemed IRA account is nonforfeitable at all times.

#### 17.8 Separate Accounting

Separate records will be maintained for the interest of each Individual under an IRA established by the Employer.

#### 17.9 **Separate Trusts**

Deemed IRAs established pursuant to this paragraph may be held in a trust separate from the Trust established under the Plan as determined by the Employer's administrative policy. Any separate trust established to hold Deemed IRA contributions shall satisfy the applicable requirements of Code Sections 408 and 408(A), whose requirements are set forth in Articles XVIII and XIX, and will not be considered an Employer Qualified Plan. All contributions made to a separate trust of a Deemed IRA will be treated as contributions to such Deemed IRA and not to the Employer's Qualified Plan. Similarly, the requirements of Code Sections 408 and 408(A) and the rules set forth in Articles XVIII and XIX will not be applicable to the Employer's Qualified Plan established hereunder if the Deemed IRA contributions are made to a separate trust. When a separate Deemed IRA is not established, the Deemed IRA contributions will be included as part of the Employer's Qualified Plan, but separate accounting of the Deemed IRA contributions must be established as outlined in paragraphs 5.1 and 17.8. Where an Employer Qualified Plan and Deemed IRAs are included in the same Trust, the Trustee of the Plan must be the same Trustee of the IRA; therefore, the Trustee must be either a bank or a non-bank trustee that satisfies the requirements of Code Section 408(a)(2) and the Regulations thereunder.

#### 17.10 Separate Annuities

Deemed IRAs established pursuant to this paragraph may be held in an annuity contract. Separate annuity contracts must be established for the interest of each Individual to hold Deemed IRA contributions. Such annuity contracts must be held separate from the Employer's Plan, even if the Employer Qualified Plan also maintains annuity contracts.

# 17.11 Reporting Duties

The Trustee or Insurer of a Roth IRA shall furnish annual calendar year reports concerning the status of the account as well as information concerning required minimum distributions as is prescribed by the Commissioner of Internal Revenue. The Trustee or Insurer, as applicable, shall be subject to the reporting requirements of Code Section 408(i) with respect to all Deemed IRAs that are established and maintained under the Plan.

#### 17.12 **Distributions**

The rules applicable to distributions from Employer Qualified Plans under the Internal Revenue Code and the Regulations thereunder do not apply to distributions from Deemed IRAs. Instead, the rules applicable to distributions from IRAs apply to distributions from Deemed IRAs, as outlined in Article XVIII and Article XIX, as applicable. Additionally, any restrictions that a Trustee, Custodian, or insurance company is permitted to impose on distributions from Traditional and Roth IRAs, may be imposed on distributions from Deemed IRAs (i.e., early withdrawal penalties on annuities). The required minimum distribution rules of Code Section 401(a)(9) must be met separately with respect to the Employer Qualified Plan and the Deemed IRA. The determination of whether an Employer Qualified Plan satisfies the required minimum distribution rules of Code Section 401(a)(9) is made without regard to whether a Participant satisfies the required minimum distribution requirements with respect to the Deemed IRA that is established under such Plan.

# 17.13 Voluntary Employee Contributions

For purposes of this paragraph, a Voluntary Employee Contribution is any contribution [other than a mandatory contribution within the meaning of Code Section 411(c)(2)] that is made by a Participant to an Employer Qualified Plan that allows Participants to elect to make contributions to Deemed IRAs and which the Participant has designated, at or prior to the time of making the contribution, as a contribution to which this Article applies.

#### 17.14 Substitution Of Non-Bank Trustee

If a non-bank Trustee has been appointed by the Employer, such entity shall retain the right to substitute another Trustee or Custodian if such non-bank Trustee receives notice from the Commissioner of Internal Revenue that such substitution is required because it has failed to comply with the requirements of Regulations Section 1.408-2(e).

# 17.15 **Disqualification**

The failure of either the Employer Qualified Plan portion or the Deemed IRA portion of the Plan to satisfy the applicable qualification rules of each will not cause the other portion to be automatically disqualified, provided the Deemed IRA portion and the Qualified Plan portion are maintained as separate Trusts (or separate annuity contracts, as required in the case of a Deemed IRA annuity). If both the Deemed IRA portion and the Qualified Plan portion are included in separate Trusts, and the Qualified Plan is disqualified, the IRA portion will not be considered a Deemed IRA under Code Section 408(a), but it will not fail to satisfy the applicable requirements of Code Sections 408 or 408(A) if it satisfies the applicable requirements of those sections, including, with respect to individual retirement accounts the requirements of Code Section 408(a)(5) with regard to commingling of assets. If the IRA assets and the non-IRA assets have been commingled [except in a common trust fund or common investment fund as permitted by Code Section 408(a)(5)], the IRA portion will fail to satisfy the requirements of Code Section 408(a). Additionally, if the IRA assets and the non-IRA assets are commingled [except as permitted by Code Section 408(a)(5)] and the IRA is disqualified, the Employer's Plan will also be disqualified.

# ARTICLE XVIII DEEMED TRADITIONAL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS

#### 18.1 Deemed IRA

The provisions of this Article and Article XVII shall apply if elected in the Adoption Agreement. A Deemed Individual Retirement Account, or Deemed Individual Retirement Annuity described in Code Section 408(a) where the context so requires, include a Traditional IRA, Rollover IRA and Combined IRA. No account established under the Prototype Plan may accept SEP, SARSEP, SIMPLE IRA or Coverdell Education contributions.

#### 18.2 Maximum Annual Contribution

With respect to Traditional IRA Contributions made by or on behalf of an Individual for a taxable year, Maximum Annual Contribution shall mean an amount that does not exceed the lesser of the deductible amount described in Code Section 219(b)(5)(A) or 100% of the Individual's Compensation reduced by the amount of any contributions made by or on behalf of the Individual to another Traditional IRA or to a Roth IRA for the same Taxable Year.

# 18.3 Catch-Up Contribution

In the case of annual contributions to a Traditional IRA or IRA Rollover Account, a Catch-Up Contribution is an amount not to exceed the Applicable Amount as defined in Code Section 219(b)(5)(B)(i).

Catch-Up Contributions that may be made by or on behalf of an Individual for any taxable year to an IRA established under this Plan shall be reduced by the amount of Catch-Up Contributions made by or on behalf of the same Individual to any other IRA or Roth IRA for the same taxable year except that, in the case of Catch-Up Contributions made as salary reduction contributions to a SARSEP IRA Account, the amount of such Catch-Up Contributions allowed for any taxable year shall be reduced by the amount of Catch-Up Contributions made by or on behalf of the same Individual to any other retirement plan described in Code Sections 401(a), 403(b), 408(p) or 457. Catch-Up Contributions may be made by or on behalf of an Individual who has attained the age of fifty (50) on or before the last day of the year for which the contribution is made. The Plan shall be interpreted to deem any Individual's contribution that exceeds the Maximum Annual Contribution as defined in paragraph 18.2 but not an amount greater than the Applicable Amount to be a Catch-Up Contribution unless the Individual elects to treat such amount as an Excess Contribution described in paragraph 18.8.

# 18.4 Required Beginning Date

The April 1<sup>st</sup> of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the Individual attains age 70½.

# 18.5 IRA Tax Year

The period for which an Individual must report income on his or her Federal income tax return. The tax return of most Individuals is based on the calendar year.

#### 18.6 IRA Trustee

The institution and any successor thereto including by merger or acquisition that has been appointed and accepted as indicated on the Adoption Agreement.

#### 18.7 Traditional IRA Contributions

An Individual may make a cash contribution in any amount up to the Maximum Annual Contribution or 100% of Compensation for a Tax Year (reduced by the amount of any contributions made by the Individual or on the Individual's behalf to another IRA or to a Roth IRA for the same Tax Year) in which the Individual is under the age of 70½.

The IRA Trustee is not permitted to accept contributions in excess of the Maximum Annual Contribution amount for any Tax Year unless it is a Rollover Contribution [as permitted by Code Sections 402(c) and 403(a)(4)]. Contributions may be made to an IRA for any Tax Year at any time starting on the first day of the Tax Year and ending on the day the Individual's Federal income tax return is due for such year (not including any extensions). Except in the case of a Rollover Contribution [as permitted by Code Sections 402(c), 402(e)(6), 403(a)(4), 403(b)(8), 403(b)(10), 408(d)(3) and 457(e)(16)(A)(i)], the total of such contributions shall not exceed the Maximum Annual Contribution amount for the applicable Tax Year.

If by December 31 of any taxable year an Individual is age fifty (50) or over, the Individual may make an additional contribution (a "Catch-Up Contribution") to all of the Individual's IRAs in the aggregate (and if the Individual is eligible, Roth IRAs) up to \$1,000 for Tax Years 2006 and thereafter.

If the Individual is eligible, any annual contribution the Individual makes that exceeds the Individual's Maximum Annual Contribution will be treated as a Catch-Up Contribution (up to the limits described above) unless the Individual elects to treat such amounts as an Excess Contribution described in paragraph 18.8 below.

#### 18.8 Excess IRA Contributions

If the Individual contributes more than allowed with respect to a Tax Year, the Individual must notify the Trustee or Insurer to return to the Individual the excess contribution, together with any investment earnings on that amount, or to

apply the excess contribution as a contribution for the Individual's next succeeding Tax Year. The Individual must notify the Trustee or Insurer in writing prior to the date on which the Individual files, or is required to file, the Individual's income tax return for the Tax Year for which the excess contribution was made.

#### 18.9 Maintenance Of An Individual's IRA

The Trustee or Insurer will establish and maintain an IRA in the Individual's name under this document. The Individual's Account will be administered separately from any other IRA and the assets of the Individual's IRA will not be commingled with the assets of any other IRA, except in a common trust fund or common investment fund as described in Code Section 408(a)(5).

# 18.10 Methods Of Payment

The Individual's retirement benefits must begin to be paid to the Individual no later than the April 1 following the calendar year in which the Individual reaches age 70½. Such distributions shall be made in accordance with Code Sections 408(a)(6) or 408(b)(3) and the Regulations issued thereunder. Not later than March 1 of the year following the calendar year in which the Individual reaches age 70½, the Individual may elect to have the balance in the IRA paid to the Individual in:

- (a) a single lump-sum payment, or
- (b) equal or substantially equal monthly, quarterly, semi-annual, or annual payments. The payments may be computed over any period of time but not longer than the Individual's life expectancy or the joint life expectancy of the Individual and the Individual's Designated Beneficiary.

Installment payments will continue only so long as amounts remain in an IRA. Once an IRA is exhausted, payments will stop. If the Individual is receiving installment payments, the Individual may request distribution of all or any part of the remaining balance in the Individual's IRA at any time upon written notice to the Prototype Plan Sponsor.

#### 18.11 Requirements Of Income Tax Regulations

All distributions required under this Article will be determined and made in accordance with the Income Tax Regulations under Code Section 401(a)(9)(1)(2). The requirements of this Article XVI will take precedence over any inconsistent provisions of the Plan.

# 18.12 IRA Required Beginning Date

Notwithstanding any provision of this Article to the contrary, the distribution of the Individual's interest in the IRA account shall be made in accordance with the requirements of Code Section 408(a)(6), as modified by Code Section 408A(c)(5), and the Regulations thereunder, the provisions of which are herein incorporated by reference. If distributions are made from an annuity contract purchased from an insurance company, distributions thereunder must satisfy the requirements of Regulations Section 1.401(a)(9)-6 [taking into account Code Section 408A(c)(5)], rather than the distribution rules in paragraphs 18.14(b), (c) and (d) below.

#### 18.13 Forms Of Distributions

Unless the Individual's interest is distributed in a single sum on or before the Required Beginning Date, as of the First Distribution Calendar Year distributions will be made in accordance with paragraph 18.14 through paragraph 18.16.

# 18.14 Distributions Upon Death

Upon the death of the Individual, his or her entire interest will be distributed at least as rapidly as follows:

- (a) If the Designated Beneficiary is someone other than the Individual's surviving Spouse, the remaining interest will be distributed, starting by the end of the calendar year following the calendar year of the Individual's death, over the remaining life expectancy of the Designated Beneficiary, with such life expectancy determined using the Designated Beneficiary's age as of his or her birthday in the year following the year of the Individual's death, or, if the distributions are being made over the period described in (c) below if longer.
- (b) If the Individual's sole Designated Beneficiary is the Individual's surviving Spouse, the entire interest will be distributed, starting by the end of the calendar year following the calendar year of the Individual's death (or by the end of the calendar year in which the Individual would have attained age 70½, if later), over such Spouse's life or if elected in accordance with paragraph (c) below. If the surviving Spouse dies before distributions are required to begin, the remaining interest will be distributed, starting by the end of the calendar year following the calendar year of the Spouse's death, over the Spouse's Designated Beneficiary's remaining life expectancy determined using such Beneficiary's age as of his or her birthday in the year following the death of the Spouse, or if elected will be distributed in accordance with paragraph (c) below. If the surviving Spouse dies after the distributions are required to begin, any remaining interest will be distributed over the Spouse's remaining life expectancy determined using the Spouse's age as of his or her birthday in the year of the Spouse's death.
- (c) If there is no Designated Beneficiary, or if applicable by operation of paragraph (a) or (b) above, the remaining interest will be distributed by the end of the calendar year containing the fifth anniversary of the Individual's death [or of the Spouse's death in the case of the surviving Spouse's death before distributions are required to begin

under paragraph (b) above] over the Individual's remaining life expectancy determined in the year of the Individual's death.

- (d) The amount to be distributed each year under paragraph (a), (b) or (c), beginning with the calendar year following the calendar year of the Individual's death, is the quotient obtained by dividing the value of the IRA as of the end of the preceding year by the remaining life expectancy specified in such paragraph. Life expectancy is determined using the Single Life Table in Q&A-1 of Regulations Section 1.401(a)(9)-9.
- (e) If distributions are being made to a surviving Spouse as the sole Designated Beneficiary, such Spouse's remaining life expectancy for a year is the number in the Single Life Table corresponding to the Spouse's age in the year. In all other cases, remaining life expectancy for a year is the number in the Single Life Table corresponding to the Beneficiary's age in the year specified in (a) or (b) and reduced by one (1) for each subsequent year.
- (f) The value of the IRA includes the amount of any outstanding rollover, transfer, and recharacterization under Q&As-7 and –8 of Regulations Section 1.408-8.
- (g) If the sole Designated Beneficiary is the Individual's surviving Spouse, the Spouse may elect to treat the IRA as his or her own IRA. The election will be deemed to have been made if such Surviving Spouse makes a contribution to the IRA or fails to take required distributions as a Beneficiary.

# 18.15 **Designated Beneficiary**

The individual who is designated as the Beneficiary under paragraphs 1.12 and 1.25 and is the Designated Beneficiary under Code Section 401(a)(9) and Regulations Section 1.401(a)(9).

#### 18.16 Remainder Beneficiary

The Individual's Beneficiary may, after the Individual's death, name a person, trust, estate or other entity to receive distributions of any balance remaining in the Individual's IRA after the death of the Individual's Beneficiary. Any person or entity so designated will, upon the death of the Individual's Beneficiary, become the Individual's Beneficiary for all purposes except for required minimum distributions. This additional designation may not extend the schedule of required minimum distributions established when the Individual attains age 70½ or, if sooner, following the Individual's death.

#### 18.17 Distribution Calendar Year

A calendar year for which a required minimum distribution is required. For distributions beginning before the Individual's death, the First Distribution Calendar Year is the calendar year immediately preceding the calendar year which contains the Individual's Required Beginning Date. For distributions beginning after the Individual's death, the First Distribution Calendar Year is the calendar year in which distributions are required to begin under paragraph 18.11. The required minimum distribution for the Individual's First Distribution Calendar Year will be made on or before the Individual's Required Beginning Date. The required minimum distribution for other Distribution Calendar Years, including the required minimum distribution for the Distribution Calendar Year in which the Individual's Required Beginning Date occurs, will be made on or before December 31 of that Distribution Calendar Year.

#### 18.18 Life Expectancy

Life expectancy as computed by use of one of the following tables, as appropriate:

- (a) the Single Life Table,
- (b) the Uniform Life Table, or
- (c) the Joint and Last Survivor Table found in Section 1.401(a)(9)-9 of the Treasury Regulations.

#### 18.19 Individual's Account Balance

The IRA account balance as of December 31 of the calendar year immediately preceding the Distribution Calendar Year. The "value" of the IRA includes the amount of any outstanding rollover, transfer and recharacterization under Q&As-7 and -8 of Regulations Section 1.408-8.

#### 18.20 Duties Of The Trustee

The administrative functions the Trustee will perform include:

- (a) setting up and maintaining an IRA in the Individual's name;
- (b) accepting contributions for deposit to the Individual's IRA. The Trustee does not require the Individual to make annual contributions since they are voluntary. However, the Trustee is not permitted to accept contributions in excess of the Maximum Annual Contribution for any Tax Year unless it is a Rollover Contribution;
  - (c) investing the Individual's contributions in accordance with the Individual's direction;

- (d) making payments or distributions from the Individual's IRA in accordance with the Individual's written instructions;
- (e) preparing and mailing to the Individual an annual report of the Individual's IRA for each Tax Year. The report will show the contributions received, the payments and distributions made, the investment earnings received, the market value of assets held in the Individual's Account including gains and/or losses (if applicable) and the balance held in the Account at the end of the Tax Year; and
- (f) preparing an annual calendar year statement concerning the status of the account and such information concerning required minimum distributions as is prescribed by the Commissioner of Internal Revenue.

Where the context is appropriate, Trustee also refers to an Insurer.

#### 18.21 **Duties Of The Individual**

The administrative functions the Individual must perform include:

- (a) determining the amount of the Individual's annual contribution, if any. The Individual is also responsible to make the Individual's contribution within the time limits set by the Internal Revenue Service;
  - (b) authorizing any payment or distribution from the Individual's Account;
- (c) filing Form 5329, Return for Additional Taxes Attributable to Retirement Plans (including IRAs), Annuities and Modified Endowment Contracts, if the Individual owes an excise tax with respect to the Individual's IRA;
- (d) furnishing the Trustee with a written explanation of the intended use of any distribution prior to attainment of age 59½; and
- (e) furnishing the Trustee with any information the Trustee may need to complete any governmental report required at paragraph 18.20(f) above. If the Individual fails to furnish the Trustee with such information and documents the Trustee may reasonably require, the Trustee may in the Trustee's sole discretion terminate the account and distribute to the Individual the lump sum payment, in an amount equal to the assets in the IRA less an amount deemed reasonably necessary by the Trustee for the payment of all unpaid fees, expenses, charges, taxes or other liabilities of the account, whether or not liquidated.

# ARTICLE XIX DEEMED ROTH INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT PROVISIONS

#### 19.1 **Deemed Roth IRA**

The provisions of this Article and Article XVII shall apply if Deemed Roth Individual Retirement Account ("IRA") provisions are elected in the Adoption Agreement. A Deemed Roth IRA is an Individual Retirement Account established under Code Section 408A under which contributions are not tax deductible and where qualifying distributions are not taxable to the Individual.

The Trustee will establish and maintain a Roth Individual Retirement Account or Annuity in the Individual's name under the terms as contained herein and where applicable, and any other agreement used to establish the Deemed Roth IRA. The account is established for the exclusive benefit of the Individual or that of the Individual's Beneficiaries. The Individual's account will be administered separately from any other IRA or Roth IRA and the assets of such Individual's IRA or Roth IRA will not be commingled with the assets of any other IRA or Roth IRA, except in a common trust fund or common investment fund.

No part of the IRA may be invested in life insurance contracts. If the IRA acquires collectibles within the meaning of Code Section 408(m) after December 31, 1981, IRA assets will be treated as a distribution in an amount equal to the cost of such collectibles. Code Section 408(m) provides an exception to this rule for certain coins and precious metals.

## 19.2 Compensation

For purposes of paragraph 19.9, Compensation is defined as wages, salaries, professional fees, or other amounts derived from or received for personal services actually rendered (including but not limited to commissions paid salesmen, compensation for services on the basis of a percentage of profits, commissions on insurance premiums, tips, and bonuses) and includes earned income, as defined in Code Section 401(c)(2) (reduced by the deduction the self-employed individual takes for contributions made to a self-employed retirement plan). For purposes of this definition, Code Section 401(c)(2) shall be applied as if the term trade or business for purposes of Code Section 1402 included service described in such section 9(c)(6). Compensation does not include amounts derived from or received as earnings or profits from property (including but not limited to interest and dividends) or amounts not includible in gross income. Compensation also does not include any amount received as a pension or annuity or as deferred compensation. The term "Compensation" shall include any amount includible in the individual's gross income under Code Section 71 with respect to a divorce or separation instrument described in subparagraph (A) of Code Section 71(b)(2). In the case of a married individual filing a joint return, the greater compensation of his or her Spouse is treated as his or her own Compensation, but only to the extent that such Spouse's Compensation is not being used for purposes of the Spouse making a contribution to a Roth IRA or a deductible contribution to a non-Roth IRA.

# 19.3 **Age Requirements**

Contributions may be made to this Roth IRA even after the Individual has reached age 701/2.

#### 19.4 Plan Year

The twelve (12) month period starting on January 1 and ending on December 31.

# 19.5 **Timing Of Roth Contributions**

An Individual must make his or her Roth IRA Contribution for a Taxable Year either during such year or within the time period prescribed by law for filing the Individual's Federal income tax return for such Taxable Year without extensions.

#### 19.6 Adjusted Gross Income (AGI)

"AGI" shall mean adjusted gross income as reported on an Individual's Federal income tax return but modified, in accordance with Code Section 219(g)(3), to adjust for Social Security benefits and passive activity losses and credits and to include foreign earned income, adoption assistance or expenses and income from U.S. Savings Bonds used to pay higher education tuition and fees, and further modified, in accordance with Code Section 408(c)(3)(C), to exclude any amount included in income due to a conversion from a Traditional or Regular IRA to a Roth IRA.

#### 19.7 Modified AGI

An Individual's Modified AGI for a Taxable Year is defined in Code Section 408A(c)(3)(C)(i) and does not include any amount included in Adjusted Gross Income as a result of a rollover from a non-Roth IRA (a "conversion").

#### 19.8 Applicable Dollar Amount

Applicable Dollar Amount shall mean the amounts set each year by Treasury. See IRS Publication 590 for specific dollar limits.

#### 19.9 Maximum Permissible Amount

No contribution will be accepted unless it is in cash and the total of such contributions to all the Individual's Roth IRAs for a Taxable Year does not exceed the applicable amount [as defined in 19.10(b)], or the Individual's Compensation, if less, for that Taxable Year. The contribution described in the previous sentence that may not exceed the lesser of

the applicable amount or the Individual's Compensation is referred to as a "Regular Contribution." A "Qualified Rollover Contribution" is a rollover contribution that meets the requirements of Code Section 408(d)(3), except the one-rollover-per-year rule of Code Section 408(d)(3)(B) does not apply if the rollover contribution is from an IRA other than a Roth IRA (a "non-Roth IRA"). Contributions may be limited as described in paragraph 19.10(b).

#### 19.10 Roth IRA Contributions

- (a) Except in the case of a Qualified Rollover Contribution or a recharacterization [as defined in (f) below], no contribution will be accepted unless it is in cash and the total of such contribution to all the Individual's Roth IRAs for a taxable year does not exceed the Maximum Permissible Amount described at paragraph 19.9.
- (b) When determining the Maximum Permissible Amount, the applicable amount is determined under (i) or (ii) below:
- (i) If the Individual is under age fifty (50), the applicable amount is \$5,000 for the 2008 Taxable Year. After 2008, this amount will be adjusted for cost-of-living increases under Code Section 219(b)(5)(d).
- (ii) If the Individual is age fifty (50) or older, the applicable amount under (i) above is increased by \$1,000 for any Taxable Year.
- (c) If (i) and/or (ii) below apply, the maximum Regular Contribution that can be made to all the Individuals' Roth IRAs for a Taxable Year is the smaller amount determined under (i) or (ii).
- (i) The maximum Regular Contribution is phased out ratably between certain levels of modified Adjusted Gross Income ("Modified AGI"). See IRS Publication 590 for specific AGI limits and examples.
- (ii) If the Individual makes Regular Contributions to both Roth and non-Roth IRAs for a Taxable Year, the maximum Regular Contribution that can be made to all the Individual's Roth IRAs for the Taxable Year is reduced by the Regular Contributions made to the Individual's non-Roth IRAs for the Taxable Year.
- (d) No contributions will be accepted under a SIMPLE IRA plan established by any Employer pursuant to Code Section 408(p). Additionally, no transfer or rollover of funds attributable to contributions made by a particular employer under its SIMPLE IRA plan will be accepted from an IRA used in conjunction with a SIMPLE IRA plan, prior to the expiration of the two (2) year period beginning on the date the Individual first participated in that employer's SIMPLE IRA plan.
- (e) A Regular Contribution to a non-Roth IRA may be recharacterized pursuant to the rules in Regulations Section 1.408A-5 as a Regular Contribution to this IRA, subject to the limits in (c) above.
- (f) For purposes of this paragraph, an Individual's Modified AGI for a Taxable Year is defined in Code Section 408A(c)(3)(c)(i) and does not include any amount included in Adjusted Gross Income as a result of a rollover from a non-Roth IRA (a "conversion").

#### 19.11 Excess Roth IRA Contribution

If the amount contributed by an Individual exceeds the Maximum Permissible Amount with respect to a Taxable Year, the Individual must notify the Trustee or Insurer to distribute to the Individual the excess contribution, together with any investment earnings on that amount. If any excess is not corrected by the tax filing deadline (including extensions) for the year during which the excess contribution was made, such excess contribution may be applied, on a year-by-year basis, against the annual limit for regular Roth IRA contributions. However, in order to "carry over" the excess contribution and treat it as a contribution made for a subsequent year, the Individual must meet the eligibility requirements for the subsequent year. In addition, the Individual is subject to the 6% excise tax for the initial year and each subsequent year until the excess is used up.

The provisions under Code Section 408(d)(5) for Traditional or Regular IRAs (correcting excesses after the filing deadline) and under Code Section 219(f)(6) for Traditional or Regular IRAs (carrying over excesses to a subsequent year) do not apply to Roth IRAs.

The Individual must notify the Trustee or Insurer of the excess contribution, in writing, before the date on which the Individual files, or is required to file, his or her income tax return for the Taxable Year for which the excess contribution was made.

# 19.12 **Qualified Distributions**

A distribution of contributions or rollovers made pursuant to this Roth IRA, that are held in a Roth IRA account for five (5) or more Taxable Years, will be Federal income tax-free and penalty-free if the distribution is made on account of:

- (a) the Individual having attained age 59½,
- (b) the Individual's death.

- (c) the Individual's Disability, or
- (d) a Qualified Special Purpose Distribution.

If the entire Roth IRA account balance is distributed before any other Roth IRA contributions are made, the five (5) year holding period does not start over when future contributions are made. However, in the following situations, the five (5) year holding period will not be considered to have begun if:

- (e) the initial Roth IRA contribution is revoked within the initial seven (7) day period;
- (f) the initial Roth IRA contribution is recharacterized to a Traditional IRA; or
- (g) an excess contribution, plus earnings, is timely distributed in accordance with Code Section 408(d)(4), by the tax filing deadline (including extensions), unless other eligible contributions were made.

# 19.13 Qualified Special Purpose Distribution

A distribution to an Individual who is a Qualified First-Time Homebuyer, as defined under Code Section 72(t)(8), to the extent such distribution is used by the Individual before the close of the 120th day after the day on which such distribution is received to pay qualified acquisition costs with respect to a principal residence of the Individual, the Spouse of such Individual, or any child, grandchild, or ancestor of such Individual or the Individual's Spouse.

#### 19.14 Nonqualified Distributions

A distribution will not be considered qualified if such distribution is made within the five (5) year period beginning with the first Taxable Year for which a contribution or rollover is made to this Roth IRA. If a nonqualified distribution is made from this Roth IRA, the amount so distributed shall be subject to tax and applicable penalties to the extent the distribution, when added to previous nonqualified distributions, exceeds the aggregate contributions made by the Individual pursuant to this Roth IRA. For purposes of this determination, contributions shall be deemed to be distributed on a first-in first-out basis.

## 19.15 Form Of Payment

An Individual may elect to have the balance in his or her Roth IRA paid in the form of a lump sum or installment payments in equal or substantially equal monthly, quarterly, semi-annual, or annual amounts.

#### 19.16 Rollover From A Qualified Retirement Plan

An Individual may not roll over to this or any other Roth IRA any part of a distribution received from a Qualified Retirement Plan.

#### 19.17 Life Expectancy

The life expectancy of the Individual. Life expectancy is determined by reference to the return multiple contained in the tables published at Regulations Section 1.72-9.

#### 19.18 Distributions Commencing Prior To Death

An Individual may direct the Trustee or Insurer to commence payments in the form of a lump sum or installments at any time without regard to the minimum distribution requirements under Code Section 401(a)(9). Installment payments may be set up over any period selected by the Individual provided that such period is acceptable to the Trustee or Insurer. Installment payments will continue only so long as amounts remain in the Individual's Roth IRA. The Individual shall have the right at any time to request a lump sum payment of the balance remaining in his or her account.

#### 19.19 Distributions After Death

Benefits payable to a Beneficiary must be distributed or commence to be distributed from the Individual's account in accordance with one of the following provisions:

- (a) Upon the death of the Individual, distribution of the Individual's entire interest shall be completed by December 31 of the calendar year containing the fifth (5<sup>th</sup>) anniversary of the Individual's death except to the extent that an election is made to receive distributions in accordance with (i) or (ii) below.
- (i) If the Individual's interest is payable to a Beneficiary, then the entire interest of the Individual may be distributed over the life or over a period certain not greater than the life expectancy of the Beneficiary commencing on or before December 31 of the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in which the Individual died.
- (ii) If the Beneficiary is the Individual's surviving Spouse, the date distributions are required to begin in accordance with (i) above shall not be earlier than the later of (A) December 31 of the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in which the Individual died or (B) December 31 of the calendar year in which the Individual would have attained age 70½.

- (b) If the Beneficiary is the Individual's surviving Spouse, the Spouse may elect to treat the account as his or her own Roth IRA. This election will be deemed to have been made if such surviving Spouse makes a regular contribution to the account, makes a rollover to or from such account, or fails to take distributions under (a) above.
- (c) The amount to be distributed under paragraph (a)(i) or (a)(ii) shall not be less than the quotient obtained by dividing the balance in the account as of the end of the preceding year by the Beneficiary's applicable life expectancy (as determined under paragraph 19.17).
- (d) The "value" of the IRA includes the amounts of any outstanding rollover, transfer and recharacterization under Q&As-7 and -8 of Regulations Section 1.408-9.
- (e) If the sole Designated Beneficiary is the Participant's Surviving Spouse, the Spouse may elect to treat the IRA as his or her own IRA. This election will be deemed to have been made if such surviving Spouse makes a contribution to the IRA or fails to take required distributions as a Beneficiary.

# 19.20 Ordering Rules Upon Death Of Individual

For purposes of the ordering rules upon distribution, a Beneficiary's inherited Roth IRAs may not be aggregated with any other Roth IRAs maintained by such Beneficiary, except for other Roth IRAs that the Beneficiary inherited from the same decedent. However, if the surviving Spouse is the sole Beneficiary of a Roth IRA and such surviving Spouse elects to treat the Roth IRA as his or her own Roth IRA, the Spouse can aggregate contributions with his or her other Roth IRAs for purposes of determining the ordering rules when distributions are taken.

#### 19.21 Minimum Payment

No amount is required to be distributed from this Roth IRA before the death of the Individual for whose benefit it has been established. Distributions made pursuant to this Roth IRA will not be subject to the required minimum distribution rules under Code Section 401(a)(9)(A), or the incidental death benefit rules under Code Section 401(a).

# 19.22 Duties Of IRA Trustee

The administrative functions the Trustee will perform include:

- (a) setting up and maintaining a Roth IRA in the Individual's name;
- (b) accepting contributions for deposit to the Individual's Roth IRA. The Trustee will not accept contributions in excess of the applicable limit for any Taxable Year or contributions from a SIMPLE IRA unless such contribution is a rollover or direct transfer from another Roth IRA or Traditional or Regular IRA (other than a conduit IRA);
  - (c) investing contributions in accordance with the investment options offered by the Trustee;
- (d) making payments or distributions from this Roth IRA in accordance with written instructions issued by an authorized party hereunder:
- (e) preparing and issuing an annual calendar year report of the Roth IRA for each Plan Year concerning the status of the status of the account and such information concerning required minimum distributions as is prescribed by the Commissioner of Internal Revenue. The report will show the contributions received, the payments and distributions made, the investment earnings received, the market value of assets held in the account and the balance held in the account at the end of the Plan Year, and such information concerning required minimum distributions as is prescribed by the Commissioner of Internal Revenue; and
- (f) preparing any reports that may be required by the Internal Revenue Service or by any governmental unit or agency having authority to request reports.

Where the context is appropriate, Trustee also refers to an Insurer.

# 19.23 **Duties Of Individual**

The administrative functions the Individual must perform include:

- (a) determining the amount and timing of the annual contribution, if any;
- (b) notifying the Trustee of any excess contribution made for a Taxable Year and directing the Trustee as to the disposition of such contribution plus the investment earnings thereon;
  - (c) authorizing any payment or distribution from the account;
- (d) filing Form 5329, Return for Additional Taxes Attributable to Qualified Retirement Plans, if an excise tax is owed with respect to the Roth IRA;

- (e) furnishing the Trustee with a written explanation of the intended use of any distribution to the Individual prior to the attainment of age 59%; and
- (f) furnishing the Trustee with any information the Trustee may need to complete any governmental report required under applicable statutes or regulations.

# FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE MCKAY HOCHMAN CO., INC. PROTOTYPE DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN BASIC PLAN DOCUMENT #03

**McKay Hochman Co., Inc.** as Mass Submitter Sponsor of the Prototype Defined Contribution Basic Plan Document #03 (the "Plan") hereby amends the Plan and the Adoption Agreements referenced herein pursuant to the authority contained in paragraph 15.1 of the Plan to reflect changes requested by the Internal Revenue Service made to the Plan after the date of the issuance of the Opinion Letter. This Amendment shall be effective as of March 31, 2014 and shall supersede any inconsistent provisions of the Plan. Any election(s) previously made by a Plan Sponsor on an Adoption Agreement will continue to apply except to the extent that it is amended as noted in this First Amendment.

# The Plan is hereby amended as follows:

- 1. Paragraph 1.82 entitled "Plan Administrator" is amended by deleting the eighth sentence and replacing it with the following:
  - "The Prototype Plan Sponsor shall not be designated as the Plan Administrator, unless the Prototype Plan Sponsor adopts the Plan in the capacity of Employer or Plan Sponsor and accepts the appointment of Plan Administrator, or a Plan Sponsor may appoint the Prototype Plan Sponsor to serve in the capacity of Plan Administrator and the Prototype Plan Sponsor accepts such appointment pursuant to a separate written agreement."
- 2. Paragraph 1.83 entitled "Plan Sponsor" is amended by revising the second sentence to read as follows:
  - "Unless specified otherwise pursuant to a written procedure regarding the allocation of responsibilities for the control and management of the operation and administration of the Plan, the Employer who is the Plan Sponsor shall be a Named Fiduciary for purposes of ERISA Section 402(a)."
- 3. Paragraph 3.9(a) entitled "Participant Group Allocation Method" is amended at the first paragraph by deleting sentences two through six thereby leaving the first and last sentences.
- 4. Paragraph 4.8 entitled "Elective Deferrals In A SIMPLE 401(k) Plan" is amended at the end of the second sentence in subparagraph (e) by adding the words "or any other limitation elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement."
- 5. Paragraph 6.12 entitled "In-Plan Roth Rollover" is amended by deleting "indicated in the Adoption Agreement" on the second line and replacing it with "as first applied by the Employer as evidenced by an amendment."
  - Furthermore, subparagraph 6.12(b) is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
  - "A Participant with a Vested Account Balance (other than amounts held in a designated Roth account) shall be eligible to make an In-Plan Roth Rollover to a designated Roth account in the same Plan. An amount is not eligible for an In-Plan Roth Rollover unless it satisfies the rules for distribution under the Code and is an Eligible Rollover Distribution as defined in Code Section 402(c)(4). An In-Plan Roth Rollover for a Participant in a Code Section 401(k) plan who has not incurred a Severance from Employment may be made from the Participant's pre-tax Elective Deferral account only if the Participant has attained age 59½, died, became Disabled, or received a Qualified Reservist Distribution as defined in Code Section 72(t)(2)(G)(iii). The Plan may provide for an In-Plan Roth Direct Rollover option for amounts that are distributable under the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code but are currently not distributable under the more restrictive provisions of the Plan established hereunder. Such a provision is not required to permit any other rollover or distribution option for these amounts. Once a Participant elects an In-Plan Roth Rollover, these amounts may not be recharacterized to their original pre-tax status."
- 6. Paragraph 7.2 entitled "Designation of Beneficiary" is amended by adding a new paragraph before subsection (a) to read as follows:
  - "If a Participant completes or has completed a Beneficiary designation in which the Participant designates his or her Spouse as the Beneficiary and the Participant and the Participant's Spouse are legally divorced subsequent to the date of such designation, the designation of such Spouse as a Beneficiary hereunder will be deemed null and void unless the Participant, subsequent to the legal divorce, reaffirms the designation by completing a new Beneficiary designation form."

7. Paragraph 12.1 entitled "Plan Administrator" is amended by deleting the first full paragraph in its entirety and replacing it with the following:

"The Plan shall be administered by the Plan Administrator who shall have the authority to enforce the Plan on behalf of any persons having or claiming any interest under the Plan and who shall be responsible for the operation of the Plan in accordance with its terms. The Plan Administrator shall be a "Named Fiduciary" with the authority to control the administration of the Plan and will be responsible for complying with the reporting and disclosure requirements of Part 1 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA and will be agent for service of legal process with respect to the Plan. The Plan Administrator shall determine by rules of uniform application, all questions arising out of the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan. The decision of the Plan Administrator on any dispute arising under the Plan, including but not limited to questions of construction, interpretation and administration, shall be final, conclusive and binding on all persons having an interest in or under the Plan. Any determination made by the Plan Administrator shall be given deference in the event such determination is subject to judicial review and shall be overturned by a court of law only if found to be arbitrary and capricious."

- 8. Paragraph 12.6 entitled "Appointment Of Investment Manager" is amended by deleting the first sentence of the paragraph and replacing it with the following:
  - "The Employer, Named Fiduciary or its designate, or a Discretionary Trustee if applicable, may make the appointment of one or more investment managers in accordance with this Article."
- 9. Paragraph 12.7 entitled "Participant Investment Direction" is amended by deleting the first paragraph in its entirety and replacing it with the following:
  - "If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, Participants may be provided with the option to direct the investment of all or any part of their account balances as specified therein. The Employer, a Named Fiduciary, or a Discretionary Trustee if applicable, from time to time, shall select the investments to be made available, including the appointment of any investment manager who meets the requirements of ERISA Section 3(38) to manage the assets of any Participant account. The Employer, a Named Fiduciary (independent of the Trustee), or a Discretionary Trustee if applicable, shall be responsible for reviewing the performance of such investments. The following administrative procedures shall apply to the administration of investments selected by the Employer, Named Fiduciary or Discretionary Trustee:"
- 10. Paragraph 12.9 entitled "Participant Loans" is amended at subparagraph (m) by adding the word "not" between "shall" and "be" where they appear on the first line.

#### Adoption Agreement #03007 is hereby amended as follows:

11. Section VI of Adoption Agreement #03007 entitled "Contributions to the Plan" is amended at subsection (D) entitled "Non-Elective Employer Contributions" by deleting the language at number (18) entitled "Gateway Contribution Adjustment" and replacing it with the following:

# "Gateway Contribution Adjustment:

In the event that any Non-Highly Compensated Employee ("NHCE Participant") receives the Safe Harbor Non-Elective Contribution or Top-Heavy Minimum Contribution **only** and is included in the gateway test for nondiscrimination, such Participant(s) may receive an additional Non-Elective Employer Contribution in an amount sufficient to pass the gateway test. After this allocation, each eligible NHCE Participant must have an allocation rate that is not less than the lesser of 5% of Compensation as defined by Code Section 415 or one-third of the allocation rate of the Highly Compensated Employee Participant with the highest allocation rate. An allocation rate is the amount of contributions allocated to a Participant for a Plan Year expressed as a percentage of Code Section 414(s) Compensation."

This section is further amended by deleting the very last sentence and replacing it with the following:

"Contribution formulas (1) through (8) above must satisfy the design-based safe harbors described in the Regulations under Code Section 401(a)(4)."

#### Adoption Agreement #03009 is hereby amended as follows:

12. Section VI of Adoption Agreement #03009 entitled "Contributions to the Plan" is amended at subsection (A) entitled "Elective Deferrals" at subparagraph (2) by deleting the word "terminate" from the first line and the words "and Termination" from the first-column heading.

#### Adoption Agreement #03010 is hereby amended as follows:

13. Section VI of Adoption Agreement #03010 entitled "Contributions to the Plan" is amended at subsection (A) entitled "Elective Deferrals" at subparagraph (2) by deleting the word "terminate" from the first line and the words "and Termination" from the first-column heading.

# Adoption Agreement #03012 is hereby amended as follows:

14. Section VI of Adoption Agreement #03012 entitled "Contributions to the Plan" is amended at subsection (A) entitled "Elective Deferrals" at subparagraph (2) by deleting the word "terminate" from the first line and the words "and Termination" from the first-column heading.

Furthermore, this same Section VI is amended at subsection (K) entitled "Non-Elective Employer Contributions" by deleting the language at number (19) entitled "Gateway Contribution Adjustment" and replacing it with the following:

# "Gateway Contribution Adjustment:

In the event that any Non-Highly Compensated Employee ("NHCE Participant") receives the Safe Harbor Non-Elective Contribution or Top-Heavy Minimum Contribution only and is included in the gateway test for nondiscrimination, such Participant(s) may receive an additional Non-Elective Employer Contribution in an amount sufficient to pass the gateway test. After this allocation, each eligible NHCE Participant must have an allocation rate that is not less than the lesser of 5% of Compensation as defined by Code Section 415 or one-third of the allocation rate of the Highly Compensated Employee Participant with the highest allocation rate. An allocation rate is the amount of contributions allocated to a Participant for a Plan Year expressed as a percentage of Code Section 414(s) Compensation."

This section is further amended by deleting the very last sentence and replacing it with the following:

"Contribution formulas (1) through (9) above must satisfy the design-based safe harbors described in the Regulations under Code Section 401(a)(4)."

# The addendum to Adoption Agreement #03012 titled "Multiple Employer Plan Joinder Agreement" is hereby amended as follows:

15. Section IV of the addendum to Adoption Agreement #03012 entitled "Contributions to the Plan" is amended at subsection (I) entitled "Non-Elective Employer Contributions" by deleting the language at number (19) entitled "Gateway Contribution Adjustment" and replacing it with the following:

#### "Gateway Contribution Adjustment:

In the event that any Non-Highly Compensated Employee ("NHCE Participant") receives the Safe Harbor Non-Elective Contribution or Top-Heavy Minimum Contribution only and is included in the gateway test for nondiscrimination, such Participant(s) may receive an additional Non-Elective Employer Contribution in an amount sufficient to pass the gateway test. After this allocation, each eligible NHCE Participant must have an allocation rate that is not less than the lesser of 5% of Compensation as defined by Code Section 415 or one-third of the allocation rate of the Highly Compensated Employee Participant with the highest allocation rate. An allocation rate is the amount of contributions allocated to a Participant for a Plan Year expressed as a percentage of Code Section 414(s) Compensation."

This section is further amended by deleting the very last sentence and replacing it with the following:

"Contribution formulas (1) through (9) above must satisfy the design-based safe harbors described in the Regulations under Code Section 401(a)(4)."

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF**, **McKay Hochman Co.**, **Inc.** has caused this Amendment to be executed by its duly represented officer this **9th** day of **February**, **2015**.

MCKAY HOCHMAN CO., INC.

Martha A. Kirwin Senior Counsel

# SECOND AMENDMENT TO THE

MCKAY HOCHMAN CO., INC.
PROTOTYPE DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN BASIC PLAN DOCUMENT #03
TO ALLOW IN-PLAN ROTH ROLLOVERS IN

CASH OR DEFERRED PROFIT-SHARING PLAN ADOPTION AGREEMENTS
UNDER THE GUIDANCE PROVIDED BY

THE SMALL BUSINESS JOBS ACT OF 2010 ("SBJA") AND THE AMERICAN TAXPAYER RELIEF ACT OF 2012 ("ATRA")

McKay Hochman Co., Inc. as Mass Submitter Sponsor of the Prototype Defined Contribution Basic Plan Document #03 (the "Plan") hereby amends the Plan pursuant to the authority contained in paragraph 15.1 of the Plan to reflect the applicable provisions of the Small Business Jobs Act of 2010 (known as "SBJA") and the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 (known as "ATRA") and Notice 2013-74 (In-Plan Roth Rollover Rules for the Small Business Jobs Act of 2010 (SBJA) and for ATRA) which amend Code Section 402A(c)(4) and Notice 2010-84 governing In-Plan Roth Rollovers in qualified plans. This Amendment shall be effective as of October 1, 2014 and shall supersede any inconsistent provisions of the Plan. Any election(s) previously made by a Plan Sponsor in an Interim Amendment to Economic Growth Taxpayer Relief Reconciliation Act (known as "EGTRRA") Adoption Agreement will continue to apply.

The Plan is hereby amended at subparagraph 6.12(b) entitled "In-Plan Roth Rollover" to add a new second paragraph that will read as follows:

"In the alternative, a Plan Sponsor may adopt a written administrative policy pursuant to the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 (ATRA) that permits any vested amount held in a Participant's account (other than amounts held in a designated Roth account) to be eligible for an In-Plan Roth Rollover to a designated Roth account in the same Plan. A Plan that does not currently allow for in-service withdrawals from a Participant's pre-tax Elective Deferral, Qualified Non-Elective, Qualified Matching, or Safe Harbor Contributions accounts may be amended to permit In-Plan Roth Direct Rollovers from such accounts while not otherwise permitting distribution of such pre-tax Elective Deferrals. Similarly, a Code Section 401(k) Plan that does not currently allow for in-service withdrawals from a Participant's Matching Contributions, Non-Elective Contributions or Rollover Contributions accounts may be amended to permit In-Plan Roth Direct Rollovers from such accounts while not otherwise permitting distribution of such Contributions. Once a Participant elects an In-Plan Roth Rollover, such amounts may not be recharacterized back to pre-tax status."

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF**, **McKay Hochman Co.**, **Inc.** has caused this Amendment to be executed by its duly represented officer this **9th** day of **February**, **2015**.

MCKAY HOCHMAN CO., INC.

Martha A. Kirwin Senior Counsel